
 

City Hall Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California 

(760) 398-3502      www.coachella.org 

AGENDA 

 

CITY COUNCIL CLOSED SESSION AND 

REGULAR MEETING  

 

 

OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

THE COUNCIL SITTING AS THE COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, COACHELLA FINANCING AUTHORITY, 

COACHELLA EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS CABLE CHANNEL CORPORATION, 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY, SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE COACHELLA REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

AND COACHELLA PARKS AND RECREATION FOUNDATION 

September 25, 2024 
5:00 PM – CLOSED SESSION 

6:00 PM – REGULAR MEETING 
 

 

In-Person Meeting 

Location: 

 

Coachella City Hall 

Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street 

Coachella, CA 

If you would like to attend the meeting via Zoom, here is the link: 

 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88457271898?pwd=REdzU1NoQmpVSFhWTDVaZ0VCekYxdz09  

Or One tap mobile : 16699006833,,88457271898#,,,,*606140# 

Or Telephone: 

     US: +1 669 900 6833   

Webinar ID: 884 5727 1898 

Passcode: 606140 

Spanish: El idioma español está disponible en Zoom seleccionado la opción en la parte de 

abajo de la pantalla 

 Public comments may be received either in person, via email, telephonically, or via Zoom with a limit 

of 250 words, or three minutes: 

o In Real Time:  

If participating in real time via Zoom or phone, during the Public Comment Period, use the “raise 

hand” function on your computer, or when using a phone, participants can raise their hand by pressing 

*9 on the keypad.  

o In Writing:  

Written comments may be submitted to the City Council electronically via email 

to cityclerk@coachella.org. Transmittal prior to the start of the meeting is required. All written 

comments received will be forwarded to the City Council and entered into the record.  

o If you wish, you may leave a message at (760) 262-6240 before 5:30 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

 The live stream of the meeting may be viewed online by accessing the city's website at 

www.coachella.org, and clicking on the "Watch Council Meetings" tab located on the home page, and 

then clicking on the "live" button. 
 

 

Page 1

http://www.coachella.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88457271898?pwd=REdzU1NoQmpVSFhWTDVaZ0VCekYxdz09
mailto:cityclerk@coachella.org
http://www.coachella.org/


Agenda City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 25, 2024 

Page 2 

 

CALL TO ORDER: - 5:00 P.M. 

ROLL CALL: 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

“At this time the Council/ Board/Corporation/Authority may announce any items being pulled from the Agenda 

or continued to another date or request the moving of an item on the agenda” 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (CLOSED SESSION ITEMS): 

ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: 

1. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: APNs 763-350-025 and 763-340-008 

Agency Negotiator(s): Castulo Estrada, Utilities Director 

Negotiating Parties: E. Neumeyer, Trustee of the E.J. Neumeryer Revocable Trust, Owner   

Under Negotiation: Price and Terms of Payment for an 82,059 sq. ft. Five-Year Temporary Construction 

Easement 

2. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: APN 763-330-018 

Agency Negotiator(s): Castulo Estrada, Utilities Director 

Negotiating Parties: Empire Airport LLC, Owner  

Under Negotiation: Price and Terms of Payment for a 44,981 sq. ft. Five-Year Temporary Construction 

Easement 

3. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: APN 763-330-0006 

Agency Negotiator(s): Castulo Estrada, Utilities Director 

Negotiating Parties: J. Kohn, D. Parrish, M. Kinsey, C. Hirschberg, Owners 

Under Negotiation: Price and Terms of Payment for a 6,869 sq. ft. Domestic Water Easement  

4. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: Parcel APN 763-350-0009 

Agency Negotiator(s): Castulo Estrada, Utilities Director 

Negotiating Parties: 87400 A56 Statutory Trust, Owner  

Under Negotiation: Price and Terms of Payment for a 9,730 sq. ft. Domestic Water Easement 

RECONVENE REGULAR MEETING: - 6:00 P.M. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

CLOSED SESSION ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS/DIRECTION: 

5. National Latino Physician Day Proclamation 

Page 2



Agenda City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 25, 2024 

Page 3 

 

6. HR Green Broadband Study Presentation 

7. SB 1383 Program Updates 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: 

CONSENT CALENDAR: 

(It is recommended that Consent Items be acted upon simultaneously unless separate discussion and/or action is 

requested by a Council Member or member of the audience.) 

8. Regular Meeting Minutes of September 11, 2024, of the City of Coachella, Coachella Sanitary District, 

Coachella Fire Protection District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and 

Governmental Access Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, Successor Agency to the Coachella 

Redevelopment Agency and Coachella Parks and Recreation 

9. Voucher Listing- EFT's/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2023-24 and FY 2024-25 Expenditures as of 

September 25, 2024, $2,977,279.68 

10. Community Facilities District (CFD No. 2005-01) Annexation 36 – (Sevilla II-Pyramid Ranch) 

Ordinance No. 1215 on Behalf of CFD No. 2005-01 Authorizing the Levy of a Special Tax within 

Annexation Area No. 36 Annexed to Said District (2nd Reading) 

11. Authorize a Community-Based Grant to American Outreach Foundation in the Amount of $1,000 to Help 

Cover Costs for Providing and Maintaining Power Wheelchairs 

12. Authorize a Community-Based Grant to Green Room Theatre Company Coachella Valley in the Amount 

of $1,000 to Help Fund Their Ballet Folklorico Program 

13. Authorize a Community-Based Grant to Pueblo Unido CDC in the Amount of $1,000 to Help Fund its 

Reynas Del Valle Coachella Program 

14. Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1214 authorizing the levy of a Special Tax in Community Facilities 

District No. 2024-1 (Public Services) 

15. Award Multiple Professional Services Agreements for On-Call Architectural Design Services for the 

Commercial Corridor Façade Improvement Program to: DMHA Architecture and Interior Design, BFK 

Architecture and Planning, and Mour Group Engineering and Design and Authorize the City Manager to 

Enter into Professional Services Agreements with the Selected Firms in Not-to-Exceed Amounts of 

$75,000 Per Firm 

16. Authorize the City Manager to Execute Professional Services Agreements with Strategic Energy Experts 

Consulting for Assistance in Providing Greenfield Electric Utility and Electric Service for the City 

Municipal Utility 

NEW BUSINESS CALENDAR (LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE): 

17. Appointment of ten Commissioners to the Coachella Youth Advisory Commission 

Page 3



Agenda City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 25, 2024 

Page 4 

 

18. Approve the Cooperative Agreement with the County of Riverside to Provide Fire Protection, Fire 

Prevention, Rescue, Fire Marshal and Medical Emergency Services and Approve the Cooperative 

Agreement between the Cities of Coachella, Indio, La Quinta and County of Riverside to Share the Cost of 

a Ladder Truck Company 

PUBLIC HEARING CALENDAR (QUASI-JUDICIAL): 

19. VMP Night Club & Event Center –Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 and Conditional Use Permit No. 380 

for a nightclub and special event center to allow for live events and a Type 48 ABC license to allow the on-

sale of beer, wine, and distilled spirits at the 5,867 SF commercial suite at 49974 Cesar Chavez Street. 

Applicant: Reyes Hernandez 

20. Adopt Ordinance No. 1213 (Zoning Ordinance Amendment No. 22-09) 1st Reading to amend Coachella 

Municipal Code Title 17 regarding zoning district permitted uses and development standards for the R-E, 

Residential Estate District, Chapter 17.12 of the Coachella Municipal Code. City-Initiated 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA ITEMS): 

The public may address the City Council/Board/Corporation/ Authority on any item of interest to the public that 

is not on the agenda but is in the subject matter jurisdiction thereof. Please limit your comments to three (3) 

minutes. 

REPORTS AND REQUESTS: 

Council Comments/Report of Miscellaneous Committees. 

City Manager’s Comments. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

 

Complete Agenda Packets are available for public inspection at the  

City Clerk’s Office at 53-462 Enterprise Way, Coachella, California, and on the  

City’s website www.coachella.org. 

 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

Page 4

http://www.coachella.org/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Coachella is home to a proud and vibrant Latino community that has 

bolstered the city in the realms of art and music, business and finance, law and government, 

education and social service and science and medicine; and  

WHEREAS, Latino physicians have played a vital role in helping to address healthcare disparities 

in the city, providing culturally competent care, advancing medical research and education, and 

contributing immensely to the betterment of our city; and 

WHEREAS, these dedicated physicians also served on the front lines during and after the COVID-19 

pandemic showing their unwavering resilience and compassion in the face of adversity; and 

WHEREAS, the wide array of health care services provided by professional Latino physicians continues 

to be an increasingly important component of Coachella’s health care delivery system; and 

WHEREAS, October 1, 2024 has been designated as National Latino Physician Day to honor and 

celebrate the dedication, accomplishments, and tireless commitment of Latino physicians in the medical 

field: 

NOW THEREFORE, I, Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor and Council of the City of Coachella, by 

the power vested in me, do hereby proclaim October 1, 2024 to be designated as  

National Latino Physician Day 
and encourage all residents to support and recognize Latino physicians around the city 

  

IN WITNESS HEREOF, I have hereunto set my 

hand and caused the official seal of the City of 

Coachella, California to be affixed this 25th day off 

September 2024. 

 

______________________________________ 

Steven A. Hernandez, Mayor  

City of Coachella, California 
 

Page 5

Item 5.



City of Coachella Broadband Master Plan
City Council Presentation – September 25, 2024Page 6

Item 6.



FOUNDED IN 1913, HR Green provides solutions 

that build communities and improve lives.
FOR MORE THAN A CENTURY, HR Green has provided 

engineering, technical, and management solutions in the following 

markets.

In every market and in every geography, our mission is the same:

Building Communities. 
Improving Lives.

This means that every person at HR Green is an active contributor in building the communities and 

improving the lives of people where we are honored to work.

About Us

Page 7

Item 6.



3What is – “Broadband” Anyway? 

Original FCC Broadband Definition

25 Megabits per second download speed

3   Megabits per second (Mbps) upload speed

Think of a 3 Megabyte attachment 

(song, doc, photo)  ~ 25 megabits

If you could download a 3 MB file in 1.0 second

You had “broadband” 

New FCC Broadband Definitions

Unserved = less than 25 Mbps download speed & less than 3 Mbps upload speed

Underserved = less than 100 Mbps download speed & less than 20 Mbps upload speed

Served = at least 100 Mbps download speed & at least 20 Mbps upload speed

Page 8

Item 6.



4What REALLY Matters in Broadband?

Latency (fast response)

Capacity (whole family on at once)

Reliability of connection & experience

Lowest cost per bit

Speed (fast downloads and uploads)

Everyone doesn’t need them all, 

Different technologies = different costs, different benefits

Page 9

Item 6.



5How is Broadband Delivered?

Wireless…

Satellite

Cellular 4G/LTE

5G

Wireline – aerial or underground

DSL (Telephone-based – copper wires)

Coax Cable

Fiber Optic Cable - “future-proofed”

All use fiber / No better technology today

Page 10

Item 6.



6Fiber To The Home (FTTH)

Aerial (overhead) or conduits (underground)

Fiber optic cable to every parcel

Requires new installation (~$600-$2,000/home)

Fiber – virtually unlimited: 

✓ Speed

✓ Capacity

✓ Zero latency

✓ Lowest cost/bit

✓ Quality

Page 11

Item 6.



7Review Project Expectations & Goals
• City of Coachella Broadband Study & Strategy Planning will: 

✓ Inventory and document City telecommunications assets

✓ Include an assessment of current conditions, a strategic plan, and identification of new 
opportunities for partnerships.

✓ Address the unserved and underserved areas of the City.

✓ Help spur additional business, programs, and economic growth.

✓ Create a defined path forward that will ultimately lead to shovel-ready last-mile projects 

✓ Include a broadband infrastructure design based on potential projects that can be used 
to seek future funding.

✓ Create a community vision; assess communities’ existing broadband related 
resources, gaps, and needs; engage local stakeholders; and identify appropriate 
technology.

✓ Help in selecting a business model and governance framework. 

✓ Develop project plans, such as implementation and financial plans and feasibility 
analysis related to managing, operating, and maintaining a last-mile infrastructure.

Page 12

Item 6.



8Review project understanding

• By developing a Broadband Master Plan, the City is:

➢ Taking an important step toward encouraging the 

development of reliable and cost-effective next generation 

Broadband Services that have a net positive economic and 

social impact.

➢ Looking to enhance the community’s quality of life through 

expanded innovation opportunities, workforce development 

training, the narrowing of the digital and/or economic divide, 

and improved organizational operation efficiencies.

Page 13

Item 6.



9

•Comprehensive

•Flexible

•Dynamic

•Responsive

Our Process

9

Vision

Gather Necessary 
Data

• City Owned Assets

• Optional:  Public Survey

• Provider Reported Data

• Stakeholder Interviews

• Provider Meetings/Data

Analyze the Data

• Gap Analysis

Decide 
Path

Visioning

HLD of Tech Options

Connect with 
Providers

Feasibility of Options

Design

Detail Design of 
Network

Build

Funding

Contracting

Materials

Marketing

Construction 
Oversight

Page 14

Item 6.



10Review of Project Schedule

12 - Project Management & Meetings (Including Kickoff) 9 mons Tue 6/18/24 Mon 2/24/25

1 - Kickoff Meeting 1 day Mon 6/17/24 Mon 6/17/24

2 - First Presentation to Council 1 day Mon 7/8/24 Mon 7/8/24

3 - Current and Future Needs Assessment 75 days Tue 6/18/24 Mon 9/30/24

3A - Engagement Plan 18 days Tue 6/18/24 Thu 7/11/24

3B - Survey 60 days Tue 7/9/24 Mon 9/30/24

3C - Stakeholder Meetings 60 days Tue 7/9/24 Mon 9/30/24

3D - Digital Equity 60 days Tue 7/9/24 Mon 9/30/24

4 - Inventory/Assessment of City Owned Assets 90 days Tue 6/18/24 Mon 10/21/24

5 - Assessment of Privately Owned Assets 90 days Tue 6/18/24 Mon 10/21/24

6 - Policy/Permit Process Review 14 days Tue 7/9/24 Fri 7/26/24

7 - Gap Analysis 30 days Tue 10/22/24 Mon 12/2/24

8 - Mid-Point Presentation to Council 1 day Tue 12/3/24 Tue 12/3/24

9 - Feasibility - HLD - and maybe full feasibility 21 days Wed 12/4/24 Wed 1/1/25

10 - Draft Master Plan 14 days Thu 1/2/25 Tue 1/21/25

Presentation to Council 1 day Wed 1/22/25 Wed 1/22/25

11 - Master Plan Refinement and Adoption 14 days Thu 1/23/25 Tue 2/11/25

OPTIONAL 13 -  Partnership Identification and Discussions 30 days Fri 7/12/24 Thu 8/22/24

OPTIONAL 14 -  Governance Options 15 days Fri 8/23/24 Thu 9/12/24

Next Steps: 

1. Launch Survey(s)

2. Asset Inventory

3. Stakeholder Meetings

Page 15

Item 6.



11Broadband in the City of Coachella

Page 16

Item 6.



12Common Objectives Interaction

Page 17

Item 6.



13Broadband Models

Ontario 

Palm Springs

Source: “Broadband Models for Unserved and Underserved Communities” - US Ignite Whitepaper

Page 18

Item 6.

https://www.us-ignite.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/USIgnite_Altman-Solon_Whitepaper-on-Broadband-Models_FINAL_7-9-2020.pdf


14Model: “Public Policy” Only (4) 

Challenges

May not drive immediate impacts 

Staffing
Minimally staffed, focusing on use 

of existing internal resources

Services
No service offering.  Policy may 
facilitate network expansion by 
providers

Clients
Community is a facilitator only.  
No specific clients

Governance

Policy such as ordinances and 
practice changes to support fiber 
and asset development

Focus is on being a facilitator for the private sector

Consider accelerated review and inspection services

“Encourage the private sector to build assets”

Page 19

Item 6.



15Model: Institutional “Middle Mile” (3) 

Challenges
Limited focus does not create 
broad community impact for 

residents and businesses

Staffing
Minimally staffed, frequently 

supported by outside consultants 
and experts

Services
Services focus on broadband 
connectivity only with limited, if 
any, voice or video service offering

Clients
Governmental and community 
anchor institutions only

Governance
Generally, a governmental or 
quasi-governmental body 
manages budget and decision-
making for the entity

Focus is on community anchor institutions & Services

“Reduce Cost and Improve Public Sector Services”

Page 20

Item 6.



16Model: “Open Access” (2)

Focus is on increasing competition and access to numerous 
broadband providers  

“Build It and They (Providers) Will Come”

Challenges
No guarantees that providers will 

utilize installed fiber.  

Cherry picking of high revenue 
areas and increased digital divide

Staffing
Minimally staffed, frequently 

supported by outside consultants 
and experts

Services

Generally, includes a combination 
of voice, video and data offered as 
part of a package by providers

Clients
Generally leased access to ISP and 
other providers, who in turn resell 
services over community fiber to 
businesses and residents

Governance
Generally, a governmental or 
quasi-governmental body 
manages budget, leasing and 
decision-making for the entity

Page 21

Item 6.



17Model: Retail Service (1)

Focus is community-led delivery of complete services to end 
consumers and/or businesses

“Build It for Residents & Businesses

Staffing
Fully staffed across marketing, 

technology, sales, service, support

Services
Full-service retail products (Voice, 
Video and Data) for consumers 
and businesses

Clients
Consumers and/or business 
customers

Governance

Governmental department or via 
corporate/private structure

Challenges
Communication entity competes 

with incumbent providers.  Complex 
challenges running ISP. Digital divide 

issues

Page 22

Item 6.



Thank You!

Page 23

Item 6.



 

City Hall Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street, Coachella, California 

(760) 398-3502      www.coachella.org 

MINUTES 

 

CITY COUNCIL CLOSED SESSION AND 

REGULAR MEETING  

 

 

OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

THE COUNCIL SITTING AS THE COACHELLA SANITARY DISTRICT, 

COACHELLA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, COACHELLA FINANCING AUTHORITY, 

COACHELLA EDUCATIONAL AND GOVERNMENTAL ACCESS CABLE CHANNEL CORPORATION, 

COACHELLA WATER AUTHORITY, SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE COACHELLA REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

AND COACHELLA PARKS AND RECREATION FOUNDATION 

September 11, 2024 
5:00 PM – CLOSED SESSION 

6:00 PM – REGULAR MEETING 
 

 

In-Person Meeting 

Location: 

 

Coachella City Hall 

Council Chamber 

1515 Sixth Street 

Coachella, CA 

If you would like to attend the meeting via Zoom, here is the link: 

 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88457271898?pwd=REdzU1NoQmpVSFhWTDVaZ0VCekYxdz09  

Or One tap mobile : 16699006833,,88457271898#,,,,*606140# 

Or Telephone: 

     US: +1 669 900 6833   

Webinar ID: 884 5727 1898 

Passcode: 606140 

Spanish: El idioma español está disponible en Zoom seleccionado la opción en la parte de 

abajo de la pantalla 

 Public comments may be received either in person, via email, telephonically, or via Zoom with a limit 

of 250 words, or three minutes: 

o In Real Time:  

If participating in real time via Zoom or phone, during the Public Comment Period, use the “raise 

hand” function on your computer, or when using a phone, participants can raise their hand by pressing 

*9 on the keypad.  

o In Writing:  

Written comments may be submitted to the City Council electronically via email 

to cityclerk@coachella.org. Transmittal prior to the start of the meeting is required. All written 

comments received will be forwarded to the City Council and entered into the record.  

o If you wish, you may leave a message at (760) 262-6240 before 5:30 p.m. on the day of the meeting. 

 The live stream of the meeting may be viewed online by accessing the city's website at 

www.coachella.org, and clicking on the "Watch Council Meetings" tab located on the home page, and 

then clicking on the "live" button. 
 

 

Page 24

Item 8.

http://www.coachella.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88457271898?pwd=REdzU1NoQmpVSFhWTDVaZ0VCekYxdz09
mailto:cityclerk@coachella.org
http://www.coachella.org/


Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 2 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  

Mayor Hernandez called the City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting of the City of Coachella to 

order at 5:00 p.m. 

Mayor Hernandez called for a moment of silence to remember the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks and for 

previously retired City Manager David Garcia who passed away.   

ROLL CALL: 

Present: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilman Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem 

Virgen, and Mayor Hernandez 

 

City Clerk 

 

Absent: City Treasurer 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 

“At this time the Council/ Board/Corporation/Authority may announce any items being pulled from the Agenda 

or continued to another date or request the moving of an item on the agenda” 

Motion: To approve the agenda 

Made by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 3-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro 

Tem Virgen, and Mayor Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: None 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (CLOSED SESSION ITEMS): 

None 

ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: 

1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1) 

City of Coachella v. Cheryl Thomas, et al.  

Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. CVPS2203206 

Page 25

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 3 

 

Mayor Hernandez stated that he did not participate in the Closed Session item as he owns real property 

within 1000 feet of such Closed Session item. 

RECONVENE REGULAR MEETING: 

The City Council reconvened into open session at 6:00 p.m. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

The City Attorney led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

CLOSED SESSION ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

City Attorney made the announcement that the Council voted to approve a settlement agreement with the 

Thomas party. 

PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS/DIRECTION: 

2. Grapefruit 92-kV Switching Station Project Presentation 

3. Proclamation Presented to Candelaria Munoz  

4. 2024/2025 Special Event Calendar 

5. Special Event Drone Options 

6. Highway Safety Improvement Program - 2024 Grant Applications 

7. Cannabis Business Program Update 

Mayor Pro Tem Virgen stepped away at 7:06 p.m. and returned at 7:13 p.m. 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: 

None 

CONSENT CALENDAR: 

(It is recommended that Consent Items be acted upon simultaneously unless separate discussion and/or action is 

requested by a Council Member or member of the audience.) 

8. Regular Meeting Minutes of July 24, 2024 of the City of Coachella, Coachella Sanitary District, 

Coachella Fire Protection District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and 

Governmental Access Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, Successor Agency to the Coachella 

Redevelopment Agency and Coachella Parks and Recreation Foundation 

9. Special Meeting Minutes of July 30, 2024 of the City of Coachella, Coachella Sanitary District, Coachella 

Fire Protection District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and Governmental Access 

Page 26

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 4 

 

Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, Successor Agency to the Coachella Redevelopment 

Agency and Coachella Parks and Recreation Foundation 

10. Adjourned Special Meeting Minutes of July 31, 2024 of the City of Coachella, Coachella Sanitary 

District, Coachella Fire Protection District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and 

Governmental Access Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, Successor Agency to the Coachella 

Redevelopment Agency and Coachella Parks and Recreation Foundation 

11. Voucher Listing- EFT's/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2023-24 and FY 2024-25 Expenditures as of 

September 11, 2024, $12,551,881.94 

12. Investment Report – June 30, 2024 

13. Direct Staff to Conduct the Biennial Review of the City's Conflict of Interest Code (Form 700 Filers) 

14. Authorize Execution of a Letter Agreement with Signature Truck Tops for the Purchase of a Forklift, in the 

amount of $24,000; Authorize Appropriation of $24,000 from Unallocated General Fund Reserves 

15. Award Professional Services agreement to The Christmas Kings for the Holiday Lighting and Decorations 

Project No. 061324 for $50,000; Approve Allocation of $50,000 from Unallocated General Fund Reserves 

for Award 

16. Authorize the City of Coachella’s Tacos, Tequila and Chavelas Festival Beer Garden Operation on October 

19, 2024 at Veterans Memorial Park from 4pm to 8pm 

17. Appropriate a Budget Allocation of $90,000 for the City's Annual 2024 Holiday Tree Lighting and Holiday 

Parade Events, From Unallocated General Fund Reserves 

18. Approve Amendment #1 for Change Order to the Previously Approved Purchase Order 16989 Digital 

Signage System with AVIR, Inc. for the Amount of $19,485 and Authorize Amendment #2 Time and 

Materials Invoice for the Amount of $15,882.61 for the Total Appropriation of $35,373.61 from Unassigned 

Fund Balance (General Fund) 

19. Resolution 2024-49 Releasing Bonds for Tract Map No. 38084 Sevilla, Pulte Home Company, LLC 

20. Approve Resolution 2024-52, A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Coachella Adopting a 

Statement of Goals and Policies for the Use of the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982 

21. Approve an Art in Public Places Proposal for a Mural Titled, Listening to the Rain by Nanibah “Nani” 

Chacon in the Amount of $24,000 

Mayor Hernandez stepped away at 7:20 p.m. and returned at 7:26 p.m. due to having real property within 

1000 feet from his project.  Mayor Pro Tem Virgen led the discussion. 

22. Authorize the City of Coachella to Sponsor the Coachella Container Park Series of Community Events in 

the Amount of $45,000 

Page 27

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 5 

 

23. Ordinance No. 1212 - An Ordinance Adding Chapter 9.28 to Title 9 of the Coachella Municipal Code 

Establishing Regulations Prohibiting the Unlawful Possession of Catalytic Converters in the City (Second 

Reading) 

Motion: To approve the Consent Calendar items except item 22. 

Made by: Councilmember Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 5-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro 

Tem Virgen, and Mayor Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: Mayor Hernandez abstained from item 21 only 

ABSENT: None 

Motion: To approve Consent Calendar items 22. 

Made by: Councilmember Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 3-2, roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor Hernandez 

NOES: Councilmember Delgado and Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: None 

NEW BUSINESS CALENDAR (LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE): 

24. Sponsorship of Run With Los Muertos Event: 

Sponsorship request from Codex Creation Committee for $35,000.00 for the 2024 Run With Los Muertos 

Event 

Approval for operation of a beer garden on November 2, 2024 in Downtown Sixth Street from 4pm to 

midnight. 

Councilmember Galarza stepped away at 8:14 p.m. and returned at 8:16 p.m. 

Motion: To increase the sponsorship amount from $35,000 to $45,000 and approval for operation of a 

beer garden on November 2, 2024 in Downtown Sixth Street from 4pm to midnight. 

Made by: Councilmember Galarza 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 5-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

Page 28

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 6 

 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro 

Tem Virgen, and Mayor Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: None 

25. Sponsorship of Synergy Music and Arts Festival Event:  

Approve sponsorship request from Culturas Music & Arts: 

Approve sponsorship request from Culturas Music & Arts, in the amount of $18,600, for the 2024 

Synergy Music and Arts Festival Event; or  

Approve sponsorship request from Culturas Music & Arts, in the amount of $28,800, for the 2024 

Synergy Music and Arts Festival Event and authorize an allocation of $10,200 from unallocated general 

fund reserves. 

Approval for operation of a beer garden on November 9, 2024 at Dateland Park from 4pm to midnight. 

Councilmember Dr. Figueroa stepped away at 8:28 p.m. and returned at 8:29 p.m. 

Motion: To approve item 25. 

Made by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Seconded by: Councilmember Galarza 

Approved: 5-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Councilmember Galarza, Mayor Pro 

Tem Virgen, and Mayor Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: None 

 

Councilmember Galarza excused himself for the remainder of the meeting at 8:32 p.m. 

26. Authorize Formation of a 2025 Coachella Agricultural Summit Ad-Hoc Committee and Appoint a 

Councilmember to the Committee 

Motion: To approve the formation of a 2025 Coachella Agricultural Summit Ad-Hoc Committee and 

appoint Mayor Pro Tem Virgen. 

Made by: Mayor Hernandez 

Seconded by: Councilmember Dr Figueroa 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

Page 29

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 7 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

27. Approve First Amendment to the Agreement for Animal Control Field and Shelter Services Between the 

City of Coachella and the County of Riverside Department of Animal Services to Extend the Contract for 

One Year in the Amount of $508,206 

Motion: To approve First Amendment to the Agreement for Animal Control Field and Shelter Services 

Between the City of Coachella and the County of Riverside Department of Animal Services to 

Extend the Contract for One Year in the Amount of $508,206 

Made by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

28. Agreement for Law Enforcement Services Between the City of Coachella and the County of Riverside From 

July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2029 

Motion: To approve Agreement for Law Enforcement Services Between the City of Coachella and the 

County of Riverside From July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2029. 

Made by: Councilmember Delgado 

Seconded by: Mayor Hernandez 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

29. Construction Contract with Urban Habitat in the Amount of $3,307,524.42 plus 10% Contingency for the 

Avenue 50 Street and Median Improvements Phase 1, City Project No.ST-93 

Mayor Pro Tem Virgen stepped away at 9:28 p.m. and returned at 9:31 p.m. 

Page 30

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 8 

 

Motion: To approve Construction Contract with Urban Habitat in the Amount of $3,307,524.42 plus 10% 

Contingency for the Avenue 50 Street and Median Improvements Phase 1, City Project No.ST-

93 

Made by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Seconded by: Councilmember Denise Delgado 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

PUBLIC HEARING CALENDAR (QUASI-JUDICIAL): 

30. Public Hearing on the Formation for Community Facilities District (CFD) 2024-1 Approving: 

Resolution 2024-45, for the Formation of Community Facilities District (CFD) 2024-1; 

Resolution 2024-46, Calling a Special Election for CFD 2024-1; 

Resolution 2024-47, Declaring the Results of the Special Election and Directing Recording of a Notice of 

Special Tax Lien for CFD No. 2024-01 and 

Ordinance 1214, of City of Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2024-1(Public Services) and to 

Authorize the Levy of a Special Tax Therein to Finance Certain Services. 

Mayor Hernandez opened the public hearing at 9:44 p.m. and closed the public hearing at 9:48 p.m. 

 

Motion: Adopt Resolution 2024-45, to Establish City of Coachella Community Facilities District No. 

2024-1 (Public Services) to Establish an Appropriations Limit Therefor, to Authorize the Levy of a 

Special Tax Therein, and to Submit the Establishment of an Appropriations Limit and the Levy of Special 

Taxes to the Qualified Electors Thereof. 

 

Made by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

 

Page 31

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 9 

 

Motion: Adopt Resolution 2024-46, Calling a Special Election and Submitting to the Qualified Electors 

of City of Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2024-1 (Public Services) Propositions 

Regarding the Establishment of an Appropriations Limit and the Annual Levy of a Special Tax 

Within the Community Facilities District. 

 

Made by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Seconded by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

 

Motion: Adopt Resolution 2024-47, Declaring the Results of the Special Election in City of Coachella 

Community Facilities District No. 2024-1 (Public Services) and Directing the Recording of a 

Notice of Special Tax Lien 

 

Made by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

 

Motion: Approve First Reading of Ordinance 1214 Levying Special Taxes Within the City of Coachella 

Community Facilities District No. 2024-1 (Public Services) 

 

Made by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

Page 32

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 10 

 

31. Community Facilities District (CFD No. 2005-01) Annexation No. 36 – (Sevilla II-Pyramid Ranch) 

Adopt Resolution No. 2024-48 Determining the Validity of Prior Proceedings relating to Annexation of 

Property (Annexation No. 36) in the City of Coachella CFD No. 2005-01 (Law Enforcement, Fire and 

Paramedic Services). 

Adopt Resolution No. 2024-50 Acting on Behalf of Coachella Community Facility District No. 2005-01 

(Law Enforcement, Fire, and Paramedic Services) Calling a Special Election within Annexation Area No. 

36 (Sevilla II-Pyramid Ranch) 

Adopt Resolution No. 2024-51 Canvassing The Results of The Election Held Within CFD No. 2005-01 

Area No. 36 (Sevilla II-Pyramid Ranch). 

Adopt Ordinance No. 1215 on Behalf of CFD No. 2005-01 Authorizing the Levy of a Special Tax within 

Annexation Area No. 36 Annexed to Said District (1st Reading) 

Mayor Hernandez opened the public hearing at 9:57 p.m. and closed the public hearing at 9:59 p.m. 

Motion: Adopt Resolution No. 2024-48 Determining the Validity of Prior Proceedings Relating to 

Annexation of Property (Annexation No. 36) into City of Coachella Community Facilities District No. 

2005-01 (Law Enforcement, Fire and Paramedic Services). 

 

Made by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Seconded by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

Motion: Adopt Resolution No. 2024-50 Acting on Behalf of City of Coachella Community Facilities 

District No. 2005-1 (Law Enforcement, Fire and Paramedic Services) Calling a Special Election. 

 

Made by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Seconded by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

Page 33

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 11 

 

Motion:  Adopt Resolution No. 2024-51 Acting on Behalf of City of Coachella Community Facility 

District No. 2005-1 (Law Enforcement, Fire and Paramedic Services) Canvassing the Results of the 

Election Held Within Annexation Area No. 36 Annexed to said District. 

 

Made by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Seconded by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

Motion: Approve First Reading of Ordinance No. 1215 Acting the Legislative Body of City of 

Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2005-01 (Law Enforcement, Fire, and Paramedic Services) 

Authorizing the Levy of a Special Tax within Annexation Area No. 36 Annexed to Said District. 

 

Made by: Councilmember Dr. Figueroa 

Seconded by: Mayor Pro Tem Virgen 

Approved: 4-0, Unanimous roll call vote: 

 

AYES:  Councilmember Dr. Figueroa, Councilmember Delgado, Mayor Pro Tem Virgen, and Mayor 

Hernandez 

NOES: None 

ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT: Councilmember Galarza 

PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA ITEMS): 

The public may address the City Council/Board/Corporation/ Authority on any item of interest to the public that 

is not on the agenda but is in the subject matter jurisdiction thereof. Please limit your comments to three (3) 

minutes. 

With the time being after the 8:00 p.m. hour and per Resolution No.2019-34, Public Comments were moved up 

right after item #25 on page 6.   

(1) Daniel Guerrero 

(2) Isidro Zepeda 

(3) Humberto Ruiz 

REPORTS AND REQUESTS: 

Council Comments/Report of Miscellaneous Committees. 

Page 34

Item 8.



Minutes City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting September 11, 2024 

Page 12 

 

City Manager’s Comments. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

There being no further business to come before the City Council and the Agencies, Pro Tem Virgen adjourned 

the meeting at 10:19 p.m. 

 

 

 

_____________________ 

Angela Zepeda 

City Clerk  
 

 

 

Page 35

Item 8.



Page 36

Item 9.



Page 37

Item 9.



Page 38

Item 9.



Page 39

Item 9.



Page 40

Item 9.



Page 41

Item 9.



Page 42

Item 9.



Page 43

Item 9.



Page 44

Item 9.



Page 45

Item 9.



Page 46

Item 9.



Page 47

Item 9.



Page 48

Item 9.



Page 49

Item 9.



Page 50

Item 9.



Page 51

Item 9.



Page 52

Item 9.



Page 53

Item 9.



Page 54

Item 9.



Page 55

Item 9.



Page 56

Item 9.



Page 57

Item 9.



 

 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Gabriel Perez, Development Services Director 

SUBJECT: Community Facilities District (CFD No. 2005-01) Annexation 36 – (Sevilla II-

Pyramid Ranch) 

SPECIFICS: Ordinance No. 1215 on Behalf of CFD No. 2005-01 Authorizing the Levy of a 

Special Tax within Annexation Area No. 36 Annexed to Said District (2nd 

Reading) 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council take the following action: 

 

1) Adopt Ordinance No. 1215 Authorizing the Levy of a Special Tax within Annexation Area 

No. 36 Annexed to CFD No. 2005-01. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

On September 14, 2005 the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2005-93 establishing the City of 

Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2005-01 (Law Enforcement, Fire and Paramedic 

Services) pursuant to the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982, as amended.  The District 

and several annexations of territory have been established in the City of Coachella over the past 

17 years.  The annexation areas consist of new residential subdivisions and multifamily residential 

development projects.  

 

On July 24, 2024, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2024-40 stating its intention to annex 

certain property (APN# 779-280-002 and 779-320-001), consisting of the Pyramid Ranch project 

(previously known as Sevilla II) (“Annexation Area No. 36”) into the District pursuant to the Act.  

A copy of Resolution No. 2040-40 which includes a description and map of Annexation Area No. 

36, and the rate and method of apportionment and manner of collection of the special tax are on 

file with the City Clerk. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 

Pursuant to the conditions of approval imposed on the Pyramid Project which includes construction 

of a new 204 single-residential community on 39.35 acres generally located west of Van Buren 

Street and south of Avenue 50, the project site must be annexed into the City-wide Community 

Page 58

Item 10.



 

Facilities District (CFD No. 2005-01).  The City Council took the first step in this process by 

adopting a resolution of intention on July 24, 2024 (Resolution No. 2024-40). The City Council 

canvassed the results of the special election on September 11, 2024 and the property owner voted 

in favor of annexing into the CFD 2005-1 and therefore approved Ordinance No. 1215 on first 

reading to authorize the levy of the special tax for Annexation Area No. 36.  The City Council 

must take action to adopt Ordinance No. 1215 by second reading in order to levy the special tax 

within Annexation 36.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

The ordinance action would pave the way to annex the Pyramid Ranch site (Annexation No. 36) 

into the City-wide CFD which would collect an annual assessment that pays for Law Enforcement, 

Fire and Paramedic Services. The current rate and apportionment method would collect $1,516.52 

for every dwelling unit that is constructed within the developed multifamily residential project. 

Ultimately, these funds will be used to augment the operating costs for police, fire, and paramedic 

services in the City of Coachella. 
 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Adopt the attached resolutions and introduce Ordinance 1215 (2nd Reading) 

2. Continue this item and provide staff with direction.  

3. Take no action. 

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 

 

Staff recommends alternative #1. 

 

 
Attachments:   
 

1. Ordinance No. 1215 (2nd Reading) 
2. Exhibit A - Rate and Method (CFD 2005-01) 
3. Exhibit B - CFD Annexation Map 36 

 
 

Page 59

Item 10.



ORDINANCE NO. 1215 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA ACTING AS 

THE LEGISLATIVE BODY OF CITY OF COACHELLA COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

DISTRICT NO. 2005-1 (LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE AND PARAMEDIC SERVICES) 

AUTHORIZING THE LEVY OF A SPECIAL TAX WITHIN ANNEXATION AREA NO. 

36 ANNEXED TO SAID DISTRICT 

 

WHEREAS, on July 24, 2024, the City Council (the “Council”) of the City of Coachella, 

California (the “City”), adopted Resolution No. 2024-40 stating its intention to annex certain 

properties, consisting of Sevilla II – Pyramid Ranch (“Annexation Area No. 36”), into City of 

Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2005-1 (Law Enforcement, Fire and Paramedic 

Services) (the “District”) pursuant to the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982, as 

amended, (the “Act”); and 

WHEREAS, notice was published as required by law relative to the intention of the Council 

to annex Annexation Area No. 36 into the District; and 

WHEREAS, on September 11, 2024 this Council held a noticed public hearing as required 

by law relative to the determination to proceed with the annexation of Annexation Area No. 36 

into the District and the rate and method of apportionment and manner of collection of the special 

tax to be levied within Annexation Area No. 36 to finance certain public services; and 

WHEREAS, at said hearing all persons desiring to be heard on all matters pertaining to the 

annexation of Annexation Area No. 36 were heard and a full and fair hearing was held; and 

WHEREAS, the Council subsequent to said hearing adopted Resolution No. 2024-48 

determining the validity of prior proceedings relative to the annexation of Annexation Area No. 

36 into the District and authorized the levy of a special tax within Annexation Area No. 36; and 

WHEREAS, the Council subsequent to said hearing adopted Resolution No. 2024-50 

which called an election within Annexation Area No. 36, for September 11, 2024 on the 

proposition of levying a special tax; and 

WHEREAS, on September 11, 2024 an election was held within Annexation Area No. 36, 

in which the eligible electors approved by more than two-thirds vote the proposition of levying a 

special tax; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

COACHELLA AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. A special tax is levied within the boundaries of Annexation Area No. 36 

Exhibit “B”, pursuant to the formula set forth in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference in an amount necessary to finance a portion of the cost of providing law enforcement, 

fire and paramedic services that are in addition to those provided in the territory within Annexation 

Area No. 36, prior to the annexation of Annexation Area No. 36, respectively, into the District. 

Page 60

Item 10.



Section 2. This legislative body is hereby further authorized each year, by resolution 

adopted as provided in section 53340 of the Act, to determine the specific special tax rate and 

amount to be levied for the next fiscal year, except that the special tax rate to be levied shall not 

exceed the maximum rate set forth in Exhibit “A.” 

Section 3. All of the collections of the special tax shall be used as provided for in the 

Act and Resolution No. 2024-48 of the Council. 

Section 4. The above authorized special tax shall be collected in the same manner as 

ordinary ad valorem taxes are collected and shall be subject to the same penalties and the same 

procedure and sale in cases of delinquency and provided for ad valorem taxes. 

Section 5. The Mayor shall sign this ordinance and the City Clerk shall attest to such 

signature.  The City Clerk is directed to cause the title and summary or text of the this ordinance, 

together with the vote thereon, to be published within fifteen (15) days after its passage at least 

once in a newspaper of general circulation published and circulated within the territorial 

jurisdiction of the City, and to post at the main office of the City a certified copy of the full text of 

the adopted ordinance along with the names of the Council Members voting for and against the 

ordinance. 

Section 6. This ordinance relating to the levy of the special tax takes effect and shall 

be in force from and after 30 days from the date of final passage.  A copy of this ordinance shall 

be transmitted to the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors of Riverside County, the Assessor and the 

Treasurer-Tax Collector of Riverside County. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City 

of Coachella on this 11th day of September 2024 by the following vote: 

 

AYES:  

 

NOES:   

 

ABSENT:   

 

ABSTAIN:    

 

 

       _____________________________ 

       Steven Hernandez, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Angela Zepeda, City Clerk  

 

Page 61

Item 10.



 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

     

 

______________________________ 

Carlos Campos, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA  ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE  ) SS 

CITY OF COACHELLA  ) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I, Angela Zepeda, City Clerk of the City of Coachella do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true 

and correct copy of an ordinance, being Ordinance No. 1215  duly passed and adopted at regular 

meeting of the City Council of the City of Coachella, California held on the 11th  day of September, 

2024. 

 

 

 

 

By: _________________________ 
      Angela Zepeda, City Clerk 

Page 62

Item 10.



 

EXHIBIT A 

RATE AND METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT

Page 63

Item 10.



 

NOTICE OF ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 1215 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that on September 11, 2024, the City Council of the City 

of Coachella, in its capacity as the legislative body of the City of Coachella Community Facilities 

District No. 2005-1 (Law Enforcement, Fire and Paramedic Services), held a public hearing and 

adopted Ordinance No. 1215.  A summary of Ordinance No. 1215 follows and is marked as Exhibit 

“A”.  At said time and place the testimony of all interested persons or taxpayers for or against said 

ordinance was heard. 

Ordinance No. 1215 was adopted by the following vote: 

AYES:  

NOES: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT: 

 

 

 

     By:  Angela Zepeda, City Clerk  

      City of Coachella 

                  

 

Dated: September 11, 2024 

 

Page 64

Item 10.



 

EXHIBIT “A” 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA IN ITS 

CAPACITY AS THE LEGISLATIVE BODY OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2005-1 (LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE 

AND PARAMEDIC SERVICES) 

 

IN THE MATTER OF Authorizing 

the Levy of a Special Tax Within 

Annexation Area No. 36 Annexed 

to City of Coachella Community 

Facilities District No. 2005-1 (Law 

Enforcement, Fire and Paramedic 

Services) 

)  ORDINANCE NO. 1215  SUMMARY 

)   

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

The ordinance authorizes the levy of an annual special tax within Annexation Area No. 36 

annexed to City of Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2005-1 (Law Enforcement, Fire 

and Paramedic Services) (the “District”), collected in the same manner as ordinary ad valorem 

taxes, in an amount necessary to finance a portion of the cost of providing law enforcement, fire 

and paramedic services that are in addition to those provided in the territory within Annexation 

Area No. 36, prior to the annexation of Annexation Area No. 36, respectively, to the District, 

which is necessary to meet increased demands placed upon the City as a result of development or 

rehabilitation occurring within Annexation Area No. 36. 

 

  

 

By: Angela Zepeda, City Clerk 

       City of Coachella 

 

 

Dated: September 11, 2024 

 

 

 

Page 65

Item 10.



1 

 

RATE AND METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT FOR 

CITY OF COACHELLA COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2005-1 

(LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE AND PARAMEDIC SERVICES) 

 

A Special Tax as hereinafter defined shall be levied on all Assessor’s Parcels in Community 

Facilities District No. 2005-1 of the City of Coachella (the “CFD”) and collected each Fiscal Year 

commencing in Fiscal Year 2006-07, in an amount determined by the City Council of the City of 

Coachella, through the application of the Rate Method of Apportionment as described below. All 

of the real property in the CFD, unless exempted by law or by the provisions hereof, shall be taxed 

for the purposes, to the extent and in the manner herein provided. 

 

A. DEFINITIONS 

 

The terms hereinafter set forth have the following meanings: 

 

“Act” means the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act of 1982, as amended, being Chapter 2.5, 

Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code of the State of California. 

 

“Assessor’s Parcel” means a lot or parcel shown in an Assessor’s Parcel Map with an assigned 

Assessor’s parcel number. 

 

“Assessor’s Parcel Map” means an official map of the County Assessor of the County 

designating parcels by Assessor’s parcel number. 

 

“CFD Administration” means an official of the City, or designee thereof, responsible for 

providing for the levy and collection of the Special Taxes. 

 

“CDF” means City of Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2005-1 (Law Enforcement, 

Fire and Paramedic Services).  

 

“City” means the City of Coachella. 

 

“City Council” means the City Council of the City. 

 

“Commercial or Industrial Property” means for each Fiscal Year, property for which a building 

permit for new construction of a commercial or industrial use building has been issued. 

 

“County” means the County of Riverside. 

 

“Developed Multi-Family Residential Property” means for each Fiscal Year, all Taxable 

Property for which a building permit for new construction of a multi-family dwelling with four or 

more units was issued prior to June 30 of the prior Fiscal Year, exclusive of property for which 

the property owner pays Transient Occupancy Taxes or the property owner has entered into an 

agreement with the City pursuant to which such property owner pays Transient Occupancy Taxes. 

 

Page 66

Item 10.



2 

 

“Developed Property” means for each Fiscal Year, all Developed Multi-Family Residential 

Property and Developed Single-Family Residential Property. 

 

“Developed Single-Family Residential Property” means for each Fiscal Year, all Taxable 

Property for which a building permit new construction of a single-family dwelling unit was issued 

prior to June 30 of the prior Fiscal Year. 

 

“Fiscal Year” means the period starting July 1 and ending on the following June 30. 

 

“Resolution of Formation” means the resolution adopted by the City as authorized by Section 

53325.1 of the California Government Code. 

 

“Special Tax” means the special tax to be levied in each Fiscal Year on each Assessor’s Parcel 

Taxable Property. 

 

“State” means the State of California. 

 

“Taxable Property” means all the Assessor’s Parcels within the boundaries of the CFD which 

are not exempt from the Special Tax pursuant to law or Section E below. 

 

“Transient Occupancy Taxes” means those transient occupancy taxes payable to the City 

pursuant to Ordinance. 

 

“Undeveloped Property” means, for each Fiscal Year, all Assessor’s Parcels not classified as 

Developed Property or Commercial or Industrial Property. 

 

B. ASSIGNMENT TO LAND USE CLASSES 

 

Each Fiscal Year, all Taxable Property within the CFD classified as Developed Single-Family 

Residential Property or Developed Multi-Family Residential Property shall be subject to Special 

Taxes in accordance with the rate and method of apportionment determined pursuant to Sections 

C and D below. 

 

C. MAXIMUM SPECIAL TAX 

 

1. Developed Single-Family Residential Property 

 

a. Maximum Special Tax 

The Maximum Special Tax for each Assessor’s Parcel classified as Developed Single-

Family Residential Property shall be $846.76 for Police Services and $511.34 for 

Fire/Paramedic Services. 

 

b. Increase in the Maximum Special Tax 

On each July 1, commencing on July 1, 2015, the Maximum Special Tax shall be increased 

by an amount equal to the percentage increase in the U.S. Department of Labor Statistics, 

Consumer Price Index, for Los Angeles-Riverside-Orange County, California, for the 12 

Page 67

Item 10.



3 

 

month period ending the preceding December 31, of the amount in effect for the previous 

Fiscal Year. 

 

2. Developed Multi-Family Residential Property 

 

a. Maximum Special Tax 

The Maximum Special Tax for each Assessor’s Parcel classified as Developed Multi-

Family Residential Property shall be $846.76 for Police Services and $511.34 for 

Fire/Paramedic Services multiplied by the number of separate dwelling units applicable to 

such Assessor’s Parcel. 

 

b. Increase in the Maximum Special Tax 

On each July 1, commencing on July 1, 2015, the Maximum Special Tax shall be increased 

by an amount equal to the percentage increase in the U.S. Department of Labor Statistics, 

Consumer Price Index, for Los Angeles-Riverside-Orange County, California, for the 12 

month period ending the preceding December 31, of the amount in effect for the previous 

Fiscal Year.  

 

D. METHOD OF APPORTIONMENT OF THE SPECIAL TAX 

 

Commencing with Fiscal Year 2005-06 and for each following Fiscal Year, the City Council shall 

levy the Special Tax at the Maximum Special Tax on all Developed Single-Family Residential 

Property and Developed Multi-Family Residential Property. 

 

E. EXEMPTIONS: EXCLUSIONS 

 

No Special Tax shall be levied on Undeveloped Property, Commercial or Industrial Property or 

for Developed Property developed as part of a development with less than 4 units. In the event that 

a Developed Multi-Family Residential Property that has been excluded from a levy of the Special 

Tax by reason of the payment by the property owner of Transient Occupancy Tax, and should that 

payment be terminated, such Assessor Parcel shall not longer be excluded from Developed Multi-

Family Residential Property and will be subject to the Special Tax. 

 

F. APPEALS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

 

Any taxpayer may file a written appeal of the Special Tax on his/her property with the CFD 

Administrator, provided that the appellant is current in his/her payments of Special Taxes. During 

the pendency of an appeal, all Special Taxes previously levied must be paid on or before the 

payment date established when the levy was made. The appeal must specify the reasons why the 

appellant claims the calculation of the Special Tax is in error. The CFD Administrator shall review 

the appeal, meet with the appellant if the CFD Administrator deems necessary, and advise the 

appellant of its determination. If the CFD Administrator agrees with the appellant, the CFD 

Administrator shall eliminate or reduce the Special Tax on the appellant’s property and/or provide 

a refund to the appellant. If the CFD Administrator disagrees with the appellant and the appellant 

is dissatisfied with the determination, the appellant then has 30 days in which to appeal to the 

Board by filing a written notice of appeal with the Board Secretary, provided that the appellant is 

Page 68

Item 10.



4 

 

current in his/her payments of Special Taxes. The second appeal must specify the reasons for its 

disagreement with the CFD Administrator’s determination. 

 

G. MANNER OF COLLECTION 

 

The Special Tax will be collected in the same manner and at the same time as ordinary ad valorem 

property taxes; provided, however, that the CFD may directly bill the Special Tax, may collect 

Special Taxes at different time or in a different manner if necessary to meets its financial 

obligations, and may covenant to foreclose and may actually foreclose on delinquent Assessor’s 

Parcels as permitted by the Act. 

 

H. PREPAYMENT OF THE SPECIAL TAX 

 

The Special Tax may not be prepaid. 

 

I. TERM OF THE SPECIAL TAX 

 

The Annual Maximum Special Tax shall be levied in perpetuity or unit Law Enforcement, Fire 

and Paramedic Services are no longer being provided by the City within the CFD, whichever is 

earlier.  

 
 

Page 69

Item 10.



75410 Gerald Ford Drive, Suite 100
Palm Desert, CA 92211

MBAKERINTL.COM
Phone: (760) 346-7481

C LA IF AORNI

111

C LA IF AORNI

86

10

Page 70

Item 10.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN BUREN STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 4/62

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 4/62

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT 32074-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 394/24-27

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 4/62

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT 31698

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 394/47-52

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT 32074-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 394/24-27

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 4/62

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT 31698

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 394/47-52

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE 50

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 12

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 4/62

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
MB 4/62

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE 51

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN THE CITY OF COACHELLA, COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, STATE OF CALIFORNIA  ANNEXATION MAP NO. XX TRACTS 38557 AND 38557-1 COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT 2005-1 (LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE AND PARAMEDIC SERVICES)   NE QUARTER OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 6 SOUTH, RANGE 7 EAST, SAN BERNARDINO MERIDIAN                          

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK THIS _______ DAY OF ____________, 20___. I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE WITHIN MAP SHOWING PROPOSED BOUNDARIES OF ANNEXATION NO. XX, TRACTS 38557 AND 38557-1, TO COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2005-1 (LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE AND PARAMEDIC SERVICES), CITY OF COACHELLA, COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, WAS APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA AT A REGULAR MEETING THEREOF, HELD ON _______ DAY OF ______________, 20___, BY ITS RESOLUTION NO. _______________ BY: ___________________________     CITY CLERK     CITY OF COACHELLA 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED THIS ______ DAY OF ___________, 20___, AT THE HOUR OF ________ O'CLOCK ____ M. IN THE BOOK _____ PAGES _____ OF MAPS OF ASSESSMENTS AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS AND AS INSTRUMENT NO. ______________ IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDERS IN THE COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, STATE OF CALIFORNIA. BY: ___________________________     COUNTY RECORDER     COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE     STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
REFERENCE IS MADE TO THAT BOUNDARY MAP OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2005-1 (LAW ENFORCEMENT, FIRE AND PARAMEDIC SERVICES) OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA RECORDED WITH THE RIVERSIDE COUNTY RECORDER'S OFFICE ON _____________, IN BOOK ___ OF MAPS OF ASSESSMENT AND COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICTS, PAGE ____, AS INSTRUMENT NO. ______________. THE LINES AND DIMENSIONS OF EACH LOT OR PARCEL SHOWN ON THIS DIAGRAM SHALL BE THOSE LINES AND DIMENSIONS AS SHOWN ON THE RIVERSIDE COUNTY ASSESSORS MAPS FOR THOSE PARCELS LISTED.  THE RIVERSIDE COUNTY ASSESSORS MAPS SHALL GOVERN FOR ALL DETAILS CONCERNING THE LINES AND DIMENSIONS OF SUCH LOTS OR PARCELS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UVICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MONROE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
JACKSON STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
VAN BUREN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE 53

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE 52

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE 50

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE 48

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE 49

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE 51

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR. CARREON BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DILLON RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPEFRUIT BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COACHELLA

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CESAR CHAVEZ ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FREDERICK STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALHOUN STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASMT. NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACREAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
779-280-002

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
779-320-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND ANNEXATION BOUNDARY ASSESSMENT NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
#

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC 27401 LOS ALTOS, SUITE 400 MISSION VIEJO, CA 92691

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
400

AutoCAD SHX Text
600

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=200'

gperez
Text Box
September 7, 2005

gperez
Text Box
63

gperez
Text Box
100

gperez
Text Box
2005-0737672

gperez
Text Box
Exhibit B  - Ordinance 1215



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: 
 

Jaime Arroyo, Grants Manager  

SUBJECT: Authorize a Community-Based Grant to American Outreach Foundation in the 

Amount of $1,000 to Help Cover Costs for Providing and Maintaining Power 

Wheelchairs 
 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council consider awarding a Community-Based Grant (CBG) to 

American Outreach Foundation in the amount of $1,000 to help cover costs for providing and 

maintaining power wheelchairs. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Community Based Grant Program was established in 2010 and allows the City of Coachella 

to offer financial assistance to local nonprofit organizations, youth-serving organizations, and 

other community-based organizations that provide essential services, programs and activities to 

residents in Coachella. Applicant organizations are only eligible to submit one application for 

consideration each fiscal year and must be legally established with non-profit or tax-exempt status, 

be based in the Coachella Valley, or provide direct service to Coachella residents. Approval of 

grant funds does not constitute a precedent for grant allocations in subsequent years. All CBG 

grants are reimbursement grants to ensure that applicants are meeting their stated goals. The FY 

24-25 budget included an allocation of $15,000 for the Community Based Grant Program.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

For over 16 years, the American Outreach Foundation (AOF) has served veterans, low-income 

families and seniors throughout the Coachella Valley. They have provided over $4.5 million 

worth of Durable Medical Equipment (DMEs), electric wheelchairs and scooters, parts and 

service maintenance calls through their Powerchair Program. The AOF makes mobility possible 

for persons who do not have the financial means to afford them, or who do not have insurance, or 

lack the health insurance coverage to pay for this type of assistance. Funding will help cover the 

cost of delivering, repairing and maintaining the electric wheelchairs.    

 

 

Page 71

Item 11.



ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Award a Community Based Grant in the amount of $1,000. 

2. Do not award a Community Based Grant 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Should the City Council approve the staff recommendation, the Community-Based Grant 

Program account will be reduced by $1,000. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

 

CBG Application Packet 

 

 

 

Page 72

Item 11.



 

CITY OF COACHELLA, CA 
COMMUNITY BASED GRANT PROGRAM 

APPLICATION FOR FUNDS REQUEST 

Please Type Information and Print 
Information entered in the provided spaces cannot be saved. 

 
(Attach additional pages as needed, however applicants are encouraged to be brief.) 

 

1. Application Funding Cycle:                                           Date:  
 
July 1, 20           - June 30, 20           
 

2. Total Amount Requested:     $        
 
If requesting waiver of City fees or charges, please indicate the City service for which the waiver 
is being requested.  
 
 

3. Proposed Program/Service of Funding Request: 
 
 

4. Agency/Organization: 
 

5. Mailing Address: 
 

City:                  Zip:  
 

6. Telephone:  
 

Fax:  
 

7. Official Contact Person: 
Name:  

 
Title:  

 
Telephone:  

 
Fax:  

 
E-mail:  

 
 

09/17/2024

24 25

1000

American Outreach Foundation

68340 Risueno Rd #B

Cathedral 92234

(760) 674-4861

Oscar Llort

President

(760) 832-1871

AmericanOutreachFoundation@yahoo.co

American Outreach Foundation "Need A Powerchair Program"

Page 73

Item 11.



8. Does this organization have a non-profit status with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS)?     
Yes       No      (Attach documentation) 
 

9. How long has this organization been in existence? 
 

 
10. Has the organization previously received funding from the City of Coachella?  

 Yes       No   
If yes, please identify the program/service, total prior grant allocation, and the fiscal year in 
which the funds were received. 
 
 

11. Is this request for a  New or  Existing program/service within the City? 
 

12. What is the anticipated time frame to provide the proposed program/service and the 
expenditure of the requested funds? 
 
 

13. Describe briefly how the requested funds will be used. 
 
 

 
14. Will the program/service require additional funding sources? If so, identify all funding sources 

and provide the steps taken to acquire funding. 
 
 

 
15. If the program/service is planned to continue beyond the period provided by this grant, what 

funding plans are there to sustain the program/service? 
 
 
 

16. How will the proposed program/service serve City of Coachella residents?  Will the proposed 
program/service also serve non-Coachella residents? Please describe. 
 
 

 
17. Describe the characteristics of the clients the proposed program/service anticipates to serve (i.e. 

age group, gender, income level, ethnicity, etc.) 
 
 

 
 

18. Attach a proposed budget for requested funds. 
 
Authorized Official:                                              Title:  
 
 
Signature:                                                                         Date: 09/17/2024  

 
 

✔

✔

✔

We are a 501(c)3 Non-Profit serving the Coachella Valley since 2007.

2018/2024, $4,000 received for Need A Powerchair Program

To meet an immediate and ongoing need, we will use the funds you provide to cover the
associated costs of providing and answering maintenance service calls for power
wheelchairs & scooters to Veterans and low-income seniors in the City of Coachella.
We will use the funds requested to offset the related costs of service for recipients from the
City of Coachella. These costs include but are not limited to repairing electric wheelchairs;
delivering and maintaining power wheelchairs.

Yes, additional funding needs are ongoing. Through our program, we deliver all year-round
chairs throughout the Coachella Valley, including recipients in the City of Coachella.
Similarly, we also provide ongoing numbers of maintenance calls to fix and/or refurbish &
repair defective wheelchairs.

With over 16 years of serving the cities of the Coachella Valley, our goal is to continue
serving Veterans, low-income seniors and the under-insured with mobility issues. AOF
applies to grants on a recurring basis from various organizations. We continue to brand AOF

Funds received will be used to help residents/recipients in the City of Coachella. Our efforts
are concentrated throughout the Coachella Valley, with an emphasis on Veterans,
low-income seniors, or under-insured individuals who have mobility issues in disadvantaged

We serve clients from different groups or categories because we believe that mobility is a
human right that should not be limited by age, race, gender, financial situation, or
immigration status. Our mission is to enhance the well-being of Veterans, low-income

Oscar Llort President

Page 74

Item 11.



18. Attach a proposed budget for requested funds. 

A grant of $1,000 will help bring assistance to recipients specifically from the City of Coachella and bring 
relief not just to the recipients, but also to their caregivers and families. 

The funds you provide will be used in part to cover the cost of pickup/delivery of powerchairs, refurbishing 
materials, repair parts, batteries, and other miscellaneous program costs.  
 
 
 

Description Program Costs 

Cost of Batteries  $1400 

Pick up & delivery costs $600 

Estimated refurbishing costs  $650 

Incurred administrative costs $250 

  

Total Program Budget $2900.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75

Item 11.



Report Expenditures --- July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024

February 9, 2024 CBG Grant Received $1,000.00

October 5, 2023 Interstate Batteries $119.90

January 10, 2024 Interstate Batteries $69.90

March 13, 2024 MK Batteries $215.00

March 13, 2024 MK Batteries $580.56

March 21, 2024 Interstate Batteries $79.90

April 4, 2024 MK Batteries $255.82

April 10, 2024 MK Batteries $190.24

May 9, 2024 Interstate Batteries $239.90

Sub Total $1,751.22

FY 2023/2024
Gas - Out of town Pick-ups & local deliveries  & 

Valley-wide maintenace call services
$750.00

FY 2023/2024 Associated Program Operating Cost $500.00

Total Pragram $3,001.22

Community Based Grant - City of Coachella

American Outreach Foundation - Donate My Powerchair Program

Disbursement

American Outreach Foundation received a Community Based Grant of $1,000, from the City of Coachella. 

Funds received were used specifically to help residents/recipients for the city of Coachella.

Donate My Powerchair program is year-round. Any one in need of expanding their freedom of mobility qualifies. 

The goal of the program is to assist Veterans, low income seniors and the under-insured with mobility issues by 

giving them freedom of mobility and independence.

While the American Outreach Foundation gives electric wheelchairs and scooters for free, the expense of new 

batteries is the responsibility of the recipients to cover; however, in many instances, the Foundation encounters 

more and more recipients for whom it is a genuine financial burden to assume the cost of a twin set of mobility 

batteries for their chairs. Every electric wheelchair or scooter requires a set of two mobility batteries.

Similarly, we also provide ongoing numbers of maintenance calls to fix and/or refurbishing & repairs of defective 

wheelchairs or scooter.

Page 76

Item 11.



Page 77

Item 11.



Page 78

Item 11.



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: 
 

Jaime Arroyo, Grants Manager  

SUBJECT: Authorize a Community-Based Grant to Green Room Theatre Company 

Coachella Valley in the Amount of $1,000 to Help Fund Their Ballet Folklorico 

Program 
 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council consider awarding a Community-Based Grant (CBG) to 

Green Room Theatre Company Coachella Valley in the amount of $1,000 to help fund their 

Ballet Folklorico Program. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Community Based Grant Program was established in 2010 and allows the City of Coachella 

to offer financial assistance to local nonprofit organizations, youth-serving organizations, and 

other community-based organizations that provide essential services, programs and activities to 

residents in Coachella. Applicant organizations are only eligible to submit one application for 

consideration each fiscal year and must be legally established with non-profit or tax-exempt status, 

be based in the Coachella Valley, or provide direct service to Coachella residents. Approval of 

grant funds does not constitute a precedent for grant allocations in subsequent years. All CBG 

grants are reimbursement grants to ensure that applicants are meeting their stated goals. The FY 

24-25 budget included an allocation of $15,000 for the Community Based Grant Program.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

For 15 years, the Green Room Theatre Company has been providing professional theater, dance 

performances, and education directly to under-resourced communities, enhancing literacy, job 

skills, and community connections. Each year, the company reaches hundreds of underserved 

adults, youth and children in efforts to inspire the next generation of theater-makers and theater-

goers to achieve artistic and personal growth. Through their partnership with Desert Recreation 

District, Green Room’s Ballet Folklorico Training has expanded greatly to provide classes and 

performance opportunities for elementary to high school students in under-resourced schools. 

Funding is requested to help offset the costs for costumes and footwear.  

 

Page 79

Item 12.



ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Award a Community Based Grant in the amount of $1,000. 

2. Do not award a Community Based Grant 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Should the City Council approve the staff recommendation, the Community-Based Grant 

Program account will be reduced by $1,000. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

 

CBG Application Packet 

 

 

 

Page 80

Item 12.



Page 81

Item 12.



Page 82

Item 12.



Page 83

Item 12.



Page 84

Item 12.



Page 85

Item 12.



Page 86

Item 12.



Page 87

Item 12.



Page 88

Item 12.



Page 89

Item 12.



Page 90

Item 12.



Page 91

Item 12.



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/252024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: 
 

Jaime Arroyo, Grants Manager  

SUBJECT: Authorize a Community-Based Grant to Pueblo Unido CDC in the Amount of 

$1,000 to Help Fund its Reynas Del Valle Coachella Program 
 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council consider awarding a Community-Based Grant (CBG) to 

Pueblo Unido CDC in the amount of $1,000 to help fund its Reynas Del Valle Coachella 

Program. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Community Based Grant Program was established in 2010 and allows the City of Coachella 

to offer financial assistance to local nonprofit organizations, youth-serving organizations, and 

other community-based organizations that provide essential services, programs and activities to 

residents in Coachella. Applicant organizations are only eligible to submit one application for 

consideration each fiscal year and must be legally established with non-profit or tax-exempt status, 

be based in the Coachella Valley, or provide direct service to Coachella residents. Approval of 

grant funds does not constitute a precedent for grant allocations in subsequent years. All CBG 

grants are reimbursement grants to ensure that applicants are meeting their stated goals. The FY 

24-25 budget included an allocation of $15,000 for the Community Based Grant Program.  

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

Since its inception in 2008, Pueblo Unido CDC has been a leader in social justice and has helped 

shape the platform for partner organizations and new developing organizations to continue 

building on those successes. With the persistence of the organization, the Eastern Coachella 

Valley (ECV) farmworker community has benefited from continued equitable progress towards a 

brighter future and has paved a path for a healthy and sustainable community in the ECV. Pueblo 

Unido partners with various other agencies and programs, and in this instance is the fiscal 

sponsor for Reynas Del Valle. The Escaramuza Charra Reynas del Valle Coachella program 

empowers young girls from the ages of 5 to 15 years old by offering horsemanship instruction 

and educational activities. Funding requested for this program will help cover the cost of 

equestrian attire.  

Page 92

Item 13.



ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Award a Community Based Grant in the amount of $1,000. 

2. Do not award a Community Based Grant 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Should the City Council approve the staff recommendation, the Community-Based Grant 

Program account will be reduced by $1,000. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

 

CBG Application Packet 

 

 

 

Page 93

Item 13.



 

CITY OF COACHELLA, CA 
COMMUNITY BASED GRANT PROGRAM 

APPLICATION FOR FUNDS REQUEST 

Please Type Information and Print 
Information entered in the provided spaces cannot be saved. 

 
(Attach additional pages as needed, however applicants are encouraged to be brief.) 

 

1. Application Funding Cycle:                                           Date:  
 
July 1, 20           - June 30, 20           
 

2. Total Amount Requested:     $        
 
If requesting waiver of City fees or charges, please indicate the City service for which the waiver 
is being requested.  
 
 

3. Proposed Program/Service of Funding Request: 
 
 

4. Agency/Organization: 
 

5. Mailing Address: 
 

City:                  Zip:  
 

6. Telephone:  
 

Fax:  
 

7. Official Contact Person: 
Name:  

 
Title:  

 
Telephone:  

 
Fax:  

 
E-mail:  

 
 

09/10/2024

24 24

1000

Reynas del Valle Coachella

85321 Ave 44,

Indio 92203

(760) 766-5306

Margarita Lopez

President

(760) 766-5306

ranchoescondido914@gmail.com

Escaramuza Charra Reynas del Valle Coachella

Page 94

Item 13.



8. Does this organization have a non-profit status with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS)?     
Yes       No      (Attach documentation) 
 

9. How long has this organization been in existence? 
 

 
10. Has the organization previously received funding from the City of Coachella?  

 Yes       No   
If yes, please identify the program/service, total prior grant allocation, and the fiscal year in 
which the funds were received. 
 
 

11. Is this request for a  New or  Existing program/service within the City? 
 

12. What is the anticipated time frame to provide the proposed program/service and the 
expenditure of the requested funds? 
 
 

13. Describe briefly how the requested funds will be used. 
 
 

 
14. Will the program/service require additional funding sources? If so, identify all funding sources 

and provide the steps taken to acquire funding. 
 
 

 
15. If the program/service is planned to continue beyond the period provided by this grant, what 

funding plans are there to sustain the program/service? 
 
 
 

16. How will the proposed program/service serve City of Coachella residents?  Will the proposed 
program/service also serve non-Coachella residents? Please describe. 
 
 

 
17. Describe the characteristics of the clients the proposed program/service anticipates to serve (i.e. 

age group, gender, income level, ethnicity, etc.) 
 
 

 
 

18. Attach a proposed budget for requested funds. 
 
Authorized Official:                                              Title:  
 
 
Signature:                                                                         Date:  

 
 

✔

✔

✔

The program runs all year long, and the funds deplete fast. The grant amount is minimal for
the expenses.

Funds will be used to buy attire for the equestrian participants(10-20).

The program requires more funding, as this is a beautiful, but expensive sport.  We are
currently seeking grants to continue funding the sport.

The program started with out-of-pocket expenses, then gradually organized community
fundraisers to reach the yearly goal. To participate in  the national competition in Mexico to
represent the Coachella Valley.

The program is open to City of Coachella residents. We offer horsemanship instruction, and
educational activities to empower young girls.  We also have participants from other cities

The program is open to young girls from the ages of 5 to 15 years. The program requires
interest, responsibility, and commitment.

Margarita Lopez President

Page 95

Item 13.



 

78080 CALLE AMIGO, SUITE 103 | LA QUINTA, CA 92253 | TEL: 760.777.7550 | FAX: 760.771.0271 
E-MAIL: INFO@PUCDC.ORG | ACCOUNTING@PUCDC.ORG 

WEB: WWW.PUCDC.ORG 

 
August 7, 2024 
 
 RE:  Confirmation of Fiscal Sponsorship of Reynas Del Valle 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
This letter is to confirm that Pueblo Unido CDC is the fiscal sponsor for Reynas Del Valle. Pueblo 
Unido CDC (PUCDC) is a federally tax exempt 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization. PUCDC’s tax 
identification is 26-3547211 and address is 78080 Calle Amigo, Suite 103, La Quinta, CA 92253. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this fiscal sponsorship, please contact Bianca Berriozábal at 
bberriozabal@pucdc.org or 760-777-7550, extension 103.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Sergio Carranza 
Executive Director 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96

Item 13.

mailto:bberriozabal@pucdc.org


Page 97

Item 13.



Page 98

Item 13.



Page 99

Item 13.



 

 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: 
 

Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1214 authorizing the levy of a Special Tax in 

Community Facilities District No. 2024-1 (Public Services).    
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1214 authorizing the levy of a Special Tax in Community Facilities 

District No. 2024-1 (Public Services). 

 
BACKGROUND: 

 
On July 24, 2024 the City Council adopted a Resolution of Intent with the intent of forming a Mello-

Roos community facilities district, CFD 2024-1 (Public Services) to finance the impact by new 

development on park maintenance, landscaping and lighting maintenance, drainage maintenance and 

street maintenance.   

 

On September 11, 2024, the City Council held the public hearing to receive public testimony and 

property owner protests, if any, with regard to the formation of the district and the levy of a special tax.   

The City Council adopted Resolution No. 2024-45 establishing CFD 2024-1 (Public Services) and 

Resolution No. 2024-46 calling for a special tax election to be held and submitting to the qualified 

electors of the proposed CFD a proposition (Ballot Measure) regarding the annual levy of special taxes 

within the CFD.  The special election was held and the levy of the special tax in CFD 2024-1 was 

approved by at least 2/3 of the qualified electors.  The city clerk directed the recording of a notice of 

special tax, and the ordinance ordering the levy of special taxes within CFD 2024-1 was introduced. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The special taxes collected from the property owners within the CFD 2024-1 are to be used for the 

funding of park maintenance, landscaping and lighting maintenance, drainage maintenance and street 

maintenance required due to the development of the property within CFD 2024-1.   

 
The Project included in the CFD 2024-1 (Public Services) is owned by Pulte Home Company, LLC 

and is generally located west of Van Buren Street and south of Avenue 50. The Project currently 

includes the development of 204 single family residential parcels. The boundary of the CFD includes 

the area within assessor’s parcel numbers 779-280-002 and 779-320-001. 

Page 100

Item 14.



 
The property owners of the development will be required to pay annual special taxes for CFD 2024-1, 

beginning the fiscal year after they are issued a building permit, as itemized on their property tax bill, 

in accordance with the rate set forth in the Rate and Method of Apportionment of Special Tax. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

The City expects to collect an annual special tax of $655, plus an annual inflationary adjustment per 

detached dwelling unit within CFD 2024-1.  In accordance with the rate set forth in the Rate and Method 

of Apportionment of Special Tax, the annual special tax will be collected beginning the fiscal year after 

a building permit is issued and will be reflected as itemized charge on their property tax bill.  CFD 

2024-1 will result in a new annual special tax totaling $133,620 for 204 single family residential 

parcels; subject to annual inflationary adjustment.  

 

 

Attachment:      

Ordinance No. 1214 
 

Page 101

Item 14.



80237.00021\6952238.1  

ORDINANCE NO. 1214 

 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA, 

CALIFORNIA, LEVYING SPECIAL TAXES WITHIN THE CITY OF COACHELLA 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2024-1 (PUBLIC SERVICES) 

 

WHEREAS, on July 24, 2024, the City Council of the City of Coachella (the “City 

Council”) adopted Resolution No. 2024-42 entitled “A Resolution of the City Council of the City 

of Coachella Declaring Its Intention to Establish City of Coachella Community Facilities District 

No. 2024-1 (Public Services) and to Authorize the Levy of a Special Tax Therein to Finance 

Certain Services” (the “Resolution of Intention”), stating its intention to establish the City of 

Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2024-1 (Public Services) (the “District”) to fund 

certain services described therein (the “Services”) pursuant to the Mello-Roos Community 

Facilities Act of 1982, California Government Code section 53311 et seq. (the “Act”); and 

 

WHEREAS, notice was published as required by the Act of the public hearing called 

pursuant to the Resolution of Intention as to the City Council’s intention to form the District and 

to provide for the costs of the Services; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Resolution of Intention called for a public hearing on the District to be 

held on September 11, 2024, and on this date the City Council held a public hearing, as required 

by the Act, relative to its decision to proceed with the formation of the District and the levy of 

special taxes therein; and 

 

WHEREAS, at the public hearing all persons desiring to be heard on all matters pertaining 

to the formation of the District and the levy of the special taxes were heard, evidence was presented 

and considered by this City Council and a full and fair hearing was held; and 

 

WHEREAS, subsequent to the close of the public hearing, this City Council adopted 

resolutions entitled "Resolution of Formation of the City Council of the City of Coachella to 

establish City of Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2024-1 (Public Services), to 

establish an Appropriations Limit therefor, to authorize the Levy of A Special Tax therein, and to 

Submit the establishment of an Appropriations Limit and the Levy of Special Taxes to the 

Qualified Electors thereof” (the “Resolution of Formation”), and "Resolution of the City Council 

of the City of Coachella calling a Special Election and submitting to the Qualified Electors of City 

of Coachella Community Facilities District No. 2024-1 (Public Services) propositions regarding 

the establishment of an appropriations Limit and the annual Levy of a Special Tax Within the 

Community Facilities District", which resolutions established the District, authorized the levy of 

a special tax within the District, and called an election within the District on the proposition of 

levying a special tax within, and establishing an appropriations limit for, the District; and 

 

WHEREAS, an election was held within the District in which the landowners approved 

said propositions by ballots cast in the election.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Coachella 

as follows: 

 

1.  By the passage of this Ordinance, this City Council hereby authorizes and levies 

special taxes within the District, pursuant to the Act, at the rate and in accordance with 

Page 102

Item 14.



80237.00021\6952238.1  

the rate and method of apportionment of special taxes appended as Exhibit B to the 

Resolution of Formation (the “Rate and Method of Apportionment”), which Resolution 

of Formation is by this reference incorporated herein. The Special Tax is hereby levied 

to pay for the Services for the District, as contemplated by the Resolution of Formation 

and the Rate and Method of Apportionment, commencing in fiscal year 2024-25 and 

in each fiscal year thereafter.   

 

2. The Public Works Director of the City or her designee is hereby authorized and directed 

each fiscal year to determine the specific special tax rate and amount to be levied for 

each parcel of real property within the District, in the manner and as provided in the 

Rate and Method of Apportionment. 

 

3. Exemptions from the levy of the Special Tax shall be as provided in the Resolution of 

Formation and the applicable provisions of the Act. In no event shall special taxes be 

levied on any parcel within the District in excess of the maximum tax specified in the 

Rate and Method of Apportionment. 

 

4. All of the collections of the special tax shall be used as provided for in the Act and in 

the Resolution of Formation, including, but not limited to, the payment of costs of 

providing the Services, the payment of City costs in administering the District and the 

costs of collecting and administering the special tax.  

 

5. The special taxes shall be collected from time to time as necessary to meet the financial 

obligations of the District. The special taxes will be collected in the same manner as 

ordinary ad valorem property taxes, and the special taxes shall have the same lien 

priority, and be subject to the same penalties and the same procedure and sale in cases 

of delinquency as provided for ad valorem taxes. In addition, the provisions of 

California Government Code section 53356.1 shall apply to delinquent special tax 

payments. The Public Works Director or her designee is hereby authorized and directed 

to provide all necessary information to the auditor/tax collector of the County of 

Riverside and to take all actions necessary to effect proper billing and collection of the 

special tax, so that the special tax shall be levied and collected in sufficient amounts 

and at the times necessary to satisfy the financial obligations of the District in each 

fiscal year. 

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any special taxes that cannot be collected on the County 

tax roll, or are not so collected, may be collected through direct billing by the City.  

 

6. If for any reason a court with jurisdiction finds any portion of this ordinance to be 

invalid or finds the special tax to be inapplicable to any particular parcel, then the 

balance of this ordinance and the application of the special tax to the remaining parcels 

shall not be affected.   

 

7. This ordinance shall take effect and be in force immediately as a tax measure; and 

before the expiration of fifteen (15) days after its passage the same shall be published, 

with the names of the members voting for and against the same, at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation published and circulated in the District. 

 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 25th day of September, 2024 by the following 

votes: 

Page 103

Item 14.



80237.00021\6952238.1  

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

 

 

     

Steven Hernandez, Mayor 

City of Coachella    

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

City of Coachella 

 

 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of an ordinance, being Ordinance No. 

1214, duly passed and adopted at a meeting of the City Council of the City of Coachella, California, 

held on September 25, 2024.  

 

 

 

 

      ___________________________________ 

      Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

      City of Coachella 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Carlos L. Campos, City Attorney 

City of Coachella 

 

 

 

Page 104

Item 14.



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: 
 

Celina Jimenez, Director of Economic Development 
 

SUBJECT: Award Multiple Professional Services Agreements for On-Call Architectural 

Design Services for the Commercial Corridor Façade Improvement Program to: 

DMHA Architecture and Interior Design, BFK Architecture and Planning, and 

Mour Group Engineering and Design and Authorize the City Manager to Enter 

into Professional Services Agreements with the Selected Firms in Not-to-

Exceed Amounts of $75,000 Per Firm 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council considers awarding multiple professional services 

agreements for the on-call architectural design services for the City of Coachella Commercial  

Corridor Façade Improvement Program to DHMA Architecture and Interior Design, BFK 

Architecture and Planning, and Mour Group Engineering and Design and authorize the City 

Manager to enter into professional services agreements with the selected firms in not-to-exceed 

amounts of $75,000 per firm.  

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Commercial Corridor Façade Improvement Program was approved by the City Council for 

the segments along Cesar Chavez Street between Sixth Street and Avenue 52 and Sixth Street 

between Cesar Chavez Street and Grapefruit Boulevard.  The Commercial Façade Improvement 

Grant Program (“Program”) is an endeavor of the City of Coachella to leverage public funds and 

private investment to enhance the physical appearance and economic vitality of commercial 

businesses in the Downtown Pueblo Viejo Area and the segments of Cesar Chavez Street between 

Sixth Street and Avenue 52.  The long‐term objective is to upgrade the Downtown Pueblo Viejo 

Area on Cesar Chavez Street between Sixth Street and Avenue 52 and Sixth Street between Cesar 

Chavez Street and Grapefruit Boulevard, by improving the physical appearance of the area, 

encouraging the retention of existing businesses, increasing property values, tenant stability, and 

lease rates for the properties. The program also seeks to fund improvements which create outdoor 

dining or gathering spaces to promote activity in the downtown. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

On July 29, 2024, a Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued for On-Call Architectural Design 

Page 105

Item 15.



Services for the Commercial Corridor Façade Improvement Grant Program. The Proposal 

process closed on August 15, 2024. Proposals were received from four (4) firms and were 

reviewed by a staff committee. Proposals were received from the following firms: 

 

1. BFK Architecture and Planning (Pasadena, CA) 

2. DMHA Architecture and Planning / Henry Lenny Architect (Santa Barbara, CA) 

3. Mour Group Engineering and Design (San Diego, CA) 

4. Tucker Sadler (San Diego, CA) 

  

The firms were further evaluated based on the following Evaluation Criteria:  

 

Evaluation Criteria 
Max 

Points 

Experience & Capacity (prior experience relative to project, 

including State procedures) 
25 

Understanding of Scope, Goals and the Work to be 
Performed 

25 

Professional Expertise of Team 25 

Completeness, Feasibility, and Quality of Submittal 10 

Effectiveness of project schedule 15 

Total Points 100 

 

BFK Architecture + Planning 

The firm incorporated in 2020; Firm inception, 2015. BFK Design Principal Brian Knight has 

more than 20 years of experience in the planning, design and construction of civic, commercial, 

transportation, higher education and healthcare projects nationwide. BFK President & CEO, Brian 

Knight began his career as a graphic designer and art director, working for over 15 years in the 

publishing, marketing, advertising, branding, and environmental graphics fields. As a design 

architect, he has worked in a variety of market sectors spanning municipal public works (including 

Essential Services Buildings), civic, higher education and K-12 to residential, healthcare and 

transportation. He has been involved in many award-winning built projects from California, Texas, 

and the western United States to Asia and the Middle East. His work ranges from product design 

and small interior projects to large-scale developments involving campus- and master-planning 

design. 

 

DMHA Architecture + Interior Design 

DMHA Architecture + Interior Design is a full service architecture, interior design and planning 

fi rm headed by Edward DeVicente AIA, CPHC, Ryan Mills, Michael Stroh, and Michael 

Holliday, FAIA. The firm principals have been responsible for the management, design and 

construction of over $500 million in architectural projects over the past 20 years of professional 

practice. Major projects have been located throughout California, Florida, Hawaii and Costa Rica 

Page 106

Item 15.



and have been completed for major commercial and residential developers, institutions, and private 

corporations. 

 

Mour Group 

Incorporated in 2014, Mour Group is a multi-disciplinary firm offering interconnected, cost 

effective designs successfully meeting our client’s needs. We have extensive experience in the 

design of facilities, efficiently working on projects from schematic design, through permits and 

construction. With an emphasis on collaboration, our integrated design approach and strong 

commitment to quality control ensures our projects are kept within budget and delivered with 

unparalleled efficiency. We are privileged to serve our clients and celebrate our formation to 

continue to build our communities now and into the future. 

 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for this program was approved from the General Fund in the amount of $1,000,000. 

 

ALTERNATIVES 

1. Approve an Additional Segment for the Commercial Corridor Façade Improvement Grant 

Program Along Sixth Street Between Cesar Chavez Street and Grapefruit Boulevard to 

Beautify and Revitalize Additional Commercial Properties in the Pueblo Viejo Downtown 

District 

 

2. Do not approve the additional segment. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Professional Services Agreement – BFK Architecture + Planning 
2. Professional Services Agreement – DMHA Architecture + Interior Design 
3. Professional Services Agreement – Mour Group 

Page 107

Item 15.



 -1- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

CITY OF COACHELLA 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This Agreement is made and entered into this _____ day of ________, 20___, by and 
between the City of Coachella, a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the 
State of California with its principal place of business at 53990 Enterprise Way, 
Coachella, California 92236, County of Riverside, State of California ("City") and DMHA 
Architecture and Interior Design, a CORPORATION, with its principal place of 
business at  1 N CALLE CESAR CHAVEZ SUITE 102, SANTA BARBARA 
CALIFORNIA 93103  ("Consultant").  City and Consultant are sometimes individually 
referred to herein as "Party" and collectively as "Parties." 
 
2. RECITALS. 

2.1 Consultant. 

Consultant desires to perform and assume responsibility for the provision of certain 
professional services required by the City on the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement.  Consultant represents that it is experienced in providing FULL SERVICE 
ARCHITECTURE, INTERIOR DESIGN AND PLANNING FIRM offering services to 
public clients, is licensed in the State of California, and is familiar with the plans of City. 
 

2.2 Project. 

City desires to engage Consultant to render such professional services for the ON-
CALL ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF COACHELLA 
FAÇADE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM project ("Project") as set forth in this Agreement. 
 
3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

3.1.1 General Scope of Services.  Consultant promises and agrees to furnish to 
the City all labor, materials, tools, equipment, services, and incidental and customary work 
necessary to fully and adequately supply the professional ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN consulting 
services necessary for the Project  ("Services").  The Services are more particularly described in 
Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  All Services shall be subject 
to, and performed in accordance with, this Agreement, the exhibits attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference, and all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations.   

3.1.2 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from October 1, 2024 to  
September 30, 2025, unless earlier terminated as provided herein.  THE CITY SHALL HAVE 
THE UNILATERAL OPTION, AT ITS SOLE DISCRETION, TO RENEW THIS AGREEMENT 
AUTOMATICALLY FOR NO MORE THAN TWO (2) ADDITIONAL ONE-YEAR TERMS. 
Consultant shall complete the Services within the term of this Agreement, and shall meet any 

Page 108

Item 15.



 -2- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

other established schedules and deadlines. The Parties may, by mutual, written consent, extend 
the term of this Agreement if necessary to complete the Services. 

3.2 Compensation. 

3.2.1 Compensation.  Consultant shall receive compensation, including 
authorized reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement at the rates set forth 
in Exhibit "C" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  The total compensation shall 
not exceed FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS  ($50,000) without written approval of the City Council 
or City Manager, as applicable.  Extra Work may be authorized, as described below, and if 
authorized, will be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this Agreement. 

3.2.2 Payment of Compensation.  Consultant shall submit to City a monthly 
invoice which indicates work completed and hours of Services rendered by Consultant.  The 
invoice shall describe the amount of Services provided since the initial commencement date, or 
since the start of the subsequent billing periods, as appropriate, through the date of the invoice.  
City shall, within 30 days of receiving such invoice, review the invoice and pay all non-disputed 
and approved charges.  If the City disputes any of Consultant's fees, the City shall give written 
notice to Consultant within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice of any disputed fees set forth 
therein.  Payment shall not constitute acceptance of any Services completed by Consultant.  The 
making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims by the City for any reason 
whatsoever. 

3.2.3 Reimbursement for Expenses.  Consultant shall not be reimbursed for any 
expenses unless authorized in writing by City, or included in Exhibit "C" of this Agreement. 

3.2.4 Extra Work.  At any time during the term of this Agreement, City may 
request that Consultant perform Extra Work.  As used herein, "Extra Work" means any work which 
is determined by City to be necessary for the proper completion of the Project, but which the 
Parties did not reasonably anticipate would be necessary at the execution of this Agreement.  
Consultant shall not perform, nor be compensated for, Extra Work without written authorization 
from the City.  

3.3 Responsibilities of Consultant. 

3.3.1 Independent Contractor; Control and Payment of Subordinates.  The 
Services shall be performed by Consultant or under its supervision.  Consultant will determine the 
means, methods and details of performing the Services subject to the requirements of this 
Agreement.  City retains Consultant on an independent contractor basis and not as an employee.  
Any personnel performing the Services on behalf of Consultant shall not be employees of City 
and shall at all times be under Consultant's exclusive direction and control.  Neither City, or any 
of its officials, officers, directors, employees or agents shall have control over the conduct of 
Consultant or any of Consultants officers, employees or agents, except as set forth in this 
Agreement.  Consultant shall pay all wages, salaries, and other amounts due such personnel in 
connection with their performance of Services under this Agreement and as required by law.  
Consultant shall be responsible for all reports and obligations respecting such additional 
personnel, including, but not limited to: social security taxes, income tax withholding, 
unemployment insurance, disability insurance, and workers' compensation insurance. 

3.3.2 Schedule of Services.  Consultant shall perform the Services in a prompt 

Page 109

Item 15.



 -3- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

and timely manner and in accordance with the Schedule of Services set forth in Exhibit "B" 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  Consultant represents that it has the 
professional and technical personnel required to perform the Services expeditiously.  Upon 
request of City, Consultant shall provide a more detailed schedule of anticipated performance to 
meet the Schedule of Services. 

3.3.3 Conformance to Applicable Requirements.  All work prepared by 
Consultant shall be subject to the approval of City. 

3.3.4 Substitution of Key Personnel.  Consultant has represented to City that 
certain key personnel will perform and coordinate the Services under this Agreement.  Should 
one or more of such personnel become unavailable, Consultant may substitute other personnel 
of at least equal competence upon written approval of City.  In the event that City and Consultant 
cannot agree as to the substitution of key personnel, City shall be entitled to terminate this 
Agreement for cause.  The key personnel for performance of this Agreement are as follows: 
Edward deVicente, Principal Architect. 

3.3.5 City's Representative.  The City hereby designates DR. GABRIEL D. 
MARTIN, CITY MANAGER, or his/her designee, to act as its representative in all matters 
pertaining to the administration and performance of this Agreement ("City's Representative").  
City's Representative shall have the power to act on behalf of the City for review and approval of 
all products submitted by Consultant but not the authority to enlarge the Scope of Services or 
change the total compensation due to Consultant under this Agreement.  The City Manager shall 
be authorized to act on City's behalf and to execute all necessary documents which enlarge the 
Scope of Services or change the Consultant's total compensation subject to the provisions 
contained in this Agreement.  Consultant shall not accept direction or orders from any person 
other than the City Manager, City's Representative or his/her designee. 

3.3.6 Consultant's Representative.  Consultant hereby designates Edward 
deVicente, Principal Architect, or his/her designee, to act as its representative for the 
performance of this Agreement ("Consultant's Representative").  Consultant's Representative 
shall have full authority to represent and act on behalf of the Consultant for all purposes under 
this Agreement.  The Consultant's Representative shall supervise and direct the Services, using 
his/her best skill and attention, and shall be responsible for all means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures and for the satisfactory coordination of all portions of the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.3.7 Coordination of Services.  Consultant agrees to work closely with City staff 
in the performance of Services and shall be available to City's staff, consultants and other staff at 
all reasonable times. 

3.3.8 Standard of Care; Performance of Employees.  Consultant shall perform all 
Services under this Agreement in a skillful and competent manner, consistent with the standards 
generally recognized as being employed by professionals in the same discipline in the State of 
California.  Consultant represents and maintains that it is skilled in the professional calling 
necessary to perform the Services.  Consultant warrants that all employees and subconsultants 
shall have sufficient skill and experience to perform the Services assigned to them.  Consultant 
represents that it, its employees and subconsultants have all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatever nature that are legally required to perform the Services, and that such 
licenses and approvals shall be maintained throughout the term of this Agreement.  Consultant 

Page 110

Item 15.



 -4- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

shall perform, at its own cost and expense and without reimbursement from the City, any services 
necessary to correct errors or omissions which are caused by the Consultant's failure to comply 
with the standard of care provided for herein.  Any employee of the Consultant or its 
subconsultants who is determined by the City to be uncooperative, incompetent, a threat to the 
adequate or timely completion of the Project, a threat to the safety of persons or property, or any 
employee who fails or refuses to perform the Services in a manner acceptable to the City, shall 
be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant and shall not be re-employed to perform 
any of the Services or to work on the Project. 

3.3.9 Period of Performance.  

3.3.9.1 Consultant shall perform and complete all Services under this 
Agreement within the term set forth in Section 3.1.2 above (“Performance Time”). Consultant shall 
also perform the Services in strict accordance with any completion schedule or Project milestones 
described in Exhibits “A” or “B” attached hereto, or which may be separately agreed upon in writing 
by the City and Consultant (“Performance Milestones”).  Consultant agrees that if the Services 
are not completed within the aforementioned Performance Time and/or pursuant to any such 
Performance Milestones developed pursuant to provisions of this Agreement, it is understood, 
acknowledged and agreed that the City will suffer damage.   

3.3.9.2 Neither City nor Consultant shall be considered in default of this 
Agreement for delays in performance caused by circumstances beyond the reasonable control of 
the non-performing Party.  For purposes of this Agreement, such circumstances include a Force 
Majeure Event.  A Force Majeure Event shall mean an event that materially affects a Party’s 
performance and is one or more of the following: (1) Acts of God or other natural disasters; (2) 
terrorism or other acts of a public enemy; (3) orders of governmental authorities (including, without 
limitation, unreasonable and unforeseeable delay in the issuance of permits or approvals by 
governmental authorities that are required for the services); (4) strikes and other organized labor 
action occurring at the site and the effects thereof on the services, only to the extent such strikes 
and other organized labor action are beyond the control of Consultant and its subcontractors, and 
to the extent the effects thereof cannot be avoided by use of replacement workers; and (5) 
pandemics, epidemics or quarantine restrictions. For purposes of this section, “orders of 
governmental authorities,” includes ordinances, emergency proclamations and orders, rules to 
protect the public health, welfare and safety, and other actions of a public agency applicable to 
the services and Agreement.  

3.3.9.3 Should a Force Majeure Event occur, the non-performing Party 
shall, within a reasonable time of being prevented from performing, give written notice to the other 
Party describing the circumstances preventing continued performance and the efforts being made 
to resume performance of this Agreement.  Force Majeure Events and/or delays, regardless of 
the Party responsible for the delay, shall not entitle Consultant to any additional compensation.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing in this section, the City may still terminate this Agreement in 
accordance with the termination provisions of this Agreement. 

3.3.10 Laws and Regulations; Employee/Labor Certification.   

3.3.10.1 Compliance with Laws.  Consultant shall keep itself fully 
informed of and in compliance with all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations in any 
manner affecting the performance of the Project or the Services, including all Cal/OSHA 
requirements, and shall give all notices required by law.  Consultant shall be liable for all violations 

Page 111

Item 15.



 -5- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

of such laws and regulations in connection with the Services and this Agreement.  All violations 
of such laws and regulations shall be grounds for the City to terminate the Agreement for cause.   

3.3.10.2 Employment Eligibility; Consultant.  Consultant certifies that it 
fully complies with all requirements and restrictions of state and federal law respecting the 
employment of undocumented aliens, including, but not limited to, the Immigration Reform and 
Control Act of 1986, as may be amended from time to time and shall require all subconsultants 
and sub-subconsultants to comply with the same.  Consultant certifies that it has not committed 
a violation of any such law within the five (5) years immediately preceding the date of execution 
of this Agreement, and shall not violate any such law at any time during the term of the Agreement. 

3.3.10.3 Equal Opportunity Employment.  Consultant represents that it is 
an equal opportunity employer and it shall not discriminate against any subconsultant, employee 
or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, handicap, ancestry, 
sex or age.  Such non-discrimination shall include, but not be limited to, all activities related to 
initial employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 
termination.  Consultant shall also comply with all relevant provisions of City's Minority Business 
Enterprise program, Affirmative Action Plan or other related programs or guidelines currently in 
effect or hereinafter enacted. 

3.3.10.4 Air Quality.  To the extent applicable, Consultant must fully 
comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in furnishing or using equipment and/or 
providing services, including, but not limited to, emissions limits and permitting requirements 
imposed by the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) and/or California Air 
Resources Board (CARB).  Consultant shall indemnify City against any fines or penalties imposed 
by SCAQMD, CARB, or any other governmental or regulatory agency for violations of applicable 
laws, rules and/or regulations by Consultant, its subconsultants, or others for whom Consultant is 
responsible under its indemnity obligations provided for in this Agreement. 

3.3.10.5 Water Quality Management and Compliance.  Consultant shall 
keep itself and all subcontractors, staff, and employees fully informed of and in compliance with 
all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations that may impact, or be implicated by the 
performance of the Services including, without limitation, all applicable provisions of the City’s 
ordinances regulating water quality and storm water; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 
U.S.C. § 1251, et seq.); the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act (Water Code 
§ 13000 et seq.); and any and all regulations, policies, or permits issued pursuant to any such 
authority.  Consultant must additionally comply with the lawful requirements of the City, and any 
other municipality, drainage district, or other local agency with jurisdiction over the location where 
the Services are to be conducted, regulating water quality and storm water discharges.  City may 
seek damages from Consultant for delay in completing the Services caused by Consultant’s 
failure to comply with the laws, regulations and policies described in this Section, or any other 
relevant water quality law, regulation, or policy. 

3.3.10.6 Safety.  Consultant shall execute and maintain its work so as to 
avoid injury or damage to any person or property.  In carrying out its Services, the Consultant 
shall at all times be in compliance with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations, and shall exercise all necessary precautions for the safety of employees appropriate 
to the nature of the work and the conditions under which the work is to be performed.   

3.3.11 Insurance.  

Page 112

Item 15.



 -6- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

3.3.11.1 Time for Compliance.  Consultant shall not commence work 
under this Agreement until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that it has secured all 
insurance required under this section. In addition, Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that the 
subconsultant has secured all insurance required under this section.  Failure to provide and 
maintain all required insurance shall be grounds for the City to terminate this Agreement for cause. 

3.3.11.2 Types of Insurance Required.  As a condition precedent to the 
effectiveness of this Agreement for work to be performed hereunder, and without limiting the 
indemnity provisions of the Agreement, the Consultant, in partial performance of its obligations 
under such Agreement, shall procure and maintain in full force and effect during the term of the 
Agreement the following policies of insurance.  If the existing policies do not meet the insurance 
requirements set forth herein, Consultant agrees to amend, supplement or endorse the policies 
to do so. 

(A) Commercial General Liability:  Commercial General Liability 
Insurance which affords coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office "occurrence" 
form CG 00 01, or the exact equivalent, with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence 
and no less than $2,000,000 in the general aggregate.  Defense costs shall be paid in addition to 
the limits.  The policy shall contain no endorsements or provisions (1) limiting coverage for 
contractual liability; (2) excluding coverage for claims or suits by one insured against another 
(cross-liability); (3) products/completed operations liability; or (4) containing any other 
exclusion(s) contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement. 

(B) Automobile Liability Insurance:  Automobile Liability 
Insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office Form CA 00 01 covering 
"Any Auto" (Symbol 1), or the exact equivalent, covering bodily injury and property damage for all 
activities with limits of not less than $1,000,000 combined limit for each occurrence.   

(C) Workers' Compensation:  Workers' Compensation 
Insurance, as required by the State of California and Employer's Liability Insurance with a limit of 
not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and disease. 

(D) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions):  Professional 
Liability insurance or Errors & Omissions insurance appropriate to Consultant’s profession with 
limits of not less than $1,000,000.  Covered professional services shall specifically include all 
work to be performed under the Agreement and delete any exclusions that may potentially affect 
the work to be performed (for example, any exclusions relating to lead, asbestos, pollution, 
testing, underground storage tanks, laboratory analysis, soil work, etc.).  If coverage is written on 
a claims-made basis, the retroactive date shall precede the effective date of the initial Agreement 
and continuous coverage will be maintained or an extended reporting period will be exercised for 
a period of at least five (5) years from termination or expiration of this Agreement.    

3.3.11.3 Insurance Endorsements.  Required insurance policies shall 
contain the following provisions, or Consultant shall provide endorsements on forms approved by 
the City to add the following provisions to the insurance policies: 

(A) Commercial General Liability: (1) Additional Insured:  The 
City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds with 
regard to liability and defense of suits or claims arising out of the performance of the Agreement.  

Page 113

Item 15.



 -7- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

Additional Insured Endorsements shall not (1) be restricted to "ongoing operations"; (2) exclude 
"contractual liability"; (3) restrict coverage to "sole" liability of Consultant; or (4) contain any other 
exclusions contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement.  For all policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance, Consultant shall provide endorsements in the form of ISO CG 20 10 
10 01 and 20 37 10 01 (or endorsements providing the exact same coverage) to effectuate this 
requirement. (2) Cancellation:  Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage 
reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except 
ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment of premium. 

(B) Automobile Liability.  (1) Cancellation:  Required insurance 
policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of 
cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment 
of premium.  

(C) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions): (1) Cancellation:  
Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day 
written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed 
for non-payment of premium.  (2) Contractual Liability Exclusion Deleted:  This insurance shall 
include contractual liability applicable to this Agreement.  The policy must “pay on behalf of” the 
insured and include a provision establishing the insurer’s duty to defend. 

(D) Workers' Compensation: (1) Cancellation:  Required 
insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written 
notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for 
non-payment of premium.  (2) Waiver of Subrogation:  A waiver of subrogation stating that the 
insurer waives all rights of subrogation against the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and volunteers. 

3.3.11.4 Primary and Non-Contributing Insurance.  All policies of 
Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability insurance shall be primary and any other 
insurance, deductible, or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, or volunteers shall not contribute with this primary insurance.  Policies shall contain or be 
endorsed to contain such provisions. 

3.3.11.5 Waiver of Subrogation.  All required insurance coverages, 
except for the professional liability coverage, shall contain or be endorsed to waiver of subrogation 
in favor of the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers or shall specifically 
allow Consultant or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications 
to waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of recovery 
against City, and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance clauses from each 
of its subconsultants. 

3.3.11.6 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductible or self-
insured retention must be approved in writing by the City and shall protect the City, its officials, 
officers, employees, agents, and volunteers in the same manner and to the same extent as they 
would have been protected had the policy or policies not contained a deductible or self-insured 
retention. 

3.3.11.7 Evidence of Insurance.  The Consultant, concurrently with the 
execution of the Agreement, and as a condition precedent to the effectiveness thereof, shall 

Page 114

Item 15.



 -8- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

deliver either certified copies of the required policies, or original certificates on forms approved by 
the City, together with all endorsements affecting each policy.  Required insurance policies shall 
not be in compliance if they include any limiting provision or endorsement that has not been 
submitted to the City for approval.  The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy 
shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.  At least 
fifteen (15 days) prior to the expiration of any such policy, evidence of insurance showing that 
such insurance coverage has been renewed or extended shall be filed with the City.  If such 
coverage is cancelled or reduced and not replaced immediately so as to avoid a lapse in the 
required coverage, Consultant shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of such 
cancellation or reduction of coverage, file with the City evidence of insurance showing that the 
required insurance has been reinstated or has been provided through another insurance company 
or companies. 

3.3.11.8 Acceptability of Insurers.  Each such policy shall be from a 
company or companies with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A:VII and authorized to 
transact business of insurance in the State of California, or otherwise allowed to place insurance 
through surplus line brokers under applicable provisions of the California Insurance Code or any 
federal law. 

3.3.11.9 Enforcement of Agreement Provisions (non estoppel).  
Consultant acknowledges and agrees that actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to inform 
Consultant of non-compliance with any requirement imposes no additional obligation on the City 
nor does it waive any rights hereunder. 

3.3.11.10 Requirements Not Limiting.  Requirement of specific coverage 
or minimum limits contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits, or 
other requirement, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. 

3.3.11.11 Additional Insurance Provisions 

(A) The foregoing requirements as to the types and limits of 
insurance coverage to be maintained by Consultant, and any approval of said insurance by the 
City, is not intended to and shall not in any manner limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations 
otherwise assumed by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to, the 
provisions concerning indemnification. 

(B) If at any time during the life of the Agreement, any policy of 
insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled 
and not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary 
and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Consultant or City will withhold 
amounts sufficient to pay premium from Consultant payments. In the alternative, City may cancel 
this Agreement. 

(C) The City may require the Consultant to provide complete 
copies of all insurance policies in effect for the duration of the Project. 

(D) Neither the City nor any of its officials, officers, employees, 
agents or volunteers shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or by virtue of 
this Agreement. 

Page 115

Item 15.



 -9- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

(E) The limits set forth herein shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom claims are made or suits are brought, except with respect to the limits of 
liability.  Further the limits set forth herein shall not be construed to relieve the Consultant from 
liability in excess of such coverage, nor shall it limit the Consultant’s indemnification obligations 
to the City and shall not preclude the City from taking such other actions available to the City 
under other provisions of the Agreement or law. 

(F) Consultant shall report to the City, in addition to Consultant’s 
insurer, any and all insurance claims submitted by Consultant in connection with the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.3.11.12 Insurance for Subconsultants.  Consultant shall include all 
subconsultants engaged in any work for Consultant relating to this Agreement as additional 
insureds under the Consultant's policies, or the Consultant shall be responsible for causing 
subconsultants to purchase the appropriate insurance in compliance with the terms of these 
Insurance Requirements, including adding the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers as additional insureds to the subconsultant's policies.  All policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance provided by Consultant’s subconsultants performing work relating to 
this Agreement shall be endorsed to name the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents and 
volunteers as additional insureds using endorsement form ISO CG 20 38 04 13 or an 
endorsement providing equivalent coverage.  Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract relating to this Agreement until it has received satisfactory 
evidence of subconsultant’s compliance with all insurance requirements under this Agreement, to 
the extent applicable.  The Consultant shall provide satisfactory evidence of compliance with this 
section upon request of the City. 

3.4 Labor Code Requirements. 

3.4.1 Prevailing Wages.  Consultant is aware of the requirements of California 
Labor Code Section 1720, et seq., and 1770, et seq., as well as California Code of Regulations, 
Title 8, Section 16000, et seq., ("Prevailing Wage Laws"), which require the payment of prevailing 
wage rates and the performance of other requirements on "public works" and "maintenance" 
projects.  If the Services are being performed as part of an applicable "public works" or 
"maintenance" project, as defined by the Prevailing Wage Laws, and if the total compensation is 
$1,000 or more, Consultant agrees to fully comply with such Prevailing Wage Laws.  City shall 
provide Consultant with a copy of the prevailing rates of per diem wages in effect at the 
commencement of this Agreement.  Consultant shall make copies of the prevailing rates of per 
diem wages for each craft, classification or type of worker needed to execute the Services 
available to interested parties upon request, and shall post copies at the Consultant's principal 
place of business and at the project site.  It is the intent of the parties to effectuate the 
requirements of sections 1771, 1774, 1775, 1776, 1777.5, 1813, and 1815 of the Labor Code 
within this Agreement, and Consultant shall therefore comply with such Labor Code sections to 
the fullest extent required by law.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its 
officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers free and harmless from any claim or liability 
arising out of any failure or alleged failure to comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws. 

3.4.2 Registration/DIR Compliance.  If the Services are being performed on a 
public works project of over $25,000 when the project is for construction, alteration, demolition, 
installation, or repair work, or a public works project of over $15,000 when the project is for 
maintenance work, in addition to the foregoing, then pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 

Page 116

Item 15.



 -10- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

1771.1, the Consultant and all subconsultants must be registered with the Department of 
Industrial Relations (“DIR”).  Consultant shall maintain registration for the duration of the Project 
and require the same of any subconsultants.   

3.4.3 Compliance Monitoring. This Project may also be subject to compliance 
monitoring and enforcement by the DIR.  It shall be Consultant’s sole responsibility to comply with 
all applicable registration and labor compliance requirements, including the submission of payroll 
records directly to the DIR.  Any stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant or any 
subconsultant that affect Consultant’s performance of services, including any delay, shall be 
Consultant’s sole responsibility.  Any delay arising out of or resulting from such stop orders shall 
be considered Consultant caused delay and shall not be compensable by the City.  Consultant 
shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees and agents free and 
harmless from any claim or liability arising out of stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant 
or any subconsultant. 

3.4.4 Labor Certification.  By its signature hereunder, Consultant certifies that it 
is aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor Code which require every 
employer to be insured against liability for Worker's Compensation or to undertake self-insurance 
in accordance with the provisions of that Code, and agrees to comply with such provisions before 
commencing the performance of the Services. 

3.5 Termination of Agreement. 

3.5.1.1 Grounds for Termination.  City may, by written notice to 
Consultant, terminate the whole or any part of this Agreement at any time and without cause by 
giving written notice to Consultant of such termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, 
at least seven (7) days before the effective date of such termination.  Upon termination, Consultant 
shall be compensated only for those Services which have been adequately rendered to City, and 
Consultant shall be entitled to no further compensation.  Consultant may not terminate this 
Agreement except for cause.  The rights and remedies of the City provided in this section shall 
not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law, equity or 
under this Agreement. 

3.5.1.2 Effect of Termination.  If this Agreement is terminated as 
provided herein, City may require Consultant to provide all finished or unfinished Documents and 
Data and other information of any kind prepared by Consultant in connection with the performance 
of Services under this Agreement.  Consultant shall be required to provide such document and 
other information within fifteen (15) days of the request. 

3.5.1.3 Additional Services.  In the event this Agreement is terminated 
in whole or in part as provided herein, City may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as 
it may determine appropriate, services similar to those terminated. 

3.6 Indemnification.  

3.6.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall defend (with counsel 
of City’s choosing), indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, and 
agents free and harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, 
liability, loss, damage or injury of any kind, in law or equity, to property or persons, including 
wrongful death,  in any manner arising out of, pertaining to, or incident to any acts, errors or 

Page 117

Item 15.



 -11- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

omissions, or willful misconduct of Consultant, its officials, officers, employees, subcontractors, 
consultants or agents in connection with the performance of the Consultant’s Services, the Project 
or this Agreement, including without limitation the payment of all damages, expert witness fees 
and attorney’s fees and other related costs and expenses except such loss or damage caused by 
the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the City.  Consultant's obligation to indemnify shall 
survive expiration or termination of this Agreement and shall not be restricted to insurance 
proceeds, if any, received by Consultant, the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, or 
volunteers. 

3.6.2 If Consultant’s obligation to defend, indemnify, and/or hold harmless arises 
out of Consultant’s performance as a “design professional” (as that term is defined under Civil 
Code section 2782.8), then, and only to the extent required by Civil Code section 2782.8, which 
is fully incorporated herein, Consultant’s indemnification obligation shall be limited to claims that 
arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the 
Consultant, and, upon Consultant obtaining a final adjudication by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, Consultant’s liability for such claim, including the cost to defend, shall not exceed the 
Consultant’s proportionate percentage of fault. 

3.7 General Provisions. 

3.7.1 Accounting Records.  Consultant shall maintain complete and accurate 
records with respect to all costs and expenses incurred under this Agreement.  All such records 
shall be clearly identifiable.  Consultant shall allow a representative of City during normal business 
hours to examine, audit, and make transcripts or copies of such records and any other documents 
created pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant shall allow inspection of all work, data, 
documents, proceedings, and activities related to the Agreement for a period of three (3) years 
from the date of final payment under this Agreement. 

3.7.2 Independent Contractors and Subcontracting. 

3.7.2.1 Use of Consultants.  Consultant is aware of statutory and case 
law regarding classification of workers as independent contractors, including California Labor 
Code Section 2750.3 and Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court, 4 Cal. 5th 903 
(2018).  To ensure that Consultant is in compliance with the California Labor Code, Consultant 
shall only utilize its employees to provide the Services.  Consultant may not provide the services 
through any independent contractor, subcontractor or subconsultant (“Subcontractor(s)”) unless 
approved by the City as set forth in Section 3.7.2.2 below.  Consultant represents and warrants 
that all personnel who perform the Services on Consultant’s behalf are Consultant’s employees, 
and that Consultant complies with all applicable laws, rules and regulations governing its 
employees, including, but not limited to, the California Labor Code, Unemployment Insurance 
Code and all applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders.   

3.7.2.2 Prior Approval Required.  Consultant shall not use any 
Subcontractor to provide the Services, or any portion of the work required by this Agreement, 
without prior written approval of City.  In the event that City authorizes Consultant to use a 
Subcontractor, Consultant shall enter into a written agreement with the Subcontractor, which must 
include all provisions of the Agreement, including a restriction on the Subcontractor’s use of 
further independent contractors, subcontractors or subconsultants without the City’s prior written 
consent. 

Page 118

Item 15.



 -12- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

3.7.3 Delivery of Notices.  All notices permitted or required under this Agreement 
shall be given to the respective parties at the following address, or at such other address as the 
respective parties may provide in writing for this purpose: 

Consultant: DMHA Architecture and Interior Design 
1 N. Calle Cesar Chavez, Suite 102,  
Santa Barbara, California 93101 
ATTN:  Ed deVicente 

 
City: City of Coachella  

53990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
ATTN:  Dr. Gabriel D. Martin, City Manager 

 
Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed, forty-eight (48) 
hours after deposit in the U.S.  Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to the party at its 
applicable address.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the date actual notice 
occurred, regardless of the method of service. 

3.7.4 Ownership of Materials and Confidentiality. 

3.7.4.1 Documents & Data; Licensing of Intellectual Property.  This 
Agreement creates a non-exclusive and perpetual license for City to copy, use, modify, reuse, or 
sublicense any and all copyrights, designs, and other intellectual property embodied in plans, 
specifications, studies, drawings, estimates, and other documents or works of authorship fixed in 
any tangible medium of expression, including but not limited to, physical drawings or data 
magnetically or otherwise recorded on computer diskettes, which are prepared or caused to be 
prepared by Consultant under this Agreement ("Documents & Data").  All Documents & Data shall 
be and remain the property of City, and shall not be used in whole or in substantial part by 
Consultant on other projects without the City’s express written permission.  Within thirty (30) days 
following the completion, suspension, abandonment or termination of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide to City reproducible copies of all Documents & Data, in a form and amount required 
by City.  City reserves the right to select the method of document reproduction and to establish 
where the reproduction will be accomplished.  The reproduction expense shall be borne by City 
at the actual cost of duplication.  In the event of a dispute regarding the amount of compensation 
to which the Consultant is entitled under the termination provisions of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide all Documents & Data to City upon payment of the undisputed amount.  Consultant 
shall have no right to retain or fail to provide to City any such documents pending resolution of 
the dispute.  In addition, Consultant shall retain copies of all Documents & Data on file for a 
minimum of fifteen (15) years following completion of the Project, and shall make copies available 
to City upon the payment of actual reasonable duplication costs.  Before destroying the 
Documents & Data following this retention period, Consultant shall make a reasonable effort to 
notify City and provide City with the opportunity to obtain the documents. 

3.7.4.2 Subconsultants.  Consultant shall require all subconsultants to 
agree in writing that City is granted a non-exclusive and perpetual license for any Documents & 
Data the subconsultant prepares under this Agreement.  Consultant represents and warrants that 
Consultant has the legal right to license any and all Documents & Data.  Consultant makes no 
such representation and warranty in regard to Documents & Data which were prepared by design 

Page 119

Item 15.



 -13- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

professionals other than Consultant or its subconsultants, or those provided to Consultant by the 
City. 

3.7.4.3 Right to Use.  City shall not be limited in any way in its use or 
reuse of the Documents and Data or any part of them at any time for purposes of this Project or 
another project, provided that any such use not within the purposes intended by this Agreement 
or on a project other than this Project without employing the services of Consultant shall be at 
City’s sole risk. If City uses or reuses the Documents & Data on any project other than this Project, 
it shall remove the Consultant’s seal from the Documents & Data and indemnify and hold harmless 
Consultant and its officers, directors, agents and employees from claims arising out of the 
negligent use or re-use of the Documents & Data on such other project.  Consultant shall be 
responsible and liable for its Documents & Data, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, only 
with respect to the condition of the Documents & Data at the time they are provided to the City 
upon completion, suspension, abandonment or termination.  Consultant shall not be responsible 
or liable for any revisions to the Documents & Data made by any party other than Consultant, a 
party for whom the Consultant is legally responsible or liable, or anyone approved by the 
Consultant. 

3.7.4.4 Indemnification.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the 
City, its directors, officials, officers, employees, volunteers and agents free and harmless, 
pursuant to the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, for any alleged infringement of any 
patent, copyright, trade secret, trade name, trademark, or any other proprietary right of any person 
or entity in consequence of the use on the Project by City of the Documents & Data, including any 
method, process, product, or concept specified or depicted. 

3.7.4.5 Confidentiality.  All ideas, memoranda, specifications, plans, 
procedures, drawings, descriptions, computer program data, input record data, written 
information, and other Documents & Data either created by or provided to Consultant in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be held confidential by Consultant.  Such 
materials shall not, without the prior written consent of City, be used by Consultant for any 
purposes other than the performance of the Services.  Nor shall such materials be disclosed to 
any person or entity not connected with the performance of the Services or the Project.  Nothing 
furnished to Consultant which is otherwise known to Consultant or is generally known, or has 
become known, to the related industry shall be deemed confidential.  Consultant shall not use 
City's name or insignia, photographs of the Project, or any publicity pertaining to the Services or 
the Project in any magazine, trade paper, newspaper, television or radio production or other 
similar medium without the prior written consent of City. 

3.7.4.6 Confidential Information.  The City shall refrain from releasing 
Consultant’s proprietary information ("Proprietary Information") unless the City's legal counsel 
determines that the release of the Proprietary Information is required by the California Public 
Records Act or other applicable state or federal law, or order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
in which case the City shall notify Consultant of its intention to release Proprietary Information.  
Consultant shall have five (5) working days after receipt of the release notice to give City written 
notice of Consultant's objection to the City's release of Proprietary Information.  Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, and its officers, directors, employees, and agents 
from and against all liability, loss, cost or expense (including attorney’s fees) arising out of a legal 
action brought to compel the release of Proprietary Information.  City shall not release the 
Proprietary Information after receipt of an objection notice unless either:  (1) Consultant fails to 
fully indemnify, defend (with City's choice of legal counsel), and hold City harmless from any legal 

Page 120

Item 15.



 -14- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

action brought to compel such release; and/or (2) a final and non-appealable order by a court of 
competent jurisdiction requires that City release such information. 

3.7.5 Cooperation; Further Acts.  The Parties shall fully cooperate with one 
another, and shall take any additional acts or sign any additional documents as may be necessary, 
appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this Agreement. 

3.7.6 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the 
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
understandings or agreements.   

3.7.7 Attorneys’ Fees.  If either party commences an action against the other 
party, either legal, administrative or otherwise, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, 
the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to have and recover from the losing party 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and all costs of such action. 

3.7.8 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of California.  Venue shall be in Riverside County.  In addition to any and all contract requirements 
pertaining to notices of and requests for compensation or payment for extra work, disputed work, 
claims and/or changed conditions, Consultant must comply with the claim procedures set forth in 
Government Code sections 900 et seq. prior to filing any lawsuit against the City.  Such 
Government Code claims and any subsequent lawsuit based upon the Government Code claims 
shall be limited to those matters that remain unresolved after all procedures pertaining to extra 
work, disputed work, claims, and/or changed conditions have been followed by Consultant.  If no 
such Government Code claim is submitted, or if any prerequisite contractual requirements are not 
otherwise satisfied as specified herein, Consultant shall be barred from bringing and maintaining 
a valid lawsuit against the City. 

3.7.9 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for each and every provision of 
this Agreement. 

3.7.10 City's Right to Employ Other Consultants.  City reserves right to employ 
other consultants in connection with this Project. 

3.7.11 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the 
successors and assigns of the parties. 

3.7.12 Assignment or Transfer.  Consultant shall not assign, sublet, or transfer this 
Agreement or any rights under or interest in this Agreement without the written consent of the 
City, which may be withheld for any reason.  Any attempt to so assign or so transfer without such 
consent shall be void and without legal effect and shall constitute grounds for termination.  
Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the Services required by this Agreement, except 
as expressly stated herein, without prior written approval of City.  Subcontracts, if any, shall 
contain a provision making them subject to all provisions stipulated in this Agreement. 

3.7.13 Construction; References; Captions.  Since the Parties or their agents have 
participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be 
construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any Party.  Any term 
referencing time, days or period for performance shall be deemed calendar days and not work 
days.  All references to Consultant include all personnel, employees, agents, and subconsultants 

Page 121

Item 15.



 -15- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

of Consultant, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.  All references to City include its 
elected officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers except as otherwise specified in this 
Agreement.  The captions of the various articles and paragraphs are for convenience and ease 
of reference only, and do not define, limit, augment, or describe the scope, content, or intent of 
this Agreement. 

3.7.14 Amendment; Modification.  No supplement, modification, or amendment of 
this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by both Parties. 

3.7.15 Waiver.  No waiver of any default shall constitute a waiver of any other 
default or breach, whether of the same or other covenant or condition.  No waiver, benefit, 
privilege, or service voluntarily given or performed by a Party shall give the other Party any 
contractual rights by custom, estoppel, or otherwise. 

3.7.16 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third party 
beneficiaries of any right or obligation assumed by the Parties. 

3.7.17 Invalidity; Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared invalid, 
illegal, or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

3.7.18 Prohibited Interests.  Consultant maintains and warrants that it has not 
employed nor retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely 
for Consultant, to solicit or secure this Agreement.  Consultant warrants that it has not paid nor 
has it agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for 
Consultant, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or other consideration 
contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement.  Consultant further 
agrees to file, or shall cause its employees or subconsultants to file, a Statement of Economic 
Interest with the City’s Filing Officer as required under state law in the performance of the 
Services.  For breach or violation of this warranty, City shall have the right to rescind this 
Agreement without liability.  For the term of this Agreement, no member, officer or employee of 
City, during the term of his or her service with City, shall have any direct interest in this Agreement, 
or obtain any present or anticipated material benefit arising therefrom.  

3.7.19 Authority to Enter Agreement.  Consultant has all requisite power and 
authority to conduct its business and to execute, deliver, and perform the Agreement.  Each Party 
warrants that the individuals who have signed this Agreement have the legal power, right, and 
authority to make this Agreement and bind each respective Party. 

3.7.20 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original. 

3.7.21 Survival.  All rights and obligations hereunder that by their nature are to 
continue after any expiration or termination of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 
indemnification obligations, shall survive any such expiration or termination. 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

 
  

Page 122

Item 15.



 -16- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF COACHELLA AND  

DMHA ARCHITECTURE AND INTERIOR DESIGN 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed on the day 

and year first above written. 

 

 

CITY OF COACHELLA DMHA ARCHITECTURE & INTERIOR 

DESIGN 

 

By: 

 

Its:  

Printed Name:  

 

 

 

Approved By: 

  
GABRIEL D. MARTIN, PHD 
CITY MANAGER 

 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Best Best & Krieger LLP 
City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
Attested By: 
 
 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
City Clerk 

 

Page 123

Item 15.



 Exhibit “A”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "A" 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

As envisioned, the selected design firms will provide design, contract administration 
and/or other architectural services for façade projects that the City of Coachella has 
either approved or approved with conditions for grant funding. The façade projects may 
consist of the improvement of business facades and the replacement of deteriorated or 

poor‐quality exterior façade, including but not limited to doors, windows, sidings, 
awnings, and commercial signs. The programs are managed through the effort of the 
City of Coachella’s Economic Development Department. In general, the following 
process is envisioned: 

 
1. The project applicant applies for grant funding. 

 
2. Upon request by the City, the design firm will work with Development Services and 

Economic Development Department staff to review proposed plan to ensure it meets 
City program goals and objectives, and to make recommendations about any 
refinements to the project scope. After a review of the project to determine eligibility, the 
City may approve the project, partially approve the project, or approve the project with 
conditions. At this time the City will also set the grant amount. 

 
3. If the City determines that the project scope is promising but is in need of refinement, 

clarification, or minor changes, the City may assign one of the selected design firms to 
provide technical assistance to the project applicant. 

 
4. The design firm will meet with the business owner to review their business needs, 

objectives, and project scope, and will provide design services, guidance, and technical 
assistance to help improve the project scope, ensure that it meets the City’s program 
requirements, and has a well-defined scope and design to improve the chance of 
obtaining accurate, reasonable bids from vendors. 

 
5. If additional design services are desired by the project applicant, they will negotiate 

independently with the design firm. 
 

6. Architectural design services related to the pre‐construction aspects of the projects. 
 

 

 

Page 124

Item 15.



 Exhibit “B”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "B" 
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 

 

October 1, 2024 – September 30, 2025 

 

Page 125

Item 15.



 Exhibit “C”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "C" 
COMPENSATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Architect and his consultant team’s professional liability for all services rendered under this 
agreement shall be limited to an amount not to exceed the architect’s total fee or $50,000 
whichever is less. 

Page 126

Item 15.



 -1- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

CITY OF COACHELLA 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This Agreement is made and entered into this _____ day of ________, 20___, by and 
between the City of Coachella, a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the 
State of California with its principal place of business at 53990 Enterprise Way, 
Coachella, California 92236, County of Riverside, State of California ("City") and MOUR 
GROUP, a CORPORATION, with its principal place of business at  6593 RIVERDALE 

STREET, SAN DIEGO, CA 92120   ("Consultant").  City and Consultant are sometimes 
individually referred to herein as "Party" and collectively as "Parties." 
 
2. RECITALS. 

2.1 Consultant. 

Consultant desires to perform and assume responsibility for the provision of certain 
professional services required by the City on the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement.  Consultant represents that it is experienced in providing MULTI-
DISCIPLINARY ARCHITECTURE, STRUCTURAL ENGINEERING, CIVIL 
ENGINEERING, AND INTERIOR DESIGN offering services to public clients, is licensed 
in the State of California, and is familiar with the plans of City. 
 

2.2 Project. 

City desires to engage Consultant to render such professional services for the ON-
CALL ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF COACHELLA 
FAÇADE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM project ("Project") as set forth in this Agreement. 
 
3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

3.1.1 General Scope of Services.  Consultant promises and agrees to furnish to 
the City all labor, materials, tools, equipment, services, and incidental and customary work 
necessary to fully and adequately supply the professional ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN consulting 
services necessary for the Project  ("Services").  The Services are more particularly described in 
Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  All Services shall be subject 
to, and performed in accordance with, this Agreement, the exhibits attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference, and all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations.   

3.1.2 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from OCTOBER 1, 2024 to  
SEPTEMBER 30, 2025, unless earlier terminated as provided herein.  THE CITY SHALL HAVE 
THE UNILATERAL OPTION, AT ITS SOLE DISCRETION, TO RENEW THIS AGREEMENT 
AUTOMATICALLY FOR NO MORE THAN TWO (2) ADDITIONAL ONE-YEAR TERMS. 
Consultant shall complete the Services within the term of this Agreement, and shall meet any 

Page 127

Item 15.



 -2- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

other established schedules and deadlines. The Parties may, by mutual, written consent, extend 
the term of this Agreement if necessary to complete the Services. 

3.2 Compensation. 

3.2.1 Compensation.  Consultant shall receive compensation, including 
authorized reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement at the rates set forth 
in Exhibit "C" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  The total compensation shall 
not exceed FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS  ($50,000) without written approval of the City Council 
or City Manager, as applicable.  Extra Work may be authorized, as described below, and if 
authorized, will be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this Agreement. 

3.2.2 Payment of Compensation.  Consultant shall submit to City a monthly 
invoice which indicates work completed and hours of Services rendered by Consultant.  The 
invoice shall describe the amount of Services provided since the initial commencement date, or 
since the start of the subsequent billing periods, as appropriate, through the date of the invoice.  
City shall, within 30 days of receiving such invoice, review the invoice and pay all non-disputed 
and approved charges.  If the City disputes any of Consultant's fees, the City shall give written 
notice to Consultant within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice of any disputed fees set forth 
therein.  Payment shall not constitute acceptance of any Services completed by Consultant.  The 
making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims by the City for any reason 
whatsoever. 

3.2.3 Reimbursement for Expenses.  Consultant shall not be reimbursed for any 
expenses unless authorized in writing by City, or included in Exhibit "C" of this Agreement. 

3.2.4 Extra Work.  At any time during the term of this Agreement, City may 
request that Consultant perform Extra Work.  As used herein, "Extra Work" means any work which 
is determined by City to be necessary for the proper completion of the Project, but which the 
Parties did not reasonably anticipate would be necessary at the execution of this Agreement.  
Consultant shall not perform, nor be compensated for, Extra Work without written authorization 
from the City.  

3.3 Responsibilities of Consultant. 

3.3.1 Independent Contractor; Control and Payment of Subordinates.  The 
Services shall be performed by Consultant or under its supervision.  Consultant will determine the 
means, methods and details of performing the Services subject to the requirements of this 
Agreement.  City retains Consultant on an independent contractor basis and not as an employee.  
Any personnel performing the Services on behalf of Consultant shall not be employees of City 
and shall at all times be under Consultant's exclusive direction and control.  Neither City, or any 
of its officials, officers, directors, employees or agents shall have control over the conduct of 
Consultant or any of Consultants officers, employees or agents, except as set forth in this 
Agreement.  Consultant shall pay all wages, salaries, and other amounts due such personnel in 
connection with their performance of Services under this Agreement and as required by law.  
Consultant shall be responsible for all reports and obligations respecting such additional 
personnel, including, but not limited to: social security taxes, income tax withholding, 
unemployment insurance, disability insurance, and workers' compensation insurance. 

3.3.2 Schedule of Services.  Consultant shall perform the Services in a prompt 

Page 128

Item 15.



 -3- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

and timely manner and in accordance with the Schedule of Services set forth in Exhibit "B" 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  Consultant represents that it has the 
professional and technical personnel required to perform the Services expeditiously.  Upon 
request of City, Consultant shall provide a more detailed schedule of anticipated performance to 
meet the Schedule of Services. 

3.3.3 Conformance to Applicable Requirements.  All work prepared by 
Consultant shall be subject to the approval of City. 

3.3.4 Substitution of Key Personnel.  Consultant has represented to City that 
certain key personnel will perform and coordinate the Services under this Agreement.  Should 
one or more of such personnel become unavailable, Consultant may substitute other personnel 
of at least equal competence upon written approval of City.  In the event that City and Consultant 
cannot agree as to the substitution of key personnel, City shall be entitled to terminate this 
Agreement for cause.  The key personnel for performance of this Agreement are as follows: 
GLENN MOURITZEN, PRESIDENT. 

3.3.5 City's Representative.  The City hereby designates DR. GABRIEL D. 
MARTIN, CITY MANAGER, or his/her designee, to act as its representative in all matters 
pertaining to the administration and performance of this Agreement ("City's Representative").  
City's Representative shall have the power to act on behalf of the City for review and approval of 
all products submitted by Consultant but not the authority to enlarge the Scope of Services or 
change the total compensation due to Consultant under this Agreement.  The City Manager shall 
be authorized to act on City's behalf and to execute all necessary documents which enlarge the 
Scope of Services or change the Consultant's total compensation subject to the provisions 
contained in this Agreement.  Consultant shall not accept direction or orders from any person 
other than the City Manager, City's Representative or his/her designee. 

3.3.6 Consultant's Representative.  Consultant hereby designates GLENN 
MOURITZEN, PRESIDENT, or his/her designee, to act as its representative for the performance 
of this Agreement ("Consultant's Representative").  Consultant's Representative shall have full 
authority to represent and act on behalf of the Consultant for all purposes under this Agreement.  
The Consultant's Representative shall supervise and direct the Services, using his/her best skill 
and attention, and shall be responsible for all means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures and for the satisfactory coordination of all portions of the Services under this 
Agreement. 

3.3.7 Coordination of Services.  Consultant agrees to work closely with City staff 
in the performance of Services and shall be available to City's staff, consultants and other staff at 
all reasonable times. 

3.3.8 Standard of Care; Performance of Employees.  Consultant shall perform all 
Services under this Agreement in a skillful and competent manner, consistent with the standards 
generally recognized as being employed by professionals in the same discipline in the State of 
California.  Consultant represents and maintains that it is skilled in the professional calling 
necessary to perform the Services.  Consultant warrants that all employees and subconsultants 
shall have sufficient skill and experience to perform the Services assigned to them.  Consultant 
represents that it, its employees and subconsultants have all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatever nature that are legally required to perform the Services, and that such 
licenses and approvals shall be maintained throughout the term of this Agreement.  Consultant 

Page 129

Item 15.



 -4- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

shall perform, at its own cost and expense and without reimbursement from the City, any services 
necessary to correct errors or omissions which are caused by the Consultant's failure to comply 
with the standard of care provided for herein.  Any employee of the Consultant or its 
subconsultants who is determined by the City to be uncooperative, incompetent, a threat to the 
adequate or timely completion of the Project, a threat to the safety of persons or property, or any 
employee who fails or refuses to perform the Services in a manner acceptable to the City, shall 
be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant and shall not be re-employed to perform 
any of the Services or to work on the Project. 

3.3.9 Period of Performance.  

3.3.9.1 Consultant shall perform and complete all Services under this 
Agreement within the term set forth in Section 3.1.2 above (“Performance Time”). Consultant shall 
also perform the Services in strict accordance with any completion schedule or Project milestones 
described in Exhibits “A” or “B” attached hereto, or which may be separately agreed upon in writing 
by the City and Consultant (“Performance Milestones”).  Consultant agrees that if the Services 
are not completed within the aforementioned Performance Time and/or pursuant to any such 
Performance Milestones developed pursuant to provisions of this Agreement, it is understood, 
acknowledged and agreed that the City will suffer damage.   

3.3.9.2 Neither City nor Consultant shall be considered in default of this 
Agreement for delays in performance caused by circumstances beyond the reasonable control of 
the non-performing Party.  For purposes of this Agreement, such circumstances include a Force 
Majeure Event.  A Force Majeure Event shall mean an event that materially affects a Party’s 
performance and is one or more of the following: (1) Acts of God or other natural disasters; (2) 
terrorism or other acts of a public enemy; (3) orders of governmental authorities (including, without 
limitation, unreasonable and unforeseeable delay in the issuance of permits or approvals by 
governmental authorities that are required for the services); (4) strikes and other organized labor 
action occurring at the site and the effects thereof on the services, only to the extent such strikes 
and other organized labor action are beyond the control of Consultant and its subcontractors, and 
to the extent the effects thereof cannot be avoided by use of replacement workers; and (5) 
pandemics, epidemics or quarantine restrictions. For purposes of this section, “orders of 
governmental authorities,” includes ordinances, emergency proclamations and orders, rules to 
protect the public health, welfare and safety, and other actions of a public agency applicable to 
the services and Agreement.  

3.3.9.3 Should a Force Majeure Event occur, the non-performing Party 
shall, within a reasonable time of being prevented from performing, give written notice to the other 
Party describing the circumstances preventing continued performance and the efforts being made 
to resume performance of this Agreement.  Force Majeure Events and/or delays, regardless of 
the Party responsible for the delay, shall not entitle Consultant to any additional compensation.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing in this section, the City may still terminate this Agreement in 
accordance with the termination provisions of this Agreement. 

3.3.10 Laws and Regulations; Employee/Labor Certification.   

3.3.10.1 Compliance with Laws.  Consultant shall keep itself fully 
informed of and in compliance with all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations in any 
manner affecting the performance of the Project or the Services, including all Cal/OSHA 
requirements, and shall give all notices required by law.  Consultant shall be liable for all violations 

Page 130

Item 15.



 -5- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

of such laws and regulations in connection with the Services and this Agreement.  All violations 
of such laws and regulations shall be grounds for the City to terminate the Agreement for cause.   

3.3.10.2 Employment Eligibility; Consultant.  Consultant certifies that it 
fully complies with all requirements and restrictions of state and federal law respecting the 
employment of undocumented aliens, including, but not limited to, the Immigration Reform and 
Control Act of 1986, as may be amended from time to time and shall require all subconsultants 
and sub-subconsultants to comply with the same.  Consultant certifies that it has not committed 
a violation of any such law within the five (5) years immediately preceding the date of execution 
of this Agreement, and shall not violate any such law at any time during the term of the Agreement. 

3.3.10.3 Equal Opportunity Employment.  Consultant represents that it is 
an equal opportunity employer and it shall not discriminate against any subconsultant, employee 
or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, handicap, ancestry, 
sex or age.  Such non-discrimination shall include, but not be limited to, all activities related to 
initial employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 
termination.  Consultant shall also comply with all relevant provisions of City's Minority Business 
Enterprise program, Affirmative Action Plan or other related programs or guidelines currently in 
effect or hereinafter enacted. 

3.3.10.4 Air Quality.  To the extent applicable, Consultant must fully 
comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in furnishing or using equipment and/or 
providing services, including, but not limited to, emissions limits and permitting requirements 
imposed by the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) and/or California Air 
Resources Board (CARB).  Consultant shall indemnify City against any fines or penalties imposed 
by SCAQMD, CARB, or any other governmental or regulatory agency for violations of applicable 
laws, rules and/or regulations by Consultant, its subconsultants, or others for whom Consultant is 
responsible under its indemnity obligations provided for in this Agreement. 

3.3.10.5 Water Quality Management and Compliance.  Consultant shall 
keep itself and all subcontractors, staff, and employees fully informed of and in compliance with 
all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations that may impact, or be implicated by the 
performance of the Services including, without limitation, all applicable provisions of the City’s 
ordinances regulating water quality and storm water; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 
U.S.C. § 1251, et seq.); the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act (Water Code 
§ 13000 et seq.); and any and all regulations, policies, or permits issued pursuant to any such 
authority.  Consultant must additionally comply with the lawful requirements of the City, and any 
other municipality, drainage district, or other local agency with jurisdiction over the location where 
the Services are to be conducted, regulating water quality and storm water discharges.  City may 
seek damages from Consultant for delay in completing the Services caused by Consultant’s 
failure to comply with the laws, regulations and policies described in this Section, or any other 
relevant water quality law, regulation, or policy. 

3.3.10.6 Safety.  Consultant shall execute and maintain its work so as to 
avoid injury or damage to any person or property.  In carrying out its Services, the Consultant 
shall at all times be in compliance with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations, and shall exercise all necessary precautions for the safety of employees appropriate 
to the nature of the work and the conditions under which the work is to be performed.   

3.3.11 Insurance.  

Page 131

Item 15.



 -6- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

3.3.11.1 Time for Compliance.  Consultant shall not commence work 
under this Agreement until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that it has secured all 
insurance required under this section. In addition, Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that the 
subconsultant has secured all insurance required under this section.  Failure to provide and 
maintain all required insurance shall be grounds for the City to terminate this Agreement for cause. 

3.3.11.2 Types of Insurance Required.  As a condition precedent to the 
effectiveness of this Agreement for work to be performed hereunder, and without limiting the 
indemnity provisions of the Agreement, the Consultant, in partial performance of its obligations 
under such Agreement, shall procure and maintain in full force and effect during the term of the 
Agreement the following policies of insurance.  If the existing policies do not meet the insurance 
requirements set forth herein, Consultant agrees to amend, supplement or endorse the policies 
to do so. 

(A) Commercial General Liability:  Commercial General Liability 
Insurance which affords coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office "occurrence" 
form CG 00 01, or the exact equivalent, with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence 
and no less than $2,000,000 in the general aggregate.  Defense costs shall be paid in addition to 
the limits.  The policy shall contain no endorsements or provisions (1) limiting coverage for 
contractual liability; (2) excluding coverage for claims or suits by one insured against another 
(cross-liability); (3) products/completed operations liability; or (4) containing any other 
exclusion(s) contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement. 

(B) Automobile Liability Insurance:  Automobile Liability 
Insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office Form CA 00 01 covering 
"Any Auto" (Symbol 1), or the exact equivalent, covering bodily injury and property damage for all 
activities with limits of not less than $1,000,000 combined limit for each occurrence.   

(C) Workers' Compensation:  Workers' Compensation 
Insurance, as required by the State of California and Employer's Liability Insurance with a limit of 
not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and disease. 

(D) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions):  Professional 
Liability insurance or Errors & Omissions insurance appropriate to Consultant’s profession with 
limits of not less than $1,000,000.  Covered professional services shall specifically include all 
work to be performed under the Agreement and delete any exclusions that may potentially affect 
the work to be performed (for example, any exclusions relating to lead, asbestos, pollution, 
testing, underground storage tanks, laboratory analysis, soil work, etc.).  If coverage is written on 
a claims-made basis, the retroactive date shall precede the effective date of the initial Agreement 
and continuous coverage will be maintained or an extended reporting period will be exercised for 
a period of at least five (5) years from termination or expiration of this Agreement.    

3.3.11.3 Insurance Endorsements.  Required insurance policies shall 
contain the following provisions, or Consultant shall provide endorsements on forms approved by 
the City to add the following provisions to the insurance policies: 

(A) Commercial General Liability: (1) Additional Insured:  The 
City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds with 
regard to liability and defense of suits or claims arising out of the performance of the Agreement.  

Page 132

Item 15.



 -7- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

Additional Insured Endorsements shall not (1) be restricted to "ongoing operations"; (2) exclude 
"contractual liability"; (3) restrict coverage to "sole" liability of Consultant; or (4) contain any other 
exclusions contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement.  For all policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance, Consultant shall provide endorsements in the form of ISO CG 20 10 
10 01 and 20 37 10 01 (or endorsements providing the exact same coverage) to effectuate this 
requirement. (2) Cancellation:  Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage 
reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except 
ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment of premium. 

(B) Automobile Liability.  (1) Cancellation:  Required insurance 
policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of 
cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment 
of premium.  

(C) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions): (1) Cancellation:  
Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day 
written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed 
for non-payment of premium.  (2) Contractual Liability Exclusion Deleted:  This insurance shall 
include contractual liability applicable to this Agreement.  The policy must “pay on behalf of” the 
insured and include a provision establishing the insurer’s duty to defend. 

(D) Workers' Compensation: (1) Cancellation:  Required 
insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written 
notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for 
non-payment of premium.  (2) Waiver of Subrogation:  A waiver of subrogation stating that the 
insurer waives all rights of subrogation against the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and volunteers. 

3.3.11.4 Primary and Non-Contributing Insurance.  All policies of 
Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability insurance shall be primary and any other 
insurance, deductible, or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, or volunteers shall not contribute with this primary insurance.  Policies shall contain or be 
endorsed to contain such provisions. 

3.3.11.5 Waiver of Subrogation.  All required insurance coverages, 
except for the professional liability coverage, shall contain or be endorsed to waiver of subrogation 
in favor of the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers or shall specifically 
allow Consultant or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications 
to waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of recovery 
against City, and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance clauses from each 
of its subconsultants. 

3.3.11.6 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductible or self-
insured retention must be approved in writing by the City and shall protect the City, its officials, 
officers, employees, agents, and volunteers in the same manner and to the same extent as they 
would have been protected had the policy or policies not contained a deductible or self-insured 
retention. 

3.3.11.7 Evidence of Insurance.  The Consultant, concurrently with the 
execution of the Agreement, and as a condition precedent to the effectiveness thereof, shall 

Page 133

Item 15.



 -8- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

deliver either certified copies of the required policies, or original certificates on forms approved by 
the City, together with all endorsements affecting each policy.  Required insurance policies shall 
not be in compliance if they include any limiting provision or endorsement that has not been 
submitted to the City for approval.  The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy 
shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.  At least 
fifteen (15 days) prior to the expiration of any such policy, evidence of insurance showing that 
such insurance coverage has been renewed or extended shall be filed with the City.  If such 
coverage is cancelled or reduced and not replaced immediately so as to avoid a lapse in the 
required coverage, Consultant shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of such 
cancellation or reduction of coverage, file with the City evidence of insurance showing that the 
required insurance has been reinstated or has been provided through another insurance company 
or companies. 

3.3.11.8 Acceptability of Insurers.  Each such policy shall be from a 
company or companies with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A:VII and authorized to 
transact business of insurance in the State of California, or otherwise allowed to place insurance 
through surplus line brokers under applicable provisions of the California Insurance Code or any 
federal law. 

3.3.11.9 Enforcement of Agreement Provisions (non estoppel).  
Consultant acknowledges and agrees that actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to inform 
Consultant of non-compliance with any requirement imposes no additional obligation on the City 
nor does it waive any rights hereunder. 

3.3.11.10 Requirements Not Limiting.  Requirement of specific coverage 
or minimum limits contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits, or 
other requirement, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. 

3.3.11.11 Additional Insurance Provisions 

(A) The foregoing requirements as to the types and limits of 
insurance coverage to be maintained by Consultant, and any approval of said insurance by the 
City, is not intended to and shall not in any manner limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations 
otherwise assumed by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to, the 
provisions concerning indemnification. 

(B) If at any time during the life of the Agreement, any policy of 
insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled 
and not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary 
and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Consultant or City will withhold 
amounts sufficient to pay premium from Consultant payments. In the alternative, City may cancel 
this Agreement. 

(C) The City may require the Consultant to provide complete 
copies of all insurance policies in effect for the duration of the Project. 

(D) Neither the City nor any of its officials, officers, employees, 
agents or volunteers shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or by virtue of 
this Agreement. 

Page 134

Item 15.



 -9- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

(E) The limits set forth herein shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom claims are made or suits are brought, except with respect to the limits of 
liability.  Further the limits set forth herein shall not be construed to relieve the Consultant from 
liability in excess of such coverage, nor shall it limit the Consultant’s indemnification obligations 
to the City and shall not preclude the City from taking such other actions available to the City 
under other provisions of the Agreement or law. 

(F) Consultant shall report to the City, in addition to Consultant’s 
insurer, any and all insurance claims submitted by Consultant in connection with the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.3.11.12 Insurance for Subconsultants.  Consultant shall include all 
subconsultants engaged in any work for Consultant relating to this Agreement as additional 
insureds under the Consultant's policies, or the Consultant shall be responsible for causing 
subconsultants to purchase the appropriate insurance in compliance with the terms of these 
Insurance Requirements, including adding the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers as additional insureds to the subconsultant's policies.  All policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance provided by Consultant’s subconsultants performing work relating to 
this Agreement shall be endorsed to name the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents and 
volunteers as additional insureds using endorsement form ISO CG 20 38 04 13 or an 
endorsement providing equivalent coverage.  Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract relating to this Agreement until it has received satisfactory 
evidence of subconsultant’s compliance with all insurance requirements under this Agreement, to 
the extent applicable.  The Consultant shall provide satisfactory evidence of compliance with this 
section upon request of the City. 

3.4 Labor Code Requirements. 

3.4.1 Prevailing Wages.  Consultant is aware of the requirements of California 
Labor Code Section 1720, et seq., and 1770, et seq., as well as California Code of Regulations, 
Title 8, Section 16000, et seq., ("Prevailing Wage Laws"), which require the payment of prevailing 
wage rates and the performance of other requirements on "public works" and "maintenance" 
projects.  If the Services are being performed as part of an applicable "public works" or 
"maintenance" project, as defined by the Prevailing Wage Laws, and if the total compensation is 
$1,000 or more, Consultant agrees to fully comply with such Prevailing Wage Laws.  City shall 
provide Consultant with a copy of the prevailing rates of per diem wages in effect at the 
commencement of this Agreement.  Consultant shall make copies of the prevailing rates of per 
diem wages for each craft, classification or type of worker needed to execute the Services 
available to interested parties upon request, and shall post copies at the Consultant's principal 
place of business and at the project site.  It is the intent of the parties to effectuate the 
requirements of sections 1771, 1774, 1775, 1776, 1777.5, 1813, and 1815 of the Labor Code 
within this Agreement, and Consultant shall therefore comply with such Labor Code sections to 
the fullest extent required by law.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its 
officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers free and harmless from any claim or liability 
arising out of any failure or alleged failure to comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws. 

3.4.2 Registration/DIR Compliance.  If the Services are being performed on a 
public works project of over $25,000 when the project is for construction, alteration, demolition, 
installation, or repair work, or a public works project of over $15,000 when the project is for 
maintenance work, in addition to the foregoing, then pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 

Page 135

Item 15.



 -10- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

1771.1, the Consultant and all subconsultants must be registered with the Department of 
Industrial Relations (“DIR”).  Consultant shall maintain registration for the duration of the Project 
and require the same of any subconsultants.   

3.4.3 Compliance Monitoring. This Project may also be subject to compliance 
monitoring and enforcement by the DIR.  It shall be Consultant’s sole responsibility to comply with 
all applicable registration and labor compliance requirements, including the submission of payroll 
records directly to the DIR.  Any stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant or any 
subconsultant that affect Consultant’s performance of services, including any delay, shall be 
Consultant’s sole responsibility.  Any delay arising out of or resulting from such stop orders shall 
be considered Consultant caused delay and shall not be compensable by the City.  Consultant 
shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees and agents free and 
harmless from any claim or liability arising out of stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant 
or any subconsultant. 

3.4.4 Labor Certification.  By its signature hereunder, Consultant certifies that it 
is aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor Code which require every 
employer to be insured against liability for Worker's Compensation or to undertake self-insurance 
in accordance with the provisions of that Code, and agrees to comply with such provisions before 
commencing the performance of the Services. 

3.5 Termination of Agreement. 

3.5.1.1 Grounds for Termination.  City may, by written notice to 
Consultant, terminate the whole or any part of this Agreement at any time and without cause by 
giving written notice to Consultant of such termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, 
at least seven (7) days before the effective date of such termination.  Upon termination, Consultant 
shall be compensated only for those Services which have been adequately rendered to City, and 
Consultant shall be entitled to no further compensation.  Consultant may not terminate this 
Agreement except for cause.  The rights and remedies of the City provided in this section shall 
not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law, equity or 
under this Agreement. 

3.5.1.2 Effect of Termination.  If this Agreement is terminated as 
provided herein, City may require Consultant to provide all finished or unfinished Documents and 
Data and other information of any kind prepared by Consultant in connection with the performance 
of Services under this Agreement.  Consultant shall be required to provide such document and 
other information within fifteen (15) days of the request. 

3.5.1.3 Additional Services.  In the event this Agreement is terminated 
in whole or in part as provided herein, City may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as 
it may determine appropriate, services similar to those terminated. 

3.6 Indemnification.  

3.6.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall defend (with counsel 
of City’s choosing), indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, and 
agents free and harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, 
liability, loss, damage or injury of any kind, in law or equity, to property or persons, including 
wrongful death,  in any manner arising out of, pertaining to, or incident to any acts, errors or 

Page 136

Item 15.



 -11- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

omissions, or willful misconduct of Consultant, its officials, officers, employees, subcontractors, 
consultants or agents in connection with the performance of the Consultant’s Services, the Project 
or this Agreement, including without limitation the payment of all damages, expert witness fees 
and attorney’s fees and other related costs and expenses except such loss or damage caused by 
the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the City.  Consultant's obligation to indemnify shall 
survive expiration or termination of this Agreement and shall not be restricted to insurance 
proceeds, if any, received by Consultant, the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, or 
volunteers. 

3.6.2 If Consultant’s obligation to defend, indemnify, and/or hold harmless arises 
out of Consultant’s performance as a “design professional” (as that term is defined under Civil 
Code section 2782.8), then, and only to the extent required by Civil Code section 2782.8, which 
is fully incorporated herein, Consultant’s indemnification obligation shall be limited to claims that 
arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the 
Consultant, and, upon Consultant obtaining a final adjudication by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, Consultant’s liability for such claim, including the cost to defend, shall not exceed the 
Consultant’s proportionate percentage of fault. 

3.7 General Provisions. 

3.7.1 Accounting Records.  Consultant shall maintain complete and accurate 
records with respect to all costs and expenses incurred under this Agreement.  All such records 
shall be clearly identifiable.  Consultant shall allow a representative of City during normal business 
hours to examine, audit, and make transcripts or copies of such records and any other documents 
created pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant shall allow inspection of all work, data, 
documents, proceedings, and activities related to the Agreement for a period of three (3) years 
from the date of final payment under this Agreement. 

3.7.2 Independent Contractors and Subcontracting. 

3.7.2.1 Use of Consultants.  Consultant is aware of statutory and case 
law regarding classification of workers as independent contractors, including California Labor 
Code Section 2750.3 and Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court, 4 Cal. 5th 903 
(2018).  To ensure that Consultant is in compliance with the California Labor Code, Consultant 
shall only utilize its employees to provide the Services.  Consultant may not provide the services 
through any independent contractor, subcontractor or subconsultant (“Subcontractor(s)”) unless 
approved by the City as set forth in Section 3.7.2.2 below.  Consultant represents and warrants 
that all personnel who perform the Services on Consultant’s behalf are Consultant’s employees, 
and that Consultant complies with all applicable laws, rules and regulations governing its 
employees, including, but not limited to, the California Labor Code, Unemployment Insurance 
Code and all applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders.   

3.7.2.2 Prior Approval Required.  Consultant shall not use any 
Subcontractor to provide the Services, or any portion of the work required by this Agreement, 
without prior written approval of City.  In the event that City authorizes Consultant to use a 
Subcontractor, Consultant shall enter into a written agreement with the Subcontractor, which must 
include all provisions of the Agreement, including a restriction on the Subcontractor’s use of 
further independent contractors, subcontractors or subconsultants without the City’s prior written 
consent. 

Page 137

Item 15.



 -12- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

3.7.3 Delivery of Notices.  All notices permitted or required under this Agreement 
shall be given to the respective parties at the following address, or at such other address as the 
respective parties may provide in writing for this purpose: 

Consultant: Mour Group 
Riverdale Street 
San Diego, CA 92120 
ATTN:  Glenn Mouritzen, President 

 
City: City of Coachella  

53990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
ATTN:  Dr. Gabriel D. Martin, City Manager 

 
Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed, forty-eight (48) 
hours after deposit in the U.S.  Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to the party at its 
applicable address.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the date actual notice 
occurred, regardless of the method of service. 

3.7.4 Ownership of Materials and Confidentiality. 

3.7.4.1 Documents & Data; Licensing of Intellectual Property.  This 
Agreement creates a non-exclusive and perpetual license for City to copy, use, modify, reuse, or 
sublicense any and all copyrights, designs, and other intellectual property embodied in plans, 
specifications, studies, drawings, estimates, and other documents or works of authorship fixed in 
any tangible medium of expression, including but not limited to, physical drawings or data 
magnetically or otherwise recorded on computer diskettes, which are prepared or caused to be 
prepared by Consultant under this Agreement ("Documents & Data").  All Documents & Data shall 
be and remain the property of City, and shall not be used in whole or in substantial part by 
Consultant on other projects without the City’s express written permission.  Within thirty (30) days 
following the completion, suspension, abandonment or termination of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide to City reproducible copies of all Documents & Data, in a form and amount required 
by City.  City reserves the right to select the method of document reproduction and to establish 
where the reproduction will be accomplished.  The reproduction expense shall be borne by City 
at the actual cost of duplication.  In the event of a dispute regarding the amount of compensation 
to which the Consultant is entitled under the termination provisions of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide all Documents & Data to City upon payment of the undisputed amount.  Consultant 
shall have no right to retain or fail to provide to City any such documents pending resolution of 
the dispute.  In addition, Consultant shall retain copies of all Documents & Data on file for a 
minimum of fifteen (15) years following completion of the Project, and shall make copies available 
to City upon the payment of actual reasonable duplication costs.  Before destroying the 
Documents & Data following this retention period, Consultant shall make a reasonable effort to 
notify City and provide City with the opportunity to obtain the documents. 

3.7.4.2 Subconsultants.  Consultant shall require all subconsultants to 
agree in writing that City is granted a non-exclusive and perpetual license for any Documents & 
Data the subconsultant prepares under this Agreement.  Consultant represents and warrants that 
Consultant has the legal right to license any and all Documents & Data.  Consultant makes no 
such representation and warranty in regard to Documents & Data which were prepared by design 

Page 138

Item 15.



 -13- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

professionals other than Consultant or its subconsultants, or those provided to Consultant by the 
City. 

3.7.4.3 Right to Use.  City shall not be limited in any way in its use or 
reuse of the Documents and Data or any part of them at any time for purposes of this Project or 
another project, provided that any such use not within the purposes intended by this Agreement 
or on a project other than this Project without employing the services of Consultant shall be at 
City’s sole risk. If City uses or reuses the Documents & Data on any project other than this Project, 
it shall remove the Consultant’s seal from the Documents & Data and indemnify and hold harmless 
Consultant and its officers, directors, agents and employees from claims arising out of the 
negligent use or re-use of the Documents & Data on such other project.  Consultant shall be 
responsible and liable for its Documents & Data, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, only 
with respect to the condition of the Documents & Data at the time they are provided to the City 
upon completion, suspension, abandonment or termination.  Consultant shall not be responsible 
or liable for any revisions to the Documents & Data made by any party other than Consultant, a 
party for whom the Consultant is legally responsible or liable, or anyone approved by the 
Consultant. 

3.7.4.4 Indemnification.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the 
City, its directors, officials, officers, employees, volunteers and agents free and harmless, 
pursuant to the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, for any alleged infringement of any 
patent, copyright, trade secret, trade name, trademark, or any other proprietary right of any person 
or entity in consequence of the use on the Project by City of the Documents & Data, including any 
method, process, product, or concept specified or depicted. 

3.7.4.5 Confidentiality.  All ideas, memoranda, specifications, plans, 
procedures, drawings, descriptions, computer program data, input record data, written 
information, and other Documents & Data either created by or provided to Consultant in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be held confidential by Consultant.  Such 
materials shall not, without the prior written consent of City, be used by Consultant for any 
purposes other than the performance of the Services.  Nor shall such materials be disclosed to 
any person or entity not connected with the performance of the Services or the Project.  Nothing 
furnished to Consultant which is otherwise known to Consultant or is generally known, or has 
become known, to the related industry shall be deemed confidential.  Consultant shall not use 
City's name or insignia, photographs of the Project, or any publicity pertaining to the Services or 
the Project in any magazine, trade paper, newspaper, television or radio production or other 
similar medium without the prior written consent of City. 

3.7.4.6 Confidential Information.  The City shall refrain from releasing 
Consultant’s proprietary information ("Proprietary Information") unless the City's legal counsel 
determines that the release of the Proprietary Information is required by the California Public 
Records Act or other applicable state or federal law, or order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
in which case the City shall notify Consultant of its intention to release Proprietary Information.  
Consultant shall have five (5) working days after receipt of the release notice to give City written 
notice of Consultant's objection to the City's release of Proprietary Information.  Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, and its officers, directors, employees, and agents 
from and against all liability, loss, cost or expense (including attorney’s fees) arising out of a legal 
action brought to compel the release of Proprietary Information.  City shall not release the 
Proprietary Information after receipt of an objection notice unless either:  (1) Consultant fails to 
fully indemnify, defend (with City's choice of legal counsel), and hold City harmless from any legal 

Page 139

Item 15.



 -14- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

action brought to compel such release; and/or (2) a final and non-appealable order by a court of 
competent jurisdiction requires that City release such information. 

3.7.5 Cooperation; Further Acts.  The Parties shall fully cooperate with one 
another, and shall take any additional acts or sign any additional documents as may be necessary, 
appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this Agreement. 

3.7.6 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the 
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
understandings or agreements.   

3.7.7 Attorneys’ Fees.  If either party commences an action against the other 
party, either legal, administrative or otherwise, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, 
the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to have and recover from the losing party 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and all costs of such action. 

3.7.8 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of California.  Venue shall be in Riverside County.  In addition to any and all contract requirements 
pertaining to notices of and requests for compensation or payment for extra work, disputed work, 
claims and/or changed conditions, Consultant must comply with the claim procedures set forth in 
Government Code sections 900 et seq. prior to filing any lawsuit against the City.  Such 
Government Code claims and any subsequent lawsuit based upon the Government Code claims 
shall be limited to those matters that remain unresolved after all procedures pertaining to extra 
work, disputed work, claims, and/or changed conditions have been followed by Consultant.  If no 
such Government Code claim is submitted, or if any prerequisite contractual requirements are not 
otherwise satisfied as specified herein, Consultant shall be barred from bringing and maintaining 
a valid lawsuit against the City. 

3.7.9 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for each and every provision of 
this Agreement. 

3.7.10 City's Right to Employ Other Consultants.  City reserves right to employ 
other consultants in connection with this Project. 

3.7.11 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the 
successors and assigns of the parties. 

3.7.12 Assignment or Transfer.  Consultant shall not assign, sublet, or transfer this 
Agreement or any rights under or interest in this Agreement without the written consent of the 
City, which may be withheld for any reason.  Any attempt to so assign or so transfer without such 
consent shall be void and without legal effect and shall constitute grounds for termination.  
Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the Services required by this Agreement, except 
as expressly stated herein, without prior written approval of City.  Subcontracts, if any, shall 
contain a provision making them subject to all provisions stipulated in this Agreement. 

3.7.13 Construction; References; Captions.  Since the Parties or their agents have 
participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be 
construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any Party.  Any term 
referencing time, days or period for performance shall be deemed calendar days and not work 
days.  All references to Consultant include all personnel, employees, agents, and subconsultants 

Page 140

Item 15.



 -15- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

of Consultant, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.  All references to City include its 
elected officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers except as otherwise specified in this 
Agreement.  The captions of the various articles and paragraphs are for convenience and ease 
of reference only, and do not define, limit, augment, or describe the scope, content, or intent of 
this Agreement. 

3.7.14 Amendment; Modification.  No supplement, modification, or amendment of 
this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by both Parties. 

3.7.15 Waiver.  No waiver of any default shall constitute a waiver of any other 
default or breach, whether of the same or other covenant or condition.  No waiver, benefit, 
privilege, or service voluntarily given or performed by a Party shall give the other Party any 
contractual rights by custom, estoppel, or otherwise. 

3.7.16 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third party 
beneficiaries of any right or obligation assumed by the Parties. 

3.7.17 Invalidity; Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared invalid, 
illegal, or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

3.7.18 Prohibited Interests.  Consultant maintains and warrants that it has not 
employed nor retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely 
for Consultant, to solicit or secure this Agreement.  Consultant warrants that it has not paid nor 
has it agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for 
Consultant, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or other consideration 
contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement.  Consultant further 
agrees to file, or shall cause its employees or subconsultants to file, a Statement of Economic 
Interest with the City’s Filing Officer as required under state law in the performance of the 
Services.  For breach or violation of this warranty, City shall have the right to rescind this 
Agreement without liability.  For the term of this Agreement, no member, officer or employee of 
City, during the term of his or her service with City, shall have any direct interest in this Agreement, 
or obtain any present or anticipated material benefit arising therefrom.  

3.7.19 Authority to Enter Agreement.  Consultant has all requisite power and 
authority to conduct its business and to execute, deliver, and perform the Agreement.  Each Party 
warrants that the individuals who have signed this Agreement have the legal power, right, and 
authority to make this Agreement and bind each respective Party. 

3.7.20 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original. 

3.7.21 Survival.  All rights and obligations hereunder that by their nature are to 
continue after any expiration or termination of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 
indemnification obligations, shall survive any such expiration or termination. 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

 
  

Page 141

Item 15.



 -16- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF COACHELLA AND  

MOUR GROUP EINGEERING + DESIGN 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed on the day 

and year first above written. 

 

 

CITY OF COACHELLA MOUR GROUP EINGEERING + DESIGN 

 

By: 

 

Its:  

Printed Name:  

 

 

 

Approved By: 

  
GABRIEL D. MARTIN, PHD 
CITY MANAGER 

 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Best Best & Krieger LLP 
City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
Attested By: 
 
 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
City Clerk 

 

Page 142

Item 15.



 Exhibit “A”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "A" 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

As envisioned, the selected design firms will provide design, contract administration 
and/or other architectural services for façade projects that the City of Coachella has 
either approved or approved with conditions for grant funding. The façade projects may 
consist of the improvement of business facades and the replacement of deteriorated or 

poor‐quality exterior façade, including but not limited to doors, windows, sidings, 
awnings, and commercial signs. The programs are managed through the effort of the 
City of Coachella’s Economic Development Department. In general, the following 
process is envisioned: 

 
1. The project applicant applies for grant funding. 

 
2. Upon request by the City, the design firm will work with Development Services and 

Economic Development Department staff to review proposed plan to ensure it meets 
City program goals and objectives, and to make recommendations about any 
refinements to the project scope. After a review of the project to determine eligibility, the 
City may approve the project, partially approve the project, or approve the project with 
conditions. At this time the City will also set the grant amount. 

 
3. If the City determines that the project scope is promising but is in need of refinement, 

clarification, or minor changes, the City may assign one of the selected design firms to 
provide technical assistance to the project applicant. 

 
4. The design firm will meet with the business owner to review their business needs, 

objectives, and project scope, and will provide design services, guidance, and technical 
assistance to help improve the project scope, ensure that it meets the City’s program 
requirements, and has a well-defined scope and design to improve the chance of 
obtaining accurate, reasonable bids from vendors. 

 
5. If additional design services are desired by the project applicant, they will negotiate 

independently with the design firm. 
 

6. Architectural design services related to the pre‐construction aspects of the projects. 
 

 

 

Page 143

Item 15.



 Exhibit “B”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "B" 
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 

 

October 1, 2024 – September 30, 2025 

 

Page 144

Item 15.



 Exhibit “C”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "C" 
COMPENSATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Architect and his consultant team’s professional liability for all services rendered under this 
agreement shall be limited to an amount not to exceed the architect’s total fee or $50,000 
whichever is less. 

Page 145

Item 15.



 -1- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

CITY OF COACHELLA 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This Agreement is made and entered into this _____ day of ________, 20___, by and 
between the City of Coachella, a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the 
State of California with its principal place of business at 53990 Enterprise Way, 
Coachella, California 92236, County of Riverside, State of California ("City") and BFK 
ARCHITECTURE + PLANNING, a CORPORATION, with its principal place of business 
at  215 N MARENGO AVENUE, SUITE 250, PASADENA, CA 91101   ("Consultant").  City 
and Consultant are sometimes individually referred to herein as "Party" and collectively 
as "Parties." 
 
2. RECITALS. 

2.1 Consultant. 

Consultant desires to perform and assume responsibility for the provision of certain 
professional services required by the City on the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement.  Consultant represents that it is experienced in providing and offering 
ARCHITECTURE services to public clients, is licensed in the State of California, and is 
familiar with the plans of City. 
 

2.2 Project. 

City desires to engage Consultant to render such professional services for the ON-
CALL ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF COACHELLA 
FAÇADE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM project ("Project") as set forth in this Agreement. 
 
3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

3.1.1 General Scope of Services.  Consultant promises and agrees to furnish to 
the City all labor, materials, tools, equipment, services, and incidental and customary work 
necessary to fully and adequately supply the professional ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN consulting 
services necessary for the Project  ("Services").  The Services are more particularly described in 
Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  All Services shall be subject 
to, and performed in accordance with, this Agreement, the exhibits attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference, and all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations.   

3.1.2 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from OCTOBER 1, 2024 to  
SEPTEMBER 30, 2025, unless earlier terminated as provided herein.  THE CITY SHALL HAVE 
THE UNILATERAL OPTION, AT ITS SOLE DISCRETION, TO RENEW THIS AGREEMENT 
AUTOMATICALLY FOR NO MORE THAN TWO (2) ADDITIONAL ONE-YEAR TERMS. 
Consultant shall complete the Services within the term of this Agreement, and shall meet any 

Page 146

Item 15.



 -2- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

other established schedules and deadlines. The Parties may, by mutual, written consent, extend 
the term of this Agreement if necessary to complete the Services. 

3.2 Compensation. 

3.2.1 Compensation.  Consultant shall receive compensation, including 
authorized reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement at the rates set forth 
in Exhibit "C" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  The total compensation shall 
not exceed FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS  ($50,000) without written approval of the City Council 
or City Manager, as applicable.  Extra Work may be authorized, as described below, and if 
authorized, will be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this Agreement. 

3.2.2 Payment of Compensation.  Consultant shall submit to City a monthly 
invoice which indicates work completed and hours of Services rendered by Consultant.  The 
invoice shall describe the amount of Services provided since the initial commencement date, or 
since the start of the subsequent billing periods, as appropriate, through the date of the invoice.  
City shall, within 30 days of receiving such invoice, review the invoice and pay all non-disputed 
and approved charges.  If the City disputes any of Consultant's fees, the City shall give written 
notice to Consultant within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice of any disputed fees set forth 
therein.  Payment shall not constitute acceptance of any Services completed by Consultant.  The 
making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims by the City for any reason 
whatsoever. 

3.2.3 Reimbursement for Expenses.  Consultant shall not be reimbursed for any 
expenses unless authorized in writing by City, or included in Exhibit "C" of this Agreement. 

3.2.4 Extra Work.  At any time during the term of this Agreement, City may 
request that Consultant perform Extra Work.  As used herein, "Extra Work" means any work which 
is determined by City to be necessary for the proper completion of the Project, but which the 
Parties did not reasonably anticipate would be necessary at the execution of this Agreement.  
Consultant shall not perform, nor be compensated for, Extra Work without written authorization 
from the City.  

3.3 Responsibilities of Consultant. 

3.3.1 Independent Contractor; Control and Payment of Subordinates.  The 
Services shall be performed by Consultant or under its supervision.  Consultant will determine the 
means, methods and details of performing the Services subject to the requirements of this 
Agreement.  City retains Consultant on an independent contractor basis and not as an employee.  
Any personnel performing the Services on behalf of Consultant shall not be employees of City 
and shall at all times be under Consultant's exclusive direction and control.  Neither City, or any 
of its officials, officers, directors, employees or agents shall have control over the conduct of 
Consultant or any of Consultants officers, employees or agents, except as set forth in this 
Agreement.  Consultant shall pay all wages, salaries, and other amounts due such personnel in 
connection with their performance of Services under this Agreement and as required by law.  
Consultant shall be responsible for all reports and obligations respecting such additional 
personnel, including, but not limited to: social security taxes, income tax withholding, 
unemployment insurance, disability insurance, and workers' compensation insurance. 

3.3.2 Schedule of Services.  Consultant shall perform the Services in a prompt 

Page 147

Item 15.



 -3- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

and timely manner and in accordance with the Schedule of Services set forth in Exhibit "B" 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  Consultant represents that it has the 
professional and technical personnel required to perform the Services expeditiously.  Upon 
request of City, Consultant shall provide a more detailed schedule of anticipated performance to 
meet the Schedule of Services. 

3.3.3 Conformance to Applicable Requirements.  All work prepared by 
Consultant shall be subject to the approval of City. 

3.3.4 Substitution of Key Personnel.  Consultant has represented to City that 
certain key personnel will perform and coordinate the Services under this Agreement.  Should 
one or more of such personnel become unavailable, Consultant may substitute other personnel 
of at least equal competence upon written approval of City.  In the event that City and Consultant 
cannot agree as to the substitution of key personnel, City shall be entitled to terminate this 
Agreement for cause.  The key personnel for performance of this Agreement are as follows: 
BRIAN KNIGHT, PRESIDENT + CEO. 

3.3.5 City's Representative.  The City hereby designates DR. GABRIEL D. 
MARTIN, CITY MANAGER, or his/her designee, to act as its representative in all matters 
pertaining to the administration and performance of this Agreement ("City's Representative").  
City's Representative shall have the power to act on behalf of the City for review and approval of 
all products submitted by Consultant but not the authority to enlarge the Scope of Services or 
change the total compensation due to Consultant under this Agreement.  The City Manager shall 
be authorized to act on City's behalf and to execute all necessary documents which enlarge the 
Scope of Services or change the Consultant's total compensation subject to the provisions 
contained in this Agreement.  Consultant shall not accept direction or orders from any person 
other than the City Manager, City's Representative or his/her designee. 

3.3.6 Consultant's Representative.  Consultant hereby designates BRIAN 
KNIGHT, PRESIDENT + CEO, or his/her designee, to act as its representative for the 
performance of this Agreement ("Consultant's Representative").  Consultant's Representative 
shall have full authority to represent and act on behalf of the Consultant for all purposes under 
this Agreement.  The Consultant's Representative shall supervise and direct the Services, using 
his/her best skill and attention, and shall be responsible for all means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures and for the satisfactory coordination of all portions of the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.3.7 Coordination of Services.  Consultant agrees to work closely with City staff 
in the performance of Services and shall be available to City's staff, consultants and other staff at 
all reasonable times. 

3.3.8 Standard of Care; Performance of Employees.  Consultant shall perform all 
Services under this Agreement in a skillful and competent manner, consistent with the standards 
generally recognized as being employed by professionals in the same discipline in the State of 
California.  Consultant represents and maintains that it is skilled in the professional calling 
necessary to perform the Services.  Consultant warrants that all employees and subconsultants 
shall have sufficient skill and experience to perform the Services assigned to them.  Consultant 
represents that it, its employees and subconsultants have all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatever nature that are legally required to perform the Services, and that such 
licenses and approvals shall be maintained throughout the term of this Agreement.  Consultant 

Page 148

Item 15.



 -4- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

shall perform, at its own cost and expense and without reimbursement from the City, any services 
necessary to correct errors or omissions which are caused by the Consultant's failure to comply 
with the standard of care provided for herein.  Any employee of the Consultant or its 
subconsultants who is determined by the City to be uncooperative, incompetent, a threat to the 
adequate or timely completion of the Project, a threat to the safety of persons or property, or any 
employee who fails or refuses to perform the Services in a manner acceptable to the City, shall 
be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant and shall not be re-employed to perform 
any of the Services or to work on the Project. 

3.3.9 Period of Performance.  

3.3.9.1 Consultant shall perform and complete all Services under this 
Agreement within the term set forth in Section 3.1.2 above (“Performance Time”). Consultant shall 
also perform the Services in strict accordance with any completion schedule or Project milestones 
described in Exhibits “A” or “B” attached hereto, or which may be separately agreed upon in writing 
by the City and Consultant (“Performance Milestones”).  Consultant agrees that if the Services 
are not completed within the aforementioned Performance Time and/or pursuant to any such 
Performance Milestones developed pursuant to provisions of this Agreement, it is understood, 
acknowledged and agreed that the City will suffer damage.   

3.3.9.2 Neither City nor Consultant shall be considered in default of this 
Agreement for delays in performance caused by circumstances beyond the reasonable control of 
the non-performing Party.  For purposes of this Agreement, such circumstances include a Force 
Majeure Event.  A Force Majeure Event shall mean an event that materially affects a Party’s 
performance and is one or more of the following: (1) Acts of God or other natural disasters; (2) 
terrorism or other acts of a public enemy; (3) orders of governmental authorities (including, without 
limitation, unreasonable and unforeseeable delay in the issuance of permits or approvals by 
governmental authorities that are required for the services); (4) strikes and other organized labor 
action occurring at the site and the effects thereof on the services, only to the extent such strikes 
and other organized labor action are beyond the control of Consultant and its subcontractors, and 
to the extent the effects thereof cannot be avoided by use of replacement workers; and (5) 
pandemics, epidemics or quarantine restrictions. For purposes of this section, “orders of 
governmental authorities,” includes ordinances, emergency proclamations and orders, rules to 
protect the public health, welfare and safety, and other actions of a public agency applicable to 
the services and Agreement.  

3.3.9.3 Should a Force Majeure Event occur, the non-performing Party 
shall, within a reasonable time of being prevented from performing, give written notice to the other 
Party describing the circumstances preventing continued performance and the efforts being made 
to resume performance of this Agreement.  Force Majeure Events and/or delays, regardless of 
the Party responsible for the delay, shall not entitle Consultant to any additional compensation.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing in this section, the City may still terminate this Agreement in 
accordance with the termination provisions of this Agreement. 

3.3.10 Laws and Regulations; Employee/Labor Certification.   

3.3.10.1 Compliance with Laws.  Consultant shall keep itself fully 
informed of and in compliance with all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations in any 
manner affecting the performance of the Project or the Services, including all Cal/OSHA 
requirements, and shall give all notices required by law.  Consultant shall be liable for all violations 

Page 149

Item 15.



 -5- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

of such laws and regulations in connection with the Services and this Agreement.  All violations 
of such laws and regulations shall be grounds for the City to terminate the Agreement for cause.   

3.3.10.2 Employment Eligibility; Consultant.  Consultant certifies that it 
fully complies with all requirements and restrictions of state and federal law respecting the 
employment of undocumented aliens, including, but not limited to, the Immigration Reform and 
Control Act of 1986, as may be amended from time to time and shall require all subconsultants 
and sub-subconsultants to comply with the same.  Consultant certifies that it has not committed 
a violation of any such law within the five (5) years immediately preceding the date of execution 
of this Agreement, and shall not violate any such law at any time during the term of the Agreement. 

3.3.10.3 Equal Opportunity Employment.  Consultant represents that it is 
an equal opportunity employer and it shall not discriminate against any subconsultant, employee 
or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, handicap, ancestry, 
sex or age.  Such non-discrimination shall include, but not be limited to, all activities related to 
initial employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 
termination.  Consultant shall also comply with all relevant provisions of City's Minority Business 
Enterprise program, Affirmative Action Plan or other related programs or guidelines currently in 
effect or hereinafter enacted. 

3.3.10.4 Air Quality.  To the extent applicable, Consultant must fully 
comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in furnishing or using equipment and/or 
providing services, including, but not limited to, emissions limits and permitting requirements 
imposed by the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) and/or California Air 
Resources Board (CARB).  Consultant shall indemnify City against any fines or penalties imposed 
by SCAQMD, CARB, or any other governmental or regulatory agency for violations of applicable 
laws, rules and/or regulations by Consultant, its subconsultants, or others for whom Consultant is 
responsible under its indemnity obligations provided for in this Agreement. 

3.3.10.5 Water Quality Management and Compliance.  Consultant shall 
keep itself and all subcontractors, staff, and employees fully informed of and in compliance with 
all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations that may impact, or be implicated by the 
performance of the Services including, without limitation, all applicable provisions of the City’s 
ordinances regulating water quality and storm water; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 
U.S.C. § 1251, et seq.); the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act (Water Code 
§ 13000 et seq.); and any and all regulations, policies, or permits issued pursuant to any such 
authority.  Consultant must additionally comply with the lawful requirements of the City, and any 
other municipality, drainage district, or other local agency with jurisdiction over the location where 
the Services are to be conducted, regulating water quality and storm water discharges.  City may 
seek damages from Consultant for delay in completing the Services caused by Consultant’s 
failure to comply with the laws, regulations and policies described in this Section, or any other 
relevant water quality law, regulation, or policy. 

3.3.10.6 Safety.  Consultant shall execute and maintain its work so as to 
avoid injury or damage to any person or property.  In carrying out its Services, the Consultant 
shall at all times be in compliance with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations, and shall exercise all necessary precautions for the safety of employees appropriate 
to the nature of the work and the conditions under which the work is to be performed.   

3.3.11 Insurance.  

Page 150

Item 15.



 -6- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

3.3.11.1 Time for Compliance.  Consultant shall not commence work 
under this Agreement until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that it has secured all 
insurance required under this section. In addition, Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that the 
subconsultant has secured all insurance required under this section.  Failure to provide and 
maintain all required insurance shall be grounds for the City to terminate this Agreement for cause. 

3.3.11.2 Types of Insurance Required.  As a condition precedent to the 
effectiveness of this Agreement for work to be performed hereunder, and without limiting the 
indemnity provisions of the Agreement, the Consultant, in partial performance of its obligations 
under such Agreement, shall procure and maintain in full force and effect during the term of the 
Agreement the following policies of insurance.  If the existing policies do not meet the insurance 
requirements set forth herein, Consultant agrees to amend, supplement or endorse the policies 
to do so. 

(A) Commercial General Liability:  Commercial General Liability 
Insurance which affords coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office "occurrence" 
form CG 00 01, or the exact equivalent, with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence 
and no less than $2,000,000 in the general aggregate.  Defense costs shall be paid in addition to 
the limits.  The policy shall contain no endorsements or provisions (1) limiting coverage for 
contractual liability; (2) excluding coverage for claims or suits by one insured against another 
(cross-liability); (3) products/completed operations liability; or (4) containing any other 
exclusion(s) contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement. 

(B) Automobile Liability Insurance:  Automobile Liability 
Insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office Form CA 00 01 covering 
"Any Auto" (Symbol 1), or the exact equivalent, covering bodily injury and property damage for all 
activities with limits of not less than $1,000,000 combined limit for each occurrence.   

(C) Workers' Compensation:  Workers' Compensation 
Insurance, as required by the State of California and Employer's Liability Insurance with a limit of 
not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and disease. 

(D) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions):  Professional 
Liability insurance or Errors & Omissions insurance appropriate to Consultant’s profession with 
limits of not less than $1,000,000.  Covered professional services shall specifically include all 
work to be performed under the Agreement and delete any exclusions that may potentially affect 
the work to be performed (for example, any exclusions relating to lead, asbestos, pollution, 
testing, underground storage tanks, laboratory analysis, soil work, etc.).  If coverage is written on 
a claims-made basis, the retroactive date shall precede the effective date of the initial Agreement 
and continuous coverage will be maintained or an extended reporting period will be exercised for 
a period of at least five (5) years from termination or expiration of this Agreement.    

3.3.11.3 Insurance Endorsements.  Required insurance policies shall 
contain the following provisions, or Consultant shall provide endorsements on forms approved by 
the City to add the following provisions to the insurance policies: 

(A) Commercial General Liability: (1) Additional Insured:  The 
City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds with 
regard to liability and defense of suits or claims arising out of the performance of the Agreement.  

Page 151

Item 15.



 -7- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

Additional Insured Endorsements shall not (1) be restricted to "ongoing operations"; (2) exclude 
"contractual liability"; (3) restrict coverage to "sole" liability of Consultant; or (4) contain any other 
exclusions contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement.  For all policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance, Consultant shall provide endorsements in the form of ISO CG 20 10 
10 01 and 20 37 10 01 (or endorsements providing the exact same coverage) to effectuate this 
requirement. (2) Cancellation:  Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage 
reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except 
ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment of premium. 

(B) Automobile Liability.  (1) Cancellation:  Required insurance 
policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of 
cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment 
of premium.  

(C) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions): (1) Cancellation:  
Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day 
written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed 
for non-payment of premium.  (2) Contractual Liability Exclusion Deleted:  This insurance shall 
include contractual liability applicable to this Agreement.  The policy must “pay on behalf of” the 
insured and include a provision establishing the insurer’s duty to defend. 

(D) Workers' Compensation: (1) Cancellation:  Required 
insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written 
notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for 
non-payment of premium.  (2) Waiver of Subrogation:  A waiver of subrogation stating that the 
insurer waives all rights of subrogation against the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and volunteers. 

3.3.11.4 Primary and Non-Contributing Insurance.  All policies of 
Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability insurance shall be primary and any other 
insurance, deductible, or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, or volunteers shall not contribute with this primary insurance.  Policies shall contain or be 
endorsed to contain such provisions. 

3.3.11.5 Waiver of Subrogation.  All required insurance coverages, 
except for the professional liability coverage, shall contain or be endorsed to waiver of subrogation 
in favor of the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers or shall specifically 
allow Consultant or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications 
to waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of recovery 
against City, and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance clauses from each 
of its subconsultants. 

3.3.11.6 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductible or self-
insured retention must be approved in writing by the City and shall protect the City, its officials, 
officers, employees, agents, and volunteers in the same manner and to the same extent as they 
would have been protected had the policy or policies not contained a deductible or self-insured 
retention. 

3.3.11.7 Evidence of Insurance.  The Consultant, concurrently with the 
execution of the Agreement, and as a condition precedent to the effectiveness thereof, shall 

Page 152

Item 15.



 -8- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

deliver either certified copies of the required policies, or original certificates on forms approved by 
the City, together with all endorsements affecting each policy.  Required insurance policies shall 
not be in compliance if they include any limiting provision or endorsement that has not been 
submitted to the City for approval.  The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy 
shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.  At least 
fifteen (15 days) prior to the expiration of any such policy, evidence of insurance showing that 
such insurance coverage has been renewed or extended shall be filed with the City.  If such 
coverage is cancelled or reduced and not replaced immediately so as to avoid a lapse in the 
required coverage, Consultant shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of such 
cancellation or reduction of coverage, file with the City evidence of insurance showing that the 
required insurance has been reinstated or has been provided through another insurance company 
or companies. 

3.3.11.8 Acceptability of Insurers.  Each such policy shall be from a 
company or companies with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A:VII and authorized to 
transact business of insurance in the State of California, or otherwise allowed to place insurance 
through surplus line brokers under applicable provisions of the California Insurance Code or any 
federal law. 

3.3.11.9 Enforcement of Agreement Provisions (non estoppel).  
Consultant acknowledges and agrees that actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to inform 
Consultant of non-compliance with any requirement imposes no additional obligation on the City 
nor does it waive any rights hereunder. 

3.3.11.10 Requirements Not Limiting.  Requirement of specific coverage 
or minimum limits contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits, or 
other requirement, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. 

3.3.11.11 Additional Insurance Provisions 

(A) The foregoing requirements as to the types and limits of 
insurance coverage to be maintained by Consultant, and any approval of said insurance by the 
City, is not intended to and shall not in any manner limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations 
otherwise assumed by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to, the 
provisions concerning indemnification. 

(B) If at any time during the life of the Agreement, any policy of 
insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled 
and not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary 
and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Consultant or City will withhold 
amounts sufficient to pay premium from Consultant payments. In the alternative, City may cancel 
this Agreement. 

(C) The City may require the Consultant to provide complete 
copies of all insurance policies in effect for the duration of the Project. 

(D) Neither the City nor any of its officials, officers, employees, 
agents or volunteers shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or by virtue of 
this Agreement. 

Page 153

Item 15.



 -9- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

(E) The limits set forth herein shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom claims are made or suits are brought, except with respect to the limits of 
liability.  Further the limits set forth herein shall not be construed to relieve the Consultant from 
liability in excess of such coverage, nor shall it limit the Consultant’s indemnification obligations 
to the City and shall not preclude the City from taking such other actions available to the City 
under other provisions of the Agreement or law. 

(F) Consultant shall report to the City, in addition to Consultant’s 
insurer, any and all insurance claims submitted by Consultant in connection with the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.3.11.12 Insurance for Subconsultants.  Consultant shall include all 
subconsultants engaged in any work for Consultant relating to this Agreement as additional 
insureds under the Consultant's policies, or the Consultant shall be responsible for causing 
subconsultants to purchase the appropriate insurance in compliance with the terms of these 
Insurance Requirements, including adding the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers as additional insureds to the subconsultant's policies.  All policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance provided by Consultant’s subconsultants performing work relating to 
this Agreement shall be endorsed to name the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents and 
volunteers as additional insureds using endorsement form ISO CG 20 38 04 13 or an 
endorsement providing equivalent coverage.  Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract relating to this Agreement until it has received satisfactory 
evidence of subconsultant’s compliance with all insurance requirements under this Agreement, to 
the extent applicable.  The Consultant shall provide satisfactory evidence of compliance with this 
section upon request of the City. 

3.4 Labor Code Requirements. 

3.4.1 Prevailing Wages.  Consultant is aware of the requirements of California 
Labor Code Section 1720, et seq., and 1770, et seq., as well as California Code of Regulations, 
Title 8, Section 16000, et seq., ("Prevailing Wage Laws"), which require the payment of prevailing 
wage rates and the performance of other requirements on "public works" and "maintenance" 
projects.  If the Services are being performed as part of an applicable "public works" or 
"maintenance" project, as defined by the Prevailing Wage Laws, and if the total compensation is 
$1,000 or more, Consultant agrees to fully comply with such Prevailing Wage Laws.  City shall 
provide Consultant with a copy of the prevailing rates of per diem wages in effect at the 
commencement of this Agreement.  Consultant shall make copies of the prevailing rates of per 
diem wages for each craft, classification or type of worker needed to execute the Services 
available to interested parties upon request, and shall post copies at the Consultant's principal 
place of business and at the project site.  It is the intent of the parties to effectuate the 
requirements of sections 1771, 1774, 1775, 1776, 1777.5, 1813, and 1815 of the Labor Code 
within this Agreement, and Consultant shall therefore comply with such Labor Code sections to 
the fullest extent required by law.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its 
officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers free and harmless from any claim or liability 
arising out of any failure or alleged failure to comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws. 

3.4.2 Registration/DIR Compliance.  If the Services are being performed on a 
public works project of over $25,000 when the project is for construction, alteration, demolition, 
installation, or repair work, or a public works project of over $15,000 when the project is for 
maintenance work, in addition to the foregoing, then pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 

Page 154

Item 15.



 -10- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

1771.1, the Consultant and all subconsultants must be registered with the Department of 
Industrial Relations (“DIR”).  Consultant shall maintain registration for the duration of the Project 
and require the same of any subconsultants.   

3.4.3 Compliance Monitoring. This Project may also be subject to compliance 
monitoring and enforcement by the DIR.  It shall be Consultant’s sole responsibility to comply with 
all applicable registration and labor compliance requirements, including the submission of payroll 
records directly to the DIR.  Any stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant or any 
subconsultant that affect Consultant’s performance of services, including any delay, shall be 
Consultant’s sole responsibility.  Any delay arising out of or resulting from such stop orders shall 
be considered Consultant caused delay and shall not be compensable by the City.  Consultant 
shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees and agents free and 
harmless from any claim or liability arising out of stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant 
or any subconsultant. 

3.4.4 Labor Certification.  By its signature hereunder, Consultant certifies that it 
is aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor Code which require every 
employer to be insured against liability for Worker's Compensation or to undertake self-insurance 
in accordance with the provisions of that Code, and agrees to comply with such provisions before 
commencing the performance of the Services. 

3.5 Termination of Agreement. 

3.5.1.1 Grounds for Termination.  City may, by written notice to 
Consultant, terminate the whole or any part of this Agreement at any time and without cause by 
giving written notice to Consultant of such termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, 
at least seven (7) days before the effective date of such termination.  Upon termination, Consultant 
shall be compensated only for those Services which have been adequately rendered to City, and 
Consultant shall be entitled to no further compensation.  Consultant may not terminate this 
Agreement except for cause.  The rights and remedies of the City provided in this section shall 
not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law, equity or 
under this Agreement. 

3.5.1.2 Effect of Termination.  If this Agreement is terminated as 
provided herein, City may require Consultant to provide all finished or unfinished Documents and 
Data and other information of any kind prepared by Consultant in connection with the performance 
of Services under this Agreement.  Consultant shall be required to provide such document and 
other information within fifteen (15) days of the request. 

3.5.1.3 Additional Services.  In the event this Agreement is terminated 
in whole or in part as provided herein, City may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as 
it may determine appropriate, services similar to those terminated. 

3.6 Indemnification.  

3.6.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall defend (with counsel 
of City’s choosing), indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, and 
agents free and harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, 
liability, loss, damage or injury of any kind, in law or equity, to property or persons, including 
wrongful death,  in any manner arising out of, pertaining to, or incident to any acts, errors or 

Page 155

Item 15.



 -11- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

omissions, or willful misconduct of Consultant, its officials, officers, employees, subcontractors, 
consultants or agents in connection with the performance of the Consultant’s Services, the Project 
or this Agreement, including without limitation the payment of all damages, expert witness fees 
and attorney’s fees and other related costs and expenses except such loss or damage caused by 
the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the City.  Consultant's obligation to indemnify shall 
survive expiration or termination of this Agreement and shall not be restricted to insurance 
proceeds, if any, received by Consultant, the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, or 
volunteers. 

3.6.2 If Consultant’s obligation to defend, indemnify, and/or hold harmless arises 
out of Consultant’s performance as a “design professional” (as that term is defined under Civil 
Code section 2782.8), then, and only to the extent required by Civil Code section 2782.8, which 
is fully incorporated herein, Consultant’s indemnification obligation shall be limited to claims that 
arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the 
Consultant, and, upon Consultant obtaining a final adjudication by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, Consultant’s liability for such claim, including the cost to defend, shall not exceed the 
Consultant’s proportionate percentage of fault. 

3.7 General Provisions. 

3.7.1 Accounting Records.  Consultant shall maintain complete and accurate 
records with respect to all costs and expenses incurred under this Agreement.  All such records 
shall be clearly identifiable.  Consultant shall allow a representative of City during normal business 
hours to examine, audit, and make transcripts or copies of such records and any other documents 
created pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant shall allow inspection of all work, data, 
documents, proceedings, and activities related to the Agreement for a period of three (3) years 
from the date of final payment under this Agreement. 

3.7.2 Independent Contractors and Subcontracting. 

3.7.2.1 Use of Consultants.  Consultant is aware of statutory and case 
law regarding classification of workers as independent contractors, including California Labor 
Code Section 2750.3 and Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court, 4 Cal. 5th 903 
(2018).  To ensure that Consultant is in compliance with the California Labor Code, Consultant 
shall only utilize its employees to provide the Services.  Consultant may not provide the services 
through any independent contractor, subcontractor or subconsultant (“Subcontractor(s)”) unless 
approved by the City as set forth in Section 3.7.2.2 below.  Consultant represents and warrants 
that all personnel who perform the Services on Consultant’s behalf are Consultant’s employees, 
and that Consultant complies with all applicable laws, rules and regulations governing its 
employees, including, but not limited to, the California Labor Code, Unemployment Insurance 
Code and all applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders.   

3.7.2.2 Prior Approval Required.  Consultant shall not use any 
Subcontractor to provide the Services, or any portion of the work required by this Agreement, 
without prior written approval of City.  In the event that City authorizes Consultant to use a 
Subcontractor, Consultant shall enter into a written agreement with the Subcontractor, which must 
include all provisions of the Agreement, including a restriction on the Subcontractor’s use of 
further independent contractors, subcontractors or subconsultants without the City’s prior written 
consent. 

Page 156

Item 15.



 -12- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

3.7.3 Delivery of Notices.  All notices permitted or required under this Agreement 
shall be given to the respective parties at the following address, or at such other address as the 
respective parties may provide in writing for this purpose: 

Consultant: BFK Architecture + Planning 
215 N Marenga Avenue, Suite 250 
Pasadena, CA 91101 
ATTN:  Brian Knight, President + CEO 

 
City: City of Coachella  

53990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
ATTN:  Dr. Gabriel D. Martin, City Manager 

 
Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed, forty-eight (48) 
hours after deposit in the U.S.  Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to the party at its 
applicable address.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the date actual notice 
occurred, regardless of the method of service. 

3.7.4 Ownership of Materials and Confidentiality. 

3.7.4.1 Documents & Data; Licensing of Intellectual Property.  This 
Agreement creates a non-exclusive and perpetual license for City to copy, use, modify, reuse, or 
sublicense any and all copyrights, designs, and other intellectual property embodied in plans, 
specifications, studies, drawings, estimates, and other documents or works of authorship fixed in 
any tangible medium of expression, including but not limited to, physical drawings or data 
magnetically or otherwise recorded on computer diskettes, which are prepared or caused to be 
prepared by Consultant under this Agreement ("Documents & Data").  All Documents & Data shall 
be and remain the property of City, and shall not be used in whole or in substantial part by 
Consultant on other projects without the City’s express written permission.  Within thirty (30) days 
following the completion, suspension, abandonment or termination of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide to City reproducible copies of all Documents & Data, in a form and amount required 
by City.  City reserves the right to select the method of document reproduction and to establish 
where the reproduction will be accomplished.  The reproduction expense shall be borne by City 
at the actual cost of duplication.  In the event of a dispute regarding the amount of compensation 
to which the Consultant is entitled under the termination provisions of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide all Documents & Data to City upon payment of the undisputed amount.  Consultant 
shall have no right to retain or fail to provide to City any such documents pending resolution of 
the dispute.  In addition, Consultant shall retain copies of all Documents & Data on file for a 
minimum of fifteen (15) years following completion of the Project, and shall make copies available 
to City upon the payment of actual reasonable duplication costs.  Before destroying the 
Documents & Data following this retention period, Consultant shall make a reasonable effort to 
notify City and provide City with the opportunity to obtain the documents. 

3.7.4.2 Subconsultants.  Consultant shall require all subconsultants to 
agree in writing that City is granted a non-exclusive and perpetual license for any Documents & 
Data the subconsultant prepares under this Agreement.  Consultant represents and warrants that 
Consultant has the legal right to license any and all Documents & Data.  Consultant makes no 
such representation and warranty in regard to Documents & Data which were prepared by design 

Page 157

Item 15.



 -13- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

professionals other than Consultant or its subconsultants, or those provided to Consultant by the 
City. 

3.7.4.3 Right to Use.  City shall not be limited in any way in its use or 
reuse of the Documents and Data or any part of them at any time for purposes of this Project or 
another project, provided that any such use not within the purposes intended by this Agreement 
or on a project other than this Project without employing the services of Consultant shall be at 
City’s sole risk. If City uses or reuses the Documents & Data on any project other than this Project, 
it shall remove the Consultant’s seal from the Documents & Data and indemnify and hold harmless 
Consultant and its officers, directors, agents and employees from claims arising out of the 
negligent use or re-use of the Documents & Data on such other project.  Consultant shall be 
responsible and liable for its Documents & Data, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, only 
with respect to the condition of the Documents & Data at the time they are provided to the City 
upon completion, suspension, abandonment or termination.  Consultant shall not be responsible 
or liable for any revisions to the Documents & Data made by any party other than Consultant, a 
party for whom the Consultant is legally responsible or liable, or anyone approved by the 
Consultant. 

3.7.4.4 Indemnification.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the 
City, its directors, officials, officers, employees, volunteers and agents free and harmless, 
pursuant to the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, for any alleged infringement of any 
patent, copyright, trade secret, trade name, trademark, or any other proprietary right of any person 
or entity in consequence of the use on the Project by City of the Documents & Data, including any 
method, process, product, or concept specified or depicted. 

3.7.4.5 Confidentiality.  All ideas, memoranda, specifications, plans, 
procedures, drawings, descriptions, computer program data, input record data, written 
information, and other Documents & Data either created by or provided to Consultant in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be held confidential by Consultant.  Such 
materials shall not, without the prior written consent of City, be used by Consultant for any 
purposes other than the performance of the Services.  Nor shall such materials be disclosed to 
any person or entity not connected with the performance of the Services or the Project.  Nothing 
furnished to Consultant which is otherwise known to Consultant or is generally known, or has 
become known, to the related industry shall be deemed confidential.  Consultant shall not use 
City's name or insignia, photographs of the Project, or any publicity pertaining to the Services or 
the Project in any magazine, trade paper, newspaper, television or radio production or other 
similar medium without the prior written consent of City. 

3.7.4.6 Confidential Information.  The City shall refrain from releasing 
Consultant’s proprietary information ("Proprietary Information") unless the City's legal counsel 
determines that the release of the Proprietary Information is required by the California Public 
Records Act or other applicable state or federal law, or order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
in which case the City shall notify Consultant of its intention to release Proprietary Information.  
Consultant shall have five (5) working days after receipt of the release notice to give City written 
notice of Consultant's objection to the City's release of Proprietary Information.  Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, and its officers, directors, employees, and agents 
from and against all liability, loss, cost or expense (including attorney’s fees) arising out of a legal 
action brought to compel the release of Proprietary Information.  City shall not release the 
Proprietary Information after receipt of an objection notice unless either:  (1) Consultant fails to 
fully indemnify, defend (with City's choice of legal counsel), and hold City harmless from any legal 

Page 158

Item 15.



 -14- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

action brought to compel such release; and/or (2) a final and non-appealable order by a court of 
competent jurisdiction requires that City release such information. 

3.7.5 Cooperation; Further Acts.  The Parties shall fully cooperate with one 
another, and shall take any additional acts or sign any additional documents as may be necessary, 
appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this Agreement. 

3.7.6 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the 
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
understandings or agreements.   

3.7.7 Attorneys’ Fees.  If either party commences an action against the other 
party, either legal, administrative or otherwise, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, 
the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to have and recover from the losing party 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and all costs of such action. 

3.7.8 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of California.  Venue shall be in Riverside County.  In addition to any and all contract requirements 
pertaining to notices of and requests for compensation or payment for extra work, disputed work, 
claims and/or changed conditions, Consultant must comply with the claim procedures set forth in 
Government Code sections 900 et seq. prior to filing any lawsuit against the City.  Such 
Government Code claims and any subsequent lawsuit based upon the Government Code claims 
shall be limited to those matters that remain unresolved after all procedures pertaining to extra 
work, disputed work, claims, and/or changed conditions have been followed by Consultant.  If no 
such Government Code claim is submitted, or if any prerequisite contractual requirements are not 
otherwise satisfied as specified herein, Consultant shall be barred from bringing and maintaining 
a valid lawsuit against the City. 

3.7.9 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for each and every provision of 
this Agreement. 

3.7.10 City's Right to Employ Other Consultants.  City reserves right to employ 
other consultants in connection with this Project. 

3.7.11 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the 
successors and assigns of the parties. 

3.7.12 Assignment or Transfer.  Consultant shall not assign, sublet, or transfer this 
Agreement or any rights under or interest in this Agreement without the written consent of the 
City, which may be withheld for any reason.  Any attempt to so assign or so transfer without such 
consent shall be void and without legal effect and shall constitute grounds for termination.  
Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the Services required by this Agreement, except 
as expressly stated herein, without prior written approval of City.  Subcontracts, if any, shall 
contain a provision making them subject to all provisions stipulated in this Agreement. 

3.7.13 Construction; References; Captions.  Since the Parties or their agents have 
participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be 
construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any Party.  Any term 
referencing time, days or period for performance shall be deemed calendar days and not work 
days.  All references to Consultant include all personnel, employees, agents, and subconsultants 

Page 159

Item 15.



 -15- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

of Consultant, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.  All references to City include its 
elected officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers except as otherwise specified in this 
Agreement.  The captions of the various articles and paragraphs are for convenience and ease 
of reference only, and do not define, limit, augment, or describe the scope, content, or intent of 
this Agreement. 

3.7.14 Amendment; Modification.  No supplement, modification, or amendment of 
this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by both Parties. 

3.7.15 Waiver.  No waiver of any default shall constitute a waiver of any other 
default or breach, whether of the same or other covenant or condition.  No waiver, benefit, 
privilege, or service voluntarily given or performed by a Party shall give the other Party any 
contractual rights by custom, estoppel, or otherwise. 

3.7.16 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third party 
beneficiaries of any right or obligation assumed by the Parties. 

3.7.17 Invalidity; Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared invalid, 
illegal, or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

3.7.18 Prohibited Interests.  Consultant maintains and warrants that it has not 
employed nor retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely 
for Consultant, to solicit or secure this Agreement.  Consultant warrants that it has not paid nor 
has it agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for 
Consultant, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or other consideration 
contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement.  Consultant further 
agrees to file, or shall cause its employees or subconsultants to file, a Statement of Economic 
Interest with the City’s Filing Officer as required under state law in the performance of the 
Services.  For breach or violation of this warranty, City shall have the right to rescind this 
Agreement without liability.  For the term of this Agreement, no member, officer or employee of 
City, during the term of his or her service with City, shall have any direct interest in this Agreement, 
or obtain any present or anticipated material benefit arising therefrom.  

3.7.19 Authority to Enter Agreement.  Consultant has all requisite power and 
authority to conduct its business and to execute, deliver, and perform the Agreement.  Each Party 
warrants that the individuals who have signed this Agreement have the legal power, right, and 
authority to make this Agreement and bind each respective Party. 

3.7.20 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original. 

3.7.21 Survival.  All rights and obligations hereunder that by their nature are to 
continue after any expiration or termination of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 
indemnification obligations, shall survive any such expiration or termination. 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

 
  

Page 160

Item 15.



 -16- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF COACHELLA AND  

BFK ARCHITECTURE + PLANNING 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed on the day 

and year first above written. 

 

 

CITY OF COACHELLA BFK ARCHITECTURE + PLANNING 

 

By: 

 

Its:  

Printed Name:  

 

 

 

Approved By: 

  
GABRIEL D. MARTIN, PHD 
CITY MANAGER 

 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Best Best & Krieger LLP 
City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
Attested By: 
 
 
 
 
 _______________________________ 
City Clerk 

 

Page 161

Item 15.



 Exhibit “A”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "A" 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

As envisioned, the selected design firms will provide design, contract administration 
and/or other architectural services for façade projects that the City of Coachella has 
either approved or approved with conditions for grant funding. The façade projects may 
consist of the improvement of business facades and the replacement of deteriorated or 

poor‐quality exterior façade, including but not limited to doors, windows, sidings, 
awnings, and commercial signs. The programs are managed through the effort of the 
City of Coachella’s Economic Development Department. In general, the following 
process is envisioned: 

 
1. The project applicant applies for grant funding. 

 
2. Upon request by the City, the design firm will work with Development Services and 

Economic Development Department staff to review proposed plan to ensure it meets 
City program goals and objectives, and to make recommendations about any 
refinements to the project scope. After a review of the project to determine eligibility, the 
City may approve the project, partially approve the project, or approve the project with 
conditions. At this time the City will also set the grant amount. 

 
3. If the City determines that the project scope is promising but is in need of refinement, 

clarification, or minor changes, the City may assign one of the selected design firms to 
provide technical assistance to the project applicant. 

 
4. The design firm will meet with the business owner to review their business needs, 

objectives, and project scope, and will provide design services, guidance, and technical 
assistance to help improve the project scope, ensure that it meets the City’s program 
requirements, and has a well-defined scope and design to improve the chance of 
obtaining accurate, reasonable bids from vendors. 

 
5. If additional design services are desired by the project applicant, they will negotiate 

independently with the design firm. 
 

6. Architectural design services related to the pre‐construction aspects of the projects. 
 

 

 

Page 162

Item 15.



 Exhibit “B”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "B" 
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 

 

October 1, 2024 – September 30, 2025 

 

Page 163

Item 15.



 Exhibit “C”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

 

EXHIBIT "C" 
COMPENSATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Architect and his consultant team’s professional liability for all services rendered under this 
agreement shall be limited to an amount not to exceed the architect’s total fee or $50,000 
whichever is less. 

Page 164

Item 15.



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Dr. Gabriel Martin, City Manager 

Ismael Ortiz, Student Intern 

SUBJECT: Authorize the City Manager to Execute Professional Services Agreements with 

Strategic Energy Experts Consulting for Assistance in Providing Greenfield 

Electric Utility and Electric Service for the City Municipal Utility. 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council authorize the City Manager to execute the attached 

Professional Services Agreement with Strategic Energy Experts (S.E.E) Consulting for assistance 

in providing greenfield electric utility and electric service for its newly formed City Municipal 

Utility (CMU). 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The City has a goal to begin serving electricity to its two EDZs and ultimately the entire CMU. 

The seemingly easiest and most efficient way to achieve this goal is to phase the City into the 

electric utility business via setting up a “greenfield” electric utility to serve primarily the EDZs 

(Phase 1), then later expanding the City’s electric utility footprint to the City’s entire CMU (Phase 

2). SEE proposes to be the Project Manager for these undertakings. This phase-in plan is described 

in more detail below. 

On June 12, 2024 (Item 32), the City Council authorized staff to create a Request for Proposals 

(RFP) for a public-private partnership for implementing the City’s municipal electric utility per 

the feasibility study conducted by GDS.  

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

California regulation provides for a municipality to offer electrical service in undeveloped areas 

where there is little incumbent electric utility equipment. These new municipal electric utility 

entities are called “greenfield” utilities. The City’s General Plan (GP) divides the City into 

planning zones (Subareas) and provides zoning development information along with the amount 

of undeveloped land.  

Page 165

Item 16.



Subareas 7 and 10 each contain an EDZ. These two Subareas are prime locations for the City to 

initiate Phase 1 of its greenfield electric utility as both Subareas 7 and 10 have large amounts of 

undeveloped land and little incumbent electric utility facilities. This undeveloped land could be 

used for new warehouse space, industrial development, commercial applications and other retail 

purposes. Based upon the aforementioned scope of services and standard billing rates, we estimate 

the labor budget for this Project as follows: 

Task Fee 
Phase 1-Supervision and Management  

 Finalize Greenfield Utility Paperwork $  5,000 

 Analysis of Existing IID Transmission Capacity and Determine 
Process for Obtaining 

$  5,000 

 Define Harrison/Polk Substation Timing, Location and Cost $  5,000 

 Determine Best Power Supply Option for Phase 1 $  5,000 

 RFP for turnkey developer/operator     
Phase 1 subtotal                                                                                               

$  5,000 
                       $ 25,000                                                                                                                      

Phase 2-Supervision and Management  

 Determine Best Power Supply Options for Phase 2 $  5,000 

 Define new 230 kV Transmission Timing, Location and Cost, 
and Determine Feasibility of SCE Interconnection 

$  5,000 

 Phase 2 Proforma $  5,000 

General-Supervision and Management  

 Review west Riverside Munis $  3,000 

 Verify CMU Map $  3,000 

 LAFCO Paperwork $  5,000 

 Confirm 1934 Compromise Agreement Boundaries $  3,000 

 Develop Financial Plan $  5,000 

  

 TOTAL $59,000 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Continue this item and provide staff direction.  

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

The fiscal impact of this action would immediately be $59,000 and would require an appropriation 

from the General Fund (Fund 101). 

 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

   

1. Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with Strategic Energy Experts for on-call utility 

services 

 

2. Proposal – Strategic Energy Experts Consulting 

Page 166

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -1- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

CITY OF COACHELLA 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

FOR ON-CALL SERVICES  
 

1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This Agreement is made and entered into this 25th day of September, 2024, by and 
between the City of Coachella, a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of 
California with its principal place of business at 1515 6th Street, Coachella, California 92236, 
County of Riverside, State of California ("City") and Strategic Energy Experts with its principal 
place of business at 7002 Soundview Drive, Gig Harbor, Washington (Consultant).  City and 
Consultant are sometimes individually referred to herein as "Party" and collectively as "Parties." 

2. RECITALS. 

2.1 Consultant. 

Consultant desires to perform and assume responsibility for the provision of certain 
professional services required by the City on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.  
Consultant represents that it is experienced in providing energy infrastructure, community 
outreach and engagement services to public clients, is licensed in the State of California, and is 
familiar with the plans of City. 

2.2 Project. 

City desires to engage Consultant to render such professional services for the current 
planning project management, long range planning and fiscal analysis projects ("Project") as set 
forth in this Agreement. 

3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

3.1.1 General Scope of Services.  Consultant promises and agrees to furnish to 
the City all labor, materials, tools, equipment, services, and incidental and customary work 
necessary to fully and adequately supply the professional marketing and outreach consulting 
services necessary for the Project described in Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference (“Services”).  The Services shall be more particularly described in the 
individual Task Order issued by the City or its designee.  No Services shall be performed unless 
authorized by a fully executed Task Order in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “B”.  All Services 
shall be subject to, and performed in accordance with, this Agreement, each Task Order, the 
exhibits attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, and all applicable local, state and 
federal laws, rules and regulations.   

3.1.2 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from September 16, 2024 to 
September 16, 2026, unless earlier terminated as provided herein.  The Parties may, by mutual, 
written consent, extend the term of this Agreement if necessary to complete the Services. 

Page 167

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -2- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

3.2 Compensation. 

3.2.1 Compensation.  Consultant shall receive compensation, including 
authorized reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement in the amount of 
Fifty-nine thousand dollars ($59,000).  The maximum compensation for Services to be provided 
pursuant to each Task Order shall be set forth in the relevant Task Order.  Extra Work may be 
authorized, as described below, and if authorized, will be compensated at the rates and manner 
set forth in this Agreement. 

3.2.2 Payment of Compensation.  Consultant shall submit to City a monthly 
invoice which indicates work completed and hours of Services rendered by Consultant.  The 
invoice shall describe the amount of Services provided since the initial commencement date, or 
since the start of the subsequent billing periods, as appropriate, through the date of the invoice.  
City shall, within 30 days of receiving such invoice, review the invoice and pay all non-disputed 
and approved charges.  If the City disputes any of Consultant's fees, the City shall give written 
notice to Consultant within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice of any disputed fees set forth 
therein.  Payment shall not constitute acceptance of any Services completed by Consultant.  The 
making of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims by the City for any reason 
whatsoever. 

3.2.3 Reimbursement for Expenses.  Consultant shall not be reimbursed for any 
expenses unless authorized in writing by City, or included in Exhibit "C" of this Agreement. 

3.2.4 Extra Work.  At any time during the term of this Agreement, City may 
request that Consultant perform Extra Work.  As used herein, "Extra Work" means any work which 
is determined by City to be necessary for the proper completion of the Project, but which the 
Parties did not reasonably anticipate would be necessary at the execution of this Agreement.  
Consultant shall not perform, nor be compensated for, Extra Work without written authorization 
from the City.  

3.3 Responsibilities of Consultant. 

3.3.1 Independent Contractor; Control and Payment of Subordinates.  The 
Services shall be performed by Consultant or under its supervision.  Consultant will determine the 
means, methods and details of performing the Services subject to the requirements of this 
Agreement.  City retains Consultant on an independent contractor basis and not as an employee.  
Any personnel performing the Services on behalf of Consultant shall not be employees of City 
and shall at all times be under Consultant's exclusive direction and control.  Neither City, or any 
of its officials, officers, directors, employees or agents shall have control over the conduct of 
Consultant or any of Consultants officers, employees or agents, except as set forth in this 
Agreement.  Consultant shall pay all wages, salaries, and other amounts due such personnel in 
connection with their performance of Services under this Agreement and as required by law.  
Consultant shall be responsible for all reports and obligations respecting such additional 
personnel, including, but not limited to: social security taxes, income tax withholding, 
unemployment insurance, disability insurance, and workers' compensation insurance. 

3.3.2 Schedule of Services.  Consultant shall perform the Services in a prompt 
and timely manner.  Consultant shall complete the Services within the term of this Agreement, 
and shall meet any other established schedules and deadlines set forth in each individual Task 
Order issued by the City.  Consultant represents that it has the professional and technical 

Page 168

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -3- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

personnel required to perform the Services expeditiously.  Upon request of City, Consultant shall 
provide a more detailed schedule of anticipated performance to meet the established schedules 
and deadlines. 

3.3.3 Conformance to Applicable Requirements.  All work prepared by 
Consultant shall be subject to the approval of City. 

3.3.4 Substitution of Key Personnel.  Consultant has represented to City that 
certain key personnel will perform and coordinate the Services under this Agreement.  Should 
one or more of such personnel become unavailable, Consultant may substitute other personnel 
of at least equal competence upon written approval of City.  In the event that City and Consultant 
cannot agree as to the substitution of key personnel, City shall be entitled to terminate this 
Agreement for cause.  The key personnel for performance of this Agreement are as follows:  

 Gary S. Saleba, Principal 

3.3.5 City's Representative.  The City hereby designates Gabriel Perez, 
Development Services Director, or his/her designee, to act as its representative in all matters 
pertaining to the administration and performance of this Agreement ("City's Representative").  
City's Representative shall have the power to act on behalf of the City for review and approval of 
all products submitted by Consultant but not the authority to enlarge the Scope of Services or 
change the total compensation due to Consultant under this Agreement.  The City Manager shall 
be authorized to act on City's behalf and to execute all necessary documents which enlarge the 
Scope of Services or change the Consultant's total compensation subject to the provisions 
contained in this Agreement.  Consultant shall not accept direction or orders from any person 
other than the City Manager, City's Representative or his/her designee. 

3.3.6 Consultant's Representative.  Consultant hereby designates Gary S. 
Saleba, Principal, or his/her designee, to act as its representative for the performance of this 
Agreement ("Consultant's Representative").  Consultant's Representative shall have full authority 
to represent and act on behalf of the Consultant for all purposes under this Agreement.  The 
Consultant's Representative shall supervise and direct the Services, using his/her best skill and 
attention, and shall be responsible for all means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 
procedures and for the satisfactory coordination of all portions of the Services under this 
Agreement. 

3.3.7 Coordination of Services.  Consultant agrees to work closely with City staff 
in the performance of Services and shall be available to City's staff, consultants and other staff at 
all reasonable times. 

3.3.8 Standard of Care; Performance of Employees.  Consultant shall perform all 
Services under this Agreement in a skillful and competent manner, consistent with the standards 
generally recognized as being employed by professionals in the same discipline in the State of 
California.  Consultant represents and maintains that it is skilled in the professional calling 
necessary to perform the Services.  Consultant warrants that all employees and subconsultants 
shall have sufficient skill and experience to perform the Services assigned to them.  Consultant 
represents that it, its employees and subconsultants have all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatever nature that are legally required to perform the Services, and that such 
licenses and approvals shall be maintained throughout the term of this Agreement.  Consultant 
shall perform, at its own cost and expense and without reimbursement from the City, any services 

Page 169

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -4- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

necessary to correct errors or omissions which are caused by the Consultant's failure to comply 
with the standard of care provided for herein.  Any employee of the Consultant or its 
subconsultants who is determined by the City to be uncooperative, incompetent, a threat to the 
adequate or timely completion of the Project, a threat to the safety of persons or property, or any 
employee who fails or refuses to perform the Services in a manner acceptable to the City, shall 
be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant and shall not be re-employed to perform 
any of the Services or to work on the Project. 

3.3.9 Period of Performance.  

3.3.9.1 Consultant shall perform and complete all Services under this 
Agreement within the term set forth in Section 3.1.2 above (“Performance Time”). Consultant shall 
also perform the Services in strict accordance with any completion schedule or Project milestones 
described in Exhibits “A” or “B” attached hereto, or which may be separately agreed upon in writing 
by the City and Consultant (“Performance Milestones”).  Consultant agrees that if the Services 
are not completed within the aforementioned Performance Time and/or pursuant to any such 
Performance Milestones developed pursuant to provisions of this Agreement, it is understood, 
acknowledged and agreed that the City will suffer damage.   

3.3.9.2 Neither City nor Consultant shall be considered in default of this 
Agreement for delays in performance caused by circumstances beyond the reasonable control of 
the non-performing Party.  For purposes of this Agreement, such circumstances include a Force 
Majeure Event.  A Force Majeure Event shall mean an event that materially affects a Party’s 
performance and is one or more of the following: (1) Acts of God or other natural disasters; (2) 
terrorism or other acts of a public enemy; (3) orders of governmental authorities (including, without 
limitation, unreasonable and unforeseeable delay in the issuance of permits or approvals by 
governmental authorities that are required for the services); (4) strikes and other organized labor 
action occurring at the site and the effects thereof on the services, only to the extent such strikes 
and other organized labor action are beyond the control of Consultant and its subcontractors, and 
to the extent the effects thereof cannot be avoided by use of replacement workers; and (5) 
pandemics, epidemics or quarantine restrictions. For purposes of this section, “orders of 
governmental authorities,” includes ordinances, emergency proclamations and orders, rules to 
protect the public health, welfare and safety, and other actions of a public agency applicable to 
the services and Agreement.  

3.3.9.3 Should a Force Majeure Event occur, the non-performing Party 
shall, within a reasonable time of being prevented from performing, give written notice to the other 
Party describing the circumstances preventing continued performance and the efforts being made 
to resume performance of this Agreement.  Force Majeure Events and/or delays, regardless of 
the Party responsible for the delay, shall not entitle Consultant to any additional compensation.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing in this section, the City may still terminate this Agreement in 
accordance with the termination provisions of this Agreement. 

3.3.10 Laws and Regulations; Employee/Labor Certification.   

3.3.10.1 Compliance with Laws.  Consultant shall keep itself fully 
informed of and in compliance with all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations in any 
manner affecting the performance of the Project or the Services, including all Cal/OSHA 
requirements, and shall give all notices required by law.  Consultant shall be liable for all violations 

Page 170

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -5- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

of such laws and regulations in connection with the Services and this Agreement.  All violations 
of such laws and regulations shall be grounds for the City to terminate the Agreement for cause.   

3.3.10.2 Employment Eligibility; Consultant.  Consultant certifies that it 
fully complies with all requirements and restrictions of state and federal law respecting the 
employment of undocumented aliens, including, but not limited to, the Immigration Reform and 
Control Act of 1986, as may be amended from time to time and shall require all subconsultants 
and sub-subconsultants to comply with the same.  Consultant certifies that it has not committed 
a violation of any such law within the five (5) years immediately preceding the date of execution 
of this Agreement, and shall not violate any such law at any time during the term of the Agreement. 

3.3.10.3 Equal Opportunity Employment.  Consultant represents that it is 
an equal opportunity employer and it shall not discriminate against any subconsultant, employee 
or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, handicap, ancestry, 
sex or age.  Such non-discrimination shall include, but not be limited to, all activities related to 
initial employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 
termination.  Consultant shall also comply with all relevant provisions of City's Minority Business 
Enterprise program, Affirmative Action Plan or other related programs or guidelines currently in 
effect or hereinafter enacted. 

3.3.10.4 Air Quality.  To the extent applicable, Consultant must fully 
comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in furnishing or using equipment and/or 
providing services, including, but not limited to, emissions limits and permitting requirements 
imposed by the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) and/or California Air 
Resources Board (CARB).  Consultant shall indemnify City against any fines or penalties imposed 
by SCAQMD, CARB, or any other governmental or regulatory agency for violations of applicable 
laws, rules and/or regulations by Consultant, its subconsultants, or others for whom Consultant is 
responsible under its indemnity obligations provided for in this Agreement. 

3.3.10.5 Water Quality Management and Compliance.  Consultant shall 
keep itself and all subcontractors, staff, and employees fully informed of and in compliance with 
all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations that may impact, or be implicated by the 
performance of the Services including, without limitation, all applicable provisions of the City’s 
ordinances regulating water quality and storm water; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 
U.S.C. § 1251, et seq.); the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act (Water Code 
§ 13000 et seq.); and any and all regulations, policies, or permits issued pursuant to any such 
authority.  Consultant must additionally comply with the lawful requirements of the City, and any 
other municipality, drainage district, or other local agency with jurisdiction over the location where 
the Services are to be conducted, regulating water quality and storm water discharges.  City may 
seek damages from Consultant for delay in completing the Services caused by Consultant’s 
failure to comply with the laws, regulations and policies described in this Section, or any other 
relevant water quality law, regulation, or policy. 

3.3.10.6 Safety.  Consultant shall execute and maintain its work so as to 
avoid injury or damage to any person or property.  In carrying out its Services, the Consultant 
shall at all times be in compliance with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations, and shall exercise all necessary precautions for the safety of employees appropriate 
to the nature of the work and the conditions under which the work is to be performed.   

3.3.11 Insurance.  

Page 171

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -6- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

3.3.11.1 Time for Compliance.  Consultant shall not commence work 
under this Agreement until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that it has secured all 
insurance required under this section. In addition, Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that the 
subconsultant has secured all insurance required under this section.  Failure to provide and 
maintain all required insurance shall be grounds for the City to terminate this Agreement for cause. 

3.3.11.2 Types of Insurance Required.  As a condition precedent to the 
effectiveness of this Agreement for work to be performed hereunder, and without limiting the 
indemnity provisions of the Agreement, the Consultant, in partial performance of its obligations 
under such Agreement, shall procure and maintain in full force and effect during the term of the 
Agreement the following policies of insurance.  If the existing policies do not meet the insurance 
requirements set forth herein, Consultant agrees to amend, supplement or endorse the policies 
to do so. 

(A) Commercial General Liability:  Commercial General Liability 
Insurance which affords coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office "occurrence" 
form CG 00 01, or the exact equivalent, with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence 
and no less than $2,000,000 in the general aggregate.  Defense costs shall be paid in addition to 
the limits.  The policy shall contain no endorsements or provisions (1) limiting coverage for 
contractual liability; (2) excluding coverage for claims or suits by one insured against another 
(cross-liability); (3) products/completed operations liability; or (4) containing any other 
exclusion(s) contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement. 

(B) Automobile Liability Insurance:  Automobile Liability 
Insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office Form CA 00 01 covering 
"Any Auto" (Symbol 1), or the exact equivalent, covering bodily injury and property damage for all 
activities with limits of not less than $1,000,000 combined limit for each occurrence.   

(C) Workers' Compensation:  Workers' Compensation 
Insurance, as required by the State of California and Employer's Liability Insurance with a limit of 
not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and disease. 

3.3.11.3 Insurance Endorsements.  Required insurance policies shall 
contain the following provisions, or Consultant shall provide endorsements on forms approved by 
the City to add the following provisions to the insurance policies: 

(A) Commercial General Liability: (1) Additional Insured:  The 
City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds with 
regard to liability and defense of suits or claims arising out of the performance of the Agreement.  
Additional Insured Endorsements shall not (1) be restricted to "ongoing operations"; (2) exclude 
"contractual liability"; (3) restrict coverage to "sole" liability of Consultant; or (4) contain any other 
exclusions contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement.  For all policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance, Consultant shall provide endorsements in the form of ISO CG 20 10 
10 01 and 20 37 10 01 (or endorsements providing the exact same coverage) to effectuate this 
requirement. (2) Cancellation:  Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage 
reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except 
ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment of premium. 

Page 172

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -7- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

(B) Automobile Liability.  (1) Cancellation:  Required insurance 
policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of 
cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment 
of premium.  

(C) Workers' Compensation: (1) Cancellation:  Required 
insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written 
notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for 
non-payment of premium.  (2) Waiver of Subrogation:  A waiver of subrogation stating that the 
insurer waives all rights of subrogation against the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and volunteers. 

3.3.11.4 Primary and Non-Contributing Insurance.  All policies of 
Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability insurance shall be primary and any other 
insurance, deductible, or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, or volunteers shall not contribute with this primary insurance.  Policies shall contain or be 
endorsed to contain such provisions. 

3.3.11.5 Waiver of Subrogation.  All required insurance coverages, 
except for the professional liability coverage, shall contain or be endorsed to waiver of subrogation 
in favor of the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers or shall specifically 
allow Consultant or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications 
to waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of recovery 
against City, and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance clauses from each 
of its subconsultants. 

3.3.11.6 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductible or self-
insured retention must be approved in writing by the City and shall protect the City, its officials, 
officers, employees, agents, and volunteers in the same manner and to the same extent as they 
would have been protected had the policy or policies not contained a deductible or self-insured 
retention. 

3.3.11.7 Evidence of Insurance.  The Consultant, concurrently with the 
execution of the Agreement, and as a condition precedent to the effectiveness thereof, shall 
deliver either certified copies of the required policies, or original certificates on forms approved by 
the City, together with all endorsements affecting each policy.  Required insurance policies shall 
not be in compliance if they include any limiting provision or endorsement that has not been 
submitted to the City for approval.  The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy 
shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.  At least 
fifteen (15 days) prior to the expiration of any such policy, evidence of insurance showing that 
such insurance coverage has been renewed or extended shall be filed with the City.  If such 
coverage is cancelled or reduced and not replaced immediately so as to avoid a lapse in the 
required coverage, Consultant shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of such 
cancellation or reduction of coverage, file with the City evidence of insurance showing that the 
required insurance has been reinstated or has been provided through another insurance company 
or companies. 

3.3.11.8 Acceptability of Insurers.  Each such policy shall be from a 
company or companies with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A:VII and authorized to 
transact business of insurance in the State of California, or otherwise allowed to place insurance 

Page 173

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -8- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

through surplus line brokers under applicable provisions of the California Insurance Code or any 
federal law. 

3.3.11.9 Enforcement of Agreement Provisions (non estoppel).  
Consultant acknowledges and agrees that actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to inform 
Consultant of non-compliance with any requirement imposes no additional obligation on the City 
nor does it waive any rights hereunder. 

3.3.11.10 Requirements Not Limiting.  Requirement of specific coverage 
or minimum limits contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits, or 
other requirement, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. 

3.3.11.11 Additional Insurance Provisions 

(A) The foregoing requirements as to the types and limits of 
insurance coverage to be maintained by Consultant, and any approval of said insurance by the 
City, is not intended to and shall not in any manner limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations 
otherwise assumed by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to, the 
provisions concerning indemnification. 

(B) If at any time during the life of the Agreement, any policy of 
insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled 
and not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary 
and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Consultant or City will withhold 
amounts sufficient to pay premium from Consultant payments. In the alternative, City may cancel 
this Agreement. 

(C) The City may require the Consultant to provide complete 
copies of all insurance policies in effect for the duration of the Project. 

(D) Neither the City nor any of its officials, officers, employees, 
agents or volunteers shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or by virtue of 
this Agreement. 

(E) The limits set forth herein shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom claims are made or suits are brought, except with respect to the limits of 
liability.  Further the limits set forth herein shall not be construed to relieve the Consultant from 
liability in excess of such coverage, nor shall it limit the Consultant’s indemnification obligations 
to the City and shall not preclude the City from taking such other actions available to the City 
under other provisions of the Agreement or law. 

(F) Consultant shall report to the City, in addition to Consultant’s 
insurer, any and all insurance claims submitted by Consultant in connection with the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.3.11.12 Insurance for Subconsultants.  Consultant shall include all 
subconsultants engaged in any work for Consultant relating to this Agreement as additional 
insureds under the Consultant's policies, or the Consultant shall be responsible for causing 
subconsultants to purchase the appropriate insurance in compliance with the terms of these 
Insurance Requirements, including adding the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and 

Page 174

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -9- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

volunteers as additional insureds to the subconsultant's policies.  All policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance provided by Consultant’s subconsultants performing work relating to 
this Agreement shall be endorsed to name the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents and 
volunteers as additional insureds using endorsement form ISO CG 20 38 04 13 or an 
endorsement providing equivalent coverage.  Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract relating to this Agreement until it has received satisfactory 
evidence of subconsultant’s compliance with all insurance requirements under this Agreement, to 
the extent applicable.  The Consultant shall provide satisfactory evidence of compliance with this 
section upon request of the City. 

3.4 Labor Code Requirements. 

3.4.1 Prevailing Wages.  Consultant is aware of the requirements of California 
Labor Code Section 1720, et seq., and 1770, et seq., as well as California Code of Regulations, 
Title 8, Section 16000, et seq., ("Prevailing Wage Laws"), which require the payment of prevailing 
wage rates and the performance of other requirements on "public works" and "maintenance" 
projects.  If the Services are being performed as part of an applicable "public works" or 
"maintenance" project, as defined by the Prevailing Wage Laws, and if the total compensation is 
$1,000 or more, Consultant agrees to fully comply with such Prevailing Wage Laws.  City shall 
provide Consultant with a copy of the prevailing rates of per diem wages in effect at the 
commencement of this Agreement.  Consultant shall make copies of the prevailing rates of per 
diem wages for each craft, classification or type of worker needed to execute the Services 
available to interested parties upon request, and shall post copies at the Consultant's principal 
place of business and at the project site.  It is the intent of the parties to effectuate the 
requirements of sections 1771, 1774, 1775, 1776, 1777.5, 1813, and 1815 of the Labor Code 
within this Agreement, and Consultant shall therefore comply with such Labor Code sections to 
the fullest extent required by law.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its 
officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers free and harmless from any claim or liability 
arising out of any failure or alleged failure to comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws. 

3.4.2 Registration/DIR Compliance.  If the Services are being performed on a 
public works project of over $25,000 when the project is for construction, alteration, demolition, 
installation, or repair work, or a public works project of over $15,000 when the project is for 
maintenance work, in addition to the foregoing, then pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 
1771.1, the Consultant and all subconsultants must be registered with the Department of 
Industrial Relations (“DIR”).  Consultant shall maintain registration for the duration of the Project 
and require the same of any subconsultants.   

3.4.3 Compliance Monitoring. This Project may also be subject to compliance 
monitoring and enforcement by the DIR.  It shall be Consultant’s sole responsibility to comply with 
all applicable registration and labor compliance requirements, including the submission of payroll 
records directly to the DIR.  Any stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant or any 
subconsultant that affect Consultant’s performance of services, including any delay, shall be 
Consultant’s sole responsibility.  Any delay arising out of or resulting from such stop orders shall 
be considered Consultant caused delay and shall not be compensable by the City.  Consultant 
shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees and agents free and 
harmless from any claim or liability arising out of stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant 
or any subconsultant. 

3.4.4 Labor Certification.  By its signature hereunder, Consultant certifies that it 

Page 175

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -10- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

is aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor Code which require every 
employer to be insured against liability for Worker's Compensation or to undertake self-insurance 
in accordance with the provisions of that Code, and agrees to comply with such provisions before 
commencing the performance of the Services. 

3.5 Termination of Agreement. 

3.5.1.1 Grounds for Termination.  City may, by written notice to 
Consultant, terminate the whole or any part of this Agreement at any time and without cause by 
giving written notice to Consultant of such termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, 
at least seven (7) days before the effective date of such termination.  Upon termination, Consultant 
shall be compensated only for those Services which have been adequately rendered to City, and 
Consultant shall be entitled to no further compensation.  Consultant may not terminate this 
Agreement except for cause.  The rights and remedies of the City provided in this section shall 
not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law, equity or 
under this Agreement. 

3.5.1.2 Effect of Termination.  If this Agreement is terminated as 
provided herein, City may require Consultant to provide all finished or unfinished Documents and 
Data and other information of any kind prepared by Consultant in connection with the performance 
of Services under this Agreement.  Consultant shall be required to provide such document and 
other information within fifteen (15) days of the request. 

3.5.1.3 Additional Services.  In the event this Agreement is terminated 
in whole or in part as provided herein, City may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as 
it may determine appropriate, services similar to those terminated. 

3.6 Indemnification.  

3.6.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall defend (with counsel 
of City’s choosing), indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees, volunteers, and 
agents free and harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, 
liability, loss, damage or injury of any kind, in law or equity, to property or persons, including 
wrongful death,  in any manner arising out of, pertaining to, or incident to any acts, errors or 
omissions, or willful misconduct of Consultant, its officials, officers, employees, subcontractors, 
consultants or agents in connection with the performance of the Consultant’s Services, the Project 
or this Agreement, including without limitation the payment of all damages, expert witness fees 
and attorney’s fees and other related costs and expenses except such loss or damage caused by 
the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the City.  Consultant's obligation to indemnify shall 
survive expiration or termination of this Agreement and shall not be restricted to insurance 
proceeds, if any, received by Consultant, the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, or 
volunteers. 

3.6.2 If Consultant’s obligation to defend, indemnify, and/or hold harmless arises 
out of Consultant’s performance as a “design professional” (as that term is defined under Civil 
Code section 2782.8), then, and only to the extent required by Civil Code section 2782.8, which 
is fully incorporated herein, Consultant’s indemnification obligation shall be limited to claims that 
arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the 
Consultant, and, upon Consultant obtaining a final adjudication by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, Consultant’s liability for such claim, including the cost to defend, shall not exceed the 

Page 176

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -11- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

Consultant’s proportionate percentage of fault. 

3.7 General Provisions. 

3.7.1 Accounting Records.  Consultant shall maintain complete and accurate 
records with respect to all costs and expenses incurred under this Agreement.  All such records 
shall be clearly identifiable.  Consultant shall allow a representative of City during normal business 
hours to examine, audit, and make transcripts or copies of such records and any other documents 
created pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant shall allow inspection of all work, data, 
documents, proceedings, and activities related to the Agreement for a period of three (3) years 
from the date of final payment under this Agreement. 

3.7.2 Independent Contractors and Subcontracting. 

3.7.2.1 Use of Consultants.  Consultant is aware of statutory and case 
law regarding classification of workers as independent contractors, including California Labor 
Code Section 2750.3 and Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court, 4 Cal. 5th 903 
(2018).  To ensure that Consultant is in compliance with the California Labor Code, Consultant 
shall only utilize its employees to provide the Services.  Consultant may not provide the services 
through any independent contractor, subcontractor or subconsultant (“Subcontractor(s)”) unless 
approved by the City as set forth in Section 3.7.2.2 below.  Consultant represents and warrants 
that all personnel who perform the Services on Consultant’s behalf are Consultant’s employees, 
and that Consultant complies with all applicable laws, rules and regulations governing its 
employees, including, but not limited to, the California Labor Code, Unemployment Insurance 
Code and all applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders.   

3.7.2.2 Prior Approval Required.  Consultant shall not use any 
Subcontractor to provide the Services, or any portion of the work required by this Agreement, 
without prior written approval of City.  In the event that City authorizes Consultant to use a 
Subcontractor, Consultant shall enter into a written agreement with the Subcontractor, which must 
include all provisions of the Agreement, including a restriction on the Subcontractor’s use of 
further independent contractors, subcontractors or subconsultants without the City’s prior written 
consent. 

3.7.3 Delivery of Notices.  All notices permitted or required under this Agreement 
shall be given to the respective parties at the following address, or at such other address as the 
respective parties may provide in writing for this purpose: 

Consultant: STRATEGIC ENERGY EXPERTS 
7002 Soundview Drive 
Gig Harbor, WA. 
ATTN:  Gary S. Saleba 
 

City: City of Coachella  
53990 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
ATTN:  Dr. Gabriel Martin, City Manager 

Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed, forty-eight (48) 
hours after deposit in the U.S.  Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to the party at its 

Page 177

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -12- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

applicable address.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the date actual notice 
occurred, regardless of the method of service. 

3.7.4 Ownership of Materials and Confidentiality. 

3.7.4.1 Documents & Data; Licensing of Intellectual Property.  This 
Agreement creates a non-exclusive and perpetual license for City to copy, use, modify, reuse, or 
sublicense any and all copyrights, designs, and other intellectual property embodied in plans, 
specifications, studies, drawings, estimates, and other documents or works of authorship fixed in 
any tangible medium of expression, including but not limited to, physical drawings or data 
magnetically or otherwise recorded on computer diskettes, which are prepared or caused to be 
prepared by Consultant under this Agreement ("Documents & Data").  All Documents & Data shall 
be and remain the property of City, and shall not be used in whole or in substantial part by 
Consultant on other projects without the City’s express written permission.  Within thirty (30) days 
following the completion, suspension, abandonment or termination of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide to City reproducible copies of all Documents & Data, in a form and amount required 
by City.  City reserves the right to select the method of document reproduction and to establish 
where the reproduction will be accomplished.  The reproduction expense shall be borne by City 
at the actual cost of duplication.  In the event of a dispute regarding the amount of compensation 
to which the Consultant is entitled under the termination provisions of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide all Documents & Data to City upon payment of the undisputed amount.  Consultant 
shall have no right to retain or fail to provide to City any such documents pending resolution of 
the dispute.  In addition, Consultant shall retain copies of all Documents & Data on file for a 
minimum of fifteen (15) years following completion of the Project, and shall make copies available 
to City upon the payment of actual reasonable duplication costs.  Before destroying the 
Documents & Data following this retention period, Consultant shall make a reasonable effort to 
notify City and provide City with the opportunity to obtain the documents. 

3.7.4.2 Subconsultants.  Consultant shall require all subconsultants to 
agree in writing that City is granted a non-exclusive and perpetual license for any Documents & 
Data the subconsultant prepares under this Agreement.  Consultant represents and warrants that 
Consultant has the legal right to license any and all Documents & Data.  Consultant makes no 
such representation and warranty in regard to Documents & Data which were prepared by design 
professionals other than Consultant or its subconsultants, or those provided to Consultant by the 
City. 

3.7.4.3 Right to Use.  City shall not be limited in any way in its use or 
reuse of the Documents and Data or any part of them at any time for purposes of this Project or 
another project, provided that any such use not within the purposes intended by this Agreement 
or on a project other than this Project without employing the services of Consultant shall be at 
City’s sole risk. If City uses or reuses the Documents & Data on any project other than this Project, 
it shall remove the Consultant’s seal from the Documents & Data and indemnify and hold harmless 
Consultant and its officers, directors, agents and employees from claims arising out of the 
negligent use or re-use of the Documents & Data on such other project.  Consultant shall be 
responsible and liable for its Documents & Data, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, only 
with respect to the condition of the Documents & Data at the time they are provided to the City 
upon completion, suspension, abandonment or termination.  Consultant shall not be responsible 
or liable for any revisions to the Documents & Data made by any party other than Consultant, a 
party for whom the Consultant is legally responsible or liable, or anyone approved by the 
Consultant. 

Page 178

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -13- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

3.7.4.4 Indemnification.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the 
City, its directors, officials, officers, employees, volunteers and agents free and harmless, 
pursuant to the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, for any alleged infringement of any 
patent, copyright, trade secret, trade name, trademark, or any other proprietary right of any person 
or entity in consequence of the use on the Project by City of the Documents & Data, including any 
method, process, product, or concept specified or depicted. 

3.7.4.5 Confidentiality.  All ideas, memoranda, specifications, plans, 
procedures, drawings, descriptions, computer program data, input record data, written 
information, and other Documents & Data either created by or provided to Consultant in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be held confidential by Consultant.  Such 
materials shall not, without the prior written consent of City, be used by Consultant for any 
purposes other than the performance of the Services.  Nor shall such materials be disclosed to 
any person or entity not connected with the performance of the Services or the Project.  Nothing 
furnished to Consultant which is otherwise known to Consultant or is generally known, or has 
become known, to the related industry shall be deemed confidential.  Consultant shall not use 
City's name or insignia, photographs of the Project, or any publicity pertaining to the Services or 
the Project in any magazine, trade paper, newspaper, television or radio production or other 
similar medium without the prior written consent of City. 

3.7.4.6 Confidential Information.  The City shall refrain from releasing 
Consultant’s proprietary information ("Proprietary Information") unless the City's legal counsel 
determines that the release of the Proprietary Information is required by the California Public 
Records Act or other applicable state or federal law, or order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
in which case the City shall notify Consultant of its intention to release Proprietary Information.  
Consultant shall have five (5) working days after receipt of the release notice to give City written 
notice of Consultant's objection to the City's release of Proprietary Information.  Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, and its officers, directors, employees, and agents 
from and against all liability, loss, cost or expense (including attorney’s fees) arising out of a legal 
action brought to compel the release of Proprietary Information.  City shall not release the 
Proprietary Information after receipt of an objection notice unless either:  (1) Consultant fails to 
fully indemnify, defend (with City's choice of legal counsel), and hold City harmless from any legal 
action brought to compel such release; and/or (2) a final and non-appealable order by a court of 
competent jurisdiction requires that City release such information. 

3.7.5 Cooperation; Further Acts.  The Parties shall fully cooperate with one 
another, and shall take any additional acts or sign any additional documents as may be necessary, 
appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this Agreement. 

3.7.6 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the 
Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
understandings or agreements.   

3.7.7 Attorneys’ Fees.  If either party commences an action against the other 
party, either legal, administrative or otherwise, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, 
the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to have and recover from the losing party 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and all costs of such action. 

3.7.8 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State 
of California.  Venue shall be in Riverside County.  In addition to any and all contract requirements 

Page 179

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -14- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

pertaining to notices of and requests for compensation or payment for extra work, disputed work, 
claims and/or changed conditions, Consultant must comply with the claim procedures set forth in 
Government Code sections 900 et seq. prior to filing any lawsuit against the City.  Such 
Government Code claims and any subsequent lawsuit based upon the Government Code claims 
shall be limited to those matters that remain unresolved after all procedures pertaining to extra 
work, disputed work, claims, and/or changed conditions have been followed by Consultant.  If no 
such Government Code claim is submitted, or if any prerequisite contractual requirements are not 
otherwise satisfied as specified herein, Consultant shall be barred from bringing and maintaining 
a valid lawsuit against the City. 

3.7.9 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for each and every provision of 
this Agreement. 

3.7.10 City's Right to Employ Other Consultants.  City reserves right to employ 
other consultants in connection with this Project. 

3.7.11 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the 
successors and assigns of the parties. 

3.7.12 Assignment or Transfer.  Consultant shall not assign, sublet, or transfer this 
Agreement or any rights under or interest in this Agreement without the written consent of the 
City, which may be withheld for any reason.  Any attempt to so assign or so transfer without such 
consent shall be void and without legal effect and shall constitute grounds for termination.  
Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the Services required by this Agreement, except 
as expressly stated herein, without prior written approval of City.  Subcontracts, if any, shall 
contain a provision making them subject to all provisions stipulated in this Agreement. 

3.7.13 Construction; References; Captions.  Since the Parties or their agents have 
participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be 
construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any Party.  Any term 
referencing time, days or period for performance shall be deemed calendar days and not work 
days.  All references to Consultant include all personnel, employees, agents, and subconsultants 
of Consultant, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.  All references to City include its 
elected officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers except as otherwise specified in this 
Agreement.  The captions of the various articles and paragraphs are for convenience and ease 
of reference only, and do not define, limit, augment, or describe the scope, content, or intent of 
this Agreement. 

3.7.14 Amendment; Modification.  No supplement, modification, or amendment of 
this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by both Parties. 

3.7.15 Waiver.  No waiver of any default shall constitute a waiver of any other 
default or breach, whether of the same or other covenant or condition.  No waiver, benefit, 
privilege, or service voluntarily given or performed by a Party shall give the other Party any 
contractual rights by custom, estoppel, or otherwise. 

3.7.16 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third party 
beneficiaries of any right or obligation assumed by the Parties. 

3.7.17 Invalidity; Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared invalid, 

Page 180

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -15- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

illegal, or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

3.7.18 Prohibited Interests.  Consultant maintains and warrants that it has not 
employed nor retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely 
for Consultant, to solicit or secure this Agreement.  Consultant warrants that it has not paid nor 
has it agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for 
Consultant, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or other consideration 
contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement.  Consultant further 
agrees to file, or shall cause its employees or subconsultants to file, a Statement of Economic 
Interest with the City’s Filing Officer as required under state law in the performance of the 
Services.  For breach or violation of this warranty, City shall have the right to rescind this 
Agreement without liability.  For the term of this Agreement, no member, officer or employee of 
City, during the term of his or her service with City, shall have any direct interest in this Agreement, 
or obtain any present or anticipated material benefit arising therefrom.  

3.7.19 Authority to Enter Agreement.  Consultant has all requisite power and 
authority to conduct its business and to execute, deliver, and perform the Agreement.  Each Party 
warrants that the individuals who have signed this Agreement have the legal power, right, and 
authority to make this Agreement and bind each respective Party. 

3.7.20 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original. 

3.7.21 Survival.  All rights and obligations hereunder that by their nature are to 
continue after any expiration or termination of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 
indemnification obligations, shall survive any such expiration or termination. 

3.7.22 Order of Precedence.  The following order and succession of the 
referenced documents shall govern in the event of conflict between documents: 

3.7.22.1 Amendment(s) 

3.7.22.2 This Agreement  

3.7.22.3 Task Orders 

  

Page 181

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) -16- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON CALL 

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR ON-CALL 
SERVICES BETWEEN THE CITY OF COACHELLA AND  

STRATEGIC ENERGY EXPERTS 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be 

executed on the day and year first above written. 
 
 

CITY OF COACHELLA STRATEGIC ENERGY EXPERTS 
 

By: 

 
Its:  

Printed Name:  

By: 

 
Its:  

Printed Name:  
 
 
 

Approved By: 

  
Gabriel D. Martin, Ph.D. 
City Manager 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Best Best & Krieger LLP 
City Attorney: 
 
____________________________________ 

Attested By: 

  
City Clerk 

 

Page 182

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

BB&K (2021) Exhibit “A”-1 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT–ON 

CALL 

 

EXHIBIT "A" 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

Task Fee 

Phase 1-Supervision and Management  

 Finalize Greenfield Utility Paperwork $  5,000 

 Analysis of Existing IID Transmission Capacity and Determine 
Process for Obtaining 

$  5,000 

 Define Harrison/Polk Substation Timing, Location and Cost $  5,000 

 Determine Best Power Supply Option for Phase 1 $  5,000 

 RFP for turnkey developer/operator     
Phase 1 subtotal                                                                                               

$  5,000 
                       $ 25,000                                                                                                                      

Phase 2-Supervision and Management  

 Determine Best Power Supply Options for Phase 2 $  5,000 

 Define new 230 kV Transmission Timing, Location and Cost, 
and Determine Feasibility of SCE Interconnection 

$  5,000 

 Phase 2 Proforma $  5,000 

General-Supervision and Management  

 Review west Riverside Munis $  3,000 

 Verify CMU Map $  3,000 

 LAFCO Paperwork $  5,000 

 Confirm 1934 Compromise Agreement Boundaries $  3,000 

 Develop Financial Plan $  5,000 

  

 TOTAL $59,000 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 183

Item 16.



80237.00000\34369633.1 

 

(BB&K 2017) 

 

Exhibit “B”-2  

 

EXHIBIT "B" 
SAMPLE TASK ORDER FORM 

Task Order No. _______ 

Agreement:  [INSERT TITLE OF AGREEMENT]   

 

Consultant: [INSERT NAME OF CONSULTANT] 

The Consultant is hereby authorized to perform the following services subject to the 

provisions of the Agreement identified above:  

 

 

 

 

List any attachments: (Please provide if any.) 

Dollar Amount of Task Order:   Not to exceed $_____,_____.00 

Completion Date: _____________ 

The undersigned Consultant hereby agrees that it will provide all equipment, furnish all materials, 

except as may be otherwise noted above, and perform all services for the work above specified in 

accordance with the Agreement identified above and will accept as full payment therefore the 

amount shown above. 

CITY OF COACHELLA    STRATEGIC ENERGY EXPERTS 

 

 

Dated:       Dated:      

 

By:       By:      

 

Title:        Title:       

Page 184

Item 16.



         S.E.E.  
 

 

       STRATEGIC ENERGY EXPERTS 
 

Gary Saleba 425.260.6678 saleba@strategicenergyexperts.com 

 

 
 
August 15, 2024 
 
Gabriel D. Martin, Ph.D. 
City Manager 
City of Coachella 
53990 Enterprise way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
 
Dear Dr. Martin: 
 
It is with pleasure that Strategic Energy Experts (SEE) presents this proposal to assist the City of Coachella 
(City) with setting up a greenfield electric utility to service its economic development zones (EDZ) and 
subsequently provide electric service to its newly formed City Municipal Utility (CMU). This proposal 
contains a conceptual framework for this Project, a scope of work, schedule and budget for the proposed 
activities performed by SEE. Each of these areas is discussed below. 
 
Conceptual Framework for this Project 
 
The City has a goal to begin serving electricity to its two EDZs and ultimately the entire CMU. The 
seemingly easiest and most efficient way to achieve this goal is to phase the City into the electric utility 
business via setting up a “greenfield” electric utility to serve primarily the EDZs (Phase 1), then later 
expanding the City’s electric utility footprint to the City’s entire CMU (Phase 2). SEE proposes to be the 
Project Manager for these undertakings. This phase-in plan is described in more detail below. 
 
Overview of Greenfield Utility Business Model 
 
California regulation provides for a municipality to offer electrical service in undeveloped areas where 
there is little incumbent electric utility equipment. These new municipal electric utility entities are called 
“greenfield” utilities. 
 
The City’s General Plan (GP) divides the City into planning zones (Subareas) and provides zoning 
development information along with the amount of undeveloped land.  
 
Subareas 7 and 10 each contain an EDZ. These two Subareas are prime locations for the City to initiate 
Phase 1 of its greenfield electric utility as both Subareas 7 and 10 have large amounts of undeveloped 
land and little incumbent electric utility facilities. This undeveloped land could be used for new warehouse 
space, industrial development, commercial applications and other retail purposes. 
 
 
 

Page 185

Item 16.



         S.E.E.  
 

 

       STRATEGIC ENERGY EXPERTS 
 

7002 Soundview Drive, Gig Harbor, WA.  www.strategicenergyservices.com 

 
Phase 1 – Plan of Service 
 
In order for the City to form a greenfield utility in Subareas 7 and 10, it would be necessary to build and 
interconnect two new substations with the existing IID 92 kV transmission line. The existing IID 
transmission line, based on preliminary analysis, has some capacity for wheeling power to the City’s 
greenfield utility. 
 
The two new substations have been referred to as Harrison Substation (in Subarea 7) and Polk Substation 
in (in Subarea 10). Longer range in Phase 2, these stations may operate at 230 kV but for Phase 1 could 
operate at 92 kV if the initial Subareas 7 and 10 load is within the capacity limits of the existing IID 
transmission line. 
 
Initially for Phase 1 power supply, it is likely that power purchase agreements (PPA) will be used that 
contain the required amount of RPS energy content. In the short term, the IID 92 kV line could be used to 
deliver power to the two new substations and on into the greenfield areas. IID also has a Schedule A-2 – 
General Wholesale Power Service which might be available on a short-term basis and to provide a bundled 
wholesale RPS-compliant power supply product.  
 
SEE will coordinate and manage these Phase 1 activities. 
 
Phase 2 – Plan of Service 
 
Once the Phase 1 greenfield utility for the two EDZ Subareas is on a stable financial basis, the City can 
proceed into Phase 2. In this phase, gas generators or PPAs can be an interim step to meeting the City’s 
power supply demand until the construction of 230 kW interconnection transmission facilities can be 
completed. At the time of completion, a longer-term power supply strategy will be needed. As Phase 2 
progresses, the City could begin extending the greenfield facilities into the City’s total CMU. As part of 
Phase 2, a new 230 kV transmission line will be needed to meet the loads of the two EDZs and the balance 
of the CMU load. The two substations would be connected via a 230 kV transmission line which would 
then extend east to the existing Coachella Valley substation for access to the California wholesale power 
market.  
 
SEE will coordinate and manage these Phase 2 activities as well. 
 
Proposed Scope of Work 
 
Given the initial conceptual framework for this Project, the SEE team will undertake the following tasks. 
 
Phase 1 – Specific 
 
 Review timeline and process for forming a greenfield utility and assist in filing any required paperwork. 
 Coordinate determining how much capacity exists in IID’s 92 KV facilities that are in close proximity 

to the EDZs. 
 Determine process and timeline to gain access to the 92 KV IID facilities. Assist other City staff and 

consultants in negotiating the required power products from IID. 

Page 186

Item 16.



         S.E.E.  
 

 

       STRATEGIC ENERGY EXPERTS 
 

7002 Soundview Drive, Gig Harbor, WA.  www.strategicenergyservices.com 

 Assist in identifying the best location, cost and construction timeline for new Harrison and Polk 
substations. 

 Supervise finding the best RPS compliant power supply options for Phase 1 to include pricing. 
 Oversee the production of a 10-year financial proformas for greenfield utility to include load forecast, 

power supply and operating expenses, and capital costs. 
 Develop and evaluate a request for proposal for a third party to set up and operate a turnkey 

municipal utility on behalf of the City in lieu of the City undertaking these tasks independently. 
 
Phase 2 – Specific 
 
 Supervise the determination of the best and RPS-compliant power supply options to include PPAs, 

City-owned generation, IID and independent power producer along with estimated costs. 
 Coordinating the identification of the route and cost of 230 kV transmission line interconnection Polk 

and Harrison substations to the existing Coachella substations. Also, determine if there is a feasible 
Southern California Edison interconnection option and who would provide load balancing services and 
other ancillary power supply services.  

 Provide QC/QA of a 10-year financial proforma for Phase 2 operations with attendant CMU retail rates 
and compare to IID forecasted retail rates. 

 
Additional General Deliverables 
 
 Review prior western Riverside County utility load forecasts. 
 Verify map of CMU service territory. 
 Participate in LAFCO process and assist in filing sphere of influence paperwork, if needed. 
 Confirm Boundaries of 1935 Compromise Agreement. 
 Develop financing plan for CMU capital facilities. 
 Develop and evaluate a request for proposal for a third party to set up and operate a turnkey 

municipal utility on behalf of the City and in lieu of the City undertaking these tasks independently. 
 
Schedule 
 
The schedule for completing this scope of work and preparing a draft report will be determined by the 
City and accepted by SEE. 
 
Budget 
 
SEE bills on a time and materials basis. Our standard billing rates are: 
 
 Principal/Executive Consultant ..................................................................... $260 
 Managing Director .......................................................................................... 240 
 Senior Project Manager .................................................................................. 230 
 Project Manager ............................................................................................. 220 
 Senior Analyst/Engineer ................................................................................. 195 
 Analyst ............................................................................................................ 170 
 
Based upon the aforementioned scope of services and standard billing rates, we estimate the labor budget 
for this Project as follows: 

Page 187

Item 16.



         S.E.E.  
 

 

       STRATEGIC ENERGY EXPERTS 
 

7002 Soundview Drive, Gig Harbor, WA.  www.strategicenergyservices.com 

 

Task Fee 
Phase 1-Supervision and Management  

 Finalize Greenfield Utility Paperwork $  5,000 

 Analysis of Existing IID Transmission Capacity and Determine 
Process for Obtaining 

$  5,000 

 Define Harrison/Polk Substation Timing, Location and Cost $  5,000 

 Determine Best Power Supply Option for Phase 1 $  5,000 

 RFP for turnkey developer/operator     
Phase 1 subtotal                                                                                               

$  5,000 
                       $ 25,000                                                                                                                      

Phase 2-Supervision and Management  

 Determine Best Power Supply Options for Phase 2 $  5,000 

 Define new 230 kV Transmission Timing, Location and Cost, 
and Determine Feasibility of SCE Interconnection 

$  5,000 

 Phase 2 Proforma $  5,000 

General-Supervision and Management  

 Review west Riverside Munis $  3,000 

 Verify CMU Map $  3,000 

 LAFCO Paperwork $  5,000 

 Confirm 1934 Compromise Agreement Boundaries $  3,000 

 Develop Financial Plan $  5,000 

  

 TOTAL $59,000 

 
Any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in conjunction with this Project will be billed at cost to the City. Out-
of-pocket expenses will be minimal. 
 
It should be noted that the aforementioned budget covers all SEE supervisory and management fees up 
to the actual City or third-party operation of the CMU. If there is a fatal flaw in the CMU concept and 
pursuit of the CMU project ceases, the SEE-related charges will be much less. At this point, we are only 
requesting authority to proceed with Phase 1 activities of $25,000. The balance of the activities noted 
above will be approved by subsequent City actions. 
 
We hope you find this proposal responsive to your needs. We look forward to discussing this proposal 
with you at your earliest convenience. 
 
Very truly yours. 
 
 
/s/ 
 
Gary S. Saleba 
Principal 
Strategic Energy Experts, LLC 
 

Page 188

Item 16.



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Maritza Martinez, Public Works Director  

SUBJECT: 
 

Appointment of ten Commissioners to the Coachella Youth Advisory 

Commission.   
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Appointment of ten Commissioners to the Coachella Youth Advisory Commission.   

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

In July, Council action approval of Resolution No. 2024-25 approved compensation for the 

existing Youth Advisory Commission (YAC).  This resolution allows YAC Commissioners to 

receive a $50.00 compensation per scheduled meeting; subject to the presence of a quorum.  Since 

approval of Resolution 2024-25 the City has heavily marketed the opportunity through various 

outlets to Coachella youth.  The YAC consists of ten (10) Coachella youth members that are 

enrolled in high school.  Their duties shall include the following:  

 Act in an advisory capacity to the city council in all matters involving young people in 

the City of Coachella. 

 Work to anticipate the educational, recreational and cultural needs of the city’s youth. 

 Work to ensure the coordination of the community resources in order to improve the 

quality of life for all its youth. 

The City Clerk’s office has received the following ten (10) applications from Coachella youth for 

the YAC:  

Youth Advisory Commission (10 open seats) 

1. Alejandro Cobos  

2. Sehwa Meza 

3. Libni H. Valle 

4. Ivan Mendez Perez 

5. Dennis Castillo  

6. Christian Fausto  

7. Briana Lara-Saldivar  

8. Allison Lopez 

9. Izabella Nunez 

10. Jade Arguelles 

Page 189

Item 17.



 

Council may at this time direct selection of Commissioners as follows:  

 vote to elect the applicants currently on file (attached hereto); and/or 

 choose to establish an ongoing application period to invite additional applicants to apply 

for the two vacant commissioner positions available; and/or  

 provide alternate direction.   

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None.  

 

Attachments: Applications received (10) 

Page 190

Item 17.



CITY OF COACHELLA

COMMISSIONAPPLICATION

NAME: ______Allison Lopez____________________________________________________

ADDRESS: ___83300 Rosa Avenue_____________________________________________

TELEPHONE: __(760)-397-6804________ E-MAIL: ____lopezallison9219@gmail.com____________

COMMISSION:

Youth Advisory (To be eligible for appointment to the Commission you must be enrolled in high school.
Please state your age and high school you currently attend in the “other comments” in section 5.)

To be eligible for appointment to any Commission you must be a resident of the City of
Coachella. Members may only serve on one commission/committee.

Note: In the event a member of the commission has three (3) consecutive unexcused absences
from meetings of the Commission, the City Council may declare the office of such member vacant.

PLEASE FURNISHBRIEFRESPONSES TO THEQUESTIONSBELOW:

1. Why do you think you should be appointed? What is there specifically in your background, training,
education and interests that qualifies you as a candidate?

I should be appointed because I am a very well-aware and involved student at my high school. I have
lots of experience managing youth problems. As the President of the Health Academy and Team
Captain of the Varsity Tennis Team, I have gained much experience in dealing with issues affecting
young people. As a low-income first-generation Latin student, I can relate to most problems students
have. I’ve helped my peers with their grades, college questions, and opportunities, and just overall
listened to any issues they had. I consider myself a reliable student, having handled several incidents
effectively. As someone who’s lived in the city of Coachella all my life, I am incredibly grateful for all
the opportunities I’ve been given and I want the chance to give back as much as possible.

2. What do you see as the goals and objectives of the Commission? How would you help achieve these
objectives and goals?

Everyone needs feedback and I know how much effort both the City of Coachella and the School
District put into the future generation. With this being said the goals and objectives of the Commission
are to build relationships and trust within the younger generation. Allowing the future Youth Advisory
team to build networking will strengthen students' involvement within the community. I never miss an
opportunity to grow both professionally and personally. If chosen I will help achieve these goals and
objectives by promoting community service, helping organize educational workshops, maintaining an
online platform to involve the students more, and mentoring any underclassmen who need help with
anything. And of course, helping with any other issue the youth is facing at the time.Page 191

Item 17.



CITY OFCOACHELLA
COMMISSIONAPPLICATION
PAGE 2

3. What special qualities can you bring to the Commission?

One of the special qualities I can bring to the Commission is my curiosity. This trait drives me to explore
new ideas, ask questions, and come up with solutions to the challenges faced by young people today. This
has helped me throughout my education and I always seek to learn new things outside of the classroom as
well. Another special quality I have is my optimistic trait, I’ve always believed that positive thinking can
have a great impact on one’s life in many ways. I am committed to creating and maintaining a positive
environment within the Youth Advisory by encouraging my peers to see the potential in every situation
and to work collaboratively towards our goals. No problem is too small and every attempt means so much.
I’d love to help the youth grow professionally and help with any issues they might have. I believe these
qualities can benefit the Commission.

4. Do you have any questions or comments about the Commission’s structure or functions?

● How regularly do we meet?
● Do we need letters of recommendation to apply?
● When talking about youth issues, does that extend over to elementary school or just High School?
● Who will be present at the meetings, besides the Youth Advisory?

5. Other comments and/or ideas as to how you as a member of the selected Commission could benefit the
City of Coachella.

Youth Ideas
● Broadening the education on mental health at schools
● Creating a tutoring program where students can tutor other students and receive community

service hours
● Creating a safer pathway to school (where the date trees are at Coachella Valley High School)
● Free SAT & ACT workshops and testing
● Access to Financial Literacy Education
● Mentorship Program

Allison Lopez
Age: 17
Attending Coachella Valley High School

Page 192

Item 17.



Signature Date: 08/03/2024

Allison Lopez

Note: Members of commissions shall be appointed for four-year terms or less. The term of each commission
member shall continue for the term of the nominating council member and automatically terminate when the council
member’s term ends. If a council member is reelected, that council member is entitled to make all new nominations
or may choose to re-nominate the council member’s previous nominee.

Youth Advisory Commission Note: The term of a Commissioner is one year from August to June; mirroring the
local school district’s school year.

PLEASERETURN THISCOMPLETEDAPPLICATION TO:

Deputy City Clerk
City of Coachella
53-462 Enterprise Way
Coachella, CA 92236

cityclerk@coachella.org

(Revised 10-30-2023)

Page 193

Item 17.



CITY OF COACHELLA 
 

COMMISSION APPLICATION 
 
 
 

NAME:  _____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ADDRESS: ___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
TELEPHONE: ______________________________  E-MAIL: _________________________________ 
 
COMMISSION:   

 
Planning  
 
Cultural and Arts   
 
Parks and Recreation   
 
Utilities User Tax Citizen Oversight (UUT) 
 
Youth Advisory (To be eligible for appointment to the Commission you must be enrolled in high school. 
Please state your age and high school you currently attend in the “other comments” in section 5.) 
 
Social Justice & Public Safety 
 

To be eligible for appointment to any Commission you must be a resident of the City of Coachella. 
Members may only serve on one commission/committee. 
 
Note:  In the event a member of the commission has three (3) consecutive unexcused absences 
from meetings of the Commission, the City Council may declare the office of such member vacant.  
 
 
 
PLEASE FURNISH BRIEF RESPONSES TO THE QUESTIONS BELOW: 
 
1. Why do you think you should be appointed? What is there specifically in your background, training, 

education and interests that qualifies you as a candidate? 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. What do you see as the goals and objectives of the Commission? How would you help achieve these 

objectives and goals? 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
Page 194

Item 17.

Sehwa Meza

50691 Avenida Razon

442-370-6187

sehwashin111@gmail.com

I believe that I am appointed to become a candidate is to approve my leadership skills and there's no place other that my community. I am one belt way from becoming a blackbelt in taekwondo. In eighth grade, I joined the ASB club and earned a position as treasurer. Also, I am one of the volleyball managers at Shadow Hill High School.      

I believe that the commission goals and objectives for this and next year is having more youth programs and activity. And to also provide assistant for those in need. For example, giving the youth opportunities to explore their creativity and places. And also, to provide free education and free childcare for those in need.



CITY OF COACHELLA  
COMMISSION APPLICATION  
PAGE 2  
 

(Revised 10-30-2023) 
 

 
3. What special qualities can you bring to the Commission? 
 

 
 

 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 

4. Do you have any questions or comments about the Commission’s structure or functions? 
 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

 
 

 
5. Other comments and/or ideas as to how you as a member of the selected Commission could benefit the 

City of Coachella. 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
     
Signature                                                                  Date 
        
 
Note:  Members of commissions shall be appointed for four-year terms or less. The term of each commission member 
shall continue for the term of the nominating council member and automatically terminate when the council member’s 
term ends. If a council member is reelected, that council member is entitled to make all new nominations or may 
choose to re-nominate the council member’s previous nominee. 
 
Youth Advisory Commission Note: The term of a Commissioner is one year from August to June; mirroring the 
local school district’s school year. 
 
PLEASE RETURN THIS COMPLETED APPLICATION TO:  
 
Deputy City Clerk 
City of Coachella 
53-462 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
 
cityclerk@coachella.org 

Page 195

Item 17.

8-11-2024

15 Shadow hill high school

No, I don't have any question about the commission structure nor function.

Some special qualities that I can bring is great ideas for the youth in our community. Another quality is 
 I have great leadership, public speaking and organization skills. I also love finding new ways to give back to the community. For example, participating in communities' services and attending youth town halls. My last and final reason is my multi-cultural background which gives me a diverse knowledge. 



Page 196

Item 17.



Page 197

Item 17.



Page 198

Item 17.



Page 199

Item 17.



CITY OF COACHELLA 
 

COMMISSION APPLICATION 
 
 
 

NAME:  _____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
ADDRESS: ___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
TELEPHONE: ______________________________  E-MAIL: _________________________________ 
 
COMMISSION:   

 
Planning  
 
Cultural and Arts   
 
Parks and Recreation   
 
Utilities User Tax Citizen Oversight (UUT) 
 
Youth Advisory (To be eligible for appointment to the Commission you must be enrolled in high school. 
Please state your age and high school you currently attend in the “other comments” in section 5.) 
 
Social Justice & Public Safety 
 

To be eligible for appointment to any Commission you must be a resident of the City of Coachella. 
Members may only serve on one commission/committee. 
 
Note:  In the event a member of the commission has three (3) consecutive unexcused absences 
from meetings of the Commission, the City Council may declare the office of such member vacant.  
 
 
 
PLEASE FURNISH BRIEF RESPONSES TO THE QUESTIONS BELOW: 
 
1. Why do you think you should be appointed? What is there specifically in your background, training, 

education and interests that qualifies you as a candidate? 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. What do you see as the goals and objectives of the Commission? How would you help achieve these 

objectives and goals? 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Christian Fausto

Kuram8437@gmail.com(760) 397-7535

49615 Cesar Chavez St SPC 82 Coachella CA 92236 

I am a student who applied his time to assist in others. I along with peers have 
constructed documentaries and short films that was displayed in ceremonies such 
as the 100th water consolidation project at Westside Elementary, the closing 
ceremony film for the Coachella Promise Internship, and more. I believe I can 
strengthen the aim of the council. I feel the sense of duty to support this city and 
the future of all.

To offer advice and to bring up beneficial change unto the youth. To assist our 
peers’ endeavors and allow for greater communication between not just the youth 
but the general public. I see growth in communication and effort as the goal of the 
Commission. With my efforts and undying persistence I believe we can create 
community based projects that would further allow networking and teamwork 
among our youth. Such as documentaries and publication of projects which I am 
familiar with but most importantly what the youth strive on. 

Page 200

Item 17.



CITY OF COACHELLA  
COMMISSION APPLICATION  
PAGE 2  
 

(Revised 10-30-2023) 
 

 
3. What special qualities can you bring to the Commission? 
 

 
 

 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 

4. Do you have any questions or comments about the Commission’s structure or functions? 
 

 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

 
 

 
5. Other comments and/or ideas as to how you as a member of the selected Commission could benefit the 

City of Coachella. 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 
     
Signature                                                                  Date 
        
 
Note:  Members of commissions shall be appointed for four-year terms or less. The term of each commission member 
shall continue for the term of the nominating council member and automatically terminate when the council member’s 
term ends. If a council member is reelected, that council member is entitled to make all new nominations or may 
choose to re-nominate the council member’s previous nominee. 
 
Youth Advisory Commission Note: The term of a Commissioner is one year from August to June; mirroring the 
local school district’s school year. 
 
PLEASE RETURN THIS COMPLETED APPLICATION TO:  
 
Deputy City Clerk 
City of Coachella 
53-462 Enterprise Way 
Coachella, CA 92236 
 
cityclerk@coachella.org 

Chitinfando 08/03/202408/03/2024

I assume several perspectives of a situation and utilize what others are best at. I •
am not a very extroverted person nor am I so introverted; therefore, I am given 
the opportunity to see what my peers of both areas can do, what they want, and 
what their hopes for their futures are. No matter how demanding a task or 
project may be I am able to persevere.

What is the city’s goal?



What are some expectations?



How will information regarding the schedule be given?

It is apparent that the youth are competitive. To allow an event of competitive



teamwork would not only increase communication but confidence as well. 



The byproduct of youth engagement in events would be beneficial for their futures 



and their mentalities. I wish to assist an opportunity of that ideal.

Page 201

Item 17.



Page 202

Item 17.



Page 203

Item 17.



Page 204

Item 17.



Page 205

Item 17.



Page 206

Item 17.



Page 207

Item 17.



Page 208

Item 17.



Page 209

Item 17.



Page 210

Item 17.



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Dr. Gabriel Martin, City Manager  

SUBJECT: Approve the Cooperative Agreement with the County of Riverside to Provide 

Fire Protection, Fire Prevention, Rescue, Fire Marshal and Medical Emergency 

Services and the Approve Cooperative Agreement between the Cities of 

Coachella, Indio, La Quinta and County of Riverside to Share the Cost of a 

Ladder Truck Company 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

1. Approve a Cooperative Agreement with the County of Riverside to provide fire protection, 

fire prevention, rescue, fire marshal and medical emergency services (Exhibit “A”);  

 

2. Approve Cooperative Agreement between the Cities of Indio, La Quinta, Coachella, and 

the County of Riverside to share the cost of a ladder truck company (Exhibit “B”); 

 

3. Authorize the City Attorney to make any necessary non-monetary changes to the 

agreement; and 

 

4. Authorize the City Manager to execute the Agreement. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

Since 1990, the City of Coachella has received “All-Risk” fire services through a Cooperative 

Agreement with the County of Riverside. The current contract provides fire staffing for the only 

fire station in the City, Fire Station #79, which is in service 24 hours a day and provides a Battalion 

Chief to support and oversee day-to-day operations. In addition, the current contract provides a 

medic engine with three Captains, three Engineers, three Fire Fighters III and Office Assistant III. 

 

Since 2006, the City has participated in a cooperative agreement to operate a ladder truck for the 

mutual benefit of the Cities of Coachella, Indio, La Quinta and County. The cost allocation remains 

the same: the City of Indio contributes 50%, the County 25%, and the cities of Coachella and La 

Quinta each pay 12.5% of the actual cost of staffing and ladder truck maintenance. The estimated 

cost for FY 2024/25 is $271,515. 

 

 

 

Page 211

Item 18.



DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

On April 2024, Chief Bill Weiser provided a memo to City partners of the increase and cost 

estimates for fire service for the upcoming Cooperative Agreement (Exhibit “C”). On July 18, 

2024, Chief Bill Weiser provided a memo to discuss items that may impact fire services and 

increase cost, which include the implementation of a 66-hour work week and CalPERS retirement 

contribution reduction. 

 

On July 24, 2024 (Item 12), The City Council approved and filed the Notice of Completion for the 

completed Fire Station 79 Expansion and Rehabilitation Project (No. F-7).  

 

Approval of the proposed agreements represents a continuation of current and new fire service 

levels for the City of Coachella. The new services consist of the addition of a new medic squad, 

which includes three new Engineers and three new Fire Fighter II Medic. This contract will also 

include the addition of Fire Marshal positions, including a Fire Marshal Specialist, and Deputy 

Fire Marshall. The proposed agreements increase the term limits from 3-years to 5-years, running 

from July 1, 2024, to June 30, 2029. 

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1. Recommend denial of First Amendment. 

 

2. Continue this item and provide staff with direction. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

Overall, the annual cost for services for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 is estimated to total $4,699,860. 

On July 10, 2024, the City Council approved a budget appropriation for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

for animal control services in the amount of $5,396,227, so the proposed cost is within budgeted 

parameters and there will be no additional impact to the General Fund. 

ATTACHMENT(S): 
 

1. Exhibit “A” - Cooperative Agreement with the County of Riverside to provide fire 

protection, fire prevention, rescue, fire marshal and medical emergency services;  

 

2. Exhibit “B” - Cooperative Agreement between the Cities of Indio, La Quinta, Coachella, 

and the County of Riverside to share the cost of a ladder truck company; and 

 

3. Exhibit “C” – Fire Department Memo on Fire Services Estimates 

 

4. Exhibit “D” – Fire Department Memo on State Budget Impacts 

 

Page 212

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
1 of 10 

A COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 
TO PROVIDE FIRE PROTECTION, FIRE PREVENTION, RESCUE, FIRE MARSHAL 

AND MEDICAL EMERGENCY SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF COACHELLA 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), made and entered into this ____ day of 
______________,  2024, by and between the County of Riverside, a political subdivision 
of the State of California, on behalf of the Fire Department (hereinafter referred to as 
“COUNTY”) and the City of Coachella, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as 
“CITY”), whereby it is agreed as follows: 
 
SECTION I:  PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of this Agreement is to arrange for COUNTY, through its Cooperative 
Fire Programs Fire Protection Reimbursement Agreement (“CAL FIRE Agreement”) with 
the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (“CAL FIRE”) to provide CITY 
with fire protection, hazardous materials mitigation, technical rescue response, fire 
marshal, medical emergency services, and public service assists (hereinafter called “Fire 
Services”).  This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the authority granted by 
Government Code section 55600 et seq., and will provide a unified, integrated, 
cooperative, regional fire protection system.  COUNTY’s ability to perform under this 
Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the CAL FIRE Agreement. 
 
SECTION II:  DESIGNATION OF FIRE CHIEF 
 
 A. The County Fire Chief appointed by the County Board of Supervisors, or 
his/her designee (hereinafter referred to as “Chief”), shall represent COUNTY and CITY 
during the period of this Agreement, and Chief shall, under the supervision and direction 
of the County Board of Supervisors, have charge of the organization described in Exhibit 
“A,” attached hereto and made a part hereof, for the purpose of providing Fire Services 
as deemed necessary to satisfy the needs of both the COUNTY and  CITY, except upon 
those lands wherein other agencies of government have responsibility for the same or 
similar Fire Services. 
 
 B. The COUNTY will assign an existing Chief Officer as the Fire Department 
Liaison (“Fire Liaison”).  The Chief may delegate certain authority to the Fire Liaison, as 
the Chief’s duly authorized designee and the Fire Liaison shall be responsible for directing 
the Fire Services provided to CITY as set forth in Exhibit “A.” 
 

C.  The Chief Deputy County Fire shall be the COUNTY Contract Administrator 
and is the liaison for the administration of this agreement.   
 
 D. COUNTY will be allowed flexibility in the assignment of available personnel 
and equipment in order to provide the Fire Services as agreed upon herein.  This flexibility 
shall include staffing challenges.  The CITY shall be notified of any changes in 
classifications provided that differ from the Exhibit “A.”   

Page 213

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
2 of 10 

SECTION III:  PAYMENT FOR SERVICES 
 
 A. CITY shall annually appropriate a fiscal year budget to support the Fire 
Services designated at a level of service mutually agreed upon by both parties and as set 
forth in Exhibit “A” for the term of this Agreement.  This Exhibit may be amended in writing 
by mutual agreement by both parties or when a CITY requested increase or reduction in 
services is approved by COUNTY. 
 
 B.  COUNTY provides fire personnel and services through its CAL FIRE 
Agreement.  In the event CITY desires an increase or decrease in CAL FIRE or COUNTY 
civil service employees or services assigned to CITY as provided for in Exhibit “A,” CITY 
shall provide one hundred twenty (120) days’ written notice of the proposed requested 
increase or decrease. Proper notification shall include the following: (1) The total amount 
of increase or decrease; (2) The effective date of the increase or decrease; (3) The 
number of employees, by classification, affected by the proposed increase or decrease; 
and (4) the date the Notice is sent to COUNTY.  If such notice is not provided, CITY shall 
reimburse COUNTY for relocation costs incurred by COUNTY because of the increase or 
decrease, in addition to any other remedies available resulting from the increase or 
decrease in services.  COUNTY is under no obligation to approve any requested increase 
or decrease, and it is expressly understood by the parties that in no event will COUNTY 
authorize or approve CITY’s request to reduce services below the COUNTY Board of 
Supervisors approved staffing level for any fire station, or to reduce services to the extent 
that the services provided under this Agreement are borne by other jurisdictions. 
COUNTY shall render a written decision on whether to allow or deny the increase or 
decrease within thirty (30) days of the notice provided pursuant to this section. 
 
 C. CITY shall pay COUNTY actual costs for Fire Services pursuant to this 
Agreement. COUNTY shall make a claim to CITY for the actual cost of contracted 
services, pursuant to Exhibit “A,” on a quarterly basis.  The COUNTY is mandated per 
Government Code section 51350 for full cost recovery.  CITY shall pay each claim, in full, 
within thirty (30) days after receipt thereof. 

 
D. Any changes to the salaries or expenses set forth in Exhibit “A” made 

necessary by action of the Legislature, CAL FIRE, or any other public agency with 
authority to direct changes in the level of salaries or expenses, shall be paid from the 
funds represented as set forth in Exhibit “A.”  The CITY is obligated to expend or 
appropriate any sum in excess of Exhibit “A” increased by action of the Legislature, CAL 
FIRE, or any other public agency with authority to direct changes.  If within thirty (30) days 
after notice, in writing, from COUNTY to CITY that the actual cost of maintaining the 
services specified in Exhibit “A” as a result of action by the Legislature, CAL FIRE, or 
other public agency will exceed the total amount specified therein, and CITY has not 
agreed to make available the necessary additional funds, COUNTY shall have the right 
to unilaterally reduce the services furnished under this Agreement by an appropriate 
amount and shall promptly notify CITY, in writing, specifying the services to be reduced.  
Any COUNTY or CAL FIRE personnel reduction resulting solely due to an increase in 
employee salaries or expenses occurring after signing this Agreement and set forth in 

Page 214

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
3 of 10 

Exhibit “A” that CITY does not agree to fund, as described above, shall not be subject to 
relocation expense reimbursement by CITY.  If CITY desires to add funds to the total 
included herein to cover the cost of increased salaries or services necessitated by actions 
described in this paragraph, such increase shall be accomplished by an additional 
appropriation by the City Council of CITY, and an amendment to Exhibits “A” and “C” 
approved by the parties hereto. 
  
 E. Chief Deputy County Fire, as the COUNTY Contract Administrator, may be 
authorized to negotiate and execute any amendments to Exhibit “A” or Exhibit “C” of this 
Agreement on behalf of COUNTY as authorized by the Board of Supervisors.  CITY shall 
designate a “Contract Administrator” who shall, under the supervision and direction of 
CITY, be authorized to execute amendments to Exhibit “A” or “C” on behalf of CITY. 
 

F. _______ [   ] (Check only if applicable, and please initial to acknowledge) Additional terms 
as set forth in the attached Exhibit “B” are incorporated herein and shall additionally apply 
to this agreement regarding payment of services. 

 
G. _______ [   ] (Check only if applicable, and please initial to acknowledge)  Additional terms 

as set forth in the attached Exhibit “C” are incorporated herein and shall additionally apply 
to this agreement regarding payment for the Fire Engine Use Agreement. 

 
H. _______ [   ] (Check only if applicable, and please initial to acknowledge) Additional terms 

as set forth in the attached Exhibit “D” are incorporated herein and shall additionally apply 
to this agreement regarding payment for Fire Marshall Services. 

 
I.  Notwithstanding Paragraph G, as it relates to the Fire Engine Use 

Agreement, if applicable, additional terms as set forth are incorporated herein and shall 
additionally apply to this Agreement regarding payment of services.  In the event that a 
fire engine, owned and maintained by the CITY has a catastrophic failure or is requested 
by the CITY, the COUNTY Fire Chief or Chief Deputy County Fire may allow use of a 
COUNTY fire engine, free of charge up to one hundred twenty (120) days.  After the initial 
one hundred twenty (120) days, a rental fee will be applied to the CITY invoice for use of 
said COUNTY fire engine.  The rental fee shall be Two Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-
Five Dollars ($2,285) per day, or Fifteen Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Five Dollars 
($15,995) per week, not including equipment.   

 
J. Notwithstanding Paragraph H, as it relates to Fire Marshal services, if 

applicable, additional terms as set forth are incorporated herein and shall additionally 
apply to this agreement regarding Fire Marshal services.  In the event the CITY elects not 
to use Fire Marshal services outlined in Paragraph H (Exhibit “D”), the services must be 
provided by the COUNTY Office of the Fire Marshal pursuant to Health and Safety Code 
sections 13145 and 13146 and at a cost to the developer as outlined in COUNTY 
Ordinance No. 671 (Establishing Consolidated Fees For Land Use and Related 
Functions).  Any services not provided for under Ordinance No. 671  will be at a cost to 
the CITY based upon the COUNTY-approved productive hourly rate for cost recovery. 

 

Page 215

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
4 of 10 

K. In the event that a COUNTY owned squad, patrol (Type VI), or light vehicle 
is requested by the CITY for temporary operational use, the COUNTY Fire Chief or Chief 
Deputy County Fire may allow use of a COUNTY squad, patrol (Type VI), or light vehicle, 
free of charge up to one hundred twenty (120) days.  After the initial one hundred twenty 
(120) days, a rental fee will be applied to the CITY invoice for use of said COUNTY squad, 
patrol (Type VI) or light vehicle as follows.   
 

1. The squad rental fee shall be Fifty-two Dollars ($52) per day; or Three 
Hundred Sixty-two Dollars ($362) per week, not including equipment or fuel. 

 
2. The patrol rental fee shall be Sixty-seven Dollars ($67) per day; or Four 

Hundred Seventy-one Dollars ($471) per week, not including equipment or 
fuel. 

 

3. The light vehicle rental fee shall be Twenty-nine Dollars ($29) per day; or 
Two Hundred Four Dollars ($204) per week, not including equipment or fuel. 

 
SECTION IV:  INITIAL TERM AND AMENDMENT 
 

A. The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2024, to June 30, 2029. 
 
 B. One (1) year prior to the date of expiration of this Agreement, CITY shall 
give COUNTY written notice of whether CITY intends to enter into a new Agreement with 
COUNTY for Fire Services and, if so, whether CITY intends to request a change in the 
level of Fire Services provided under this Agreement. 
  
SECTION V:  TERMINATION 
 
 During the term of this Agreement, this Agreement may only be terminated by the 
voters of either the COUNTY or the CITY pursuant to Government Code section 55603.5. 
  
SECTION VI:  COOPERATIVE OPERATIONS 
 
 All Fire Services contemplated under this Agreement shall be performed by both 
parties to this Agreement working as one unit; therefore, personnel and/or equipment 
belonging to either CITY or COUNTY may be temporarily dispatched elsewhere from time 
to time for mutual aid. 
 
SECTION VII:  MUTUAL AID 
 
 Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Sections 13050 et seq., when rendering 
mutual aid or assistance, COUNTY may, at the request of CITY, demand payment of 
charges and seek reimbursement of CITY costs for personnel, equipment use, and 
operating expenses as funded herein, under authority given by Health and Safety Code 
sections 13051 and 13054.  COUNTY, in seeking said reimbursement pursuant to such 
request of CITY, shall represent the CITY by following the procedures set forth in Health 

Page 216

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
5 of 10 

and Safety Code Section 13052.  Any recovery of CITY costs, less actual expenses, shall 
be paid or credited to the CITY, as directed by CITY. 
 
 In all such instances, COUNTY shall give timely notice of the possible application 
of Health and Safety Code sections 13051 and 13054 to the officer designated by CITY. 
 
SECTION VIII:  SUPPRESSION COST RECOVERY 
 
 As provided in Health and Safety Code section 13009, County Ordinance No. 
787.10, Section 5.D.2., and California Fire Code, COUNTY may bring an action for 
collection of suppression costs of any fire caused by negligence, violation of law, or failure 
to correct noticed fire safety violations.  Additionally, COUNTY may bring action for 
collection to any person who negligently, intentionally or in violation of law causes an 
emergency response, including, but not limited to, a traffic accident, spill of toxic or 
flammable fluids or chemicals is liable for the costs of securing such emergency, including 
those costs pursuant to Government Code section 53150 et seq. as may be amended 
from time to time. When using CITY equipment and personnel under the terms of this 
Agreement, COUNTY may bring such actions for collection of costs incurred by CITY and 
the COUNTY.  In such a case CITY appoints and designates COUNTY as its agent in 
said collection proceedings.  In the event of recovery, COUNTY shall apportion the 
recovered amount via the annual Cost Allocation Plan.  This recovery does not include 
CITY resources outside of this Cooperative Agreement.  Those resources would require 
the CITY to obtain cost recovery directly. 
 
 In all such instances, COUNTY shall give timely notice of the possible application 
of Health and Safety Code section 13009 to the officer designated by CITY. 
 
SECTION IX:  PROPERTY ACCOUNTING 
 
 All personal property provided by CITY and by COUNTY for the purpose of 
providing Fire Services under the terms of this Agreement shall be marked and accounted 
for in such a manner as to conform to the standard operating procedure established by 
the COUNTY for the segregation, care, and use of the respective property of each. 
 
SECTION X:  FACILITY 
 
 CITY shall provide Fire Station(s), strategically located to provide standard 
response time within the City of Coachella from which fire operations shall be conducted.  
If the Fire Station(s) are owned by the CITY, the CITY shall maintain the facilities at CITY’s 
cost and expense.  In the event CITY requests COUNTY to undertake repairs or 
maintenance costs or services, the costs and expenses of such repairs or maintenance 
shall be reimbursed to COUNTY through the Support Services Cost Allocation, or as a 
direct Invoice to the CITY. 
 
 
 

Page 217

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
6 of 10 

SECTION XI:  INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 
 
  To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, COUNTY shall and does agree 
to indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless CITY, its agencies, districts, special 
districts and departments, their respective directors, officers, elected and appointed 
officials, employees, agents and representatives (collectively, "Indemnitees") for, from 
and against any and all liabilities, claims, damages, losses, liens, causes of action, suits, 
awards, judgments and expenses, attorney and/or consultant fees and costs, taxable or 
otherwise, of any nature, kind or description of any person or entity, directly or indirectly 
arising out of, caused by, or resulting from (1) the Services performed hereunder by 
COUNTY, or any part thereof, (2) the Agreement, including any approved amendments 
or modifications, or (3) any negligent act or omission of COUNTY, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, agents, or representatives (collectively, "Liabilities").  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the only Liabilities with respect to which COUNTY’s obligation to indemnify, 
including the cost to defend, the Indemnitees does not apply is with respect to Liabilities 
resulting from the negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnitee, or to the extent such 
claims do not arise out of, pertain to or relate to the Scope of Work in the Agreement. 

 
To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, CITY shall and does agree to 

indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless COUNTY, its agencies, departments, 
directors, officers, agents, Board of Supervisors, elected and appointed officials and 
representatives (collectively, "Indemnitees") for, from and against any and all liabilities, 
claims, damages, losses, liens, causes of action, suits, awards, judgments and expenses, 
attorney and/or consultant fees and costs, taxable or otherwise, of any nature, kind or 
description of any person or entity, directly or indirectly arising out of, caused by, or 
resulting from (1) the services performed hereunder, by CITY, or any part thereof, (2) the 
Agreement, including any approved amendments or modifications, or (3) any negligent 
act or omission of CITY its officers, employees, subcontractors, agents, or 
representatives (collectively, "Liabilities").  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the only 
Liabilities with respect to which CITY’s obligation to indemnify, including the cost to 
defend, the Indemnitees does not apply is with respect to Liabilities resulting from the 
negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnitee, or to the extent such claims do not 
arise out of, pertain to or relate to the Scope of Work in the Agreement. 
  
SECTION XII:  AUDIT 
 

A. COUNTY and CITY agree that their designated representative shall have 
the right to review and to copy any records and supporting documentation of the other 
party hereto, pertaining to the performance of this Agreement. COUNTY and CITY agree 
to maintain such records for possible audit for a minimum of three (3) years after final 
payment, unless a longer period of records retention is stipulated or as required by law, 
and to allow the auditor(s) of the other party access to such records during normal 
business hours COUNTY and CITY agree to a similar right to audit records in any 
subcontract related to performance of this Agreement.  (Gov. Code, § 8546.7.) 

 
B. Each party shall bear their own costs in performing a requested audit. 

Page 218

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
7 of 10 

SECTION XIII:  DISPUTES 
 
 CITY shall select and appoint a “Contract Administrator” who shall, under the 
supervision and direction of CITY, be available for contract resolution or policy 
intervention with COUNTY, when, upon determination by the Chief or County Contract 
Administrator that a situation exists under this Agreement in which a decision to serve the 
interest of CITY has the potential to conflict with COUNTY interest or policy.  Any dispute 
concerning a question of fact arising under the terms of this Agreement which is not 
disposed of within a reasonable period of time by the CITY and COUNTY employees 
normally responsible for the administration of this Agreement shall be brought to the 
attention of the Chief Executive Officer (or designated representative) of each 
organization for joint resolution.  For purposes of this provision, a “reasonable period of 
time” shall be ten (10) calendar days or less.  CITY and COUNTY agree to continue with 
the responsibilities under this Agreement during any dispute. Disputes that are not 
resolved informally by and between CITY and COUNTY representatives may be resolved, 
by mutual agreement of the parties, through mediation. Such mediator will be jointly 
selected by the parties.  The costs associated with mediator shall be shared equally 
among the participating parties.  If the mediation does not resolve the issue(s), or if the 
parties cannot agree to mediation, the parties reserve the right to seek remedies as 
provided by law or in equity.  The parties agree, pursuant to Battaglia Enterprises v. 
Superior Court (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 309, that each of the parties are sophisticated and 
negotiated this agreement and this venue at arm’s length. Pursuant to this Agreement, 
the parties agree that venue for litigation shall be in the Superior Court of Riverside 
County. Should any party attempt to defeat this section and challenge venue in Superior 
Court, the party challenging venue stipulates to request the Court change venue to San 
Bernardino County and shall not ask for venue in any other County. 
 
 Any claims or causes of actions, whether they arise out of unresolved disputes as 
specified in this Section or claims by third parties that are made against the COUNTY, 
shall be submitted to the Office of the Clerk of the Board for the County of Riverside in a 
timely manner. For claims that involve CAL FIRE employees, the claims shall be 
submitted to State of California Office of Risk and Insurance Management Department of 
General Services directly for processing.   
 
SECTION XIV:  ATTORNEYS’ FEES 
  
 If CITY fails to remit payments for services rendered pursuant to any provision of 
this Agreement, COUNTY may seek recovery of fees through litigation, in addition to all 
other remedies available. 
 
 In the event of litigation between COUNTY and CITY to enforce any of the 
provisions of this Agreement or any right of either party hereto, the unsuccessful party to 
such litigation agrees to pay the prevailing party’s costs and expenses, including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees, all of which shall be included in and as a part of the judgment 
rendered in such litigation. 
 

Page 219

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
8 of 10 

SECTION XV:  DELIVERY OF NOTICES 
 
 Any notices to be served pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered delivered 
when deposited in the United States mail and addressed to: 
 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE  CITY OF COACHELLA 
Riverside County Fire Chief  City Manager 
210 West San Jacinto Avenue  53990 Enterprise Way 
Perris, CA  92570  Coachella, CA 92236 

 
 Provisions of this section do not preclude any notices being delivered in person to 
the addresses shown above.  Delivery in person shall constitute service hereunder, 
effective when such service is made. 
 
SECTION XVI: PUBLIC RECORDS ACT REQUESTS 
 
 The parties understand and acknowledge that, as public agencies, COUNTY and 
CITY are required to comply with the Public Records Act (“PRA,” Gov. Code, § 7920 et 
seq.), which provides for the right of access to public records and other information in the 
event of the receipt of a qualifying request under the PRA.  The parties understand and 
acknowledge that such compliance may require disclosure of all relevant, non-exempt 
documents that fall within the scope of a qualifying request under the PRA, including 
documents received from and/or concerning the other party to this Agreement.      
 
SECTION XVII:  ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE 
 
 This agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
will be an original, but all of which together will constitute one instrument.  Each party of 
this agreement agrees to the use of electronic signatures, such as digital signatures that 
meet the requirements of the California Uniform Electronic Transaction Act ((“CUETA”) 
Civ. Code, §§ 1633.1 to 1633.17), for executing this agreement.  The parties further agree 
that the electronic signatures of the parties included in this agreement are intended to 
authenticate this writing and to have the same force and effect as manual signatures.  
Electronic signature means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to or 
logically associated with an electronic record and executed or adopted by a person with 
the intent to sign the electronic record pursuant to the CUETA as amended from time to 
time.  The CUETA authorizes use of an electronic signature for  transactions and 
contracts among parties in California, including a government agency.  Digital signature 
means an electronic identifier, created by computer, intended by the party using it to have 
the same force and effect as the use of a manual signature, and shall be reasonably relied 
upon by the parties.  For purposes of this section, a digital signature is a type of “electronic 
signature” as defined in subdivision (i) of Section 1633.2 of the Civil Code. 
 
 
 
 

Page 220

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
9 of 10 

SECTION XVIII:  ENTIRE CONTRACT 
 
 This Agreement contains the whole contract between the parties for the provision 
of Fire Services.  It may be amended or modified upon the mutual written consent of the 
parties hereto where in accordance with applicable state law.  This Agreement does NOT 
supplement other specific agreements entered into by both parties for equipment or 
facilities, and excepting those equipment or facilities agreements, this Agreement cancels 
and supersedes any previous agreement for the same or similar services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Provisions on following page] 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 221

Item 18.



 
Cooperative Fire Agreement 

City of Coachella 
July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 

 
10 of 10 

IN WITNESS, WHEREOF, the duly authorized officials of the parties hereto have, in their 
respective capacities, set their hands as of the date first hereinabove written. 
 
 

CITY OF COACHELLA 
 
 
Dated: ___________________________ By: _____________________________ 
             Dr. Gabriel Martin, City Manager 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: _____________________________  By: _____________________________ 
      Delia Granados, Deputy City Clerk        Carlos Campos, City Attorney 
   
 
               

 
 
 
 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, a political 
subdivision of the State of California 

 
 
Dated: ___________________________ By: _____________________________ 
             Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
KIMBERLY A. RECTOR    MINH C. TRAN, 
Clerk of the Board     County Counsel 
 
 
By: _____________________________  By: _____________________________ 
      Deputy            MELISSA R. CUSHMAN 
                       Deputy County Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contract Cities\COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT\TEMPLATE\COOPERATIVE AGREEMENTS\DRAFTS\TEMPLATE COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT DRAFT 20240101.docx 

Page 222

Item 18.



CAPTAINS CAPTAIN 
MEDICS ENGINEERS ENGINEER 

MEDICS FF II FFII 
MEDICS TOTALS

STA #79
Medic Engine 807,784 3 712,096 3 615,191 3 2,135,071 9
Medic Squad (Nov - Jun) 712,096 3 699,793 3 823,602 6

SUBTOTALS 807,784 712,096 615,191 699,793 $2,958,673
3 6 3 3 15.00

96,537 96,537 1
183,114 122,076 0.7
210,212 140,141 0.7

$358,754 16

26,620 435,763 16.37
9,914 9,914 1

13,898        2,720     56,444 3.38
7,655 114,818 15
36.51          26,489   151,020

81,675 81,675 1
38.08          27,633   157,536

427.33        1,777     8,669
3,151          11,857   20,246

1,036,084

38,584
36,250 36,250 1

271,515 12.5%

17.4
$4,699,860

1 15.0
3,411 0.24

3.67 1.13
2 ** 16.37
1
2

ESTIMATE

COACHELLA
JULY 9, 2024 – FY2024/2025

SUBTOTAL STAFF

OFFICE ASSISTANT III (PCN 00138778) each

SUBTOTAL
DEPUTY FIRE MARSHAL (Nov - Jun) each
FIRE SAFETY SPECIALIST (Nov - Jun) each

Medic FTE and

per assigned Staff
Per Entity Allocation

per Fire Station Staff

per Fire Suppression Equip

per Defib

COOPERATIVE TRUCK AGREEMENT 12.5%

          Fleet Support (Schedule F)
per Station

per Station

per Station

DIRECT CHARGES
FIRE ENGINE USE AGREEMENT each engine

          Comm/IT Support (Schedule G)

          Administrative/Operational (Schedule A)
          Volunteer Program (Schedule B)
          Medic Program (Schedule C)
          Battalion Chief Support (Schedule D)
          ECC Support (Schedule E) per Call and

          Hazmat Support (Schedule I)
          Facility Support (Schedule H)

SUPPORT SERVICES ESTIMATE  SUBTOTAL

TOTAL STAFF COUNT
NET ESTIMATED  CITY BUDGET

Assigned Staff

per Call and

per Call and
per Station

Assigned Medic FTE
Number of Calls
Fire Stations

SUPPORT SERVICES ESTIMATE  (Fire Cost Allocation Plan)

Facility Station/FTE

Indio Truck (12.5%)
Total Assigned Staff

Battalion Chief Allocation

Number of Hazmat Calls
Hazmat Stations
Monitors/Defibs 

FY24/25 ESTIMATE
CITY OF COACHELLA

Page 1 of 2
Page 223

Item 18.



381,708 36,250
376,698 26,620      
315,635 9,914        
269,261 13,898      
302,696 2,720        
237,365 7,655        
267,899 26,489      
205,064 36.51        
233,264 81,675      
144,534 27,633      
110,278 38.08        
210,212 1,777        
145,731 427.33      
114,663 11,857      
205,757 3,151.42   
183,114 2,087        
159,587

96,537 OFFICE ASSISTANT III

FF II ECC CALLS
FLEET SUPPORT

Hazmat Program - Support staff, operating costs, and vehicle replacement 

Facility Support - Facility maintenance staff with associated operating costs.

EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT II
FIRE SAFETY SUPERVISOR
FIRE SAFETY SPECIALIST

COMM/IT STATION
COMM/IT CALLS
FACILITY STATION
FACILITY FTE

*Cost Assumptions:

- Non-Safety Staff based on FY24/25 estimates and Support Services from previous FY23/24 with 5% increase.
-  Benefits and Admin Fee based on Staff Benefit Rate Matrix FY 2024-25 dated January 2024 Preliminary
-  All Salaries based on PRELIM Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expenses Schedule FY 2024-2025 Dated February 14, 2024

Volunteer Program - Support staff, Workers Comp, and Personal Liability Insurance

Emergency Command Center Support - Dispatch services costs

    Defibrillator replacement cycle.

   as part of their contracted services.

Medic Program - Support staff, Training, Certification, Case Review & Reporting, Monitor/

Battalion Chief Support - Pooled BC coverage for Cities/Agencies that do not include BC staffing

Fleet Support - Support staff, automotive costs, vehicle/engine maintenance, fuel costs

FF II/MEDIC

   support functions

HAZMAT STATION
HAZMAT CALLS

ADMIN SVCS ANALYST II
ADMIN SVCS ASST
DEPUTY FIRE MARSHAL
EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICE SPEC

FY 24/25 POSITION SALARIES TOP STEP

HAZMAT VEHICLE REPLACEMENT
FIRE SYSTEMS INSPECTOR

ENG/MEDIC ECC STATION

DEPUTY CHIEF FIRE ENGINE
DIV CHIEF SRVDEL
BAT CHIEF VOL DEL
CAPT MEDIC FTE

Communications / IT Support - Support staff, communications, radio maintenance, computer

CAPT MEDIC MEDIC MONITORS/DEFIBS REPLACEMENT
ENG BC SUPPORT

SUPPORT SERVICES (Fire Cost Allocation Plan)

Office Supplies/Equip.
Fire Fighting Equip.
Procurement
Public Affairs / Education

Administrative & Operational Services

   Personnel
   Data Processing
   Training
   Finance / Accounting

FY24/25 ESTIMATE
CITY OF COACHELLA

Page 2 of 2
Page 224

Item 18.



FY24/25 Exhibit “B” 
CITY OF COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2029 
Page 1 of 2 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

TO THE COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 
TO PROVIDE FIRE PROTECTION, FIRE PREVENTION, RESCUE, FIRE MARSHAL 

AND MEDICAL EMERGENCY SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF COACHELLA 
DATED JULY 1, 2024 

 
PAYMENT FOR SERVICES 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
FIRE ENGINE USE AGREEMENT 

 
Station 79 
Engine E79, RCO No. 07-869 (VIN: 4S7CT2D9X7C055426)    
 
  The Fire Engine Use Agreement is utilized in the event that a fire engine(s) 
which was initially purchased by the CITY, and then the CITY elects to have the COUNTY 
take responsibility of said fire engine(s).  The Fire Engine Use Agreement guarantees the 
CITY the use of this fire engine(s), the COUNTY network of equipment, and resources of 
the COUNTY. 
 
  This fire engine(s) shall be used as an integrated unit for Fire Services as 
set forth in this Cooperative Agreement between the COUNTY and CITY, and shall be 
stationed primarily in the CITY.  The change in ownership of the fire engine does not 
waive or supersede any responsibilities of the CITY pursuant to this agreement.  This 
exhibit is strictly to further detail for the CITY, the responsibilities and costs associated 
within the Cooperative Agreement between the COUNTY and CITY; therefore, the Fire 
Engine Use Agreement is inseparable. 
 

           The CITY will have the option of transferring title of said fire engine(s) to the 
COUNTY.  If the CITY transfers title of said fire engine(s) to the County, the County will 
take ownership of the said fire engine(s), and the County will maintain insurance on said 
fire engine(s).  If the CITY opts to maintain ownership and title of said fire engine(s), the 
CITY will maintain insurance on said fire engine(s).  Proof of Insurance is to be provided 
to the COUNTY. 
 

 The COUNTY will ensure a working fire engine(s) is available for the CITY 
at all times under this agreement.  All capital improvements and/or betterments to the fire 
engine(s) listed above, will be the responsibility and paid for by the owner of said fire 
engine(s).  All other maintenance and repairs to the fire engine(s) listed above, will be the 
responsibility and paid for by the COUNTY under this Agreement. 
 
  When the Riverside County Fire Department Fleet personnel determine the 
fire engine(s) listed above is due for replacement, the COUNTY will purchase a new fire 
engine(s); and, the owner of the old fire engine(s) may survey said fire engine(s) or 
reallocate as a second roll response fire engine. 
 
  The annual cost for this service is calculated at 1/20 of the replacement 
cost.  The current replacement cost is $725,000.  If this Agreement is entered into mid-

Page 225

Item 18.



FY24/25 Exhibit “B” 
CITY OF COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2029 
Page 2 of 2 

year, the annual cost will be prorated accordingly.  Replacement cost is subject to change 
based on current Type I Fire Engine cost. See each respective fiscal year’s Exhibit “A” 
for current Fire Engine Use Agreement costs. 
 

           The CITY may opt out of this Agreement at any time in writing and the costs 
will be prorated accordingly by fiscal year.  No refunds will be provided for any prior 
payments.  If the fire engine(s) have been titled to the COUNTY and the fire engine(s) are 
still within their useful life cycle, the ownership will not revert back to the CITY unless the 
entire Cooperative Agreement is terminated. 

Page 226

Item 18.



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA, & COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 
1 of 8 

A COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF INDIO, THE CITY OF LA 
QUINTA, THE CITY OF COACHELLA, AND THE COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE TO 

SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) was made and entered into this ______ day of 
___________, 2024, by and between the County of Riverside, a political subdivision of 
the State of California, on behalf of the Fire Department (hereinafter referred to as 
“COUNTY”), and the City of Indio, City of La Quinta, and the City of Coachella, each a 
duly created city (hereinafter each a “CITY” and collectively the “CITIES”).  COUNTY and 
CITIES are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Parties.” 
 
SECTION I:  PURPOSE 
 

A. The COUNTY has contracted with the CITIES individually for the provision 
of Fire Protection, Fire Prevention, Rescue, and Medical Services in a separate 
cooperative agreement, respectively. 
 

B. The CITIES and COUNTY desire to enter into a cost sharing agreement for 
a ladder truck which will be of mutual benefit for all involved agencies. 
 

C. The CITIES and COUNTY believe the ladder truck staffing cost should be 
equitably distributed to the participating agencies. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED as follows: 
 
SECTION II:  COOPERATIVE OPERATIONS 
 
 Emergency Responses:  The ladder truck shall be dispatched, when available, to 
all residential and commercial structure fires within the jurisdictions of the CITIES and 
COUNTY.  The ladder truck shall also be utilized for staffing and expertise in other 
emergencies relating to entrapment and medical emergencies.  The truck shall be located 
in a position to provide a response time of fifteen minutes, or less, to the CITIES. 
 
SECTION III:  COST SHARE 
 
 The Parties agree the cost of the ladder truck shall be billed to CITIES by the 
COUNTY with the normal quarterly billing pursuant to the CITIES’ respective cooperative 
agreements, and the cost will be shown as a line item on that bill.  The CITIES will receive 
an estimated cost of the ladder truck staffing based on the top step salaries of the 
personnel assigned to the ladder truck, at the first of the fiscal year.  The cost pool of the 
ladder truck shall consist of the salaries of 2.3 Fire Captains, 2.3 Fire Apparatus 
Engineers, 3 Firefighter II Paramedics, and 1.4 Firefighters II.  A maintenance budget of 
$20,000 will also be included in the cost pool.  The cost shall be allocated as follows:  the 
City  of Indio contributing fifty percent (50%), the County of Riverside contributing twenty-
five percent (25%), and the cities of La Quinta and Coachella each contributing twelve 

Page 227

Item 18.



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA, & COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 
2 of 8 

and one half percent (12.5%) of the actual cost of the staffing and maintenance of the 
ladder truck. 
 
SECTION IV:  TERM 
 
 The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2024, to June 30, 2029.  Any party 
to this Agreement may terminate this Agreement by providing a written notice of 
termination to the other parties hereto no less than one (1) year prior to the expiration of 
the term hereof.  If such notice is given unilaterally by COUNTY except any notice issued 
because of actions of the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection 
(hereinafter “CAL FIRE”) or CITIES, COUNTY agrees to continue to provide Fire Services 
to CITIES until such time as CITIES have a reasonable opportunity to implement 
alternative Fire Services.  In no event shall this Agreement be terminated by either party 
after June 30, 2027. 
 
SECTION V:  INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS 
 

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, COUNTY shall and does agree 
to indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless CITIES, their agencies, districts, special 
districts and departments, their respective directors, officers, elected and appointed 
officials, employees, agents and representatives (collectively, "City Indemnitees") for, 
from and against any and all liabilities, claims, damages, losses, liens, causes of action, 
suits, awards, judgments and expenses, attorney and/or consultant fees and costs, 
taxable or otherwise, of any nature, kind or description of any person or entity, directly or 
indirectly arising out of, caused by, or resulting from (1) the services performed hereunder 
by COUNTY, or any part thereof, (2) the Agreement, including any approved 
amendments or modifications, or (3) any negligent act or omission of COUNTY, its 
officers, employees, subcontractors, agents, or representatives (collectively, "County 
Liabilities").  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the only County Liabilities with respect to 
which COUNTY’s obligation to indemnify, including the cost to defend, the City 
Indemnitees does not apply is with respect to County Liabilities resulting from the 
negligence or willful misconduct of a City Indemnitee, or to the extent such claims do not 
arise out of, pertain to or relate to the Scope of Work in the Agreement. 
 
 To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, but subject to the limits in this 
paragraph, each CITY shall and does agree to indemnify, protect, defend and hold 
harmless COUNTY, its agencies, departments, directors, officers, agents, Board of 
Supervisors, elected and appointed officials and representatives (collectively, "County 
Indemnitees") for, from and against any and all liabilities, claims, damages, losses, liens, 
causes of action, suits, awards, judgments and expenses, attorney and/or consultant fees 
and costs, taxable or otherwise, of any nature, kind or description of any person or entity, 
directly or indirectly arising out of, caused by, or resulting from (1) the services performed 
hereunder by the respective CITY, or any part thereof, (2) the Agreement, including any 
approved amendments or modifications, or (3) any negligent act or omission of the 
respective CITY, its officers, employees, subcontractors, agents, or representatives 
(collectively, "City Liabilities").  No CITY shall be required to indemnify, protect, defend 

Page 228

Item 18.



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA, & COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 
3 of 8 

and hold harmless County Indemnitees for the acts or omissions of another CITY giving 
rise to City Liabilities in that other City pursuant to this Agreement.  Furthermore, and 
notwithstanding the first sentence of this paragraph, the City Liabilities with respect to 
which each CITY’s obligation to indemnify, including the cost to defend, the County 
Indemnitees does not apply with respect to City Liabilities resulting from the negligence 
or willful misconduct of a County Indemnitee, or to the extent such claims do not arise out 
of, pertain to or relate to the Scope of Work in the Agreement. 
 
SECTION VI:  OWNERSHIP, MAINTENANCE, REPAIRS 
 
 The City of Indio owns the ladder truck and maintains the insurance on said ladder 
truck.  The ladder truck maintenance and/or repair costs shall be paid through the cost 
allocation plan or as a direct invoice allocated to each party, with the City of Indio 
contributing fifty percent (50%), the County of Riverside contributing twenty-five percent 
(25%), and the cities of La Quinta and Coachella each contributing twelve and one half 
percent (12.5%) of the actual cost of the maintenance and/or repair of the ladder truck. 
 
SECTION VII:  DELIVERY OF NOTICES 
 
 All notices permitted or required under this Agreement shall be given to the 
respective parties at the following address, or at such other addresses as the respective 
parties may provide in writing for this purpose. 
 

CITY OF COACHELLA    CITY OF INDIO 
City Manager      City Manager 
53990 Enterprise Way    100 Civic Center Mall 
Coachella, CA 92236    Indio, CA 92201 

 
CITY OF LA QUINTA     COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 
City Manager      County Fire Chief 
78-495 Calle Tampico    210 West San Jacinto Avenue 
La Quinta, CA 92247    Perris, CA 92570  

 
 Any notice required to be given hereunder to either party shall be given by personal 
delivery or be deposited in the U.S. mail to the address listed, certified with return receipt 
requested, and pre-paid postage affixed.  Such notice shall be deemed made when 
personally delivered or when mailed.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on 
the date actual notice occurred, regardless of method of service. 
 
SECTION VIII: GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

A. ALTERATION OF TERMS 
 

No addition to, or alteration of, the terms of this Agreement, whether by written or 
verbal understanding of the Parties, their officers, agents, or employees, shall be valid 

Page 229

Item 18.



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA, & COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 
4 of 8 

unless made in the form of a written amendment to this Agreement, which is formally 
approved and executed by both Parties. 
 

B. DISPUTES  
 

CITIES shall select and appoint a “Contract Administrator” who shall, under the 
supervision and direction of CITIES, be available for contract resolution or policy 
intervention with COUNTY, when, upon determination by the Chief that a situation exists 
under this Agreement in which a decision to serve the interest of CITIES has the potential 
to conflict with COUNTY interest or policy.  Any dispute concerning a question of fact 
arising under the terms of this Agreement which is not disposed of within a reasonable 
period of time by the CITIES and COUNTY employees normally responsible for the 
administration of this Agreement shall be brought to the attention of the Chief Executive 
Officer (or designated representative) of each organization for joint resolution.  For 
purposes of this provision, a “reasonable period of time” shall be ten (10) calendar days 
or less.  CITIES and COUNTY agree to continue with the responsibilities under this 
Agreement during any dispute. Disputes that are not resolved informally by and between 
CITIES and COUNTY representatives may be resolved, by mutual agreement of the 
Parties, through mediation. Such mediator will be jointly selected by the Parties.  The 
costs associated with mediator shall be shared equally among the participating parties.  
If the mediation does not resolve the issue(s), or if the Parties cannot agree to mediation, 
the Parties reserve the right to seek remedies as provided by law or in equity.  The Parties 
agree, pursuant to Battaglia Enterprises v. Superior Court (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 309, 
that each of the Parties is sophisticated and negotiated this Agreement and this venue at 
arm’s length. Pursuant to this Agreement, the Parties agree that venue for litigation shall 
be in the Superior Court of Riverside County. Should any party attempt to defeat this 
section and challenge venue in Superior Court, the party challenging venue stipulates to 
request the Court change venue to San Bernardino County and shall not ask for venue in 
any other County. 
 

Any claims or causes of actions, whether they arise out of unresolved disputes as 
specified in this Section or claims by third parties that are made against the COUNTY, 
shall be submitted to the Office of the Clerk of the Board for the County of Riverside in a 
timely manner. For claims made against the COUNTY that involve CAL FIRE employees, 
to the extent permissible under the COUNTY’s contract with CAL FIRE, the claims will be 
forwarded on to CAL FIRE for processing. 
 

C. WAIVER 
 
 Any waiver by any of the Parties, separately or collectively, of any breach of any 
one or more of the terms of this Agreement shall not be construed to be a waiver of any 
subsequent or other breach of the same or of any other term thereof.  Failure on the part 
of the Parties to require exact, full and complete compliance with any terms of this 
Agreement shall not be construed as in any manner changing the terms hereof or 
estopping any one of the CITIES or COUNTY from enforcement hereof. 
 

Page 230

Item 18.



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA, & COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 
5 of 8 

D. SEVERABILITY 
 
 If any provision in this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions will nevertheless continue in full 
force without being impaired or invalidated in any way. 
 

E.  ADMINISTRATION 
 
  1.  The COUNTY Fire Chief shall administer this Agreement on behalf of 
the County of Riverside. 
 
  2.  Each CITY’s respective City Manager shall administer this Agreement 
on behalf of its own CITY. 
 

F. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 
 

If CITIES fail to remit payments for services rendered pursuant to any provision of 
this Agreement, COUNTY may seek recovery of fees through litigation, in addition to all 
other remedies available. 
 
 In the event of litigation between COUNTY and CITIES to enforce any of the 
provisions of this Agreement or any right of either party hereto, the unsuccessful party to 
such litigation agrees to pay the prevailing party’s costs and expenses, including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees, all of which shall be included in and as a part of the judgment 
rendered in such litigation. 
 

G. PUBLIC RECORDS ACT REQUESTS 
 

The Parties understand and acknowledge that, as public agencies, COUNTY and 
CITIES are required to comply with the Public Records Act (“PRA,” Gov. Code, § 7920 et 
seq.), which provides for the right of access to public records and other information in the 
event of the receipt of a qualifying request under the PRA.  The Parties understand and 
acknowledge that such compliance may require disclosure of all relevant, non-exempt 
documents that fall within the scope of a qualifying request under the PRA, including 
documents received from and/or concerning the other party to this Agreement. 
 

H. ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE 
 
 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 
will be an original, but all of which together will constitute one instrument.  Each party of 
this Agreement agrees to the use of electronic signatures, such as digital signatures that 
meet the requirements of the California Uniform Electronic Transaction Act ((“CUETA”) 
Civ. Code, §§ 1633.1 to 1633.17), for executing this agreement.  The Parties further agree 
that the electronic signatures of the Parties included in this Agreement are intended to 
authenticate this writing and to have the same force and effect as manual signatures.  
Electronic signature means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to or 

Page 231

Item 18.



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA, & COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 
6 of 8 

logically associated with an electronic record and executed or adopted by a person with 
the intent to sign the electronic record pursuant to the CUETA as amended from time to 
time.  The CUETA authorizes use of an electronic signature for  transactions and 
contracts among parties in California, including a government agency.  Digital signature 
means an electronic identifier, created by computer, intended by the party using it to have 
the same force and effect as the use of a manual signature, and shall be reasonably relied 
upon by the Parties.  For purposes of this section, a digital signature is a type of “electronic 
signature” as defined in subdivision (i) of Section 1633.2 of the Civil Code. 
 

I. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
 

This Agreement is intended by the Parties hereto as a final expression of their 
understanding, with respect to the subject matter hereof and as a complete and exclusive 
statement of the terms and conditions thereof and supersedes any and all prior and 
contemporaneous agreements and understandings, oral or written, in connection 
therewith. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PROVISIONS ON NEXT PAGE] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 232

Item 18.



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA, & COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 
7 of 8 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly authorized officials of the parties hereto have, 
in their respective capacities, set their hands as of the date first hereinabove written. 
 
 
       CITY OF COACHELLA 
 
 
 
Dated: __________________________  By: _____________________________ 
             Dr. Gabriel Martin, City Manager 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: _____________________________  By: _____________________________ 
       Delia Granados, Deputy City Clerk        Carlos Campos, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       CITY OF INDIO  
 
 
 
Dated: __________________________  By: _____________________________ 
             Lupe Ramos Amith, City Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: _____________________________  By: _____________________________ 
      Cynthia Hernandez, City Clerk        Roxanne Diaz, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[ADDITIONAL SIGNATURE PROVISIONS ON NEXT PAGE] 

Page 233

Item 18.



COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO SHARE THE COST OF A LADDER TRUCK COMPANY 
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA, & COACHELLA 

July 1, 2024 to June 30, 2029 
8 of 8 

       CITY OF LA QUINTA 
 
 
 
Dated: __________________________  By: _____________________________ 
             Jon McMillen, City Manager 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: _____________________________  By: _____________________________ 
      Monika Radeva, City Clerk         William H. Ihrke, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE, a political 
subdivision of the State of California 

 
 
 
Dated: __________________________  By: _____________________________ 
             Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
KIMBERLY A. RECTOR    MINH C. TRAN, 
Clerk of the Board     County Counsel 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________  By: _____________________________ 
      Deputy            MELISSA R. CUSHMAN, 

      Deputy County Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
F:\data\RRU County Finance\Contract Cities\COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT\COST SHARE LADDER TRUCK COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT - COACHELLA, INDIO, LA 
QUINTA, COUNTY\LADDER TRUCK Cooperative Agreement COACHELLA INDIO AND LA QUINTA 07012024-06302028 20240315.docx 

Page 234

Item 18.



CAPTAINS CAPTAIN 
MEDICS ENGINEERS ENGINEER 

MEDICS FF II FFII 
MEDICS TOTALS

TRUCK 86 619,301 2.3 545,940 2.3 287,089 1.4 699,793 3 2,152,123 9

20,000

$2,172,123

12.5% $271,515

50% $1,086,062

12.5% $271,515

25% $543,031

381,708
376,698
315,635
269,261
302,696
237,365
267,899
205,064
233,264

520230 522380
520300 522410
520320 522860
520800 522890
520805 523220
520830 523680
520840 523700
520845 523780
521380 523800
521440 526700
521500 526940
521502 527840
521540 529500
521660 529510
521680 529550
522310 537240
522340 542060
522360

Utitlity - Water
Maint-Building and Improvement Interfnd Exp-Utilities

Maint-Copier Machines Printing / Binding
Maint-Kitchen Equipment Rent-Lease Building
Maint-Motor Vehicles Locks/Keys

Laundry Services Office Equip Non Fixed Assets
Household Furnishings Office Supplies
Trash Printed Forms

Station Budgeted Maint-Bulding and Improvement Capital Improvements Remodeling

Maint-Accident Repairs Training - Education / Tuition
Maint-Office Equipment Utitlity - Electricity
Maint-Telephone Utitlity - Heating Fuel

Telephone Service Medical-Dental Supplies
Household Expense Pharmaceuticals
Appliances Licenses And Permits

*See notation below for estimate assumptions

FF II/MEDIC

ENG/MEDIC

ESTIMATED BUDGET

TRUCK MAINTENANCE

CAPT MEDIC
ENG

FF II

EXHIBIT "A"

FOR THE DESERT TRUCK SHARED WITH THE CITIES OF
COACHELLA, INDIO AND LA QUINTA 

APRIL 1, 2024 FOR FY2024/2025

TO THE COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE FIRE PREVENTION
RESCUE, FIRE MARSHAL AND MEDICAL EMERGENCY

-  All Salaries based on PRELIM Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expenses Schedule FY 2024-2025 Dated February 14, 2024

- Non-Safety Staff based on FY24/25 estimates and Support Services from previous FY23/24 with 5% increase.

*Cost Assumptions:

-  Benefits and Admin Fee based on Staff Benefit Rate Matrix FY 2024-25 dated January 2024 Preliminary

Total cost split 12.5% Coachella, 12.5 % LaQuinta, Indio 50%, and County 25%.

DEPUTY CHIEF
DIV CHIEF
BAT CHIEF
CAPT

FY 24/25 POSITION SALARIES TOP STEP (per assumptions below)

City of Coachella Share

County Share

City of La Quinta Share

City of Indio Share

Maint-Fuel Tanks

Maint-Extermination

FY 24/25 DIRECT BILL ACCOUNT CODE
Cellular Phone Maint-Critical Systems
Pager Service Maint-Health & Safety

FY24/25 ESTIMATE
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA

AND COACHELLA
Page 1 of 5

Page 235

Item 18.



CAPTAINS CAPTAIN 
MEDICS ENGINEERS ENGINEER 

MEDICS FF II FFII 
MEDICS TOTALS

TRUCK 86 687,275 2.3 605,676 2.3 318,507 1.4 777,223 3 2,388,681 9

20,000

$2,408,681

12.5% $301,085

50% $1,204,340

12.5% $301,085

25% $602,170

424,655
419,073
350,396
298,815
330,385
263,337
297,615
227,505
259,074

520230 522310
520300 522360
520320 522860
520800 522870
520805 522890
520815 523220
520830 523680
520840 526700
520845 526940
521380 527280
521440 529500
521540 529510
521600 529550
521660 537240
521680 542060

EXHIBIT "A"

TO THE COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE FIRE PREVENTION
RESCUE, FIRE MARSHAL AND MEDICAL EMERGENCY

FOR THE DESERT TRUCK SHARED WITH THE CITIES OF
COACHELLA, INDIO AND LA QUINTA 

APRIL 1, 2024 FOR FY2025/2026
*See notation below for estimate assumptions

County Share

TRUCK MAINTENANCE

ESTIMATED BUDGET

Total cost split 12.5% Coachella, 12.5 % LaQuinta, Indio 50%, and County 25%.
City of Coachella Share

City of Indio Share

City of La Quinta Share

FY 25/26 POSITION SALARIES TOP STEP (per assumptions below)
DEPUTY CHIEF
DIV CHIEF
BAT CHIEF
CAPT
CAPT MEDIC
ENG
ENG/MEDIC
FF II

- Non-Safety Staff based on FY24/25 estimates and Support Services from previous FY23/24 with 5% increase.

FY 25/26 DIRECT BILL ACCOUNT CODE

FF II/MEDIC

*Cost Assumptions:
-  All Salaries based on PRELIM Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expenses Schedule FY 2024-2025 Dated February 14, 2024
-  Benefits and Admin Fee based on Staff Benefit Rate Matrix FY 2024-25 dated January 2024 Preliminary with PERS adjusted to higher amount

Cleaning and Custodial Supp Licenses And Permi
Laundry Services Office Equip Non Fix  

Appliances Pharmaceuticals

Cellular Phone Maint-Building and I
Pager Service Maint-Extermination
Telephone Service Medical-Dental Supp
Household Expense Other Medical Care 

Maint-Office Equipment

Maint-Telephone Interfnd Exp-Utilities
Maint-Underground Tanks Improvements-Build

Household Furnishings Rent-Lease Bldgs
Trash Locks/Keys
Maint-Copier Machines Awards/Recognition

Heating Fuel
Maint-Service Contracts Water

Maint-Kitchen Equipment Electricity

FY25/26 ESTIMATE
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA

AND COACHELLA
Page 2 of 5

Page 236

Item 18.



CAPTAINS CAPTAIN 
MEDICS ENGINEERS ENGINEER 

MEDICS FF II FFII 
MEDICS TOTALS

TRUCK 86 687,275 2.3 605,676 2.3 318,507 1.4 777,223 3 2,388,681 9

20,000

$2,408,681

12.5% $301,085

50% $1,204,340

12.5% $301,085

25% $602,170

424,655
419,073
350,396
298,815
330,385
263,337
297,615
227,505
259,074

520230 522310
520300 522360
520320 522860
520800 522870
520805 522890
520815 523220
520830 523680
520840 526700
520845 526940
521380 527280
521440 529500
521540 529510
521600 529550
521660 537240
521680 542060Maint-Underground Tanks Improvements-Build

Maint-Office Equipment Heating Fuel
Maint-Service Contracts Water
Maint-Telephone Interfnd Exp-Utilities

Trash Locks/Keys
Maint-Copier Machines Awards/Recognition
Maint-Kitchen Equipment Electricity

Cleaning and Custodial Supp Licenses And Permi
Laundry Services Office Equip Non Fix  
Household Furnishings Rent-Lease Bldgs

Telephone Service Medical-Dental Supp
Household Expense Other Medical Care 
Appliances Pharmaceuticals

Pager Service Maint-Extermination

FF II/MEDIC

*Cost Assumptions:
-  All Salaries based on PRELIM Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expenses Schedule FY 2024-2025 Dated February 14, 2024
-  Benefits and Admin Fee based on Staff Benefit Rate Matrix FY 2024-25 dated January 2024 Preliminary with PERS adjusted to higher amount
- Non-Safety Staff based on FY24/25 estimates and Support Services from previous FY23/24 with 5% increase.

FY 26/27 DIRECT BILL ACCOUNT CODE
Cellular Phone Maint-Building and I

ENG
ENG/MEDIC
FF II

BAT CHIEF
CAPT
CAPT MEDIC

FY 26/27 POSITION SALARIES TOP STEP (per assumptions below)
DEPUTY CHIEF
DIV CHIEF

County Share

TRUCK MAINTENANCE

ESTIMATED BUDGET

Total cost split 12.5% Coachella, 12.5 % LaQuinta, Indio 50%, and County 25%.
City of Coachella Share

City of Indio Share

City of La Quinta Share

EXHIBIT "A"

TO THE COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE FIRE PREVENTION
RESCUE, FIRE MARSHAL AND MEDICAL EMERGENCY

FOR THE DESERT TRUCK SHARED WITH THE CITIES OF
COACHELLA, INDIO AND LA QUINTA 

APRIL 1, 2024 FOR FY2026/2027
*See notation below for estimate assumptions

FY26/27 ESTIMATE
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA

AND COACHELLA
Page 3 of 5

Page 237

Item 18.



CAPTAINS CAPTAIN 
MEDICS ENGINEERS ENGINEER 

MEDICS FF II FFII 
MEDICS TOTALS

TRUCK 86 687,275 2.3 605,676 2.3 318,507 1.4 777,223 3 2,388,681 9

20,000

$2,408,681

12.5% $301,085

50% $1,204,340

12.5% $301,085

25% $602,170

424,655
419,073
350,396
298,815
330,385
263,337
297,615
227,505
259,074

520230 522310
520300 522360
520320 522860
520800 522870
520805 522890
520815 523220
520830 523680
520840 526700
520845 526940
521380 527280
521440 529500
521540 529510
521600 529550
521660 537240
521680 542060Maint-Underground Tanks Improvements-Build

Maint-Office Equipment Heating Fuel
Maint-Service Contracts Water
Maint-Telephone Interfnd Exp-Utilities

Trash Locks/Keys
Maint-Copier Machines Awards/Recognition
Maint-Kitchen Equipment Electricity

Cleaning and Custodial Supp Licenses And Permi
Laundry Services Office Equip Non Fix  
Household Furnishings Rent-Lease Bldgs

Telephone Service Medical-Dental Supp
Household Expense Other Medical Care 
Appliances Pharmaceuticals

Pager Service Maint-Extermination

FF II/MEDIC

*Cost Assumptions:
-  All Salaries based on PRELIM Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expenses Schedule FY 2024-2025 Dated February 14, 2024
-  Benefits and Admin Fee based on Staff Benefit Rate Matrix FY 2024-25 dated January 2024 Preliminary with PERS adjusted to higher amount
- Non-Safety Staff based on FY24/25 estimates and Support Services from previous FY23/24 with 5% increase.

FY 27/28 DIRECT BILL ACCOUNT CODE
Cellular Phone Maint-Building and I

ENG
ENG/MEDIC
FF II

BAT CHIEF
CAPT
CAPT MEDIC

FY 27/28 POSITION SALARIES TOP STEP (per assumptions below)
DEPUTY CHIEF
DIV CHIEF

County Share

TRUCK MAINTENANCE

ESTIMATED BUDGET

Total cost split 12.5% Coachella, 12.5 % LaQuinta, Indio 50%, and County 25%.
City of Coachella Share

City of Indio Share

City of La Quinta Share

EXHIBIT "A"

TO THE COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE FIRE PREVENTION
RESCUE, FIRE MARSHAL AND MEDICAL EMERGENCY

FOR THE DESERT TRUCK SHARED WITH THE CITIES OF
COACHELLA, INDIO AND LA QUINTA 

APRIL 1, 2024 FOR FY2027/2028
*See notation below for estimate assumptions

FY27/28 ESTIMATE
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA

AND COACHELLA
Page 4 of 5

Page 238

Item 18.



CAPTAINS CAPTAIN 
MEDICS ENGINEERS ENGINEER 

MEDICS FF II FFII 
MEDICS TOTALS

TRUCK 86 687,275 2.3 605,676 2.3 318,507 1.4 777,223 3 2,388,681 9

20,000

$2,408,681

12.5% $301,085

50% $1,204,340

12.5% $301,085

25% $602,170

424,655
419,073
350,396
298,815
330,385
263,337
297,615
227,505
259,074

520230 522310
520300 522360
520320 522860
520800 522870
520805 522890
520815 523220
520830 523680
520840 526700
520845 526940
521380 527280
521440 529500
521540 529510
521600 529550
521660 537240
521680 542060Maint-Underground Tanks Improvements-Build

Maint-Office Equipment Heating Fuel
Maint-Service Contracts Water
Maint-Telephone Interfnd Exp-Utilities

Trash Locks/Keys
Maint-Copier Machines Awards/Recognition
Maint-Kitchen Equipment Electricity

Cleaning and Custodial Supp Licenses And Permi
Laundry Services Office Equip Non Fix  
Household Furnishings Rent-Lease Bldgs

Telephone Service Medical-Dental Supp
Household Expense Other Medical Care 
Appliances Pharmaceuticals

Pager Service Maint-Extermination

FF II/MEDIC

*Cost Assumptions:
-  All Salaries based on PRELIM Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expenses Schedule FY 2024-2025 Dated February 14, 2024
-  Benefits and Admin Fee based on Staff Benefit Rate Matrix FY 2024-25 dated January 2024 Preliminary with PERS adjusted to higher amount
- Non-Safety Staff based on FY24/25 estimates and Support Services from previous FY23/24 with 5% increase.

FY 28/29 DIRECT BILL ACCOUNT CODE
Cellular Phone Maint-Building and I

ENG
ENG/MEDIC
FF II

BAT CHIEF
CAPT
CAPT MEDIC

FY 28/29 POSITION SALARIES TOP STEP (per assumptions below)
DEPUTY CHIEF
DIV CHIEF

County Share

TRUCK MAINTENANCE

ESTIMATED BUDGET

Total cost split 12.5% Coachella, 12.5 % LaQuinta, Indio 50%, and County 25%.
City of Coachella Share

City of Indio Share

City of La Quinta Share

EXHIBIT "A"

TO THE COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT TO PROVIDE FIRE PREVENTION
RESCUE, FIRE MARSHAL AND MEDICAL EMERGENCY

FOR THE DESERT TRUCK SHARED WITH THE CITIES OF
COACHELLA, INDIO AND LA QUINTA 

APRIL 1, 2024 FOR FY2028/2029
*See notation below for estimate assumptions

FY28/29 ESTIMATE
CITIES OF INDIO, LA QUINTA

AND COACHELLA
Page 5 of 5

Page 239

Item 18.



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
         
 

Riverside County Fire Department 
 

                                                                   Bill Weiser 
                                                                   County Fire Chief 
 
 
 

DATE: April 2024 
 
FROM: Diane Sinclair, Fire Deputy Director of Administration 
 
RE:  FY 24/25 & FY 25/26 Exhibit A Estimates 
               
 
 The following cost parameters are included in each Exhibit A Estimate. 
 
Exhibit A Estimate 
 

 For FY 24/25, the direct CalFire personnel costs have been calculated using the following 
information. 

o All Salaries are based on Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expenses 
Schedule FY 2024-2025 Memo dated February 14, 2024 (Attachment A) at the 
highest amount. 

o Benefits and Admin Fee are based on Staff Benefit Rate Matrix FY 2024-25 dated 
January 2024 – Preliminary (Attachment B).   

o The Benefit rate has a one-time reduction in retirement rates as outlined in the 
Local Government Cooperative Agreement Staff Benefit Rate 2024-25 Benefit Rate 
Matrix (Attachment C).  

o Included in each position calculation is 446 hours of overtime. 
 For FY 25/26, the direct CalFire personnel costs have been calculated using the same 

information outlined above and eliminates the one-time retirement rate reduction.    
 The direct County employee classifications estimates are based on FY 24/25 highest 

budgeted amount, not necessarily the highest step.  All invoices will be at actual costs for 
the specific employee in the position.   
 

 Support Services Costs (Cost Allocation) 
o All estimated costs are based on the FY 23/24 Cost Allocation and adjusted with a 

5% increase and includes the new Battalion Chief Allocation methodology.   
o The Final FY 24/25 Cost Allocation is planned to be completed by July/August 2024, 

once the Board of Supervisors approves the Final FY 24/25 Budget.   
o The Final FY 24/25 Cost Allocation Plan is based upon budget and reconciled to 

actual costs in the 4th quarter invoice. 

Page 240

Item 18.



o The same rate is used for all future Exhibit A estimates.   
 

 Fire Engine Use Agreement  
o The FY 24/25 rate has not changed from the amount provided in December 2023.  

The cost is based on the current contracted costs for Type I Fire Engines that have 
been received prior to FY 23/24.  This cost is spread over 20 years to obtain the 
Use Agreement amount.  The FY 23/24 cost is $36,250 per engine.  

o The FY 25/26 rate will increase to $55,000 per Type I Fire Engine.  The cost of each 
Type I Fire Engine is $1.1 million and has increased by $375,000 since FY 19/20.  
The rate was last updated in FY 19/20. 

o The agreement is not a capital replacement fund.  It guarantees a working fire 
engine is always available.  If the city partner retains ownership, all capital 
improvements and insurance is the responsibility of the city.  The city may donate 
the engine to the County and this responsibility will revert to the County.  

 
 Structural Fire Tax Credits (for those cities with pass through on taxes) 

o The credit is the same as the amount estimated in the FY 23/24 Exhibit A estimates 
in December 2023 

o The credit is estimated based upon the final redevelopment amounts received in 
January 2023 and June 2023 and the Structural Taxes reported in December 2022 
with an estimated historical growth.   

o The credit is an estimate.  Each credit is reconciled with the actual reports from the 
County Auditor Controller in the 4th Quarter Invoice.   

o The same amount is used for all future Exhibit A estimates. 
 
Please contact your respective Division Chief or Diane Sinclair at (951) 453-9066 
diane.sinclair@fire.ca.gov or Letty Morales at (951) 940-6778 letty.morales@fire.ca.gov with any 
questions related to the Exhibit A estimate.   
 
 
Thank you.   
 
Attachments: 
A -Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expenses Schedule FY 2024-2025 Memo Dated February 14, 2024 
B - Staff Benefit Rate Matrix FY 2024-25 dated January 2024 – Preliminary 
C - Local Government Cooperative Agreement Staff Benefit Rate 2024-25 Benefit Rate Matrix  

Page 241

Item 18.



 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 242

Item 18.



State of California                                                                                                                           Natural Resources Agency 

                                                           

M e m o r a n d u m       
 
To: 
                                                                                                                             
                                                                                                                             
                                                                                                                              
                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                             
                                                                                                                             
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
 
 
 
 
                                                                                  

Region Chiefs 
Assistant Region Chiefs   
Unit Chiefs 
Unit LG Contacts  

Date: February 14, 2024 
 
Telephone: (530) 647-5209 
 
Website: www.fire.ca.gov 

From: Nathan Barcklay 
 Assistant Deputy Director, Cooperative Fire 

California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) 
 

Subject:     8500 COOPERATIVE FIRE PROGRAMS 
Local Government Program 
Schedule A and Amador Plan 
Salary, Pay Differentials, and Operating Expense Schedule FY 2024-2025 
 

The rates in this memorandum are for use in Public Resources Code (PRC) §4142 
Schedule A”) and PRC §4144 (“Amador”) Agreements for Fiscal Year 2024-2025. 
These rates are based on the current provisions of the negotiated Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) for the various Bargaining Units (BUs), laws, rules, regulations 
and/or personnel policies established by the California Department of Human 
Resources (Cal HR). This memorandum and any associated updates can be found on 
the CALFIRE Intranet under the Local Government Resources Page at: 
https://inside.fire.ca.gov/offices-programs/fire-protection/local-government/.   
  

The salaries identified in this schedule are based on current negotiated 
Memorandum of Understandings up to June 30, 2024, and may be subject to 
change, as identified by CalHR.  Bargaining Units other than BU8 may be affected 
as well. 

 
STAFF BENEFIT RATES 
 

The components of the staff benefit that apply to the salary and wages in the expense 
schedule are identified below and include:  

¹Full Staff Benefit Rate. 

²Retirement, Employee Leave Buyout, Medicare and Prefunding of post-employment 
benefits.  

³Medicare only. 

4Retirement, Medicare and Prefunding of post-employment benefits. 

5Social Security and Medicare only. 

*Staff Benefit Rates are not included for this expenditure.  
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 243

Item 18.

https://inside.fire.ca.gov/offices-programs/fire-protection/local-government/


RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 2 

 
PAY DIFFERENTIALS 
 
All pay differentials are classification specific and may be eliminated due to 
classification, duties, or qualification changes. For complete listing of rates for all 
eligible classifications, please refer to the pay differential. 
 
1. NIGHT-SHIFT PAY DIFFERENTIAL¹ 

In accordance with Night-Shift Pay Differential 85 and applicable BU MOUs, eligible 
rank and file employees in covered classifications working a qualifying shift and 
meeting the applicable criteria shall be eligible to receive this pay differential. This 
differential is included in the rate when calculating overtime. 

 
BU 07 employees (e.g., Communications Operators) who regularly work shifts 
shall receive one dollar ($1.75) per hour night shift pay differential.  

 
2. HAZMAT PAY DIFFERENTIAL¹ 

In accordance with Recruitment and Retention Pay Differential - Hazardous 
Materials (HAZMAT) 143 and the BU 08 MOU, Section 17.9, rank and file 
employees and excluded employees associated with BU 08 regularly assigned to 
any CAL FIRE dedicated HAZMAT emergency response unit on a full-time basis, 
or at the discretion of the Unit Chief, any BU 08 employee who is a HAZMAT 
Technician or Specialist, who is required to maintain certification and a yearly 
baseline physical as part of his/her assignment as a member of a HAZMAT 
Response Team shall be eligible to receive a pay differential of $150 per pay 
period while so assigned. This differential is included in the rate when calculating 
overtime. 

 
3. LONGEVITY PAY DIFFERENTIAL¹ 

In accordance with Longevity Pay Differential 73 and the BU 08 MOU, Section 17.10, 
rank and file employees and excluded employees associated with BU 08, shall be 
eligible to receive a monthly pay differential calculated above the base salary as 
listed below and is included in the rate when calculating overtime: 

 
YEARS OF SERVICE RATE 

17 and 18 3% 

19 4% 

20 5% 

21 6% 

22, 23, and 24 7% 

25 9% 

 
4. BILINGUAL PAY DIFFERENTIAL¹ 

In accordance with Bilingual Pay Differential 14 and applicable BU MOUs, eligible 
rank and file employees and excluded employees meeting the applicable criteria 
shall be eligible to receive a pay differential for up to $200 per pay period. This 
differential is included in the rate when calculating overtime for classifications eligible 
for overtime. 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 244

Item 18.

http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_085.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_143.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_143.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_073.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_014.pdf


RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 3  

 

 
5. EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE PAY DIFFERENTIAL¹ 

In accordance with Educational Incentive Pay Differential 45 and the BU 08 MOU, 
Section 17.11, all permanent rank and file employees who meet at least one of the 
following criteria will be eligible to receive a pay differential of $150 per pay period: 
 

 Permanent employees in fire protection classifications who have been 
journeyed under the approved Joint Apprenticeship Committee (JAC) 
program or who have been granted a journey-level equivalency, or 
permanent employees in fire protection classifications with an appointment 
prior to the initiation of the California Fire Fighter JAC program on  
July 1, 1983. 

 

 Employees in the following classifications: Battalion Chief, Forester I, and 
Fire Captain. 

 

 Permanent employees in classifications that do not require a JAC certificate 
program [e.g., Forestry Fire Pilot, Fire Prevention Assistant, Fire Prevention  
Specialist I and II, and Forestry Logistics Officer I] who have completed 60 
units from and accredited community college, college, or university. This 
differential is included in the rate when calculating overtime. 

 
6. ASSISTANT CHIEF PAY DIFFERENTIAL¹ 

In accordance with Assistant Chief Pay Differential 9, employees in the Assistant 
Chief classification serving in a qualifying assignment (Deputy Chief) meeting the 
applicable criteria shall be eligible to receive a pay differential of 1.9% calculated 
above the base salary per pay period. 
 

CLASSIFICATION MAX 

Assistant Chief     $212 

 
7. CAL FIRE CHIEF OFFICER AND RELATED CAREER EXECUTIVE 

ASSIGNMENT (CEA) RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION PAY DIFFERENTIAL¹ 
In accordance with CAL FIRE Chief Officer and Related CEA Recruitment and 
Retention Pay Differential 369, eligible incumbents in an identified classification will 
receive this monthly pay differential, specific to the classification. This differential is 
for the purposes of recruiting and retaining experienced staff in the Chief Officer 
series. For the first 24 months, eligible incumbents will receive a monthly differential 
with a phased portion subject to CalPERS deduction. After 24 months, eligible 
incumbents receive the full monthly differential which will be subject to CalPERS 
deduction for retirement contributions. 

  
STAGING PERIOD CONTRIBUTION FACTOR 

First 12-month period:     
PERSable = smaller portion  
Non-PERSable = larger portion 

Second 12-month period: 
PERSable = larger portion  
Non-PERSable = smaller portion 

After 24-month period: All PERSable 

 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 245

Item 18.

http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_045.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_009.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_369.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_369.pdf


RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 4  

 

 
8. COMMERCIAL DRIVERS LICENSE PAY DIFFERENTIAL (HEM)¹ 

In accordance with the Commercial Driver’s License Class A or B Pay Differential 34 
and the BU 12 MOU, Section 2.15, all Heavy Equipment Mechanics (HEM) shall be 
eligible to receive a pay differential of 5% per pay period for possession and use of 
a commercial driver license when regularly assigned to a position operating vehicles 
which require the appropriate driver’s license. The 5% is calculated on the base 
salary at the maximum of Range A. This differential is included in the rate when 
calculating overtime. 
 

CLASSIFICATION MAX 

Heavy Equipment Mechanic  314 

 
9. PASSENGER ENDORSEMENT PAY DIFFERENTIAL (HFEO)¹ 

In accordance with Passenger Endorsement Pay Differential 228 and the BU 08 
MOU, Section 17.13 all permanent Heavy Fire Equipment Operators (HFEO) 
possessing a passenger endorsement on their driver’s license are eligible to 
receive a pay differential of $75 per pay period. This differential is included in the 
rate when calculating overtime. 
 

10. FIRE MISSION PAY DIFFERENTIAL ¹ 
In accordance with Fire Mission Pay Differential 59 and the applicable MOUs, 
employees in eligible classifications receive the appropriate increase during the 
declared fire season for the employee’s Unit, Region, or other Administrative Unit.  
Eligible employees will receive a pay differential of one or two pay step increases 
in accordance with the pay differential. One step is equivalent to 5%.  Heavy 
Equipment Mechanics earn two steps (10%) for this differential. This differential is 
included in the rate when calculating overtime. 
 

CLASSIFICATION MAX 

Heavy Equipment Mechanic, Range A $628 

Heavy Equipment Mechanic, Range B $689 

Materials and Stores Specialist, Range A $228 

Materials and Stores Specialist, Range B $250 

Fire Prevention Specialist I $244 

Fire Prevention Specialist II $279 

Forestry Aide $208 

Forestry Assistant I, Range A $277 

Forestry Assistant I, Range B $303 

Forestry Assistant, II Range A $318 

Forestry Assistant, II Range B $349 

Forestry Logistics Officer I, Range A $257 

Forestry Logistics Officer I, Range B $283 

Forestry Logistics Officer II $283 

Forestry Technician, Range A $242 

Forestry Technician, Range B $264 

 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 246

Item 18.

http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_034.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_228.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_059.pdf


RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 5  

 

 
11. EXTENDED DUTY PAY DIFFERENTIAL¹ 

In accordance with Extended Duty Pay – Excluded Employees Pay Differential 54, 
excluded employees in eligible classifications whose primary responsibility is in a 
fire protection or resource management program are eligible for a 15% monthly 
pay differential. This is calculated on the employee’s base salary. 
 
 

CLASSIFICATION MAX 

Assistant Chief     $1,672 

Forestry Equipment Manager I $1,270 

Forestry Equipment Manager II $1,349 

 
 

12. PARAMEDIC RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION PAY DIFFERENTIAL4 
In accordance with Paramedic Recruitment and Retention Pay Differential 247 and 
the BU 08 MOU, Section 17.12, the pay differential shall be paid annually in the 
November pay period for the pay periods covering the previous November through 
October. This differential is included in the rate when calculating overtime. 
All qualifying pay periods in one of the following eligible classifications shall count in 
determining the rate of pay:  
 

CLASSIFICATIONS 

Fire Fighter II (Paramedic) 

Fire Apparatus Engineer (Paramedic) 

Fire Captain (Paramedic) 

 
The rates are as follows:   
 

QUALIFYING PAY PERIODS 
COST PER PAY 

PERIOD 

1-12 $250 

13-24 $300 

25-36 $350 

37 or more $500 

 
If the employee transfers/promotes, the Unit receiving the employee will be 
responsible for the pay periods in the newly assigned Unit. The Unit where the 
employee came from will be responsible for the remaining pay periods. 
 

13. EMERGENCY RESPONSE BONUS (ERB)4 
In accordance with the ERB Pay Differential 50, the following positions will be 
charged for extended staff availability if an employee is assigned to an Emergency 
Response Assignment. This 5% ERB is calculated on the employee’s base salary. 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 247

Item 18.

http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_054.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_247.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_050.pdf


RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 6  

 

 
CLASSIFICATION MAX. 

Forestry Equipment Manager I $423 

Forestry Equipment Manager II $450 

 
14. RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION DIFFERENTIAL PAY – GREATER BAY 

AREA FACILITIES3 
In accordance with the Recruitment and Retention Pay Differential 409, unit 12 
employees who are designated a headquarters work in the Greater Bay Area 
(counties include Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Monterey, Napa, San Francisco, 
San Joaquin, San Mateo, Stanta Clara, Santa Cruz, Solano, and Sonoma), shall 
be elignble for a recruitement and retention differential of (5%) of their base pay for 
each qualifying pay period. 
 

15.  FLEXELECT AND COBEN EXCESS/CASH PAYMENT5 
Employees may be eligible for a cash payment through FlexElect or COBEN 
Excess/Cash. This compensation is included in the rate when calculating 
overtime. 
 
FlexElect: Employees may be eligible to receive cash in lieu of their own State-
sponsored medical insurance and/or dental insurance plan.   

 $128 per month in lieu of health plan only 
 $12 per month in lieu of dental plan only 
 $140 per month in lieu of health and dental plans 

 CoBen Cash: Employees may be eligible to receive cash in lieu of their own 
State-sponsored medical insurance and/or dental insurance plan.   

 $130 per month for employees in lieu of health plan only  
 $155 per month for employees in lieu of health and dental plans 

CoBen Excess: Employees who elect to enroll in State-sponsored medical 
and/or dental insurance may receive the excess funds should their CoBen 
Allowance not be fully expended on coverage costs. Eligibility and cash amount 
vary by employee, Bargaining Unit and benefit plan. 

SALARY AND POST COVERAGE 
 

16. PERSONAL SERVICES MONTHLY SALARY RANGES¹ 
See attached spreadsheet (Appendix A). For a complete listing of all civil service 
classifications and associated pay structure, please refer to the State of California 
Civil Service Pay Scales. 
 
 

17. CONTRACTUAL POST COVERAGE¹  
The monthly contractual post coverage is calculated at top step for salary and 
Extended Duty Week Compensation (EDWC) overtime and benefits. 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 248

Item 18.

https://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Differentials%20Library/Pay_Differential_409.pdf#search=409
https://www.calhr.ca.gov/state-hr-professionals/Pages/benefits-administration-manual-flexelect.aspx
https://www.calhr.ca.gov/state-hr-professionals/Pages/benefits-administration-manual-consolidated-benefits.aspx
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Scales%20Library/PS_Sec_15.pdf
http://www.calhr.ca.gov/Pay%20Scales%20Library/PS_Sec_15.pdf


RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 7  

 

 
OVERTIME AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS COMPENSATION 

 
18. EXTENDED DUTY WEEK COMPENSATION (EDWC) ² 

In accordance with the BU 8 MOU, EDWC (76 or 124 hours per work period) is 
calculated (rounded) utilizing the maximum salary rate of the classification utilizing  
 
the BU 8 MOU formula described below. Additionally, the average monthly rate in 
the chart below is determined by multiplying the monthly EDWC compensation by 
the number of work periods per year (13), then dividing by 12. 
 

Formula:  
((Salary ÷ 4.33) ÷ Clock) X factor) = Hourly Rate of Pay (HROP) 
 

 
The following budgeted Schedule A positions used by local government must have 
EDWC budgeted for each month at the following rates:   
 

CLASSIFICATION 
EDWC WITHOUT 

HAZMAT PAY 
DIFFERENTIAL* 

EDWC WITH HAZMAT 
PAY DIFFERENTIAL* 

Battalion Chief  $4,449 $4,530 

Fire Apparatus Engineer $3,435 $3,516 

Fire Apparatus Engineer (Paramedic)** $3,941 $4,022 

Fire Captain, Range A $3,845 $3,926 

Fire Captain, Range B $4,231 $4,312 

Fire Captain (Paramedic)** $4,378 $4,459 

Fire Fighter I* $2,722 $2,802 

Fire Fighter II $3,105 $3,185 

Fire Fighter II (Paramedic)** $3,585 $3,666 

Heavy Fire Equipment Operator, Range A $3,804 $3,926 

  * Includes Longevity Pay, but not eligible for Educational Pay Differential. 
  ** Includes Paramedic Recruitment and Retention Pay Differential. 
 

19. OVERTIME (OT) 
OT requirements beyond the scheduled duty week should be budgeted at 1-1/2 
times or the rate set forth in the applicable MOU. OT may also be budgeted to 
cover positions or may be in-lieu of the emergency response charge when  
continuous emergency availability is not required. The hourly rate of OT is 
dependent upon classification and additional compensation such as pay 
differentials. 
 

 Certain classifications may or may not be subject to Social Security and/or 
Medicare. Eligibility may vary based upon classification and on employment 
history.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 249

Item 18.



RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 8  

 

 
20. AMADOR PROGRAM 

 
ENGINE STAFFING 
CAL FIRE will assign sufficient personnel to provide one operator, per Amador 
engine, per day. The cooperator will be responsible for providing funds for a 
minimum of one employee, per engine, per day for 2.0 staffing and funding for any 
additional positions to meet engine staffing requirements in excess of 2.0 and all 
unplanned overtime costs.   

  
SUPPORT STAFF RATESº  
Costs for Battalion Chiefs, Emergency Command Center Staff, Fire Prevention staff, 
Training staff or other positions with a significant commitment to the cooperating 
agency as determined by the Unit Chief are: 

 

CLASSIFICATION MONTHLY COST 

Battalion Chief (Nonsupervisory)  $1,119.00 

Fire Captain $935.00 

Fire Apparatus Engineer $831.00 

 
 

21. OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
A. Coveralls for Heavy Fire Equipment Operators (HFEO)*  and HEM* 

 
In accordance with BU 08 MOU, Section 11.12, HFEOs receive two sets of coveralls 
that are provided and maintained by the employer. The cost may vary depending on 
location.  
 
In accordance with BU 12 MOU, Section 4.4, identified employees and HEMs 
receive employer-provided-and-maintained coveralls through a cleaning service. 
The cost may vary depending on location.   
 

 Use $12 per pay period for each HFEO and HEM  
 

B. Communications  
 

The communication rate from the Department of General Services (DGS) has been 
recalculated individually for each CAL FIRE Unit that is using the DGS Telecom 
Division. Use the following rates for Fiscal Year 2024-2025: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 250

Item 18.



RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 9  

 

.PUBLIC RESOURCES CODE SECTION 4144 

Mobile Radio $13.75 

Electronic Siren $8.29 

Fixed Stations $66.31 

Handie Talkie $7.08 

 HOURLY RATE 

Engineer Time $171.00/hour 

Technician Time $144.00/hour 

 
C. Information Technology 
  
Costs for Information Technology (IT) services are identified below:  
 

IT SERVICE/MAINTENANCE MONTHLY ANNUALLY 

Target Solutions Account CAL FIRE Uniform   $75.00 

Target Solutions Account CAL FIRE Support Staff 
and Assistant Chief and above 

 $37.50 

Target Solutions Account Seasonal Firefighter 
(FF) 

 $50.00 

Target Solutions Account Volunteer or Paid Call 
FF 

 $50.00 

INTIME Solutions/ ISELINK Account   $57.00 

 
D. Uniform Allowance³ 

 
For BU 01, BU 07, BU 12, and managers and supervisors, retirement or staff benefits 
are not deducted. BU 01, BU 07, and BU 12 employees must work an entire year to 
receive reimbursement. 
 
In accordance with BU 07 MOU, employees receive a $25 per month for the 
maintenance and cleaning of the uniforms.  
 
For employees who work the whole month, bill the monthly rate. For employees who 
work less than a full month on Schedule A, calculate by the number of days worked 
within the month. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 251

Item 18.



RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 10  

 

 

BARGAINING UNIT YEARLY RATE 
MONTHLY RATE 

FOR BILLING 
PURPOSE ONLY 

BU 08 and Supervisors/Managers MOU Section 12.3 

Permanent Full-Time Wearer $2,130 $177.50 

Seasonal N/A $178.00 

BU 12 MOU Section 12.8 

Heavy Equipment Mechanic   $670 $55.83 

Materials and Stores Specialist $670 $55.83 

BU 07 MOU Section 12.2 

Communications Operator  $950 $104.17 

BU 01 Supervisors MOU Section 12.11 

Business Service Officer I (Supervisor) (with 
receipts) 

$450 $37.50 

 
 

E. Tool Allowance 
 

In accordance with BU 12 MOU Section 12.6 Permanent, Full-Time HEMs not 
provided with tools furnished by the contracting agent or having access to the  
necessary tools to perform required tasks will receive an annual tool allowance of 
$575. 
 
F. Utilities 

 
Utilities and telephone charges are budgeted based on projections of actual 
expenses for 4142 agreements. Amador Plan utility rates are: 
 

UTILITIES RATE PER MONTH 

Unit Emergency Command Center $129.00 

Fire Station Normally Opened for Administration During 
Base Period 

50% of Projected Costs 

Fire Station Normally Closed (Except CAL FIRE Costs) 100% of Projected Costs 

 
G. Vehicle Maintenance 

 

 Local Agency-Owned Equipment that are to be maintained and repaired by 
CAL FIRE must be budgeted and listed by category (e.g., flat rate, mileage 
rate, or actual cost) in the Exhibit D, Schedule A and then described on 
Exhibit D, Schedule D of the Cooperative Fire Programs Fire Protection 
Reimbursement Agreement. Local agency equipment is categorized as 
follows:  

1. RATED EQUIPMENT 2. UNRATED EQUIPMENT 

(A) Monthly Flat Rate  (C) Actual Cost 

(B) Mileage Rate  

(C) Actual Cost  

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 252

Item 18.



RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 11  

 

 

 Rated Equipment 1(A) applies to fire apparatus built on commercial chassis 
less than 15 years old and on custom chassis less than 20 years old. 
Surveyed CAL FIRE engines and apparatus obtained through federal 
surplus may not be included. Equipment should be identified to the 3rd 
element as described below, then a Unit derived monthly flat rate should be 
set based on past and projected future expenses for the equipment funded 
in the contract. 

 
 

Rated Equipment 1 (A)  

1st Element 

Size and Type 

2nd Element 
Main Engine 
Fuel Type 

3rd Element 
Estimated 
Monthly 
Mileage 

1. Fast Attack Unit A = Gasoline 1. 0-500 miles 

2. Engine Less Than 1000 GPM B = Diesel 2. 500+ miles 

3. Engine 1000 GPM and Over  

4. Aerial Apparatus or Other Specialized 

5. Water Tender, 1500 Gallons and 
Over 

 
 

 Rated Equipment 1(B) applies to passenger and service-type vehicles. 
Surveyed CAL FIRE vehicles and vehicles obtained through federal surplus 
may not be included. 

Rated Equipment 1(B) $/Mile As of 01/01/24 

Sedans/Pickups/Service Vehicles $0.67 

(Set by IRS annually) 

     

 Rated Equipment 1(C) and Unrated Equipment 2(C) applies to vehicles that 
will be operated, maintained and repaired at actual cost up to the maximum 
dollars budgeted in schedules.  The hourly rate will be billed at $200.00 an 
hour. 

 

 State-Owned Equipment 
State-owned vehicles registered in the name of the state and operated on 
behalf of the local agency. 

Sedans/Pickups $/Mile As of 01/01/24 

Schedule A  
$0.67 

(Set by IRS annually) 

Amador Plan  
$0.67 

(Set by IRS annually) 

Engines $/Month 

Schedule A $2,305.57 

Amador Plan $2,305.57 

 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 253

Item 18.



RATE LETTER FY 2024-2025 
Page 12  

 

 
Any questions on the Local Government Program should be directed to: 
John Berglund (279) 224-4194; John.Berglund@fire.ca.gov, Cooperative Fire Deputy 
Chief 
Lev Karshtedt (916) 202-6403; Lev.Karshtedt@fire.ca.gov; Local Government 
Program Manager 
 

cc:       Joe Tyler Kerry Garcia 
 Christy White Melissa Gamer   
 Kelly Mandell David Scheurich 

Matthew Sully Ruth Torres 
Lev Karshtedt                                    John Berglund 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 254

Item 18.

mailto:John.Berglund@fire.ca.gov


                                                     APPENDIX A 
PERSONNEL SERVICES MONTHLY SALARY RANGES 

(For a full listing of all civil service classifications, see the State of California Civil Service Pay Scales) 
 

CBID RET. CLASSIFICATION MINIMUM MAXIMUM 

S08 POF Assistant Chief  $8,615 $11,146 

R08 POF Battalion Chief   $5,739 $7,447 

R08 POF Fire Apparatus Engineer $4,630 $5,718 

R08 POF Fire Apparatus Engineer (Paramedic) $4,949 $6,123 

R08 POF Fire Captain (Paramedic) $5,195 $6,732 

R08 POF Fire Captain, Range A $4,949 $6,416 

R08 POF Fire Captain, Range B $5,432 $7,075 

R08 POF Fire Fighter II $3,975 $5,155 

R08 POF Fire Fighter II (Paramedic) $4,255 $5,515 

R08 POF Firefighter I $3,672 $4,643 

S08 POF Forestry Equipment Manager I $6,525 $8,468 

S08 POF Forestry Equipment Manager II $6,927 $8,991 

R08 POF Heavy Fire Equipment Operator, Range A $5,196 $6,416 

R08 POF Forestry Aide $3,367 $4,163 

R08 POF Forestry Technician, Range A $3,730 $4,837 

R08 POF Forestry Technician, Range B $4,075 $5,287 

R08 POF Forestry Assistant I, Range A $4,268 $5,532 

R08 POF Forestry Assistant I, Range B $4,672 $6,058 

R08 POF Forestry Assistant II, Range A $4,899 $6,355 

R08 POF Forestry Assistant II, Range B $5,377 $6,975 

R07 SAF Communications Operator, Range A $4,508 $6,208 

R07 SAF Communications Operator, Range B $5,101 $7,023 

R01 MIS Accountant I (Specialist), Range A $3,818 $4,782 

R01 MIS Accounting Technician $3,543 $4,440 

S01 MIS 
Administrative Officer I, Res. Agency, 
Range A 

$4,268 $5,268 

S01 MIS 
Administrative Officer I, Res. Agency, 
Range B 

$5,117 $6,333 

S01 MIS Administrative Officer II, Res. Agency $6,149 $7,641 

R01 MIS 
Business Service Officer I (Specialist), 
Range A 

$4,726 $5,916 

R08 MIS Fire Prevention Specialist I $3,730 $4,885 

R08 MIS Fire Prevention Specialist II $4,268 $5,589 

R08 MIS Forestry Logistics Officer I, Range A $3,976 $5,147 

R08 MIS Forestry Logistics Officer I, Range B $4,326 $5,663 

S08 MIS Forestry Logistics Officer II $4,369 $5,657 

R12 MIS Heavy Equipment Mechanic, Range A $5,445 $6,276 

R01 MIS Information Technology Associate $6,147 $8,238 

R01 MIS Information Technology Specialist I $7,413 $9,932 

S01 MIS Information Technology Supervisor II $8,016 $10,741 

R12 MIS Materials and Stores Specialist, Range A $3,762 $4,697 

R12 MIS Materials and Stores Specialist, Range B $4,091 $5,151 

R04 MIS Office Assistant (General), Range A $2,985 $3,737 

R04 MIS Office Assistant (General), Range B $3,281 $4,107 

R04 MIS Office Assistant (Typing), Range A $3,085 $3,863 

R04 MIS Office Assistant (Typing), Range B $3,346 $4,190 

 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 255

Item 18.

http://www.calhr.ca.gov/state-hr-professionals/Pages/pay-scales.aspx


 

 

APPENDIX A 
PERSONNEL SERVICES MONTHLY SALARY RANGES (Cont’d.) 

 
CBID RET. CLASSIFICATION MINIMUM MAXIMUM 

R04 MIS Office Technician (General), Range A $3,543 $4,440 

R04 MIS Office Technician (Typing), Range A $3,609 $4,518 

R01 MIS Research Data Analyst I $5,212 $6,524 

R01 MIS Research Data Analyst II $6,265 $7,848 

R01 MIS Staff Services Analyst (General), Range A $3,640 $4,561 

R01 MIS Staff Services Analyst (General), Range B $3,941 $4,933 

R01 MIS Staff Services Analyst (General), Range C $4,726 $5,916 

R01 MIS Telecommunications Systems Analyst I $4,726 $6,212 

R01 MIS Telecommunications Systems Analyst II $5,684 $7,474 

R12 MIS Warehouse Worker, Range A $3,762 $4,295 

R12 MIS Heavy Equipment Mechanic, Range A $5,445 $6,276 

R12 MIS Heavy Equipment Mechanic, Range B $5,978 $6,888 

 

NOTE: Some civil service classifications include alternate ranges if applicable criteria are met.  

 
PAY DIFFERNTIAL MATRIX 

PAY DIFFERENTIAL PAY DIFF # PERSable OVERTIME LUMP SUM OPEB 

Night Shift 85 Y Y Y Y 

Hazmat 143 Y Y Y Y 

Longevity 73 Y Y Y Y 

Bilingual 14 Y Y Y Y 

Education 45 Y Y Y Y 

Assistant Chief 9 Y N Y Y 

Recruitment and 
Retention 

369 Y N Y Y 

Commercial DL 34 Y Y Y Y 

Passenger 
Endorsement 

228 Y Y Y Y 

Fire Mission 59 Y Y Y Y 

Extended Duty Pay 54 Y N Y Y 

Paramedic 247 Y Y N Y 

Emergency Response 
Bonus 

50 Y N N Y 

Incident Command 
Assignment 

63 N N N N 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D7B3D7A6-B6FF-4370-9E3C-91E351A2E8A0

Page 256

Item 18.



 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 257

Item 18.



STAFF BENEFIT RATES MISC
MISC

BU8

MISC

BU12

SAFETY

BU7

SAFETY

BU12

POF

BU8

RETIREMENT 26.60% 26.60% 26.60% 19.18% 19.18% 30.45%

EMPLOYEE LEAVE BUYOUT 3.24% 3.24% 3.24% 3.24% 3.24% 3.24%

HEALTH/DENTAL/VISION (HDV) 26.10% 26.10% 26.10% 26.10% 26.10% 26.10%

SOCIAL SECURITY INSURANCE (SSI) 6.20% 6.20% 6.20% n/a n/a n/a

MEDICARE TAX 1.45% 1.45% 1.45% 1.45% 1.45% 1.45%

LIFE INSURANCE 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

SURVIVOR'S BENEFITS 0.12% 0.12% 0.12% 0.12% 0.12% 0.12%

PREFUNDING OF POST EMPLOYMENT

BENEFITS
3.00% 3.90% 3.60% 4.00% 3.60% 3.90%

SUBTOTAL 66.71% 67.61% 67.31% 54.09% 53.69% 65.26%

WORKERS' COMPENSATION 10.59% 10.59% 10.59% 10.59% 10.59% 10.59%

TOTAL 77.30% 78.20% 77.90% 64.68% 64.28% 75.85%

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE (applied to Fire 

Fighter I only)
MISC

MISC

BU8

MISC

BU12

SAFETY

BU7

SAFETY

BU12

POF

BU8

UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 8.61%

ADMINISTRATIVE RATE (include in all contract 

costs)
MISC

MISC

BU8

MISC

BU12

SAFETY

BU7

SAFETY

BU12

POF

BU8

STATEWIDE PRO RATA 5.72% 5.72% 5.72% 5.72% 5.72% 5.72%

CAL FIRE INDIRECT 6.38% 6.38% 6.38% 6.38% 6.38% 6.38%

TOTAL 12.10% 12.10% 12.10% 12.10% 12.10% 12.10%

STAFF BENEFIT RATES MISC
MISC

BU8

MISC

BU12

SAFETY

BU7

SAFETY

BU12

POF

BU8

UNPLANNED OVERTIME** 7.65% 7.65% 7.65% 1.45% 1.45% 1.45%

EDWC OVERTIME*** 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 39.04%

UNIFORM ALLOWANCE* 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.45%

PARAMEDIC RETENTION**** 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 31.90%

EMERGENCY RESPONSE BONUS**** 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 31.90%

ARDUOUS DUTY ASSIGNMENT** 7.65% 7.65% 7.65% 0.00% 0.00% 1.45%

***   Retirement, Employee Leave Buyout, Medicare, and Prefunding of post employment benefits

Please contact Lev Karshtedt at Lev.Karshtedt@fire.ca.gov or Chief John Berglund at 

John.Berglund@fire.ca.gov if there are questions regarding these rates.

****  Retirement and Medicare

STAFF BENEFIT RATE MATRIX 2024-25

January 2024 - Preliminary

*     Medicare

**    Social Security and Medicare

Page 258

Item 18.



 

 

ATTACHMENT C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 259

Item 18.



Local Government Cooperative Agreement Staff Benefit Rate 
2024-25 Benefit Rate Matrix 
January 2024 - Preliminary 

 

1 | P a g e  
 

Detailed below is the information on all benefit rates for 2024-25:  
  
1) Retirement 
 

 The retirement rates are based on the proposed rates in the 2024-25 Governor’s 
Budget, displayed within Control Section 3.60 of the budget bill (SB 917 and AB 
1812) for Miscellaneous (weighted average of Tier 1 and Tier 2); State Safety; 
and Peace Officer/Firefighter (PO/FF) employees. 
 

 If the proposal is approved, the retirement rates will decrease by 5.40 percent for 
Miscellaneous, decrease by 3.57 percent for Safety, and decrease by 19.55 
percent for Peace Officer/Firefighter employees. 
 

 The 2024-25 Governor’s Budget proposes to apply the prior 2023 supplemental 
pension payment to reduce the unfunded actuarial liability, which will result in 
reduced employer contribution rates for one year, if approved. 

 
 If the proposal is approved, projected rates will be reduced for one year and then 

return to a similar level the following year, as shown:  

* Rates for all years are inclusive of AB 340 (Government Code section 20683.2) 
amounts 

 
 These rates are subject to change when the CalPERS Board adopts the 2024-25 

rates in Spring 2024 and/or when the final rates are adopted as part of the 
2024 Budget Act. 
 

 CAL FIRE will work with its internal Administration partners to monitor this budget 
proposal and communicate out the final budget outcome as soon as it's finalized 
and shared. 

 
2) Employee Leave Buyout 

 
 The Employee Leave Buyout rate is based on a five-year average of the 2018-19 

through 2022-23 past year actuals of all local government employees.  The rate 
is calculated by taking a five-year average of the local government buy-out total 
costs and Temporary Help Safety Retirement Overlap costs divided by a five-
year average of the total local government Salaries & Wages and Temporary 
Help costs. 

  Current Year* 
Proposed 

Budget Year* 
Projected 

Budget Year +1* 
Misc 1 & 2 32.00% 26.60% 32.80% 
Industrial  21.00% 15.58% 21.88% 
Safety 22.75% 19.18% 24.18% 
PO/FF 50.00% 30.45% 50.55% 

Page 260

Item 18.



Local Government Cooperative Agreement Staff Benefit Rate 
2024-25 Benefit Rate Matrix 
January 2024 - Preliminary 

 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
 The Employee Leave Buyout rate has increased 0.11 percent due to an increase 

in local government retirement costs being greater than the local government 
Salaries & Wages costs. 
 

3) Health/Dental/Vision (H-D-V) 
 

 The H-D-V rate of 26.1 percent is based on the projected total anticipated H-D-V 
cost for 2024-25, inclusive of a 2025 premium increase estimate.  This 
preliminary rate is subject to change when the CalPERS Annual Health 
Premiums for calendar 2025 are finalized by the CalPERS Board.   
 

 The H-D-V rate is calculated using the local government H-D-V costs divided by 
the total of the local government Salaries & Wages and Temporary Help costs. 
  

4) Social Security Insurance (SSI) 
 

 The SSI rate is determined by the federal government and is only applied to 
Miscellaneous employees, as Safety and POF employees are not eligible for 
Social Security when they retire.  If the federal government changes the rate prior 
to June 30, that change will be reflected in the final Miscellaneous employees’ 
SSI rate. For context, the SSI rate has not changed historically for many years.   
 

5) Medicare Tax 
 

 The Medicare Tax rate is determined by the federal government.  If the federal 
government changes the rate prior to June 30, that change will be reflected in the 
final benefit rates.  The rate is assessed to every employee’s base salary and is 
also assessed against Unplanned Overtime and Extended Duty Week 
Compensation. The Medicare Tax rate has not changed historically for many 
years.   
 

6) Life Insurance 
 

 The rate is determined by the local government life insurance costs divided by 
the total of the local government Salaries & Wages and Temporary Help costs. 
The rate is not applied to safety classifications since there are currently no safety 
supervisors in local government agreements with CAL FIRE.  The life insurance 
rate did not change from the prior fiscal year.   
 

7) Survivor’s Benefits 
 

 The rate is determined by the total employer contribution rate, which is set 
annually by CalPERS.  If the rate changes prior to June 30, that change will be 
reflected in the final benefit rates. 

Page 261

Item 18.



Local Government Cooperative Agreement Staff Benefit Rate 
2024-25 Benefit Rate Matrix 
January 2024 - Preliminary 

 

3 | P a g e  
 

 
 The survivor’s benefit rate could change with the final benefit rates if CalPERS 

adopts new 2024-25 State 1959 Survivor Monthly Premiums. 
 

 The survivor’s benefit rate calculation is determined by multiplying the required 
employer and employee premiums for the state 5th Level of 1959 survivor 
benefits; then multiplying by the number of local government employees to get 
the total premium.  The total premium is divided by the total local government 
employee Salaries & Wages and Temporary Help costs. 

 
8)  Prefunding of Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 
 

 The annual budget, based on the applicable Bargaining Unit Memorandum of 
Understanding, requires a state employer contribution to prefund retiree 
healthcare, referred to as OPEB: 
 

o Bargaining Unit 1, 4, 15 – 3.0 percent 
o Bargaining Unit 7 – 4.0 percent 
o Bargaining Unit 8 – 3.9 percent 
o Bargaining Unit 12 –3.6 percent 

 
 The OPEB rates are based on the rates displayed in the 2024-25 proposed 

budget bill under Control Section 3.61 by Bargaining Unit. 
  

Page 262

Item 18.



Local Government Cooperative Agreement Staff Benefit Rate 
2024-25 Benefit Rate Matrix 
January 2024 - Preliminary 

 

4 | P a g e  
 

9) Workers’ Compensation 
 
 The Workers’ Compensation rate is calculated based upon the total departmental 

Workers’ Compensation costs divided by the total departmental Salaries & 
Wages and Temporary Help costs. 
 

 The Workers’ Compensation rate increased by 0.98 percent due to an increase 
in total Workers’ Compensation costs being more significant that the increases in 
total Departmental payroll costs. 
 

10)  Unemployment Insurance 
 
 The Unemployment Insurance rate is calculated by the total departmental 

Unemployment Insurance costs divided by the total department Temporary Help 
costs. 
 

 The Unemployment rate decreased 0.74 percent due to a decrease in total 
Unemployment Insurance costs being more significant than the total 
Departmental Temporary Help payroll costs. 
 

11)  Administrative Rate 
 

 The 2024-25 Local Government Rate is currently 12.10 percent, which is the last 
state and federal control agency approved (2022-23) rate.    
 

 CAL FIRE will continue to apply the 2022-23 12.10 percent Local Government 
Rate until CAL FIRE’s 2023-24 indirect cost rate is approved by the United 
States Forest Service who is presently reviewing it.  Once approved, CAL FIRE 
will prospectively charge the latest approved state and federal control agency 
rate.   

 
 

 
 

Page 263

Item 18.



Page 264

Item 18.



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 

FROM: Adrian Moreno, Associate Planner  

SUBJECT: VMP Night Club & Event Center –Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 and 

Conditional Use Permit No. 380 

SPECIFICS: for a nightclub and special event center to allow for live events and a Type 48 

ABC license to allow the on-sale of beer, wine, and distilled spirits at the 5,867 

SF commercial suite at 49974 Cesar Chavez Street. Applicant: Reyes Hernandez 
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2024-54 approving Conditional Use 

Permit No. 380 and adopt Resolution No. 2024-55 approving Entertainment Permit No. 24-01, 

pursuant to the findings and conditions of approval contained in the attached resolution. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

VMP Nightclub & Event Center is a proposed nightclub 

establishment within a 5,867 SF commercial suite at 49974 Cesar 

Chavez Street at the commercial plaza at the northeast corner of 

Avenue 50 and Cesar Chavez Street. The property at 49974 Cesar 

Chavez Street was previously a furniture store prior to the 

commercial center remodel in 2015. In May 2015, the commercial 

center was approved for a remodel, and the 5,867 SF suite has been 

vacant ever since. The applicant is Reyes Ramirez Hernandez and 

two associates Hernandez Ilse Alicia and Samantha Aaliyah 

Hernandez. The applicant Reyes Ramirez Hernandez has operated 

other establishments that include Viva Mexico Tax & Travel at 

52309 Cesar Chavez Street, and previously Mi Lindo Sinaloa at 

49967 Cesar Chavez Street. On September 4, 2024, Planning 

Commission recommended City Council to approve the 

Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 and Conditional Use Permit No. 

380 with added conditions to require pressure washing and a 

parking lot lighting plan to be revisited at year of renewal.   

 

 

Figure 1 - Vicinity Map 

Page 265

Item 19.



ABC LICENSE DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The applicant submitted a request for a CUP to allow the on-sale of beer, wine, and distilled spirits 

at the proposed nightclub and special event center at 49974 Cesar Chavez Street. The zoning 

designation of the commercial center is Downtown Town –Pueblo Viejo and allows liquor sales 

with approval of a CUP. Planning Commission recommended for City Council to approve the CUP 

findings for the alcohol license. 

 

The subject site is located within Census Tract 9404 with a population of 6,242 person, where 

ABC concentration standards allow a maximum of 5 on-sale, and 3 off-sale licenses, where 20 

active licenses exist. Planning Commission recommended for City Council to approve the CUP 

No. 380 with the findings that the public convenience or necessity justifies the issuance of the 

liquor license for the establishment. 

 

On-sale establishments may not fall within 700 feet of a church, school, park, playground, 

residence or another exiting on-sale use as measured from property line to property line.  The 

subject site is within 700 feet of the following active on-sale liquor uses; Pizza Hut restaurant, 

Carnitas La Piedad restaurant. The subject site is within 700 feet of residential property to the 

west of the subject property, west of Cesar Chavez Street and south of Avenue 50.  

 

Staff contacted Lieutenant Vasquez with the Riverside County Sheriff regarding any concerns 

about the proposed business.  Lieutenant Vasquez identified a concern with the off-sale of liquor, 

and requests the use of metal detectors and placement of signage at the exterior that prohibits 

solicitors as conditions of approval for the project.  

 

The total square footage of the commercial suite is 5,867 SF, with a sales floor area of 5,475 SF 

and a non-customer area of 392 SF, the total square footage of the commercial suite is 5,867 SF. 

This project does not exceed the 5% maximum sales floor area that may be dedicated to the 

display or sale of alcohol (273.75 SF). The project does not exceed the maximum 20% of gross 

floor area (1,173 SF) that may be dedicated to the display and storage of alcohol at the proposed 

establishment. 

 

Hours of Operation:  

The establishment hours of operation are listed below. Live entertainment may include live 

performances, live music, comedy shows, night club use, or other similar live entertainment 

uses. Indoor ambient music is not restricted. Special event rentals may include birthday parties, 

anniversaries, or similar uses with no live music permitted. The applicant is requesting a Type 

48 ABC license, per ABC requirements, no person under the age of 21 can enter the business 

during operation hours.  

 

Regular Hours of Operation 

a. 2 PM – 10 PM Monday thru Wednesday  

b. 2 PM – 2 AM Thursday thru Sunday 

 

Hours Restrictions 

c. 1:30 AM is last call for alcohol service 

Page 266

Item 19.



d. 9 PM – 2 AM Thursday – Sunday Live Entertainment Hours 

e. 2 PM – 10 PM Wednesday – Friday Special Event Rental Hours  

f. 8 PM – 1:30 AM – Allowed Dancing or Entertainment Hours 

 

ENTERTAINMENT PERMIT USE DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

 

The proposed VMP Night Club and Event Center is a proposed bar, nightclub, and event center 

that will also allow facility rental for special events. The establishment is required to maintain a 

system to identify all adults from minors in the entertainment establishment. The floor plan of 

the VMP Nightclub includes an approximately 288 SF portable stage and a 393 SF dance floor 

area. The establishment has three different floor plan configurations that provide different table 

arrangements for a 403 person maximum occupancy. The establishment will not be a full-service 

restaurant but will have small prepackaged snacks and bar foods such as nachos, chips and salsa, 

etc.  

 

SECURITY: 

 

The permit conditions of approval require an approved security plan and camera plan from the 

applicant by City Staff and the Riverside County Sheriff Department. The event security plan 

requires a minimum of 5 total security guards for events that exceed 50 guests.. Any events that 

exceed 250 guests are required to provide 1 additional security guard per every additional 50 

guests. There shall be a minimum of 1 security officer monitoring the parking lot, a minimum 

of 2 security officers at the main entrance, and a minimum of 2 security officers that roam the 

interior of the establishment. Security will help ensure that guests do not solicit outside the 

premises, control lines outside the main entrance, operate metal detectors, and patrol the interior 

of the site.  At the closing time at 2:00 AM, officers will ensure guests leave the building and 

security will monitor until 3:00 AM on special event nights Thursday through Sunday.  

 

Parking:  

 

The shopping center is owned by two separate owners. The subject site property owner owns 

120 parking spaces at the center. The existing uses (Dollar Tree, Victory Liquor, and Aldinno’s 

apparel store) require 57 of the 120 parking spaces available. The applicant is required to 

accommodate 94 additional parking spaces for the VMP project. With the new proposed use, the 

applicant exceeds the 120 spaces available by 31 spaces. The applicant will be required to 

accommodate the 31 additional parking spaces with a park share use agreement or other parking 

measures and is a required project condition of approval.  

 

The adjacent property with the Smart and Final business owns 145 parking spaces and is owned 

by a different owner. The Smart and Final only requires approximately 110 spaces, leaving 35 

spaces of excess parking available. Staff finds that there is sufficient parking at that center to 

accommodate the 31 additional spaces required for the proposed nightclub. 

 

 

 

 

Page 267

Item 19.



Table 2 – Parking Calculation 

 

Location Use Area Parking Ratio Required 

Parking 

VMP 

Nightclub  

Dance Floor 393 SF of 

Dance 

Floor 

Dance Floor: 1 space per 30 SF 13 spaces 

Waiting Area 1038 SF 1 space per 21 SF of assembly 

area 

49 spaces 

Seating Area 96 seats 1 space per 3 seats 32 spaces 

TOTAL    94 spaces 

Dollar Tree Commercial 10,120 SF Commercial Ratio: 1 per 250 SF 41 Spaces 

Victory 

Liquor and 

Aladinno’s 

Commercial 3,922 SF Commercial Ratio: 1 per 250 SF 16 Spaces 

Total Required Parking  151 required 

parking 

spaces 

required 

Total Parking Available (Owner’s property)  120 spaces 

provided 

(deficient 31 

spaces) 

 

 

Environmental Setting: 

 

The subject business at 49974 Cesar Chavez Street is along the Cesar Chavez Street commercial 

corridor surrounded by commercial uses, with adjoining zoning and land uses as follows: 

 

North: Andy’s #5 and Pizza Hut (DT-PV, Downtown) 

 

West: Victory Liquor store and Aladinno’s apparel store (DT-PV)  

 

South: American Tires (DT-PV, Downtown) 

 

East: Dollar Tree and Smart & Final / (DT-PV, Downtown) 

 

LANDSCAPING/PARKING LOT: 

 

The existing commercial site conditions include missing landscape materials and parking lot 

pavement deficiencies. As conditions of approval for this project, the applicant is required to 

make the improvements and be subject to a maintenance agreement with the city. 

 

 

Page 268

Item 19.



SITE IMPROVEMENTS: 

 

The applicant is required to make improvements 

at the rear entrance to the property at Cesar 

Chavez Street, which include construction of a 

security fence, ADA ramp, trash enclosure, and 

paving improvements. The security fence is 

requested to control access and deter 

trespassing. The ADA ramp will provide ADA 

accessibility to the rear entrance. A new trash 

enclosure would replace the existing chain link 

enclosure that is in neglected condition.  

 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: 

 

Staff has determined that the proposed project is 

categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to the guidelines of the California 

Environmental Quality Act as “Existing Facilities” (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15301).  The 

proposed project consists of the operation, licensing and minor alteration of an existing private 

commercial structure involving negligible or no expansion of existing or former commercial use 

on the property. The subject site does not propose expansion of the existing floor area.  

 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1) Adopt Resolution No. 2024-54 and Resolution No. 2024-55 to approve Entertainment 

Permit No. 24-01 and Conditional Use Permit No. 380 with the findings and conditions 

as recommended by Staff. 

 

2) Adopt Resolution No. 2024-54 and Resolution No. 2024-55 with the findings and conditions 

as recommended by Staff with modifications as proposed by the City Council. 

3) Not approve Resolution No. 2024-54 and Resolution No. 2024-55 and request that staff 

prepare a City Council Resolution for denial of Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 and 

Conditional Use Permit No. 380. 

4)   Continue this item and provide staff and the applicant with direction. 

 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Based on the analysis contained herein and the findings listed below, staff is recommending that 

the City Council approve alternative #1, to approve Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 and 

Conditional Use Permit No. 380, with the findings and conditions listed in Resolution No. 2024-

54 and Resolution No. 2024-55. 

 

 

Figure 2 - Site Improvements 

Page 269

Item 19.



Attachments: 

1. Resolution No. 2024-54 

a. Exhibit A – Conditions of Approval 

2. Resolution No. 2024-55 

a. Exhibit A – Conditions of Approval 

b. Exhibit B – Development Plan Set 

3. Security Plan 

4. Landscape Exhibit 

5. Vicinity Map 

6. Site Photos 

7. Property Owner Map 

8. Existing On-Sale Licenses – Tract 9404 
 

Page 270

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-54 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-54 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA, 

CALIFORNIA APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 380 TO 

ALLOW THE BAR USE AND THE ON-SALE BEER, WINE, AND DISTILLED 

SPIRITS SERVICE FOR THE 5,867 SQUARE FOOT VMP NIGHT CLUB AND 

EVENT CENTER OPERATING UNTIL 10 P.M. MONDAY THROUGH 

WEDNESDAY AND UNTIL 2:00 A.M. THURSDAY TO SUNDAY (ABC 

LICENSE TYPE 48 – ON SALE GENERAL – PUBLIC PREMISES), IN AN 

EXISTING COMMERCIAL BUILDING LOCATED AT 49974 CESAR CHAVEZ 

STREET, (APN 603-310-005); REYES RAMIREZ HERNANDEZ, APPLICANT. 

 

WHEREAS, Reyes Ramirez Hernandez, with associates Ilse Alicia Sigler and 
Samantha Aaliyah Hernandez, filed an application for Conditional Use Permit No. 380 
(CUP 380) to allow a 5,867 square foot bar, nightclub, and event center with service of 
beer, wine, and distilled spirits (ABC License Type 48 – On Sale General – Public Premises) 
in an existing commercial building located at 49974 Cesar Chavez Street; Assessor’s Parcel 
No. 603-310-005 (“Project”); and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed public hearing 

for Conditional Use Permit No. 380 and also consideration of Entertainment Permit No. 

24-01 on September 4, 2024 at 1515 6th Street, Coachella, California regarding the 
proposed Project; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing for CUP 

No. 380 and also consideration of Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 on September 25, 
2024 at 1515 6th Street, Coachella, California; and, 

 

WHEREAS, at the City Council hearing, the Applicant and members of the 

public were present and were afforded an opportunity to testify regarding the Project; 

and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Project is permitted pursuant to Chapter 5.24 and Chapter 17.74 

of the Coachella Municipal Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed use is necessary or desirable for the development of the 

community, is consistent with the objectives of the City’s General Plan, and is not 

detrimental to the existing uses or the uses specifically permitted in the zone in which the 

proposed use is to be located; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the 

proposed bar, nightclub, and event center with on-sale beer, wine, and distilled spirits; 

and, 

 

WHEREAS, the site for proposed use relates properly to streets which are designed 

to carry the type and quantity of traffic to be generated by the proposed use; and, 

 
 

Attachment  1 

Page 271

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-54 

Page 2 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed project is exempt from the California Environmental 

Quality Act, as amended; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the conditions as stipulated by the City are necessary to protect the 

public health, safety and welfare of the community. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 

Coachella, California does hereby recommend approval of Conditional Use Permit No. 380, 

subject to the findings and conditions of approval listed below. 

 

Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals 

 

The City Council hereby finds that all of the facts in the Recitals are true and correct and are 

incorporated and adopted as findings of the City Council as fully set forth in this resolution. 

 

 Section 2. CEQA Findings 

 

Based upon its review of the entire record, including the Staff Report, any public  comments 

or testimony presented to the City Council, and the facts outlined below, the City Council 

hereby finds and determines that the proposed project is categorically exempt from 

environmental review pursuant to the guidelines of the California Environmental Quality Act 

as an “Existing Facilities” project (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15301) as the proposed project 

and on-sale service of alcohol consists of the operation, licensing, and minor alteration of an 

existing private commercial structure involving negligible or no exterior expansion.  

 

Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit Findings 

 

With respect to Conditional Use Permit No. 380, the City Council finds as follows for the 

proposed on-sale alcohol request: 
 

1. The proposed use will not be in conflict with, but will be in harmony with and in 

accordance with the objectives of the general plan because the proposed bar, nightclub, 

and event center use with alcohol sales is within the Downtown Center land use 

designation according to the General Plan 2035, which intends to provide convenient 

access and parking for motorists while also providing an attractive shopping 

environment. The on sale offerings of beer, wine and distilled spirits at VMP Nightclub 

and Event Center will provide a unique service to the Downtown Center and citywide 

that accomplishes the goals of the General Plan. The event center would help further the 

city’s goal to make Coachella a destination for tourism and entertainment by providing 

an entertainment attraction that is expected to provide entertainment for residents and 

bring in tourists from outside the city.  

 
2. The proposed use will be located, designed, constructed, operated and maintained so as 

to be compatible with the existing character of the general vicinity and shall not change 

the essential character of the same area because the proposed use is within a zoning 

designation of ‘DT-PV' (Downtown) which permits bar and entertainment uses with 

Page 272

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-54 

Page 3 

 

alcohol service subject to obtaining a conditional use permit to sell alcoholic beverages. 

The proposed use is located on Cesar Chavez Street and is compatible with the 

adjoining commercial uses and the conditional use permit can be revoked if any of the 

conditions of approval are violated. 

 
3. Consideration has been given to harmony in scale, bulk, coverage and density, to the 

availability of public facilities and utilities, to harmful effect, if any, upon desirable 

neighborhood character, to the generation of traffic and the capacity of surrounding 

streets, and to any other relevant impact of development, because the existing commercial 

tenant space is within an existing commercial building with existing infrastructure 

available on-site for the bar, nightclub, and event center and an existing commercial 

parking lot. 

 
4. Where the proposed use may be potentially hazardous or disturbing to existing or 

reasonably expected neighboring uses, it must be justified by the common public interest 

as a benefit to the community as a whole. As conditioned, the proposed use will provide 

for the sale of alcoholic beverages. The Riverside County Sheriff reviewed the 

conditions of approval for this project that pertain to security, and indicated that there 

are no concerns about the operations of this establishment, including service of on-sale 

beer, wine, and distilled spirit service. As such, there are no anticipated hazardous or 

disturbing effects to the existing and neighboring uses. 

 

5. The proposed use provides vehicular approaches to the property designed for reasonable 

minimal interference with traffic on surrounding public streets or roads as the 

commercial center that the subject business is located in is already existing and traffic 

and vehicular approaches were already considered and approved by the City.   The City 

of Coachella has determined that the proposed project is categorically exempt from 

environmental review pursuant to the guidelines of the California Environmental 

Quality Act as an “Existing Facilities” project (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15301) as the 

proposed project and on-sale service of alcohol consists of the operation, licensing, and 

minor alteration of an existing private commercial structure involving no exterior 

expansion. 

 

6. Although the VMP Nightclub and Event Center  does fall within seven hundred (700) 

feet, measured from property line to property line, of residential uses, the benefit of the 

proposed bar, nightclub, and event center outweights the distance restrictions and the 

public convenience or necessity is justified to issue the on-sale beer, wine and distilled 

spirits license as the proposed bar, nightclub, and event center will offer a unique 

performance and entertainment venue that would be an entertainment destination for 

Coachella residents and to draw visitors from around the region. The project is on a 

major corridor and in the Downtown Center designation, which is envisioned to have 

such entertainment uses. The nearest residence is approximately 680 feet southwest 

from the project and is separated by Cesar Chavez Street and Avenue 50. The subject 

property is not within a 700 foot distance of a religious use.   

 

7. Although the VMP Nightclub and Event Center establishment does fall within seven 

hundred (700) feet, measured from property line to property line, of an existing liquor 

Page 273

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-54 

Page 4 

 

on-sale use (Pizza Hut restaurant, Carnitas La Piedad restaurant), and residential 

property west of the subject property, the benefit of the proposed bar, nightclub, and 

event center outweighs the distance restrictions and the public convenience or necessity 

is justified to issue the (Type 48 On-Sale General – Public Premises) alcohol license as 

the bar, night club, and event center will offer a unique amenity and entertainment 

venue in the downtown area available to Coachella residents.  A condition of approval 

for CUP 380 requires that not greater than 20 percent of the gross floor area or 1,500 sq. 

ft. whichever is less is dedicated to a bar or storage, sales, and display of 

liquor/alcoholic beverages and said area is separated by physical barriers from the main 

seating area for serving meals. 

 

8. The bar, nightclub and event center establishment at the location will not adversely 

affect the economic welfare of the nearby community, but rather would expand the 

availability of jobs and would serve as an anchor for the commercial center, which 

would also provide jobs and increase the City's sales tax revenues. 

 

9. The exterior appearance of the structure of the proposed establishment will not be 

inconsistent with the exterior appearance of commercial structures already constructed 

or under construction within the immediate neighborhood so as to cause blight or 

deterioration, or substantially diminish or impair the property values within the 

neighborhood.  The business is located in an existing commercial center that was 

approved under Architectural Review. 

 

Section 4. City Council Approval 

 

Based on the foregoing recitals and findings above, and the written and oral comments, facts 

and evidence presented, the City of Coachella City Council approves Conditional Use Permit 

No. 380 subject to and amended by conditions of approval in “Exhibit A.” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 274

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-54 

Page 5 

 

PASSED APPROVED and ADOPTED this 25th of September 2024 by the following 

vote: 

 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 
 

 

 
 

Steven A. Hernandez 
Mayor 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

Angel M. Zepeda 
City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

Carlos Campos 
City Attorney 

Page 275

Item 19.



 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA ) 

 

 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2024-54 was duly 

adopted by the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on 
this 25th of September 2024 by the following vote of the Council: 

 
AYES:  

 
NOES:  

 
ABSENT:  

 
ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

 

_______________________________________ 

Delia Granados 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

Page 276

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-54                                                                                                 EXHIBIT A   

Exhibit A – Resolution No. 2024-54 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 380 

 

General Conditions 

 

1.) The conditional use permit shall expire and shall become void two years following the date 

on which the conditional use became effective unless alcohol sales is commenced within 

12 months of the effective date of this Conditional Use Permit or an extension of time is 

reviewed by the Planning Commission. A request for time extension shall be filed in a 

timely manner with applicable fees.  

 

2.) Conditional Use Permit No. 380 is an approval for the on sale of beer, wine and distilled 

spirits in conjunction with the VMP Night Club & Event Center. This approval is based on 

the floor plan submitted for the proposed project. Violation of any of the conditions of 

approval shall be cause for revocation of the Conditional Use Permit. The off-sale of 

alcohol shall be prohibited.  

 

3.) The applicant shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City of Coachella, its officials, 

officers, employees, and agents from and against any claim, action, or proceeding against 

the City, its officials, officers, employees or agents to attack, set aside, void or annul any 

project approval or condition of approval of the city concerning this project, including but 

not limited to any approval or condition of approval or mitigation measure imposed by the 

City Council or Planning Commission. The City shall promptly notify the applicant of any 

claim, action, or proceeding concerning the project and the City shall cooperate fully in the 

defense of the matter. The City reserves the right, at its own option, to choose its own 

attorney to represent the City, its officials, officers, employees and agents in the defense 

of the City Attorney, within five days of the effective date of this approval.  

 

4.) The use shall meet the standards within the limits established by the Coachella Municipal 

Code as related to emissions of noise, odor, dust, vibration, wastes, fumes, or any public 

nuisances arising or occurring incidental to the establishment or operation. 

 

5.) Not greater than 20 percent of the gross floor area or 1,500 sq. ft. whichever is less is 

dedicated to a bar or storage, sales, and display of liquor/alcoholic beverages and said area 

is separated by physical barriers from the main seating area for serving meals. 

 

6.) Any break in service, meaning the closure of the establishment for a period of 180 

consecutive days, will result in the expiration of this CUP. 

 

7.) The applicant shall comply with all requirements and conditions of approval as included 

in Entertainment Permit No. 24-01. 

 

Page 277

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55 

Page 1 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-55 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA, 

CALIFORNIA APPROVING ENTERTAINMENT ESTABLISHMENT PERMIT 

NO. 24-01 TO ALLOW ENTERTAINMENT EVENTS WHERE ON-SALE BEER, 

WINE, AND DISTILLED SPIRITS SERVICE IS PROVIDED IN A 5,867 

SQUARE FOOT TENANT SPACE FOR THE VMP NIGHT CLUB AND EVENT 

CENTER, IN AN EXISTING COMMERCIAL BUILDING LOCATED AT 49974 

CESAR CHAVEZ STREET (APN 603-310-005); REYES RAMIREZ 

HERNANDEZ, APPLICANT. 

 

WHEREAS, Reyes Ramirez Hernandez, with associates Ilse Alicia Sigler and 
Samantha Aaliyah Hernandez, filed an application for Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 (EP 
No. 24-01) to allow a 5,867 square foot bar, nightclub, and event center with service of 
beer, wine, and distilled spirits (ABC License Type 48 – On Sale General – Public 
Premises) and live performances to include live musical groups, comedians, karaoke, and 
more Thursday through Friday in an existing commercial building located at 49974 Cesar 
Chavez Street; Assessor’s Parcel No. 603-310-005 (“Project”); and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed public hearing 

on Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 and also consideration of CUP No. 380 on September 

4, 2024 at 1515 6th Street, Coachella, California regarding the proposed Project; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a duly noticed public hearing for 

Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 and also consideration of CUP No. 380 on September 
25, 2024 at 1515 6th Street, Coachella, California; and, 

 
WHEREAS, at the City Council hearing, the Applicant and members of the 

public were present and were afforded an opportunity to testify regarding the Project; 

and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Project is permitted pursuant to Chapter 5.24 and Chapter 17.74 of 

the Coachella Municipal Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed use is necessary or desirable for the development of the 

community, is consistent with the objectives of the City’s General Plan, and is not 

detrimental to the existing uses or the uses specifically permitted in the zone in which the 

proposed use is to be located; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed site is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the 

proposed bar, nightclub, and event center with on-sale beer, wine, and distilled spirits; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the site for proposed use relates properly to streets which are designed 

to carry the type and quantity of traffic to be generated by the proposed use; and, 

 

Attachment  2 

Page 278

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55 

Page 2 

 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed project is exempt from the California Environmental 

Quality Act, as amended; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the conditions as stipulated by the City are necessary to protect the 

public health, safety and welfare of the community 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of 

Coachella, California does hereby approve of Entertainment Permit No. 24-01, subject to 

the findings and conditions of approval listed below. 

 

Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals 

 

The City Council hereby finds that all of the facts in the Recitals are true and correct and are 

incorporated and adopted as findings of the City Council as fully set forth in this resolution. 

 

 Section 2. CEQA Findings 

 

Based upon its review of the entire record, including the Staff Report, any public  comments 

or testimony presented to the City Council, and the facts outlined below, the City Council 

hereby finds and determines that the proposed project is categorically exempt from 

environmental review pursuant to the guidelines of the California Environmental Quality Act 

as an “Existing Facilities” project (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15301) as the proposed project 

and on-sale service of alcohol consists of the operation, licensing, and minor alteration of an 

existing private commercial structure involving negligible or no exterior expansion.  

 

Section 3.  Entertainment Establishment Permit Findings 

 

With respect to Entertainment Permit No. 24-01, the City Council finds as follows for the 

proposed entertainment permit request: 
 

1. The information provided in the application is accurate, complete and truthful, as 

evidenced by staff and there are no known violations of any laws, ordinances, or 

regulations related to the applicant's fitness to manage or operate the proposed 

entertainment venue. 

 

2. The applicant possesses the required moral character to comply with the requirements of 

Chapter 5.24 and the conditions of approval imposed herein. As conditioned, the 

proposed added security measures will ensure that the public safety for the business will 

be maintained to the satisfaction of the Chief of Police. 

 

3. The applicant has sufficient resources and expertise to operate the proposed entertainment 

venue in a safe, professional and effective manner in accordance with the City's 

Municipal Code. The owner has successfully operated other like establishments within 

the city and at other cities including Viva Mexico Tax & Travel and Mi Lindo Sinaloa 

Page 279

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55 

Page 3 

 

 

within the City of Coachella. The Riverside County Sherriff and City Code Enforcement 

reported no issues with the calls for service history at these establishments.  

 

4. The proposed use will not be in conflict with, but will be in harmony with and in 

accordance with the objectives of the general plan because the proposed bar, nightclub, 

and event center use with alcohol sales is within the Downtown Center land use 

designation according to the General Plan 2035, which intends to provide convenient 

access and parking for motorists while also providing an attractive shopping 

environment. The on-sale offerings of beer, wine and distilled spirits at VMP Nightclub 

and Event Center will provide a unique service to the Downtown Center and citywide 

that accomplishes the goals of the General Plan. The event center would help further the 

city’s goal to make Coachella a destination for tourism and entertainment by providing an 

entertainment attraction that is expected to provide entertainment for residents and bring 

in tourists from outside the city.  

 

5. The City of Coachella has determined that the proposed project is categorically exempt 

from environmental review pursuant to the guidelines of the California Environmental 

Quality Act as an “Existing Facilities” project (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15301) as the 

proposed project and on-sale service of alcohol consists of the operation, licensing, and 

minor alteration of an existing private commercial structure involving negligible or no 

exterior expansion. 
 

Section 4. City Council Approval 

 

Based on the foregoing recitals and findings above, and the written and oral comments, facts 

and evidence presented, the City of Coachella City Council approves of Entertainment Permit 

No. 24-01 subject to conditions of approval in “Exhibit A”, and Development Plan Set 

“Exhibit B”. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 280

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55 

Page 4 

 

 

 

PASSED APPROVED and ADOPTED this 25th of September 2024 by the following 

vote: 

 

AYES: 

 

NOES: 

 

ABSENT: 

 

ABSTAIN: 
 

 

 

 
 

Steven A. Hernandez 
Mayor 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

Angel M. Zepeda 
City Clerk 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

Carlos Campos 
City Attorney 

Page 281

Item 19.



 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 

COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE ) ss. 

CITY OF COACHELLA ) 

 

 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution No. 2024-55 was duly 

adopted by the City Council of the City of Coachella at a regular meeting thereof, held on 

this 25th of September 2024 by the following vote of the City Council: 

 
AYES:  

 
NOES:  

 
ABSENT:  

 
ABSTAIN:  

 

 

 

 
  

Delia Granados 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

Page 282

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

Exhibit A – Resolution No. 2024-55 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR ENTERTAINMENT PERMIT NO. 24-01  

VMP NIGHTCLUB AND EVENT CENTER 

 

General Conditions 

 

1.) Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 is an approval for an entertainment venue where alcohol 

may be served with entertainment from Thursday through Sunday. The approval is based 

on the site plan and floor plan submitted for the proposed project. Violation of any of the 

conditions of approval shall be cause for revocation of the Entertainment Permit No. 24-

01. 
 

2.) The applicant shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City of Coachella, its officials, 

officers, employees, and agents from and against any claim, action, or proceeding against 

the City, its officials, officers, employees or agents to attack, set aside, void or annul any 

project approval or condition of approval of the city concerning this project, including but 

not limited to any approval or condition of approval or mitigation measure imposed by the 

City Council or Planning Commission. The City shall promptly notify the applicant of any 

claim, action, or proceeding concerning the project and the City shall cooperate fully in the 

defense of the matter. The City reserves the right, at its own option, to choose its own 

attorney to represent the City, its officials, officers, employees and agents in the defense 

of the City Attorney, within five days of the effective date of this approval.  

 

3.) Any break in service, meaning the closure of the event venue for a period of 180 

consecutive days, will result in the expiration of this Entertainment Permit. 

 

4.) Entertainment Establishment Permit No. 24-01 shall be valid for 12 months commencing 

on the first day of the operation. A request for renewal must be submitted by the applicant 

in order to extend the term of the Permit after the initial term of 12 months has lapsed, at 

which time the City Council will review compliance with the conditions of approval and 

consider granting up to a 36-month renewal of the entertainment permit. Relinquishment 

of the entertainment permit will require an amendment to this resolution, subject to review 

by the City Council.  

 

5.) Any violation of the conditions of approval for this project may result in the issuance of 

citations and fines, and may result in revocation of the Entertainment Establishment 

Permit. 

 

6.) The use shall meet the standards within the limits established by the Coachella Municipal 

Code as related to emissions of noise, odor, dust, vibration, wastes, fumes, or any public 

nuisances arising or occurring incidental to the establishment or operation. 

 

7.) The applicant shall comply with Noise Control standards of the Municipal Code (Chapter 

7.04). No amplified sound equipment or live music performances are permitted to occur  

outdoors. Entrances shall be closed during events, and shall not be continuously left open 

for an extended period of time during events. The applicant shall mitigate noise levels if 

determined by the Code Enforcement Manager to be excessive through measures approved 

Page 283

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

by the Code Enforcement Manager and with consultation of a certified acoustical 

professional. 
 

8.) The applicant shall comply with Municipal Code requirements of Chapter 5.24 – 

Entertainment Establishments where alcohol is served.  
 

9.) The applicant shall comply with all requirements imposed by the State Department of 

Alcoholic Beverage Control. 

 

10.) The applicant shall obtain all other applicable permits, if required, from the appropriate 

agencies (i.e. Fire Department, Building Division, City Engineering Department, Sheriff’s 

Department, and Department of Public Health, etc.). 
 

Signage 
 

11.) All exterior signage shall comply with the City of Coachella Sign Ordinance. Signage shall 

be approved by the Development Services Department and installed prior to Certificate of 

Occupancy. Signage shall be individual channel lettering or other high quality signage.  

 

12.) Signage advertising brands of alcoholic beverages or the availability of alcoholic 

beverages shall not be visible from the exterior of the building or anywhere off-site. 

 

Hours of Operation 

 

13.) Hours of operation and restrictions for event venue are as listed below. Live Entertainment 

may include live performances, live music, comedy shows, night club use, or other similar 

live entertainment uses, this restriction does not apply to ambient music. Special event 

rentals may include birthday parties, anniversaries, or similar uses with no live music 

permitted. No dancing or entertainment shall be permitted prior to eight p.m. nor after one-

thirty a.m for all days. The City reserves the right to modify the hours of business operation 

after 12 months of continuous Entertainment establishment use has lapsed, based on 

information provided by the Coachella Police regarding calls for service. 
 

Regular Hours of Operation 

a. 2PM – 10PM Monday thru Wednesday  

b. 2PM – 2AM Thursday thru Sunday 

 

Hours Restrictions 

c. 1:30AM is last call for alcohol service 

d. 9PM – 2AM Thursday – Sunday Live Entertainment Hours 

e. 2PM – 10 PM Wednesday – Friday Special Event Rental Hours  

f. 8PM – 1:30 AM – Allowed Dancing or Entertainment Hours 

 

14.) Any other proposed entertainment event beyond the scope of this permit shall require a 

special event permit to be approved by the City Manager's office. Said application and 

applicable fees shall be submitted a minimum of ten (10) working days, not including days 

when City Hall is closed, prior to the event. 

 

 

Page 284

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

Security 

 

15.) The following preventative measures shall be undertaken to reduce the potential for alcohol 

related problems: 
 

a. Food service, which may include snacks, shall remain available during all hours of 

operation; 

 

b. Taxicab phone numbers shall be posted in visible locations at all times in the area(s) 

where alcohol is served; 

 

c. All employees selling or serving alcohol shall be required to participate in an 

alcohol management training program prior to the operation of selling/serving 

alcohol.  Applicant shall provide confirmation that employees to serve alcohol upon 

first event to City staff have obtained training and applicant shall obtain 

acknowledgement by the Development Services Director or designee that the 

training was completed; and 

 

d. The availability of a variety of non- alcoholic beverages shall be made known and 

offered to customers. 

 

16.) Management shall patrol the business premises, parking lot, and the surrounding vicinity, 

during the entertainment venue operation and until all patrons have left the parking area 

after operational hours. Management shall ensure that no littering, loitering, or consumption 

of alcohol occurs in and around the property. 

 

17.) Any and all weapons shall be prohibited at the premises, outside the premises or at the 

parking lot outside the premises except by those individuals lawfully permitted to possess 

such. 

 

18.) The Chief of Police shall have the authority and power to temporarily close the 

establishment when it becomes apparent that a situation exists wherein there is a probability 

that the general welfare and safety of the patrons or of the public may be in jeopardy. If 

closed under this condition, the premises will not be allowed to reopen before the beginning 

of regular business hours on the date following the closure. 

 

19.) The applicant shall employ the use of hand- held metal detectors at all entrances to protect 

the safety and general welfare of patrons or of the public. 

 

20.) A minimum of one licensed security officer will be required for Thursday through  Sunday 

after 8 p.m. when any entertainment events occur (musicians, karaoke, or similar related 

entertainment activities), unless more security is required per the approved security plan for 

this project. Applicant shall comply with the required approved Security Plan for the 

project. Applicant shall meet the minimum security requirements and other security 

measures per the approved Security Plan.  
 

21.) Licensed security guards shall be required for events that exceed 50 guests or when alcohol 

is served subject to the approved security plan.  These guards must possess State of 

Page 285

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

California guard cards issues through the California Department of Consumer Affairs. 

Additional guards shall be used as needed to adequately patrol the parking areas.  The City 

Manager, Code Enforcement Manager or Chief of Police may administratively modify the 

entertainment permit security plan as deemed necessary to preserve the safety and welfare 

of guests and the public.  
 

22.) A maximum of 403 total occupants are permitted on-site for events at any given time.  The 

applicant shall maintain a count of all event participants on-site at all times during events.  

Event counts for all events shall be maintained by event staff at the main entrance and made 

available upon request by the Coachella Police or City Staff.  

 

23.) Applicant or property owner shall be responsible in installing security cameras in the 

parking lot to ensure that the Sheriff’s Department has video surveillance or evidence 

should any public safety issue arise from the establishment or proposed business use; such 

as, but not limited to fights, shootings, noise, public intoxication. Parking lot security 

cameras shall be installed prior to certificate of occupancy to the satisfaction of the 

Development Services Director.  

 

24.) A camera plan shall be reviewed and approved by Coachella Police and Code Enforcement 

Division prior to occupancy and installation.  Applicant is required to provide camera 

footage to City staff or Police based on any incidences of concern on the property or related 

to the nightclub operation. 

 

25.) Applicant shall ensure to their best ability, that the area in front of nightclub is free of 

solicitors at all times of the day, which includes the tenant frontage directly adjacent to the 

nightclub, property frontage along Cesar Chavez Street, and shopping center parking stalls. 

Signage that prohibits solicitors shall be posted outside of tenant premises. 
 

26.) Applicant shall provide a patron line queue plan that shows how the event center will 

ensure that any queuing lines are organized, avoid any blockage of accessible pathways, 

and neighboring tenant entrances/exits are blocked off. Applicant shall submit for City 

review prior to certificate of occupancy. City Staff or Riverside County Sheriff Department 

may administratively approve and require modifications to patron line queue plan as 

deemed necessary to preserve the safety and welfare of guests and the public. 

 

Improvements 

 

27.) Exterior. Applicant or property owner shall improve exterior property area outside rear 

entrance which shall include replacement of missing rails, improvement of rear pavement 

to a first class condition, improvements at concrete landing at exit, landscape improvements 

within planter established adjacent to existing sidewalk, new tubular fencing and gate to 

control rear access, all trash bins shall be placed in improved trash enclosure for approval 

by the Development Services Department and completed prior to issuance of a certificate 

of occupancy and commencement of events.  
 

e. 10 foot long landscape planter with irrigation, with a variety of shrub and flower 

varieties. Add ¾ inch gravel California Gold. Landscape Planter shall be 

constructed up to any required ADA access ramp. Shall provide varieties of 

Page 286

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

flowering and shrubs, and a shade tree. This may include bougainvillea shrubs, red 

yucca, agave, or other high quality desert landscape plants to be approved by the 

Director of Development Services.  

 

f. Replacement of missing rails at exterior exit and stairs. 

 

g. Installation of ADA ramp improvements.  

 

h. Trash Enclosure shall be constructed. Trash enclosure shall be designed to be 

compatible with the existing structure, and shall include overhead enclosure. The 

trash enclosure shall be of masonry construction with metal gates and shall be 

architecturally compatible with main commercial center. Trash enclosure shall be 

sufficient in size to fit trash bins. Please reach out to Cynthia Avalos – Burrtec 

cavalos@burrtecdesert.com for trash enclosure requirements. Applicant shall 

submit trash enclosure plans to be approved and installed prior to Certificate of 

Occupancy 

 

i. New approximately 6 ft high tubal fence and gate at rear entrance at Cesar Chavez 

Street is required to be installed. A knox box is required. The required rear fence 

and gate is required to completely enclose the rear area to prohibit vehicular and 

pedestrian trespassers. Fence design to be administratively approved by 

Development Services Director. 

 

j. Pavement (concrete or asphalt) shall be installed at rear entrance at Cesar Chavez 

Street for all unimproved surfaces up to existing concrete pad behind the Dollar 

tree, approximately located 200 feet from the public R.O.W.   

 

28.) Parking Lot. Applicant shall repair the on-site parking lot, curb, driveway, and driveway 

approach pavement to a high quality and safe condition in conformance with the standards 

of the City Municipal Code to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. Parking lot parking 

spaces to be restriped to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and Development Services 

Director. 

 

29.) Landscape. Property Owner shall rehabilitate existing landscape and irrigation areas. 

Landscape areas shall be rehabilitated along all landscape areas visible from the public 

R.O.W along Cesar Chavez Street, and all on-site parking lot landscape areas, to the 

satisfaction of the Director of Development Services. The property owner shall submit a 

final landscape exhibit or equivalent landscape document for entire center owned by the 

property owner, to be approved by the Development Services Director prior to Certificate 

of Occupancy. Property owner shall show on the required landscape submittal, and make 

the following improvements: 
 

k. Replace missing, dead, or decaying landscaping. 

 

l. Add ¾ inch gravel California Gold in all landscape areas visible from the public 

R.O.W along Cesar Chavez Street. 

 

Page 287

Item 19.

mailto:cavalos@burrtecdesert.com


Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

m. Add complete ¾ inch gravel California Gold or a combination of ¾ inch gravel and 

DG in all on-site parking lot landscape areas to ensure compatibility with entire 

center. 
 

n. Shall provide varieties of flowering and shrubs. This may include bougainvillea 

shrubs, red yucca, agave, or other high quality desert landscape plants to be 

approved by the Director of Development Services.  

 

o. Shall install landscape and irrigation at the southern rear entrance at Cesar Chavez 

Street.  

 

p. Shall ensure new and existing on-site and off-site irrigation is in functional 

condition. 

 

q. Landscape areas shall include shade trees, varieties of flowering and shrubs.  
 

r. Applicant shall install a weed fabric below DG and rock to prevent weeds for 

landscape areas to the satisfaction of the Development Services Director. 

 

s. Applicant may provide an alternative landscape design from the above landscape 

improvement requirements that ensures a first class landscape design to be 

approved by the Director of Development Services. 
 

 

30.) Rooftop Equipment. Screening of new rooftop equipment is required. Exposed mechanical 

equipment shall be visually screened by a seventy-five (75) percent (minimum) opaque or 

solid, non-reflective visual barrier. The design and materials of the visual barrier shall 

comply with the following requirements: Screening be comprised of parapets, screen walls, 

trellis systems, or mechanical penthouses and shall include common design elements and 

finish materials of the building facades. Screening shall be as high and wide or higher and 

wider than the equipment it screens. Mechanical equipment screening shall be to the 

satisfaction of the Development Services Director.  

 

31.) ADA accessible restrooms shall be provided and available to use by all guests on- site 

during events and shall require inspection by the Building Official prior to commencement 

under this entertainment permit. This condition shall be met to the satisfaction of the 

Building Official. 

 

32.) All on-site and off-site requirements for the project shall be completed prior to Certificate 

of Occupancy to the satisfaction of the Development Services Director.  
 

Maintenance 

 

33.) Applicant or property owner shall enter into a Parking Lot and Landscape Maintenance 

Agreement with the City of Coachella for the commercial center landscape areas prior to 

Certificate of Occupancy. Maintenance Agreement shall ensure commercial irrigation and 

landscaping is maintained in a first class condition. Asphalt pavement shall be improved 

clear of cracks and other visible deterioration. Shall be met to the satisfaction of the City 

Engineer and Development Services Director. Landscape Maintenance Agreement shall 

Page 288

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

provide a detailed description that includes a list of plant types and plant counts that are 

required in each landscape area.  
 

34.) The exterior area in front of nightclub and exterior area at the outside rear entrance shall 

be maintained in a good and clean condition at all times, and the owner or operator of the 

facility shall be responsible for the regular removal and clean-up of trash, visible spills, 

stains, debris, refuse, dirt, grime, weeds, and any other neglected or unkept condition. 
 

General 
 

35.) Parking. At the discretion of the Development Services Director, the Director may require 

parking improvement measures if it is determined that the parking impacts/demand from 

the businesses do not meet the current on-site or off-site parking supply. 

 

36.) Applicant shall submit a Parking Share Use Agreement or equivalent parking measures 

prior to certificate of occupancy to meet parking requirements for the project, to the 

satisfaction of the Development Services Director.  

 

37.) Burrtec. Applicant shall coordinate with Burrtec and meet their requirements for the 

project. This business may require the (3) waste program which include trash, recycling and 

organic recycling services. 
 

38.) Any gate established at the rear entrance to the property along Cesar Chavez Street is 

required to be open on service days and be clear of obstructions for Burrtec services of bins. 

The gate shall be closed once Burrtec services are complete.  

 

Building 

 

39.) Plans must be prepared by Licensed Design Professional.  

 

40.) Show handicap access and seating at bar and all areas of the proposed seating areas.  

 

41.) The proposed rear egress door shall have handicap accessibility to the public right of way. 

The current rear door leads to non-accessible stairs. Show exterior path of travel at rear 

door.  

 

42.) Maintain and repair handicap parking stalls, striping and ramps for the proposed TI.  

 

43.)  Stage shall be equipped with a ramp or lift for accessibility. 

 

44.) Show 5’ radius at all accessible restrooms. 

 

Utilities 

 

45.) Is this project proposing using the same meter as Dollar Tree and same sewer connection? 

 

46.) Project may be required to make its own separate connections to the water and sewer 

system 

Page 289

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

 

47.) Submit water and sewer plans to Engineering for approval from Utilities Manager  

 

48.) Applicant will be required to submit a source control survey; all requirements shall be 

completed prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy  

 

49.) Detailed plumbing and mechanical plans shall be submitted  

 

50.) Water & Sewer impact fees to be paid prior to certificate of occupancy 

 

51.) Project must install a designated water service connection with a 4G AMI master meters.  

 

52.) Backflows required on all nonresidential meters, backflow devices would require Reduced 

Pressure Principle Device (RP) within 12 inches of water service installed to protect water 

supply from contamination or pollution.  

 

53.) Domestic water service line Type K Soft Copper Tubing Polywrap-C Blue (6Mil, use 

applicable size) 

 

54.) Additional requirements subject to water and sewer plan checking process 

 

55.)  All new water and sewer service connections must be shown on water and sewer 

improvement plans.  

 

56.) Plumbing blueprints depicting water, sanitary, industrial, and/or grease waste line. (all 

lines that are applicable) 

 

57.) Domestic water and sewer point of connection to the City’s utilities. 

 

58.) Plumbing code fixture schedule with total DFU’s listed.  

 

59.) Complete wastewater discharge survey. 

  

60.) For tenant improvements, current and proposed plumbing code fixture schedule must be 

provided 

 

61.) Pretreatment equipment/Sample box: (if applicable) Provide manufacture specifications 

and sizing chart.  

 

62.) Pretreatment Equipment Minimum Requirements 

t. 750 gal minimum 

u. Clean outs and vents before and after pretreatment equipment 

v. Sample box immediately downstream of the pretreatment equipment 

w. Multi suite buildings requesting pretreatment installation require separate sewer 

lateral connection per pretreatment device.   

 

 

 

Page 290

Item 19.



Resolution No. 2024-55                                                                                         EXHIBIT A   

Fire 

 

63.) Applicant shall satisfy all Fire Department conditions listed below, and all additional 

conditions requested from the Fire Department for the project prior to certificate of 

occupancy. All fire conditions for the project shall be addressed by the applicant to the 

satisfaction of the Fire Department. 

 

64.) PRIOR TO FINAL- FIRE SPRINKLERS. Prior to issuance of Certification of Occupancy 

or Building Final, the applicant/developer shall install a fire sprinkler system based on 

square footage and type of construction, occupancy or use. Fire sprinklers plans shall be 

submitted to Fire Marshal’s office for approval prior to installation 

 

65.) PRIOR TO FINAL- FIRE ALARM. Prior to issuance of Certificate of Occupancy or 

Building Final, the applicant/developer shall install a fire alarm system monitored by an 

approved Underwriters Laboratory listed central station or as approved by Riverside County 

Fire, based on a requirement for monitoring the sprinkler system, occupancy, or use. Fire 

alarm panel shall be accessible from the exterior of building in an approved location. Plans 

shall be submitted to the Fire Marshal’s office for approval prior to installation.  
 

66.) PRIOR TO FINAL- HAZMAT PLAN. Prior to issuance of Certificate of Occupancy, 

approval shall be required from the County of Riverside Community Health Agency 

(Department of Environmental Health) and Fire Marshal’s office to maintain, store, use, 

handle materials, or conduct process which produce conditions hazardous to life or property, 

and to install equipment used in connection with such activities.  
 

67.) PRIOR TO FINAL- FIRE EXTINGUISHERS. Prior to issuance of Certificate of 

Occupancy, fire extinguishers of appropriate type and size shall be mounted in an accessible 

location within adequate travel distance.  
 

68.) PRIOR TO FINAL KNOX BOX. Prior to issuance of Certificate of Occupancy, a “Knox 

Box Rapid Entry System” shall be provided. The Knox Box shall be installed in an 

accessible location approved by the Fire Code Official. All exterior security emergency 

access gates shall be electronically operated and be provided with Knox key switch for 

access by emergency personnel.  
 

69.) PRIOR TO FINAL TANK PERMIT. Prior to issuance of Certificate of Occupancy or 

Building Final, the applicant/developer shall be responsible for obtaining underground 

and/or aboveground tank permit for the storage of combustible liquids, flammable liquids 

or any other hazardous material from both the County of Riverside Community health 

Agency Department of Environmental health and Fire Marshal’s office. 
 

Additional Conditions 

 

70.) Pressure washing shall be required twice a month. 

 

71.) Parking lot lighting plan shall be revisited at year of renewal. 

 

 

 

Page 291

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

T-101
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Title Sheet

1 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

OCCUPANT LOAD ANALYSIS PER TABLE 1004.5 CBC 2022

AREA SQ.FT. LOAD FACTOR OCCUPANCY LOAD
ASSEMBLY / FIXED / UNCONCENTRATED / 

STANDING SPACE
4735 SQ.FT. / 12 / SEC. 1004.5.1 393

RESTROOMS 392 SQ.FT. 0

STORAGE AREA 60 SQ.FT. / 300 1

STAGE AREA 288 SQ.FT. / 5 58

OFFICE AREA 200 SQ.FT. / 150 2

BAR AREA 192 SQ.FT. / 150 2

TOTAL OCCUPANT LOAD .                                                                                     456

1

T-101
G-101
G-102
G-103
A-101
A-102
A-103A
A-103B
A-103C
A-104
A-105
A-106
A-107
A-108
A-109
A-110
A-111
E-1
E-2
E-3
M-1
P-1
P-2
P-3

Title Sheet
Cal Green
Cal Green
Cal Green
Site Plan
Expanded Site
Floor Plan A
Floor Plan B
Floor Plan C
Floor Dim
Reflected Ceiling Plan
Roof Plan
Accessibility Details
Accessibility Details
Typ. Metal Stud Detail
Typ. Metal Stud Detail
T-Bar Ceiling Details
Elec. General Notes
Electrical Plan
Title 24
Mech Plan
General Notes
Plumbing Plan
Pumbing Details & ISO

N

SUBJECT PROPERTY

SCOPE OF WORK

Symbols Legend

General Notes

Vicinity Map

Annotation Symbol - bottom half for sheet and top for item
number

Door Symbol

Window Symbol

Section symbol

A

C

BD Interior Elevation symbol

Partial Section

Landscape Symbol

1
D1.1

VMP Night Club & Event Center

1
A4.1

1
A4.1

A4.1
1

Index to Drawings

New Tenant Improvement,

New Electrical, Plumbing, Mechanical

New Platform Stage

Project InformationBuilding Data:

A

AA

1

49-974 Cesar Chavez Coachella CA
92236

Project Design & Drawings

Design & drawings by Bob Sipovac Sipovac Construction 72-651 Theodora Ln. Palm Desert Ca. 92260
760-779-0790 Lic # 581636

Project Engineering

N/A

Project Mechanical Design

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260

760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

Owner Information

Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St. Morgan Hill CA 95037

760-567-2347

Occupancy Load

Acceptance Tests Required per T-24
1. LTG-NRCC-LTI-E  FORMS

OCCUPANCY                                                                   B/A-2

TYPE OF CONSTRUCTION                                               V-B

ASSEMBLY AREA                                                4,735 SQ FT.

OFFICE AREA                                                          200 SQ FT.

TOTAL AREA                                                        5,867 SQ FT.

SPRINKLERED                                                                     Yes

STORIES                                                                                   1

JURISDICTION                                                  COACHELLA

USE                                                                      NIGHT CLUB

HEIGHT OF BUILDING                            30
FT.

OCCUPANCY LOAD                                                            456

REQUIRED EXITS PER CBC TABLE 1006.3.3                     2

EXITS PROVIDED                                                                   2

OCCUPANT LOAD ANALYSIS FOR PLUMBING
FIXTURES TABLE 422.1 CPC 2022

4,735 SQ. FT. / 15 = 316
 158 MALE, 158 FEMALE

MALE: 3 TOILETS, 3 LAVATORY 2
URINALS 2

FEMALE: 4 TOILETS, 2 LAVATORY

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

APN # 603-310-005

Coachella Muni. Code

CONSTRUCTION  HOURS:

October 1 - April 30                      May 1 - September 30

Monday-Friday   7:00am-5:30pm          Monday-Friday   6:00am-7:00pm
Saturday             8:00am-5:00pm         Saturday             8:00am-5:00pm

  Sunday               NOT ALLOWED        Sunday               NOT ALLOWED

GOVERNMENT HOLIDAYS            NOT ALLOWED

C
es

ar
 C

ha
ve

z 
St

.

G
rapefruit Blvd.

Department uses the following codes in
the plan check process and in field inspections:

2022 California Mechanical Code

2022 California Plumbing Code

2022 California Electrical Code

2022 California Energy Code

2022 California Building Standards Administrative Code

2022 California Fire Code

2022 California Green Building Code

Ave 50

Page 292

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

G-101
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Cal Green

2 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

CHAPTER 5

NONRESIDENTIAL MANDATORY MEASURES

SECTION 5.101  GENERAL

5.101.1 SCOPE

The provisions of this chapter outline planning, design and development methods that include environmentally

responsible site selection, building design, building siting and development to protect, restore and enhance the

environmental quality of the site and respect the integrity of adjacent properties.

DIVISION 5.1 PLANNING AND DESIGN

2022 CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE

NONRESIDENTIAL MANDATORY MEASURES, SHEET 1 (January 2023)

Y

SECTION 5.102  DEFINITIONS

5.102.1 DEFINITIONS

The following terms are defined in Chapter 2 (and are included here for reference)

CUTOFF LUMINAIRES.  Luminaires whose light distribution is such that the candela per 1000 lamp lumens does not

numerically exceed 25 (2.5 percent) at an angle of 90 degrees above nadir, and 100 (10 percent) at a vertical angle of

80 degrees above nadir.  This applies to all lateral angles around the luminaire.

LOW-EMITTING AND FUEL EFFICIENT VEHICLES.

Eligible vehicles are limited to the following:

1.   Zero emission vehicle (ZEV), enhanced advanced technology PZEV (enhanced AT ZEV) or transitional zero

emission vehicles (TZEV) regulated under CCR, Title 13, Section 1962.

2.   High-efficiency vehicles, regulated by U.S. EPA, bearing a fuel economy and greenhouse gas rating od 9 oe

10 as regulated under 40 CFR Section 600 Subpart D.

NEIGHBORHOOD ELECTRIC VEHICLE (NEV).  A motor vehicle that meets the definition of "low-speed vehicle"

either in Section 385.5 of the Vehicle Code or in 49CFR571.500 (as it existed on July 1, 2000), and is certified to

zero-emission vehicle standards.

TENANT-OCCUPANTS.  Building occupants who inhabit a building during its normal hours of operation as permanent

occupants, such as employees, as distinguished from customers and other transient visitors.

VANPOOL VEHICLE.  Eligible vehicles are limited to any motor vehicle, other than a motortruck or truck tractor,

designed for carrying more than 10 but not more than 15 persons including the driver, which is maintained and used

primarily for the nonprofit work-related transportation of adults for the purpose of ridesharing.

Note: Source: Vehicle Code, Division 1, Section 668

ZEV.  Any vehicle certified to zero-emission standards.

SECTION 5.106  SITE DEVELOPMENT

5.106.1 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION FOR PROJECTS THAT DISTURB LESS THAN ONE ACRE

OF LAND.  Newly constructed projects and additions which disturb less than one acre of land, and are not part of a

larger common plan of development or sale, shall prevent the pollution of storm water runoff from the construction

activities through one or more of the following measures:

5.106.1.1  Local ordinance.  Comply with a lawfully enacted storm water management and/or erosion control

ordinance.

5.106.1.2  Best Management Practices (BMPs).  Prevent the loss of soil through wind or water erosion by 

implementing an effective combination of erosion and sediment control and good housekeeping BMPs.

1.   Soil loss BMPs that should be considered for implementation as appropriate for each project include,

     but are not limited to, the following:

a.   Scheduling construction activity during dry weather, when possible.

b.   Preservation of natural features, vegetation, soil, and buffers around surface waters.

c.   Drainage swales or lined ditches to control stormwater flow.

d.   Mulching or hydroseeding to stabilize disturbed soils.

e.   Erosion control to protect slopes.

f.    Protection of storm drain inlets (gravel bags or catch basin inserts).

g.   Perimeter sediment control (perimeter silt fence, fiber rolls).

h.   Sediment trap or sediment basin to retain sediment on site.

i.    Stabilized construction exits.

j.   Wind erosion control.

k.   Other soil loss BMPs acceptable to the enforcing agency.

2.   Good housekeeping BMPs to manage construction equipment, materials, non-stormwater discharges

      and wastes that should be considered for implementation as appropriate for each project include, but

      are not limited to, the following:

a.   Dewatering activities.

b.   Material handling and waste management.

c.   Building materials stockpile management.

d.   Management of washout areas (concrete, paints, stucco, etc.).

e.   Control of vehicle/equipment fueling to contractor's staging area.

f.   Vehicle and equipment cleaning performed off site.

g    Spill prevention and control.

h.   Other housekeeping BMPs acceptable to the enforcing agency.

DIVISION 5.2 ENERGY EFFICIENCY

SECTION 5.201  GENERAL

5.201.1 Scope [BSC-CG]. California Energy Code [DSA-SS].  For the purposes of mandatory energy efficiency

standards in this code, the California Energy Commission will continue to adopt mandatory building standards.

DIVISION 5.3 WATER EFFICIENCY AND CONSERVATION

SECTION 5.301  GENERAL

5.301.1 Scope.  The provisions of this chapter shall establish the means of conserving water use indoors, outdoors

and in wastewater conveyance.

SECTION 5.302  DEFINITIONS

5.302.1 Definitions.  The following terms are defined in Chapter 2 (and are included here for reference)

EVAPOTRANSPIRATION ADJUSTMENT FACTOR (ETAF) [DSA-SS].  An adjustment factor when applied to

reference evapotranspiration that adjusts for plant factors and irrigation efficiency, which ae two major influences on

the amount of water that needs to be applied to the landscape.

FOOTPRINT AREA [DSA-SS].  The total area of the furthest exterior wall of the structure projected to natural grade,

not including exterior areas such as stairs, covered walkways, patios and decks.

METERING FAUCET.  A self-closing faucet that dispenses a specific volume of water for each actuation cycle.  The

volume or cycle duration can be fixed or adjustable.

GRAYWATER.  Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 17922.12, "graywater" means untreated wastewater that

has not been contaminated by any toilet discharge, has not been affected by infectious, contaminated, or unhealthy

bodily wastes, and does not present a threat from contamination by unhealthful processing, manufacturing, or

operating wastes.  "Graywater" includes, but is not limited to wastewater from bathtubs, showers, bathroom

washbasins, clothes washing machines and laundry tubs, but does not include waste water from kitchen sinks or

dishwashers.

MODEL WATER EFFICIENT LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE (MWELO).  The California ordinance regulating landscape

design, installation and maintenance practices that will ensure commercial, multifamily and other developer installed

landscapes greater than 2500 square feet meet an irrigation water budget developed based on landscaped area and

climatological parameters.

MODEL WATER EFFICIENT LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE (MWELO). [HCD]  The California model ordinance

(California Code of Regulations, Title 23, Division 2, Chapter 2.7), regulating landscape design, installation and

maintenance practices.  Local agencies are required to adopt the updated MWELO, or adopt a local ordinance at least

as effective as the MWELO.

POTABLE WATER.  Water that is drinkable and meets the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Drinking

Water Standards. See definition in the California Plumbing Code, Part 5.

POTABLE WATER. [HCD]  Water that is satisfactory for drinking, culinary, and domestic purposes, and meets the

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Drinking Water Standards and the requirements of the Health Authority

Having Jurisdiction.

RECYCLED WATER.  Water which, as a result of treatment of waste, is suitable for a direct beneficial use or a

controlled use that would not otherwise occur [Water Code Section 13050 (n)]. Simply put, recycled water is water

treated to remove waste matter attaining a quality that is suitable to use the water again.

SUBMETER. [HCD 1] A secondary device beyond a meter that measures water consumption of an individual rental

unit within a multiunit residential structure or mixed-use residential and commercial structure. (See Civic Code Section

1954.202 (g) and Water code Section 517 for additional details.)

WATER BUDGET.  Is the estimated total landscape irrigation water use which shall not exceed the maximum applied

water allowance calculated in accordance with the Department of Water Resources Model Efficient Landscape

Ordinance (MWELO).

5.106.5.3 Electric vehicle (EV) charging. [N]  Construction to provide electric vehicle infrastructure and facilitate

electric vehicle charging shall comply with Section 5.106.5.3.1 and shall be provided in accordance with

regulations in  the California Building Code and the California Electrical Code.

Exceptions:

1. On a case-by-case basis where the local enforcing agency has determined compliance with

this section is not feasible based upon one of the following conditions:

a. Where there is no local utility power supply

b. Where the local utility is unable to supply adequate power.

c. Where there is evidence suitable to the local enforcement agency substantiating the

local utility infrastructure design requirements, directly related to the implementation of

Section 5.106.5.3, may adversely impact the construction cost of the project.

2.  Parking spaces accessible only by automated mechanical car parking systems are not

required to comply with this code section

5.106.5.3.1 EV capable spaces.

[N] EV capable spaces shall be provided in accordance with Table 5.106.5.3.1 and the following

requirements:

1. Raceways complying with the California Electrical Code and no less that 1-inch (25 mm)

diameter shall be provided and shall originate at a service panel or a subpanel(s) serving

the area, and shall terminate in close proximity to the proposed location of the EV capable

and into a suitable listed cabinet, box,enclosure or equivalent. A common raceway may be

used to serve multiple EV charging spaces.

2. A service panel or subpanel (s) shall be provided with panel space and electrical load

capacity for a dedicated 208/240 volt, 40-ampere minimum branch circuit for each EV

capable space, with delivery of 30-ampere minimum to an installed EVSE at each EVCS.

3. The electrical system and any on-site distribution transformers shall have sufficient capacity

to supply full rated amperage at each EV capable space.

4. The service panel or subpanel circuit directory shall identify the reserved overcurrent

protective devices space(s) as "EV CAPABLE". The raceway termination location shall be

permanently and visibly marked as "EV CAPABLE."

Note: A parking space served by electric vehicle supply equipment or designed as a future EV

charging space shall count as at least one standard automobile parking space only for the purpose of

complying with any applicable minimum parking space requirements established by an enforcement

agency. See vehicle Code Section 22511.2 for further details.

ABBREVIATION DEFINITIONS:

HCD Department of Housing and Community Development

BSC California Building Standards Commission

DSA-SS Division of the State Architect, Structural Safety

OSHPD Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development

LR Low Rise

HR High Rise

AA Additions and Alterations

N New

5.106.4.1.2 Long-term bicycle parking.  For new buildings with tenant spaces that have 10 or more 

tenant-occupants, provide secure bicycle parking for 5 percent of the tenant-occupant vehicular parking

spaces with a minimum of one bicycle parking facility.

5.106.4.1.3 For additions or alterations that add 10 or more tenant-occupant vehicular parking spaces, 

provide secure bicycle parking for 5 percent of the tenant vehicular parking spaces being added, with a 

minimum of one bicycle parking facility.

5.106.4.1.4 For new shell buildings in phased projects provide secure bicycle parking for 5 percent of the

anticipated tenant-occupant vehicular parking spaces with a minimum of one bicycle parking facility.

5.106.4.1.5 Acceptable bicycle parking facility for Sections 5.106.4.1.2, 5.106.4.1.3, and 5.106.4.1.4 shall

be convenient from the street and shall meet one of the following:

1.  Covered, lockable enclosures with permanently anchored racks for bicycles;

2.  Lockable bicycle rooms with permanently anchored racks; or

3.  Lockable, permanently anchored bicycle lockers.

Note:  Additional information on recommended bicycle accommodations may be obtained from 

Sacramento Area Bicycle Advocates.

5.106.4.2  Bicycle parking. [DSA-SS]  For public schools and community colleges, comply with Sections 

5.106.4.2.1 and 5.106.4.2.2

5.106.4.2.1  Student bicycle parking.  Provide permanently anchored bicycle racks conveniently 

accessed with a minimum of four two-bike capacity racks per new building.

5.106.4.2.2  Staff bicycle parking.  Provide permanent, secure bicycle parking conveniently accessed 

with a minimum of two staff bicycle parking spaces per new building. Acceptable bicycle parking facilities

shall be convenient from the street or staff parking area and shall meet one of the following:

1.  Covered, lockable enclosures with permanently anchored racks for bicycles;

2.  Lockable bicycle rooms with permanently anchored racks; or

3.  Lockable, permanently anchored bicycle lockers.

5.106.4 BICYCLE PARKING.  For buildings within the authority of California Building Standards Commission as

specified in Section 103, comply with Section 5.106.4.1.  For buildings within the authority of the Division of the State

Architect pursuant to Section 105, comply with Section 5.106.4.2

5.106.4.1 Bicycle parking. [BSC-CG]  Comply with Sections 5.106.4.1.1 and 5.106.4.1.2; or meet the 

applicable local ordinance, whichever is stricter.

5.106.4.1.1  Short-term bicycle parking.   If the new project or an addition or alteration is anticipated 

to generate visitor traffic, provide permanently anchored bicycle racks within 200 feet of the visitors' 

entrance, readily visible to passers-by, for 5% of new visitor motorized vehicle parking spaces being 

added, with a minimum of one two-bike capacity rack.

Exception:  Additions or alterations which add nine or less visitor vehicular parking spaces.

CHAPTER 3

GREEN BUILDING

SECTION 301  GENERAL

301.1  SCOPE.  Buildings shall be designed to include the green building measures specified as mandatory in

the application checklists contained in this code.  Voluntary green building measures are also included in the

application checklists and may be included in the design and construction of structures covered by this code,

but are not required unless adopted by a city, county, or city and county as specified in Section 101.7.

301.3  NONRESIDENTIAL ADDITIONS AND ALTERATIONS. [BSC-CG]  The provisions

of individual sections of Chapter 5 apply to newly constructed buildings, building additions of 1,000 square 

feet or greater, and/or building alterations with a permit valuation of $200,000 or above (for occupancies within

the authority of California Building Standards Commission).  Code sections relevant to additions and 

alterations shall only apply to the portions of the building being added or altered within the scope of the 

permitted work.

A code section will be designated by a banner to indicate where the code section only applies to newly 

constructed buildings [N] or to additions and/or alterations [A].  When the code section applies to both, no 

banner will be used.

301.3.1 Nonresidential additions and alterations that cause updates to plumbing fixtures only:

Note: On and after January 1, 2014, certain commercial real property, as defined in Civil Code Section

1101.3, shall have its noncompliant plumbing fixtures replaced with appropriate water-conserving 

plumbing fixtures under specific circumstances. See Civil Code Section 1101.1 et seq. for definitions, 

types of commercial real property affected, effective dates, circumstances necessitating 

replacement of noncompliant plumbing fixtures, and duties and responsibilities for 

ensuring compliance.

301.3.2  Waste Diversion.  The requirements of Section 5.408 shall be required for additions and 

alterations whenever a permit is required for work.

301.4  PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND COMMUNITY COLLEGES.  (see GBSC)

301.5  HEALTH FACILITIES.  (see GBSC)

SECTION 302 MIXED OCCUPANCY BUILDINGS

302.1 MIXED OCCUPANCY BUILDINGS.  In mixed occupancy buildings, each portion of a building 

shall comply with the specific green building measures applicable to each specific occupancy.

SECTION 303 PHASED PROJECTS

303.1 PHASED PROJECTS.  For shell buildings and others constructed for future tenant improvements,

only those code measures relevant to the building components and systems considered to be new 

construction (or newly constructed) shall apply.

303.1.1 Initial Tenant improvements. The provisions of this code shall apply only to the initial tenant 

improvements to a project.  Subsequent tenant improvements shall comply with the scoping provisions in 

Section 301.3 non-residential additions and alterations.

5.106.5.3.3 Use of automatic load management systems (ALMS).

ALMS shall be permitted for EVCS. When ALMS is installed, the required electrical load capacity

specified in Section

5.106.5.3.1 for each EVCS may be reduced when serviced by an EVSE controlled by an ALMS. Each

EVSE controlled by an ALMS shall deliver a minimum 30 amperes to an EV when charging one vehicle

and shall deliver a minimum 3.3 kW while simultaneously charging multiple EVs.

5.106.5.3.4 Accessible EVCS.

When EVSE is installed, accessible EVSC shall be provided in accordance with the California Building

Code, Chapter 11B, Section 11B-228.3.

Note: For EVCS signs, refer to Caltrans Traffic Operations Policy Directive 13-01 (Zero Emission Vehicle

Signs and Pavement Markings) or its successor(s).

5.106.5.4 Electric Vehicle (EV) charging: medium-duty and heavy-duty. [N]

Construction shall comply with section 5.106.5.4.1 to facilitate future installation of electric vehicle supply

equipment (EVSE). Construction for warehouses, grocery stores and retail stores with planned off-street loading

spaces shall also comply with Section 5.106.5.4.1 for future installation of medium- and heavy-duty EVSE.

Exceptions:

1. On a case-by-case basis where the local enforcing agency has determined compliance with this

section is not feasible based upon one of the following conditions:

a. Where there is no local utility power supply.

b. Where the local utility is unable to supply adequate power.

c. Where there is evidence suitable to the local enforcing agency substantiating that

additional local utility infrastructure design requirements, directly related to the implementation

of Section 5.106.5.3, may adversely impact the construction cost of the project.

When EVSE(s) is/are installed, it shall be in accordance with the California Building Code, the California

Electrical Code and as follows:

5.106.5.4.1 Electric vehicle charging readiness requirements for warehouse, grocery stores and retail stores

with planned off-street loading spaces.

[N] In order to avoid future demolition when adding EV charging supply and distribution equipment, spare

raceways(s) or busway(s) and adequate capacity for transformers(s), service panels(s) or subpanel(s) shall be

installed at the time of construction in accordance with the California Electrical Code. Construction plans and

specifications shall include but are not limited to, the following:

1. The transformer, main service equipment and subpanel shall meet the minimum power

requirement in Table 5.106.5.4.1 to accommodate the dedicated branch circuits for the future

installation of EVSE.

2. The construction documents shall indicate on or more location(s) convenient to the planned

offstreet loading space(s) reserved for medium-and heavy-duty ZEV charging cabinets and

charging dispensers, and a pathway reserved for routing of conduit from the termination of the

raceway(s) or busway(s) to the charging cabinet(s) and dispenser(s) as shown in Table

5.106.5.4.1

3. Raceway(s) or busway(s) originating at a main service panel or a subpanel(s) serving the area

where potential future medium-and heavy-duty EVSE will be located and shall terminate in close

proximity to the potential future location of the charging equipments for medium- and heavy-duty

vehicles.

4. The raceway(s) or busway(s) shall be sufficient size to carry the minimum additional system load

to the future location of the charging for medium- and heavy-duty ZEVs as shown in Table

5.106.5.4.1.

TABLE 5.106.5.3.1

TOTAL NUMBER OF ACTUAL

PARKING SPACES

NUMBER OF REQUIRED EV

CAPABLE SPACES

NUMBER OF EVCS (EV

CAPABLE SPACES

PROVIDED WITH EVSE)^2

0-9 0 0

10-25 2 0

26-50 8 2

51-75 13 3

76-100 17 4

101-150 25 6

151-200 35 9

201 AND OVER 20% of total¹
25% of EV capable spaces¹

5.106.8 LIGHT POLLUTION REDUCTION. [N]. l Outdoor lighting systems shall be designed and installed to comply

with the following:

1. The minimum requirements in the California Energy Code for Lighting Zones 0-4 as defined in Chapter 10,

Section 10-114 of the California Administrative Code; and

2. Backlight (B) ratings as defined in IES TM-15-11 (shown in Table A-1 in Chapter 8);

3. Uplight and Glare ratings as defined in California Energy Code (shown in Tables 130.2-A and 130.2-B in

Chapter 8) and

4. Allowable BUG ratings not exceeding those shown in Table 5.106.8, [N] or Comply with a local ordinance

lawfully enacted pursuant to Section 101.7, whichever is more stringent.

Exceptions: [N]

1.   Luminaires that qualify as exceptions in Sections 130.2 (b) and 140.7 of the California Energy Code.

2.   Emergency lighting.

3.   Building facade meeting the requirements in Table 140.7-B of the California Energy Code, Part 6.

4.   Custom lighting features as allowed by the local enforcing agency, as permitted by Section 101.8 

      Alternate materials, designs and methods of construction.

5.   Luminaires with less than 6,200 initial luminaire lumens.

TABLE 5.106.8 [N]    MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE BACKLIGHT,

UPLIGHT AND GLARE (BUG) RATINGS 1,2

          ALLOWABLE RATING

LIGHTING

ZONE

LZ0

LIGHTING

ZONE  LZ1

LIGHTING

ZONE LZ2

LIGHTING

ZONE  LZ3

LIGHTING

ZONE  LZ4

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

BACKLIGHT RATING 3

Luminaire greater than 2

mounting heights (MH) from

property line

N/A No Limit No Limit No Limit No Limit

Luminaire back hemisphere is

1-2 MH from property line

N/A B2 B3 B4 B4

Luminaire back hemisphere is

0.5-1 MH from property line

N/A B1 B2 B3 B3

Luminaire back hemisphere is

less than 0.5 MH from property

line

N/A B0 B0 B1 B2

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

UPLIGHT RATING (U)

For area lighting 3

N/A U0 U0 U0 U0

For all other outdoor

lighting,including decorative

luminaires

N/A U1 U2 U3 UR

DISCLAIMER:THIS DOCUMENT IS PROVIDED AND INTENDED TO BE USED AS A MEANS TO INDICATE AREAS OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS (CALGREEN) CODE.  DUE TO THE VARIABLES BETWEEN BUILDING DEPARTMENT JURISDICTIONS, THIS CHECKLIST IS TO BE USED ON AN INDIVIDUAL PROJECT BASIS AND MAY BE MODIFIED BY THE END USER TO MEET THOSE INDIVIDUAL NEEDS.  THE END USER ASSUMES ALL RESPONSIBILITY ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF THIS DOCUMENT, INCLUDING VERIFICATION WITH THE FULL CODE.

5.106.2 STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION FOR PROJECTS THAT DISTURB ONE OR MORE ACRES OF

LAND.  Comply with all lawfully enacted stormwater discharge regulations for projects that (1) disturb one acre or

more of land, or (2) disturb less than one acre of land but are part of a larger common plan of development sale.

Note: Projects that (1) disturb one acre or more of land, or (2) disturb less than one acre of land but are part of the

larger common plan of development or sale must comply with the post-construction requirements detailed in the

applicable National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) General permit for Stormwater Discharges

Associated with Construction and Land Disturbance Activities issued by the State Water Resources Control Board or

the Lahontan Regional Water Quality Control Board (for projects in the Lake Tahoe Hydrologic Unit).

The NPDES permits require postconstruction runoff (post-project hydrology) to match the preconstruction runoff

(pre-project hydrology) with the installation of postconstruction stormwater management measures.  The NPDES

permits emphasize runoff reduction through on-site stormwater use, interception, evapotranspiration, and infiltration

through nonstructural controls, such as Low Impact Development (LID) practices, and conversation design measures.

Stormwater volume that cannot be addressed using nonstructural practices is required to be captured in structural

practices and be approved by the enforcing agency.

Refer to the current applicable permits on the State Water Resources Control Board website at:

www.waterboards.ca.gov/constructionstormwater. Consideration to the stormwater runoff management measures

should be given during the initial design process for appropriate integration into site development.

N/A Y N/A

1. Where there is insufficient electrical supply.

2. The number of required EVCS (EV capable spaces provided with EVSE) in column 3 count towards

the total number of required EV capable spaces shown in column 2.

5.106.5.3.2 Electric vehicle charging stations (EVCS)

EV capable spaces shall be provided with EVSE to create EVCS in the number indicated in Table

5.106.5.3.1. The EVCS required by Table 5.106.5.3.1 may be provided with EVSE in any combination of

Level 2 and Direct Current Fast Charging (DCFC), except that at least one Level 2 EVSE shall be

provided.

One EV charger with multiple connectors capable of charging multiple EVs simultaneously shall be

permitted if the electrical load capacity required by Section 5.106.5.3.1 for each EV capable space is

accumulatively supplied to the EV charger.

The installation of each DCFC EVSE shall be permitted to reduce the minimum number of required EV

capable spaces without EVSE by five and reduce proportionally the required electrical load capacity to the

service panel or subpanel.

Y N/A Y N/A

Y   =    YES

N/A = NOT APPLICABLE

RESPON. PARTY = RESPONSIBLE PARTY (ie: ARCHITECT, ENGINEER, 

OWNER, CONTRACTOR, INSPECTOR ETC.)

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

 5.106.8.1 Facing- Backlight

Luminaries within 2MH of a property line shall be oriented so that the nearest property line is behind the fixture,

and shall comply with the backlight rating specified in Table 5.106.8 based on the lighting zone and distance to

the nearest point of that property line.

Exception: Corners. If two property lines (or two segments of the same property line) have equidistant point

to the luminaire, then the luminaire may be oriented so that the intersection of the two lines (the corner) is 

directly behind the luminaire. The luminaire shall still use the distance to the nearest points(s) on the property

lines to determine the required backlight rating.

5.106.8.2 Facing-Glare.

For luminaires covered by 5.106.8.1, if a property line also exists within or extends into the front hemisphere within

2MH of the luminaire then the luminaire shall comply with the more stringent glare rating specified in Table

5.106.8 based on the lighting zone and distance to the nearest point on the nearest property line within the front

hemisphere.

Note: [N]

 1.See also California Building Code, Chapter 12, Section 1205.6 for college campus lighting requirements for 

parking facilities and walkways.

 2.Refer to Chapter 8 (Compliance Forms, Worksheets and Reference Material) for IES TM-15-11 Table 

A-1, California Energy Code Tables 130.2-A and 130.2-B.

3.  Refer to the California Building Code for requirements for additions and alterations.

5.106.10 GRADING AND PAVING.  Construction plans shall indicate how site grading or a drainage system will

manage all surface water flows to keep water from entering buildings.  Examples of methods to manage surface

water include, but are not limited to, the following:

1. Swales.

2. Water collection and disposal systems.

3. French drains.

4. Water retention gardens.

5. Other water measures which keep surface water away from buildings and aid in groundwater recharge.

Exception:  Additions and alterations not altering the drainage path.

5.106.12 SHADE TREES [DSA-SS].  Shade Trees shall be planted to comply with Sections 5.106.12.1, 5.106.12.2,

and 5.106.12.3. Percentages shown shall be measured at noon on the summer solstice. Landscape irrigation

necessary to establish and maintain tree health shall comply with Section 5.304.6.

5.106.12.1 Surface parking areas.  Shade tree plantings, minimum #10 container size or equal, shall be installed

to provide shade over 50 percent of the parking area within 15 years.

Exceptions:   Surface parking area covered by solar photovoltaic shade structures with roofing

materials that comply with Table A5.106.11.2.2 in Appendix A5 shall be permitted in whole or in part in

lieu of shade tree planting.

5.106.12.2 Landscape areas.  Shade tress plantings, minimum #10 container size or equal shall be installed to

provide shade of 20% of the landscape area within 15 years.

Exceptions:  Playfields for organized sport activity are not included in the total area calculation.

5.106.12.3.  Hardscape areas.  Shade tree plantings, minimum #10 container size or equal shall be installed to

provide shade over 20 percent of the hardscape area within 15 years.

Exceptions:

1. Walks, hardscape areas covered by solar photovoltaic shade structures or shade structures with roofing

materials that comply with Table A5.106.11.2.2 in Appendix A5 shall be permitted in whole or in part in lieu

of shade tree planting.

2. Designated and marked play areas of organized sport activity are not included in the total area calculation.

TABLE 5.106.5.4.1 RACEWAY CONDUIT AND PANEL POWER

REQUIREMENTS FOR MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY EVSE [N]

BUILDING TYPE

BUILDING SIZE (SQ. FT.)

NUMBER OF

OFF-STREET

LOADING SPACES

ADDITIONAL

CAPACITY

REQUIRED (KVA)

FOR RACEWAY &

BUSWAY AND

TRANSFORMER &

PANEL

Grocery

10,000 to 90,000

1 or 2 200

3 or Greater 400

Greater than 90,000
1 or Greater 400

Retail

10,000 to 135,000

1 or 2 200

3 or Greater 400

Greater than 135,000
1 or Greater 400

Warehouse

20,000 to 256,000

1 or 2 200

3 or Greater 400

Greater than 256,000
1 or Greater 400

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

GLARE RATING 5  (G)

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

GLARE RATING 5  (G)

N/A G1 G2 G3 G4

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

GLARE RATING 5  (G)

N/A G0 G1 G1 G2

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

GLARE RATING 5  (G)

N/A G0 G0 G1 G1

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE

GLARE RATING 5  (G)

N/A G0 G0 G0 G1

1.  IESNA Lighting Zones 0 and 5 are not applicable; refer to Lighting Zones as defined in the California Energy

Code and Chapter 10 of the Callifornia Administrative Code.

2.  For property lines that abut public walkways, bikeways, plazas and parking lots, the property line may be

considered to be 5 feet beyond the actual property line for purpose of determining compliance with this section. For

property lines that abut public roadways and public transit corridors, the property line may be considered to be the

centerline of the public roadway or public transit corridor for the purpose of determining compliance with this

section.

3. General lighting luminaires in areas such as outdoor parking, sales or storage lots shall meet these reduced

ratings. Decorative luminaries located in these areas shall meet U-value limits for "all other outdoor lighting"

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Page 293

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

G-102
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Cal Green

3 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

5.303.3 WATER CONSERVING PLUMBING FIXTURES AND FITTINGS.  Plumbing fixtures (water closets and 

urinals) and fittings (faucets and showerheads) shall comply with the following:

5.303.3.1  Water Closets.  The effective flush volume of all water closets shall not exceed 1.28 gallons per 

flush.  Tank-type water closets shall be certified to the performance criteria of the U.S. EPA WaterSense 

Specification for Tank-Type toilets.

Note:  The effective flush volume of dual flush toilets is defined as the composite, average flush volume of 

two reduced flushes and one full flush.

5.303.3.2  Urinals.

5.303.3.2.1 Wall-mounted Urinals.  The effective flush volume of wall-mounted urinals shall not exceed

0.125 gallons per flush.

5.303.3.2.2 Floor-mounted Urinals.  The effective flush volume of floor-mounted or other urinals shall 

not exceed 0.5 gallons per flush.

5.303.3.3  Showerheads. [BSC-CG]

5.303.3.3.1  Single showerhead.  Showerheads shall have a maximum flow rate of not more than 1.8 

gallons per minute at 80 psi.  Showerheads shall be certified to the performance criteria of the U.S. EPA

WaterSense Specification for Showerheads.

5.303.3.3.2 Multiple showerheads serving one shower.  When a shower is served by more than one 

showerhead, the combined flow rate of all the showerheads and/or other shower outlets controlled by a 

single valve shall not exceed 1.8 gallons per minute at 80 psi, or the shower shall be designed to 

allow only one shower outlet to be in operation at a time.

Note:  A hand-held shower shall be considered a showerhead.

DIVISION 5.4 MATERIAL CONSERVATION AND RESOURCE

EFFICIENCY

SECTION 5.401  GENERAL

5.401.1 SCOPE.  The provisions of this chapter shall outline means of achieving material conservation and resource

efficiency through protection of buildings from exterior moisture, construction waste diversion, employment of

techniques to reduce pollution through recycling of materials, and building commissioning or testing and adjusting.

SECTION 5.408 CONSTRUCTION WASTE REDUCTION, DISPOSAL AND

RECYCLING

5.408.1 CONSTRUCTION WASTE MANAGEMENT.  Recycle and/or salvage for reuse a minimum of 65% of the

non-hazardous construction and demolition waste in accordance with Section 5.408.1.1, 5.408.1.2 or 5.408.1.3; or

meet a local construction and demolition waste management ordinance, whichever is more stringent.

5.408.1.1 Construction waste management plan. Where a local jurisdiction does not have a construction and

demolition waste management ordinance, submit a construction waste management plan that:

1.   Identifies the construction and demolition waste materials to be diverted from disposal by efficient 

      usage, recycling, reuse on the project or salvage for future use or sale.

2.   Determines if construction and demolition waste materials will be sorted on-site (source-separated) or

      bulk mixed (single stream).

3.   Identifies diversion facilities where construction and demolition waste material collected will be taken.

4.   Specifies that the amount of construction and demolition waste materials diverted shall be calculated

      byweight or volume, but not by both.

5.408.1.2  Waste Management Company.  Utilize a waste management company that can provide verifiable 

documentation that the percentage of construction and demolition waste material diverted from the landfill 

complies with this section.

Note:  The owner or contractor shall make the determination if the construction and demolition waste material

will be diverted by a waste management company.

Exceptions to Sections 5.408.1.1 and 5.408.1.2:

1.   Excavated soil and land-clearing debris.

2.   Alternate waste reduction methods developed by working with local agencies if diversion or recycle 

      facilities capable of compliance with this item do not exist.

3.   Demolition waste meeting local ordinance or calculated in consideration of local recycling facilities 

             and markets.

5.408.1.3  Waste stream reduction alternative.  The combined weight of new construction disposal that does

not exceed two pounds per square foot of building area may be deemed to meet the 65% minimum requirement

as approved by the enforcing agency.

5.408.1.4 Documentation. Documentation shall be provided to the enforcing agency which demonstrates 

compliance with Sections 5.408.1.1, through 5.408.1.3.  The waste management plan shall be updated as 

necessary and shall be accessible during construction for examination by the enforcing agency.

Notes:

1.   Sample forms found in "A Guide to the California Green Building Standards Code (Nonresidential)" 

      located www.dgs.ca.gov/BSC/Resources/Page-Content/Building-Standards-Commission-

      Resources-List-Folder/CALGreen may be used to assist in documenting compliance with the waste 

      management plan.

2.   Mixed construction and demolition debris processors can be located at the California Department of

      Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle).

5.408.2  UNIVERSAL WASTE. [A]  Additions and alterations to a building or tenant space that meet the scoping

provisions in Section 301.3 for nonresidential additions and alterations, shall require verification that Universal Waste

items such as fluorescent lamps and ballast and mercury containing thermostats as well as other California prohibited

Universal Waste materials are disposed of properly and are diverted from landfills.  A list of prohibited Universal Waste

materials shall be included in the construction documents.

Note:  Refer to the Universal Waste Rule link at: http://www.dtsc.ca.gov/universalwaste/

5.408.3 EXCAVATED SOIL AND LAND CLEARING DEBRIS.  100 percent of trees, stumps, rocks and associated

vegetation and soils resulting primarily from land clearing shall be reused or recycled. For a phased project, such

material may be stockpiled on site until the storage site is developed.

Exception:  Reuse, either on or off-site, of vegetation or soil contaminated by disease or pest infestation.

Notes:

1.   If contamination by disease or pest infestation is suspected, contact the County Agricultural 

      Commissioner and follow its direction for recycling or disposal of the material.

2.   For a map of know pest and/or disease quarantine zones, consult with the California Department of 

      Food and Agriculture.  (www.cdfa.ca.gov)

DIVISION 5.5    ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

SECTION 5.501  GENERAL

5.501.1 SCOPE.  The provisions of this chapter shall outline means of reducing the quantity of air contaminants that

are odorous, irritating, and/or harmful to the comfort and well-being of a building's installers, occupants and neighbors.

SECTION 5.502  DEFINITIONS

5.502.1 DEFINITIONS.  The following terms are defined in Chapter 2 (and are included here for reference)

ARTERIAL HIGHWAY. A general term denoting a highway primarily for through traffic usually on a continuous route.

A-WEIGHTED SOUND LEVEL (dBA). The sound pressure level in decibels as measured on a sound level meter

using the internationally standardized A-weighting filter or as computed from sound spectral data to which A-weighting

adjustments have been made.

1 BTU/HOUR. British thermal units per hour, also referred to as Btu. The amount of heat required to raise one pound

of water one degree Fahrenheit per hour, a common measure of heat transfer rate. A ton of refrigeration is 12,000 Btu,

the amount of heat required to melt a ton (2,000 pounds) of ice at 32

0

 Fahrenheit.

COMMUNITY NOISE EQUIVALENT LEVEL (CNEL).  A metric similar to the day-night average sound level (Ldn),

except that a 5 decibel adjustment is added to the equivalent continuous sound exposure level for evening hours (7pm

to 10pm) in addition to the 10 dB nighttime adjustment used in the Ldn.

COMPOSITE WOOD PRODUCTS. Composite wood products include hardwood plywood, particleboard and medium

density fiberboard. “Composite wood products” does not include hardboard, structural plywood, structural panels,

structural composite lumber, oriented strand board, glued laminated timber, timber, prefabricated wood I–joists or

finger–jointed lumber, all as specified in California Code of Regulations (CCR), Title 17, Section 93120.1(a).

Note:  See CCR, Title 17, Section 93120.1.

DAY-NIGHT AVERAGE SOUND LEVEL (Ldn). The A-weighted equivalent continuous sound exposure level for a

24-hour period with a 10 dB adjustment added to sound levels occurring during nighttime hours (10p.m. to 7 a.m.).

DECIBEL (db). A measure on a logarithmic scale of the magnitude of a particular quantity (such as sound pressure,

sound power, sound intensity) with respect to a reference quantity.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE (EV). An automotive-type vehicle for on-road use, such as passenger automobiles, buses,

trucks, vans, neighborhood electric vehicles, electric motorcycles, and the like, primarily powered by an electric motor

that draws current from a rechargeable storage battery, fuel cell, photovoltaic array, or other source of electric current.

Plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEV) are considered electric vehicles. For purposes of the California Electrical Code,

off-road, self-propoelled electric vehicles, such as industrial trucks, hoists, lifts, transports, golf carts, airline ground

support equipment, tractors, boats, and the like, are not included.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION(S) (EVCSj). One or more spaces intended for charging electric vehicles.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE SUPPLY EQUIPMENT (EVSE). The conductors, including the ungrounded, grounded, and

equipment grounding conductors and the electric vehicle connectors, attachment plugs, and all other fittings, devices,

power outlets, or apparatus installed specifically for the purpose of transferring energy between the premises wiring

and the electric vehicle.

ENERGY EQUIVALENT (NOISE) LEVEL (Leq). The level of a steady noise which would have the same energy as

the fluctuating noise level integrated over the time of period of interest.

EXPRESSWAY. An arterial highway for through traffic which may have partial control of access, but which may or may

not be divided or have grade separations at intersections.

FREEWAY. A divided arterial highway with full control of access and with grade separations at intersections.

GLOBAL WARMING POTENTIAL (GWP). The radiative forcing impact of one mass-based unit of a given greenhouse

gas relative to an equivalent unit of carbon dioxide over a given period of time. Carbon dioxide is the reference

compound with a GWP of one.

GLOBAL WARMING POTENTIAL VALUE (GWP VALUE). A 100-year GWP value published by the

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in either its Second Assessment Report (SAR) (IPCC, 1995); or

its Fourth Assessment A-3 Report (AR4) (IPCC, 2007). The SAR GWP values are found in column "SAR (100-yr)" of

Table 2.14.; the AR4 GWP values are found in column "100 yr" of Table 2.14.

HIGH-GWP REFRIGERANT. A compound used as a heat transfer fluid or gas that is: (a) a chlorofluorocarbon, a

hdrochlorofluorocarbon, a hydrofluorocarbon, a perfluorocarbon, or any compound or blend of compounds, with a

GWP value equal to or greater than 150, or (B) any ozone depleting substance as defined in Title 40 of the Code of

Federal Regulations, Part 82, sec.82.3 (as amended March 10, 2009).

LONG RADIUS ELBOW. Pipe fitting installed between two lengths of pipe or tubing to allow a change of direction,

with a radius 1.5 times the pipe diameter.

LOW-GWP REFRIGERANT. A compound used as a heat transfer fluid or gas that: (A) has a GWP value less than

150, and (B) is not an ozone depleting substance as defined in Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 82,

sec.82.3 (as amended March 10, 2009).

MERV.  Filter minimum efficiency reporting value, based on ASHRAE 52.2–1999.

MAXIMUM INCREMENTAL REACTIVITY (MIR). The maximum change in weight of ozone formed by adding a

compound to the "Base REactive Organic Gas (ROG) Mixture" per weight of compound added, expressed to

hundreths of a gram (g O

3

/g ROC).

PRODUCT-WEIGHTED MIR (PWMIR). The sum of all weighted-MIR for all ingredients in a product subject to this

article. The PWMIR is the total product reactivity expressed to hundredths of a gram of ozone formed per gram of

product (excluding container and packaging).

PSIG. Pounds per square inch, guage.

REACTIVE ORGANIC COMPOUND (ROC).  Any compound that has the potential, once emitted, to contribute to

ozone formation in the troposphere.

SCHRADER ACCESS VALVES. Access fittings with a valve core installed.

SHORT RADIUS ELBOW. Pipe fitting installed between two lengths of pipe or tubing to allow a change of direction,

with a radius 1.0 times the pipe diameter.

SUPERMARKET. For the purposes of Section 5.508.2, a supermarket is any retail food facility with 8,000 square feet

or more conditioned area, and that utilizes either refrigerated display cases, or walk-in coolers or freezers connected

to remote compressor units or condensing units.

VOC. A volatile organic compound broadly defined as a chemical compound based on carbon chains or rings with

vapor pressures greater than 0.1 millimeters of mercury at room temperature. These compounds typically contain

hydrogen and may contain oxygen, nitrogen and other elements. See CCR Title 17, Section 94508(a)

.

Note:  Where specific regulations are cited from different agencies such as SCAQMD, ARB, etc., the VOC definition

included in that specific regulation is the one that prevails for the specific measure in question.

SECTION 5.503  FIREPLACES

5.503.1 FIREPLACES.  Install only a direct-vent sealed-combustion gas or sealed wood-burning fireplace, or a sealed

woodstove or pellet stove, and refer to residential requirements in the California Energy Code, Title 24, Part 6,

Subchapter 7, Section 150. Woodstoves, pellet stoves and fireplaces shall comply with applicable local ordinances.

5.503.1.1 Woodstoves.  Woodstoves and pellet stoves shall comply with U.S. EPA New Source Performance

Standards (NSPS) emission limits as applicable, and shall have a permanent label indicating they are certified

to meet the emission limits.

SECTION 5.504  POLLUTANT CONTROL

5.504.1  TEMPORARY VENTILATION.  The permanent HVAC system shall only be used during construction if 

necessary to condition the building or areas of addition or alteration within the required temperature range for 

material and equipment installation.  If the HVAC system is used during construction, use return air filters with a 

Minimum Efficiency Reporting Value (MERV) of 8, based on ASHRAE 52.2-1999, or an average efficiency of 

30% based on ASHRAE 52.1-1992  Replace all filters immediately prior to occupancy, or, if the building is 

occupied during alteration, at the conclusion of construction.

5.504.3 Covering of duct openings and protection of mechanical equipment during construction. At the time of

rough installation and during storage on the construction site until final startup of the heating, cooling and ventilation

equipment, all duct and other related air distribution component openings shall be covered with tape, plastic,

sheetmetal or other methods acceptable to the enforcing agency to reduce the amount of dust, water and debris which

may enter the system.

5.410.2.1  Owner's or Owner Representative's Project Requirements (OPR). [N]  The expectations and 

requirements of the building appropriate to its phase shall be documented before the design phase of the 

project begins. This documentation shall include the following:

1.   Environmental and sustainability goals.

2.   Building sustainable goals.

3.   Indoor environmental quality requirements.

4.   Project program, including facility functions and hours of operation, and need for after hours 

      operation.

5.   Equipment and systems expectations.

6.   Building occupant and operation and maintenance (O&M) personnel expectations.

5.410.2.2 Basis of Design (BOD). [N]  A written explanation of how the design of the building systems meets

the OPR shall be completed at the design phase of the building project. The Basis of Design document shall 

cover the following systems:

1.   Renewable energy systems.

2.   Landscape irrigation systems.

3.   Water reuse system.

5.410.2.3 Commissioning plan. [N]  Prior to permit issuance a commissioning plan shall be completed to 

document how the project will be commissioned. The commissioning plan shall include the following:

1.   General project information.

2.   Commissioning goals.

3.   Systems to be commissioned. Plans to test systems and components shall include:

a.   An explanation of the original design intent.

b.   Equipment and systems to be tested, including the extent of tests.

c.   Functions to be tested.

d.   Conditions under which the test shall be performed.

e.   Measurable criteria for acceptable performance.

4.   Commissioning team information.

5.   Commissioning process activities, schedules and responsibilities. Plans for the completion of 

      commissioning shall be included.

5.410.2.4 Functional performance testing. [N]  Functional performance tests shall demonstrate the correct 

installation and operation of each component, system and system-to-system interface in accordance with the 

approved plans and specifications. Functional performance testing reports shall contain information addressing

each of the building components tested, the testing methods utilized, and include any readings and adjustments

made.

5.410.2.6 Commissioning report. [N] A report of commissioning process activities undertaken through the 

design and construction phases of the building project shall be completed and provided to the owner or 

representative.

5.410.4 TESTING AND ADJUSTING.  New buildings less than 10,000 square feet. Testing and adjusting of

systems shall be required for new buildings less than 10,000 square feet or new systems to serve an addition or

alteration subject to Section 303.1.

5.410.4.2 (Reserved)

Note: For energy-related systems under the scope (Section 100) of the California Energy Code, including 

heating, ventilation, air conditioning (HVAC) systems and controls, indoor lighting system and controls, as well

as water heating systems and controls, refer to California Energy Code Section 120.8 for commissioning 

requirements and Sections 120.5, 120.6, 130.4, and 140.9(b)3 for additional testing requirements of specific 

systems.

5.410.4.2 Systems.  Develop a written plan of procedures for testing and adjusting systems. Systems to be 

included for testing and adjusting shall include at a minimum, as applicable to the project:

1.   Renewable energy systems.

2.   Landscape irrigation systems.

3.   Water reuse systems.

5.410.4.3 Procedures.  Perform testing and adjusting procedures in accordance with manufacturer's 

specifications and applicable standards on each system.

5.410.4.3.1 HVAC balancing.  In addition to testing and adjusting, before a new space-conditioning 

system serving a building or space is operated for normal use, the system shall be balanced in 

accordance with the procedures defined by the Testing Adjusting and Balancing Bureau National 

Standards; the National Environmental Balancing Bureau Procedural Standards; Associated Air Balance

Council National Standards or as approved by the enforcing agency.

2022 CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE

NONRESIDENTIAL MANDATORY MEASURES, SHEET 2 (January 2023)

SECTION 5.303  INDOOR WATER USE

5.303.1 METERS.  Separate submeters or metering devices shall be installed for the uses described in Sections

503.1.1 and 503.1.2.

5.303.1.1 Buildings in excess of 50,000 square feet.  Separate submeters shall be installed as follows:

1.   For each individual leased, rented or other tenant space within the building projected to consume 

     more than 100 gal/day (380 L/day), including, but not limited to, spaces used for laundry or cleaners,

     restaurant or food service, medical or dental office, laboratory, or beauty salon or barber shop.

SECTION 5.410 BUILDING MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS

5.410.1 RECYCLING BY OCCUPANTS.  Provide readily accessible areas that serve the entire building and are

identified for the depositing, storage and collection of non-hazardous materials for recycling, including (at a minimum)

paper, corrugated cardboard, glass, plastics, organic waste, and metals or meet a lawfully enacted local recycling

ordinance, if more restrictive.

Exception:  Rural jurisdictions that meet and apply for the exemption in Public Resources

Code 42649.82 (a)(2)(A) et seq. shall also be exempt from the organic waste portion of this section.

5.410.1.1 Additions.  All additions conducted within a 12-month period under single or multiple permits, 

resulting in an increase of 30% or more in floor area, shall provide recycling areas on site.

Exception:  Additions within a tenant space resulting in less than a 30% increase in the tenant space 

floor area.

5.410.1.2 Sample ordinance.  Space allocation for recycling areas shall comply with Chapter 18, Part 3, 

Division 30 of the Public Resources Code. Chapter 18 is known as the California Solid Waste Reuse and 

Recycling Access Act of 1991 (Act).

Note:  A sample ordinance for use by local agencies may be found in Appendix A of the document at the 

CalRecycle’s web site.

5.410.2.5 Documentation and training. [N]  A Systems Manual and Systems Operations Training are required,

including Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA) requirements in California Code of Regulations (CCR), 

Title 8, Section 5142, and other related regulations.

5.410.2.5.1 Systems manual. [N] Documentation of the operational aspects of the building shall be 

completed within the systems manual and delivered to the building owner or representative. The 

systems manual shall include the following:

1.   Site information, including facility description, history and current requirements.

2.   Site contact information.

3.   Basic operations and maintenance, including general site operating procedures, basic 

      troubleshooting, recommended maintenance requirements, site events log.

4.   Major systems.

5.   Site equipment inventory and maintenance notes.

6.   A copy of verifications required by the enforcing agency or this code.

7.   Other resources and documentation, if applicable.

5.410.2.5.2 Systems operations training. [N] A program for training of the appropriate maintenance 

staff for each equipment type and/or system shall be developed and documented in the commissioning 

report and shall include the following:

1.   System/equipment overview (what it is, what it does and with what other systems and/or 

      equipment it interfaces).

2.   Review and demonstration of servicing/preventive maintenance.

3.   Review of the information in the Systems Manual.

4.   Review of the record drawings on the system/equipment.

2.   Where separate submeters for individual building tenants are unfeasible, for water supplied to the 

      following subsystems:

a.    Makeup water for cooling towers where flow through is greater than 500 gpm (30 L/s).

b.    Makeup water for evaporative coolers greater than 6 gpm (0.04 L/s).

c.    Steam and hot water boilers with energy input more than 500,000 Btu/h (147 kW).

5.303.1.2 Excess consumption.  A separate submeter or metering device shall be provided for any tenant 

within a new building or within an addition that is projected to consume more than 1,000 gal/day.

SECTION 5.304  OUTDOOR WATER USE

5.304.1 OUTDOOR POTABLE WATER USE IN LANDSCAPE AREAS.  Nonresidential developments shall comply

with a local water efficient landscape ordinance or the current California Department of Water Resources' Model Water

Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO), whichever is more stringent.

Notes:

1.  The Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) is located in the California Code of Regulations,

     Title 23, Chapter 2.7, Division 2.

2.  MWELO and supporting documents, including a water budget calculator, are available at: 

     https://www.water.ca.gov/.

5.304.6  OUTDOOR POTABLE WATER USE IN LANDSCAPE AREAS. For public schools and community colleges,

landscape projects as described in Sections 5.304.6.1 and 5.304.6.2 shall comply with the California Department of

Water Resources Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO) commencing with Section 490 of Chapter

2.7, Division 2, Title 23, California Code of Regulations, except that the evapotranspiration adjustment factor (ETAF)

shall be 0.65 with an additional water allowance for special landscape areas (SLA) of 0.35.

Exception:  Any project with an aggregate landscape area of 2,500 square feet or less may comply with the 

        prescriptive measures contained in Appendix D of the MWELO.

5.304.6.1  Newly constructed landscapes.  New construction projects with an aggregate landscape 

      area equal to or greater than 500 square feet.

5.304.6.2  Rehabilitated landscapes.  Rehabilitated landscape projects with an aggregate 

                 landscape area equal to or greater than 1,200 square feet.

DISCLAIMER:THIS DOCUMENT IS PROVIDED AND INTENDED TO BE USED AS A MEANS TO INDICATE AREAS OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS (CALGREEN) CODE.  DUE TO THE VARIABLES BETWEEN BUILDING DEPARTMENT JURISDICTIONS, THIS CHECKLIST IS TO BE USED ON AN INDIVIDUAL PROJECT BASIS AND MAY BE MODIFIED BY THE END USER TO MEET THOSE INDIVIDUAL NEEDS.  THE END USER ASSUMES ALL RESPONSIBILITY ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF THIS DOCUMENT, INCLUDING VERIFICATION WITH THE FULL CODE.

5.303.4 COMMERCIAL KITCHEN EQUIPMENT.

5.303.4.1  Food Waste Disposers.  Disposers shall either modulate the use of water to no more than 1 gpm 

when the disposer is not in use (not actively grinding food waste/no-load) or shall automatically shut off after no

more than 10 minutes of inactivity.  Disposers shall use no more than 8 gpm of water.

Note:  This code section does not affect local jurisdiction authority to prohibit or require disposer 

installation.

5.303.5 AREAS OF ADDITION OR ALTERATION.  For those occupancies within the authority of the California

Building Standards Commission as specified in Section 103, the provisions of Section 5.303.3  and 5.303.4 shall apply

to new fixtures in additions or areas of alteration to the building.

5.303.6 STANDARDS FOR PLUMBING FIXTURES AND FITTINGS.  Plumbing fixtures and fittings shall be installed

in accordance with the California Plumbing Code, and shall meet the applicable standards referenced in Table 1701.1

of the California Plumbing Code and in Chapter 6 of this code.

Y N/A

SECTION 5.402  DEFINITIONS

5.402.1 DEFINITIONS.  The following terms are defined in Chapter 2  (and are included here for reference)

ADJUST.  To regulate fluid flow rate and air patterns at the terminal equipment, such as to reduce fan speed or adjust

a damper.

BALANCE.  To proportion flows within the distribution system, including sub-mains, branches and terminals,

according to design quantities.

BUILDING COMMISSIONING.  A systematic quality assurance process that spans the entire design and construction

process, including verifying and documenting that building systems and components are planned, designed, installed,

tested, operated and maintained to meet the owner’s project requirements.

ORGANIC WASTE.  Food waste, green waste, landscape and pruning wste, nonhazardous wood waste, and food

soiled paper waste that is mixed in with food waste.

TEST.  A procedure to determine quantitative performance of a system or equipment

SECTION 5.407 WATER RESISTANCE AND MOISTURE MANAGEMENT

5.407.1 WEATHER PROTECTION. Provide a weather-resistant exterior wall and foundation envelope as required by

California Building Code Section 1402.2 (Weather Protection), manufacturer's installation instructions or local

ordinance, whichever is more stringent.

5.407.2 MOISTURE CONTROL. Employ moisture control measures by the following methods.

5.407.2.1 Sprinklers. Design and maintain landscape irrigation systems to prevent spray on structures.

5.407.2.2 Entries and openings. Design exterior entries and/or openings subject to foot traffic or wind-driven

rain to prevent water intrusion into buildings as follows:

5.407.2.2.1  Exterior door protection. Primary exterior entries shall be covered to prevent water 

intrusion by using nonabsorbent floor and wall finishes within at least 2 feet around and perpendicular to

such openings plus at least one of the following:

1.   An installed awning at least 4 feet in depth.

2.   The door is protected by a roof overhang at least 4 feet in depth.

3.   The door is recessed at least 4 feet.

4.   Other methods which provide equivalent protection.

5.407.2.2.2  Flashing.  Install flashings integrated with a drainage plane.

5.410.2 COMMISSIONING. [N] New buildings 10,000 square feet and over. For new buildings 10,000 square feet

and over, building commissioning shall be included in the design and construction processes of the building project to

verify that the building systems and components meet the owner’s or owner representative’s project requirements.

Commissioning shall be performed in accordance with this section by trained personnel with experience on projects of

comparable size and complexity. For I-occupancies that are not regulated by OSHPD or for I-occupancies and

L-occupancies that are not regulated y the California Energy Code Section 100.0 Scope, all requirements in Sections

5.410.2 through 5.410.2.6 shall apply.

Note: For energy-related systems under the scope (Section 100) of the California Energy Code, including heating,

ventilation, air conditioning (HVAC) systems and controls, indoor lighting systems and controls, as well as water

heating systems and controls, refer to California Energy Code Section 120.8 for commissioning requirements

Commissioning requirements shall include:

1.   Owner’s or Owner representative’s project requirements.

2.   Basis of design.

3.   Commissioning measures shown in the construction documents.

4.   Commissioning plan.

5.   Functional performance testing.

6.   Documentation and training.

7.   Commissioning report.

Exceptions:

1.   Unconditioned warehouses of any size.

2.  Areas less than 10,000 square feet used for offices or other conditioned accessory spaces within 

      unconditioned warehouses.

3.  Tenant improvements less than 10,000 square feet as described in Section 303.1.1.

4.  Open parking garages of any size, or open parking garage areas, of any size, within a structure.

Note: For the purposes of this section, unconditioned shall mean a building, area, or room which does not 

provide heating and or air conditioning.

Informational Notes:

1.  IAS AC 476 is an accreditation criteria for organizations providing training and/or certification of 

     commissioning personnel. AC 476 is available to the Authority Having Jurisdiction as a reference for 

     qualifications of commissioning personnel. AC 476 des not certify individuals to conduct functional 

     performance  tests or to adjust and balance systems.

2.  Functional performance testing for heating, ventilation, air conditioning systems and lighting controls 

      must be performed in compliance with the California Energy Code.

5.410.4.4 Reporting.  After completion of testing, adjusting and balancing, provide a final report of testing 

signed by the individual responsible for performing these services.

5.410.4.5 Operation and maintenance (O & M) manual.  Provide the building owner or representative with 

detailed operating and maintenance instructions and copies of guaranties/warranties for each system. O & M 

instructions shall be consistent with OSHA requirements in CCR, Title 8, Section 5142, and other related 

regulations.

5.410.4.5.1 Inspections and reports. Include a copy of all inspection verifications and reports required

by the enforcing agency.

Y N/A Y N/A Y N/ARESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

Y   =    YES

N/A = NOT APPLICABLE

RESPON. PARTY = RESPONSIBLE PARTY (ie: ARCHITECT, ENGINEER, 

OWNER, CONTRACTOR, INSPECTOR ETC.)

5.303.3.4 Faucets and fountains.

5.303.3.4.1 Nonresidential Lavatory faucets. Lavatory faucets shall have a maximum flow rate of not 

more than 0.5 gallons per minute at 60 psi.

5.303.3.4.2 Kitchen faucets. Kitchen faucets shall have a maximum flow rate of not more than 1.8 

gallons per minute at 60 psi. Kitchen faucets may temporarily increase the flow above the maximum rate,

but not to exceed 2.2 gallons per minute at 60 psi, and must default to a maximum flow rate of 1.8 gallons

per minute at 60 psi.

5.303.3.4.3 Wash fountains. Wash fountains shall have a maximum flow rate of not more than1.8 

gallons per minute/20 [rim space (inches) at 60 psi].

5.303.3.4.4 Metering faucets. Metering faucets shall not deliver more than 0.20 gallons per cycle.

5.303.3.4.5 Metering faucets for wash fountains. Metering faucets for wash fountains shall have a 

maximum flow rate of not more than 0.20 gallons per minute/20 [rim space (inches) at 60 psi].

Note: Where complying faucets are unavailable, aerators or other means may be used to achieve 

reduction.

5.303.3.4.6 Pre-rinse spray value

When installed, shall meet the requirements in the California Code of Regulations, Title 20 (Appliance 

Efficiency Regulations), Section 1605.1 (h)(4) Table H-2, Section 1605.3 (h)(4)(A), and Section 1607 

(d)(7), and shall be equipped with an integral automatic shutoff.

FOR REFERENCE ONLY:The following table and code section have been reprinted from the California

Code of Regulations, Title 20 (Appliance Efficiency Regulations), Section 1605.1 (h)(4) and Section 

1605.3 (h)(4)(A).

TABLE H-2

STANDARDS FOR COMMERCIAL PRE-RINSE SPRAY

VALUES MANUFACTURED ON OR AFTER JANUARY 28, 2019

PRODUCT CLASS

[spray force in ounce force (ozf)]

MAXIMUM FLOW RATE (gpm)

Product Class 1 (≤
1.00

Product Class 2 (> 5.0 ozf and ≤
1.20

Product Class 3 (> 8.0 ozf)

1.28

✓

GC

GC

GC

✓

GC

✓

✓

✓

✓

GC

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Page 294

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

G-103
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Cal Green

4 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

5.504.4.3 Paints and coatings.  Architectural paints and coatings shall comply with VOC limits in Table 1 of 

the ARB Architectural Coatings Suggested Control Measure, as shown in Table 5.504.4.3, unless more 

stringent local limits apply. The VOC content limit for coatings that do not meet the definitions for the specialty

coatings categories listed in Table 5.504.4.3 shall be determined by classifying the coating as a Flat, Nonflat 

or Nonflat-High Gloss coating, based on its gloss, as defined in Subsections 4.21, 4.36 and 4.37 of the 2007 

California Air Resources Board Suggested Control Measure, and the corresponding Flat, Nonflat or 

Nonflat-High Gloss VOC limit in Table 5.504.4.3 shall apply.

5.504.4.3.1 Aerosol Paints and coatings.  Aerosol paints and coatings shall meet the PWMIR Limits for

ROC in Section 94522(a)(3) and other requirements, including prohibitions on use of certain toxic 

compounds and ozone depleting substances, in Sections 94522(c)(2) and (d)(2) of California Code of 

Regulations, Title 17, commencing with Section 94520; and in areas under the jurisdiction of the 

Bay Area Air Quality Management District additionally comply with the percent VOC by weight of product

limits of Regulation 8 Rule 49.

5.504.4.4.1 Carpet cushion. All carpet cushion installed in the building interior shall meet the 

requirements of the California Department of Public Health,"Standard Method for the Testing and 

Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using Environmental 

Chambers,"Version 1.2, January 2017 (Emission testing method for California Specifications 

01350).

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/EHLB/IAQ/Pages/VOC.aspx#material

5.504.4.4.2 Carpet adhesive. All carpet adhesive shall meet the requirements of Table 5.504.4.1.

5.504.4.5 Composite wood products.  Hardwood plywood, particleboard and medium density fiberboard 

composite wood products used on the interior or exterior of the buildings shall meet the requirements for 

formaldehyde as specified in ARB's Air Toxics Control Measure (ATCM) for Composite Wood (17 CCR 93120 et

seq.). Those materials not exempted under the ATCM must meet the specified emission limits, as shown in 

Table 5.504.4.5.

5.504.4.5.3 Documentation.  Verification of compliance with this section shall be provided as 

requested by the enforcing agency. Documentation shall include at least one of the following:

1.   Product certifications and specifications.

2.   Chain of custody certifications.

3.   Product labeled and invoiced as meeting the Composite Wood Products regulation (see 

      CCR, Title 17, Section 93120, et seq.).

4.   Exterior grade products marked as meeting the PS-1 or PS-2 standards of the 

      Engineered Wood Association, the Australian AS/NZS 2269 or European 636 3S 

      standards.

5.   Other methods acceptable to the enforcing agency.

TABLE 5.504.4.1 - ADHESIVE VOC LIMIT1,2

Less Water and Less Exempt Compounds in Grams per Liter

ARCHITECTURAL APPLICATIONS CURRENT VOC LIMIT

INDOOR CARPET ADHESIVES

50

CARPET PAD ADHESIVES

50

OUTDOOR CARPET ADHESIVES

150

WOOD FLOORING ADHESIVES

100

RUBBER FLOOR ADHESIVES

60

SUBFLOOR ADHESIVES

50

CERAMIC TILE ADHESIVES

65

VCT & ASPHALT TILE ADHESIVES

50

DRYWALL & PANEL ADHESIVES

50

COVE BASE ADHESIVES

50

MULTIPURPOSE CONSTRUCTION ADHESIVES

70

STRUCTURAL GLAZING ADHESIVES

100

SINGLE-PLY ROOF MEMBRANE ADHESIVES

250

OTHER ADHESIVES NOT SPECIFICALLY LISTED

50

SPECIALTY APPLICATIONS

PVC WELDING

510

CPVC WELDING

490

ABS WELDING

325

PLASTIC CEMENT WELDING

250

ADHESIVE PRIMER FOR PLASTIC

550

CONTACT ADHESIVE

80

SPECIAL PURPOSE CONTACT ADHESIVE

250

STRUCTURAL WOOD MEMBER ADHESIVE

140

TOP & TRIM ADHESIVE

250

SUBSTRATE SPECIFIC APPLICATIONS

METAL TO METAL

30

PLASTIC FOAMS

50

POROUS MATERIAL (EXCEPT WOOD)
50

WOOD

30

FIBERGLASS

80

1. IF AN ADHESIVE IS USED TO BOND DISSIMILAR SUBSTRATES TOGETHER, THE ADHESIVE

WITH THE HIGHEST VOC CONTENT SHALL BE ALLOWED.

2.  FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING METHODS TO MEASURE THE VOC

CONTENT SPECIFIED IN THIS TABLE, SEE SOUTH COAST AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT

DISTRICT RULE 1168, www.arb.ca.gov/DRDB/SC/CURHTML/R1168.PDF

TABLE 5.504.4.2 - SEALANT VOC LIMIT

Less Water and Less Exempt Compounds in Grams per Liter

SEALANTS CURRENT VOC LIMIT

ARCHITECTURAL

250

MARINE DECK

760

NONMEMBRANE ROOF

300

ROADWAY

250

SINGLE-PLY ROOF MEMBRANE

450

OTHER

420

SEALANT PRIMERS

ARCHITECTURAL

     NONPOROUS

250

     POROUS

775

MODIFIED BITUMINOUS

500

MARINE DECK

760

OTHER

750

NOTE:  FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING METHODS TO MEASURE THE VOC

CONTENT SPECIFIED IN THESE TABLES, SEE SOUTH COAST AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT

DISTRICT RULE 1168.

TABLE 5.504.4.3 - CONT.

GRAMS OF VOC PER LITER OF COATING, LESS WATER & LESS EXEMPT COMPOUNDS

COATING CATEGORY CURRENT VOC LIMIT

SPECIALTY COATINGS

ALUMINUM ROOF COATINGS 400

BASEMENT SPECIALTY COATINGS 400

BITUMINOUS ROOF COATINGS 50

BITUMINOUS ROOF PRIMERS 350

BOND BREAKERS 350

CONCRETE CURING COMPOUNDS 350

CONCRETE/MASONRY SEALERS 100

DRIVEWAY SEALERS 50

DRY FOG COATINGS 150

FAUX FINISHING COATINGS 350

FIRE RESISTIVE COATINGS 350

FLOOR COATINGS 100

FORM-RELEASE COMPOUNDS 250

GRAPHIC ARTS COATINGS (SIGN PAINTS)

500

HIGH-TEMPERATURE COATINGS 420

INDUSTRIAL MAINTENANCE COATINGS 250

LOW SOLIDS COATINGS1 120

MAGNESITE CEMENT COATINGS 450

MASTIC TEXTURE COATINGS 100

METALLIC PIGMENTED COATINGS 500

MULTICOLOR COATINGS 250

PRETREATMENT WASH PRIMERS 420

PRIMERS, SEALERS, & UNDERCOATERS
100

REACTIVE PENETRATING SEALERS 350

RECYCLED COATINGS 250

ROOF COATINGS 50

RUST PREVENTATIVE COATINGS 250

SHELLACS:

CLEAR 730

OPAQUE 550

SPECIALTY PRIMERS, SEALERS & UNDERCOATERS
100

STAINS 250

STONE CONSOLIDANTS 450

SWIMMING POOL COATINGS 340

TRAFFIC MARKING COATINGS 100

TUB & TILE REFINISH COATINGS 420

WATERPROOFING MEMBRANES 250

WOOD COATINGS 275

WOOD PRESERVATIVES 350

ZINC-RICH PRIMERS 340

1.  GRAMS OF VOC PER LITER OF COATING, INCLUDING WATER & EXEMPT COMPOUNDS

2.  THE SPECIFIED LIMITS REMAIN IN EFFECT UNLESS REVISED LIMITS ARE LISTED IN SUBSEQUENT COLUMNS IN

THE TABLE.

3.  VALUES IN THIS TABLE ARE DERIVED FROM THOSE SPECIFIED BY THE CALIFORNIA AIR RESOURCES BOARD,

ARCHITECTURAL COATINGS SUGGESTED CONTROL MEASURE, FEB. 1, 2008.  MORE INFORMATION IS AVAILABLE

FROM THE AIR RESOURCES BOARD.

TABLE 5.504.4.5 - FORMALDEHYDE LIMITS1

MAXIMUM FORMALDEHYDE EMISSIONS IN PARTS PER MILLION

PRODUCT CURRENT LIMIT

HARDWOOD PLYWOOD VENEER CORE 0.05

HARDWOOD PLYWOOD COMPOSITE CORE 0.05

PARTICLE BOARD 0.09

MEDIUM DENSITY FIBERBOARD 0.11

THIN MEDIUM DENSITY FIBERBOARD2 0.13

1.  VALUES IN THIS TABLE ARE DERIVED FROM THOSE SPECIFIED BY THE CALIFORNIA AIR RESOURCES BOARD, AIR

TOXICS CONTROL MEASURE FOR COMPOSITE WOOD AS TESTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM E 1333.  FOR

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION, SEE CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 17, SECTIONS 93120 THROUGH 93120.12.

2.  THIN MEDIUM DENSITY FIBERBOARD HAS A MAXIMUM THICKNESS OF 5/16 INCHES (8 MM).

5.508.2 Supermarket refrigerant leak reduction. New commercial refrigeration systems shall comply with the

provisions of this section when installed in retail food stores 8,000 square feet or more conditioned area, and that

utilize either refrigerated display cases, or walk-in coolers or freezers connected to remote compressor units or

condensing units. The leak reduction measures apply to refrigeration systems containing high-global-warming potential

(high-GWP) refrigerants with a GWP of 150 or greater. New refrigeration systems include both new facilities and the

replacement of existing refrigeration systems in existing facilities.

Exception: Refrigeration systems containing low-global warming potential (low-GWP) refrigerant with a GWP 

value less than 150 are not subject to this section. Low-GWP refrigerants are nonozone-depleting refrigerants  

that include ammonia, carbon dioxide (CO

2

), and potentially other refrigerants.

5.508.2.1 Refrigerant piping. Piping compliant with the California Mechanical Code shall be installed to be 

accessible for leak protection and repairs. Piping runs using threaded pipe, copper tubing with an outside 

diameter (OD) less than 1/4 inch, flared tubing connections and short radius elbows shall not be used in 

refrigerant systems except as noted below.

5.508.2.1.1 Threaded pipe. Threaded connections are permitted at the compressor rack.

5.508.2.1.2 Copper pipe. Copper tubing with an OD less than 1/4 inch may be used in systems with a 

refrigerant charge of 5 pounds or less.

5.508.2.1.2.1 Anchorage. One-fouth-inch OD tubing shall be securely clamped to a rigid base to

keep vibration levels below 8 mils.

5.508.2.1.3 Flared tubing connections. Double-flared tubing connections may be used for pressure 

controls, valve pilot lines and oil.

Exception: Single-flared tubing connections may be used with a multiring seal coated with 

industrial sealant suitable for use with refrigerants and tightened in accordance with manufacturer's

recommendations.

5.508.2.1.4 Elbows. Short radius elbows are only permitted where space limitations prohibit use of 

long radius elbows.

5.508.2.2 Valves. Valves Valves and fittings shall comply with the California Mechanical Code and as 

follows.

5.508.2.2.1 Pressure relief valves. For vessels containing high-GWP refrigerant, a rupture disc shall 

be installed between the outlet of the vessel and the inlet of the pressure relief valve.

5.508.2.2.1.1 Pressure detection. A pressure gauge, pressure transducer or other device shall 

be installed in the space between the rupture disc and the relief valve inlet to indicate a disc 

rupture or discharge of the relief valve.

5.508.2.2.2 Access valves. Only Schrader access valves with a brass or steel body are 

permitted for use.

5.508.2.2.2.1 Valve caps. For systems with a refrigerant charge of 5 pounds or more, valve caps

shall be brass or steel and not plastic.

5.508.2.2.2.2 Seal caps. If designed for it, the cap shall have a neoprene O-ring in place.

5.508.2.2.2.2.1 Chain tethers. Chain tethers to fit ovr the stem are required for valves 

designed to have seal caps.

Exception: Valves with seal caps that are not removed from the valve during stem 

operation.

5.508.2.3 Refrigerated service cases. Refrigerated service cases holding food products containing vinegar and

salt shall have evaporator coils of corrosion-resistant material, such as stainless steel; or be coated to prevent

corrosion from these substances.

5.508.2.3.1 Coil coating. Consideration shall be given to the heat transfer efficiency of coil coating to 

maximize energy efficiency.

5.508.2.4 Refrigerant receivers. Refrigerant receivers with capacities greater than 200 pounds shall be fitted

with a device tha indicates the level of refrigerant in the receiver.

5.508.2.5 Pressure testing. The system shall be pressure tested during installation prior to evacuation and 

charging.

5.508.2.5.1 Minimum pressure. The system shall be charged with regulated dry nitrogen and 

appropriate tracer gas to bring system pressure up to 300 psig minimum.

5.508.2.5.2 Leaks. Check the system for leaks, repair any leaks, and retest for pressure using the same

gauge.

5.508.2.5.3 Allowable pressure change. The system shall stand, unaltered, for 24 hours with no more

than a +/- one pound pressure change from 300 psig, measured with the same gauge.

5.508.2.6 Evacuation. The system shall be evacuated after pressure testing and prior to charging.

5.508.2.6.1 First vacuum. Pull a system vacuum down to at least 1000 microns (+/- 50 microns), and 

hold for 30 minutes.

5.508.2.6.2 Second vacuum. Pull a second system vacuum to a minimum of 500 microns and hold for 30

minutes.

5.508.2.6.3 Third vacuum. Pull a third vacuum down to a minimum of 300 microns, and hold for 24 hours

with a maximum drift of 100 microns over a 24-hour period.

CHAPTER 7

INSTALLER & SPECIAL INSPECTOR QUALIFICATIONS

702 QUALIFICATIONS

702.1 INSTALLER TRAINING.  HVAC system installers shall be trained and certified in the proper

installation of HVAC systems including ducts and equipment by a nationally or regionally recognized training or

certification program.  Uncertified persons may perform HVAC installations when under the direct supervision and

responsibility of a person trained and certified to install HVAC systems or contractor licensed to install HVAC systems.

Examples of acceptable HVAC training and certification programs include but are not limited to the following:

1.   State certified apprenticeship programs.

2.   Public utility training programs.

3.   Training programs sponsored by trade, labor or statewide energy consulting or verification organizations.

4.   Programs sponsored by manufacturing organizations.

5.   Other programs acceptable to the enforcing agency.

702.2 SPECIAL INSPECTION [HCD].  When required by the enforcing agency, the owner or the

responsible entity acting as the owner's agent shall employ one or more special inspectors to provide inspection or

other duties necessary to substantiate compliance with this code.  Special inspectors shall demonstrate competence

to the satisfaction of the enforcing agency for the particular type of inspection or task to be performed.  In addition to

other certifications or qualifications acceptable to the enforcing agency, the following certifications or education may be

considered by the enforcing agency when evaluating the qualifications of a special inspector:

1.   Certification by a national or regional green building program or standard publisher.

2.   Certification by a statewide energy consulting or verification organization, such as HERS raters, building 

      performance contractors, and home energy auditors.

3.   Successful completion of a third party apprentice training program in the appropriate trade.

4.   Other programs acceptable to the enforcing agency.

Notes:

1.   Special inspectors shall be independent entities with no financial interest in the materials or the 

project they are inspecting for compliance with this code.

2.   HERS raters are special inspectors certified by the California Energy Commission (CEC) to rate 

homes in California according to the Home Energy Rating System (HERS).

[BSC-CG]  When required by the enforcing agency, the owner or the responsible entity acting as the owner's agent

shall employ one or more special inspectors to provide inspection or other duties necessary to substantiate

compliance with this code.  Special inspectors shall demonstrate competence to the satisfaction of the enforcing

agency for the particular type of inspection or task to be performed.  In addition, the special inspector shall have a

certification from a recognized state, national or international association, as determined by the local agency.  The

area of certification shall be closely related to the primary job function, as determined by the local agency.

Note:  Special inspectors shall be independent entities with no financial interest in the materials or the 

project they are inspecting for compliance with this code.

703 VERIFICATIONS

703.1 DOCUMENTATION.  Documentation used to show compliance with this code shall include but is not limited to,

construction documents, plans, specifications, builder or installer certification, inspection reports, or other methods

acceptable to the enforcing agency which demonstrate substantial conformance.  When specific documentation or

special inspection is necessary to verify compliance, that method of compliance will be specified in the appropriate

section or identified applicable checklist.

2022 CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE

NONRESIDENTIAL MANDATORY MEASURES, SHEET 3 (January 2023)

SECTION 5.505  INDOOR MOISTURE CONTROL

5.505.1 INDOOR MOISTURE CONTROL.  Buildings shall meet or exceed the provisions of California Building Code,

CCR, Title 24, Part 2, Sections 1202 (Ventilation) and Chapter 14 (Exterior Walls). For additional measures, see

Section 5.407.2 of this code.

SECTION 5.506  INDOOR AIR QUALITY

5.506.1 OUTSIDE AIR DELIVERY.  For mechanically or naturally ventilated spaces in buildings, meet the minimum

requirements of Section 120.1 (Requirements For Ventilation) of the California Energy Code, or the applicable local

code, whichever is more stringent, and Division 1, Chapter 4 of CCR,  Title 8.

5.506.2 CARBON DIOXIDE (CO2) MONITORING.  For buildings or additions equipped with demand control

ventilation, CO2 sensors and ventilation controls shall be specified and installed in accordance with the requirements

of the California Energy Code, Section 120(c)(4).

5.506.3 Carbon dioxide (CO2) monitoring in classrooms.

(DSA-SS) Each public K-12 school classroom, as listed in Table 120.1-A of the California Energy Code, shall be

equipped with a carbon dioxide monitor or sensor that meets the following requirements:

1. The monitor or sensor  shall be permanently affixed in a tamper-proof manner in each classroom between 3 and

6 feet (914 mm and 1829 mm) above the floor and at least 5 feet (1524 mm) away from door and operable

windows.

2. When the monitor or sensor is not integral to an Energy Management Control System (EMCS), the monitor or

sensor shall display the carbon dioxide readings on the device. When the sensor is integral to an EMCS, the

carbon dioxide readings shall be available to and regularly monitored by facility personnel.

3. A monitor shall provide notification though a visual indicator on the monitor when the carbon dioxide levels in the

classroom have exceeded 1,100ppm. A sensor integral to an EMCS shall provide notification to facility

personnel through a visual and/or audible indicator when the carbon dioxide levels in the classroom have

exceeded 1,100ppm.

4. The monitor or sensor shall measure carbon dioxide levels at minimum 15- minute intervals and shall maintain a

record of previous carbon dioxide measurements of not less than 30 days duration.

5. The monitor or sensor used to measure carbon dioxide levels shall have the capacity to measure carbon dioxide

levels with a range of 400ppm to 2000ppm or greater.

6. The monitor or sensor shall be certified by the manufacturer to be accurate within 75ppm at 1,000ppm carbon

dioxide concentration and shall be certified by the manufacturer to require calibration no more frequently than

once every 5 years.

SECTION 5.507  ENVIRONMENTAL COMFORT

5.507.4 ACOUSTICAL CONTROL.  Employ building assemblies and components with Sound Transmission Class

(STC) values determined in accordance with ASTM E 90 and ASTM E 413, or Outdoor-Indoor Sound Transmission

Class (OITC) determined in accordance with ASTM E 1332, using either the prescriptive or performance method in

Section 5.507.4.1 or 5.507.4.2.

Exception:  Buildings with few or no occupants or where occupants are not likely to be affected by exterior 

noise, as determined by the enforcement authority, such as factories, stadiums, storage, enclosed parking 

structures and utility buildings.

Exception: [DSA-SS]  For public schools and community colleges, the requirements of this section and all 

subsections apply only to new construction.

5.507.4.1 Exterior noise transmission, prescriptive method.  Wall and roof-ceiling assemblies exposed to 

the noise source making up the building or addition envelope or altered envelope shall meet a composite STC

rating of at least 50 or a composite OITC rating of no less than 40, with exterior windows of a minimum STC of

40 or OITC of 30 in the following locations:

1.   Within the 65 CNEL noise contour of an airport.

Exceptions:

1.   L

dn

 or CNEL for military airports shall be determined by the facility Air Installation Compatible 

      Land Use Zone (AICUZ) plan.

2.   L

dn

 or CNEL for other airports and heliports for which a land use plan has not been developed

      shall be determined by the local general plan noise element.

2.   Within the 65 CNEL or L

dn

 noise contour of a freeway or expressway, railroad, industrial source or 

      fixed-guideway source as determined by the Noise Element of the General Plan.

5.507.4.1.1. Noise exposure where noise contours are not readily available. Buildings exposed to a

noise level of 65 dB L

eq

 - 1-hr during any hour of operation shall have building, addition or alteration 

exterior wall and roof-ceiling assemblies exposed to the noise source meeting a composite STC rating of

at least 45 (or OITC 35), with exterior windows of a minimum STC of 40 (or OITC 30).

5.507.4.2  Performance Method.  For buildings located as defined in Section 5.507.4.1 or 5.507.4.1.1, wall and

roof-ceiling assemblies exposed to the noise source making up the building or addition envelope or altered 

envelope shall be constructed to provide an interior noise environment attributable to exterior sources that does

not exceed an hourly equivalent noise level (Leq-1Hr) of 50 dBA in occupied areas during any hour of operation.

5.507.4.2.1  Site Features.  Exterior features such as sound walls or earth berms may be utilized as 

appropriate to the building, addition or alteration project to mitigate sound migration to the interior.

5.507.4.2.2  Documentation of Compliance.  An acoustical analysis documenting complying interior 

soundlevels shall be prepared by personnel approved by the architect or engineer of record.

5.507.4.3 Interior sound transmission.  Wall and floor-ceiling assemblies separating tenant spaces and tenant

spaces and public places shall have an STC of at least 40.

Note:  Examples of assemblies and their various STC ratings may be found at the California Office of 

Noise Control:  www.toolbase.org/PDF/CaseStudies/stc_icc_ratings.pdf.

SECTION 5.508  OUTDOOR AIR QUALITY

5.508.1 Ozone depletion and greenhouse gas reductions.  Installations of HVAC, refrigeration and fire suppression

equipment shall comply with Sections 5.508.1.1 and 5.508.1.2.

5.508.1.1 Chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs). Install HVAC, refrigeration and fire suppression equipment that do not

contain CFCs.

5.508.1.2 Halons. Install HVAC, refrigeration and fire suppression equipment that do not contain Halons.

5.504.4.6 Resilient flooring systems.  Where resilient flooring is installed, at least 80 percent of floor area 

receiving resilient flooring shall meet the requirements of the California Department of Public Health,"Standard

Method for the Testing and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using 

Environmental Chambers," Version 1.2, January 2017 (Emission testing method for California Specifications 

01350)

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/EHLB/IAQ/Pages/VOC.aspx#material

5.504.4.6.1 Verification of compliance.  Documentation shall be provided verifying that resilient flooring

materials meet the pollutant emission limits.

5.504.4.7 Thermal insulation

Comply  with the requirements of the California Department of Public Health, "Standard Method of the Testing

and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using Environmental Chambers,

"Version 1.2, January 1.2, January 2017 (Emission testing method for California Specification 01350).

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/EHLB/IAQ/Pages/VOC.aspx#material

5.504.4.7.1 Verification of compliance.

Documentation shall be provided verifying that thermal insulation materials meet the pollutant emission

limits.

5.504.4.8 Acoustical ceiling and wall panels.

Comply with the requirements of the California Department of Public Health, "Standard Method for the Testing

and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor Sources Using Environmental Chambers, "

Version 1.2, January 2017  (Emission testing method for California Specification 01350).

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

5.504.4.8.1 Verification of compliance. Documentation shall be provided verifying that acoustical 

 finish materials meet the pollutant emission limits.

5.504.5.3 Filters.  In mechanically ventilated buildings, provide regularly occupied areas of the building with air

filtration media for outside and return air that provides at least a Minimum Efficiency Reporting Value (MERV) of

13.  MERV 13 filters shall be installed prior to occupancy, and recommendations for maintenance with filters of

the same value shall be included in the operation and maintenance manual.

Exceptions:  Existing mechanical equipment.

     5.504.5.3.1 Labeling.  Installed filters shall be clearly labeled by the manufacturer indicating the MERV 

    rating.

5.504.7 ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE (ETS) CONTROL.  Where outdoor areas are provided for smoking,

prohibit smoking within 25 feet of building entries, outdoor air intakes and operable windows and within the building as

already prohibited by other laws or regulations; or as enforced by ordinances, regulations or policies of any city,

county, city and county, California Community College, campus of the California State University, or campus of the

University of California, whichever are more stringent. When ordinances, regulations or policies are not in place, post

signage to inform building occupants of the prohibitions.

5.504.4.3.2 Verification. Verification of compliance with this section shall be provided at the request of 

the enforcing agency. Documentation may include, but is not limited to, the following:

1.   Manufacturer's product specification

2.   Field verification of on-site product containers

5.504.4.4 Carpet Systems.

All carpet installed in the building interior shall meet the requirements of the California Department of Public 

Health, "Standard Method for the Testing and Evaluation of Volatile Organic Chemical Emissions from Indoor 

Sources Using Environmental Chambers." Version 1.2, January 2017 (Emission testing method for California 

Specifications 01350).

See California Department of Public Health's website for certification programs and testing labs.

https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/EHLB/IAQ/Pages/VOC.aspx#material

5.504.4 FINISH MATERIAL POLLUTANT CONTROL.  Finish materials shall comply with Sections 5.504.4.1 through

5.504.4.6.

5.504.4.1 Adhesives, sealants and caulks.  Adhesives, sealants, and caulks used on the project shall meet

the requirements of the following standards:

1.  Adhesives, adhesive bonding primers, adhesive primers, sealants, sealant primers and caulks shall 

comply with local or regional air pollution control or air quality management district rules where 

applicable, or SCAQMD Rule 1168 VOC limits, as shown in Tables 5.504.4.1 and 5.504.4.2. Such 

products also shall comply with the Rule 1168 prohibition on the use of certain toxic compounds 

(chloroform, ethylene dichloride, methylene chloride, perchloroethylene and trichloroethylene), except for

aerosol products as specified in subsection 2, below.

2.   Aerosol adhesives, and smaller unit sizes of adhesives, and sealant or caulking compounds (in 

units of product, less packaging, which do not weigh more than one pound and do not consist of more 

than 16 fluid ounces) shall comply with statewide VOC standards and other requirements, including 

prohibitions on use of certain toxic compounds, of California Code of Regulations, Title 17, commencing

with Section 94507.

DISCLAIMER:THIS DOCUMENT IS PROVIDED AND INTENDED TO BE USED AS A MEANS TO INDICATE AREAS OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS (CALGREEN) CODE.  DUE TO THE VARIABLES BETWEEN BUILDING DEPARTMENT JURISDICTIONS, THIS CHECKLIST IS TO BE USED ON AN INDIVIDUAL PROJECT BASIS AND MAY BE MODIFIED BY THE END USER TO MEET THOSE INDIVIDUAL NEEDS.  THE END USER ASSUMES ALL RESPONSIBILITY ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF THIS DOCUMENT, INCLUDING VERIFICATION WITH THE FULL CODE.

Y N/A Y N/A Y N/A Y N/ARESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

RESPON.

PARTY

Y   =    YES

N/A = NOT APPLICABLE

RESPON. PARTY = RESPONSIBLE PARTY (ie: ARCHITECT, ENGINEER, 

OWNER, CONTRACTOR, INSPECTOR ETC.)

✓

GC

✓

GC

GC

✓

✓

✓

✓

Page 295

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-101
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Site Plan

5 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

NO
PARKING

NO
PARKING

Wheel Stop Wheel Stop

Wheel Stop Wheel Stop Wheel Stop Wheel Stop

NO
PARKING

6

A-108

3

A-110

4

A-110

Gas
MeterSlope 12:1

Slope 12:1

S
lo

pe
 1

2:
1

S
lo

pe
 1

2:
1

A-108
8

A-108
8

A-101
1

A-101
2

A-101
3

PEDESTRIAN ROUTEPEDESTRIAN ROUTE

PEDESTRIAN ROUTEPEDESTRIAN ROUTE

PU
B

LI
C

 S
ID

EW
A

LK
PU

B
LI

C
 S

ID
EW

A
LK

PEDESTRIAN ROUTE

PU
B

LI
C

 S
ID

EW
A

LK

26
7'

-9
 1

/2
"

370'-0 1/2"

16
0'

-4
 1

/4
"

60'-11 3/4"

89'-5 1/2"

14
'-4

 3
/4

"

94'-1 1/2"

10
'-7

 3
/4

"

25'-0"

24
'-0

"

10'-0"

21
'-3

 3
/4

"

(N) GATE

(N) TRASH ENCLOSURE

(E) GATE TO BE REPAIRED

49972 CESAR
CHAVEZ

ALADINNO'S
CLOTHING STORE

M OCCUPANCY

VICTORY
SPORTING

GOODS
M OCCUPANCY

VMP EVENT
CENTER

A-2 OCCUPANCY

DOLLAR TREE
M OCCUPANCY

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

RAMP

RAMP

R
A

M
P

R
A

M
P

(N
) P

LA
N

TE
R

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

(E) FENCE

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

APPROX. 28 PEOPLE
IN QUEUE

05/10/24

OPTIONAL 4TH CHANNEL

REVSHEET

TITLE

DRAWING NODATE:

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

CHKD BY:

ALUMI-GUARD
ORNAMENTAL ALUMINUM FENCING

2290-087
DR

10/17/12 NTS

LP

91 3/4" MUNICIPAL BELMONT
60" PUPPY PICKET

XX --

3/4" x 3/4" x .050"
 PICKET

93 3/4"
CENTER ON 2" POSTS

91 3/4"

60"

5 3/8"

30 1/4"

14 1/2"
18"

1 9/16" SPACE ( 2 5/16" O.C )

3 7/8" SPACE ( 4 5/8" O.C )

1.00" x 1.50" CHANNEL
.055" TOPWALL
.082" SIDEWALL

3'0

01SHEET #06/22/2020DATE:PBDRAWN
BY:N.T.S.SCALE:CHKD

BY: . .

AMERICAN FENCE
PROJECT #: . CLIENT

PROJECT #: .

REV .
REFERENCE
JOB #: .

OPERATOR MFR. MODEL

LIFTMASTER
SL585
SL595

LINEAR
HSLG
GSLG
VS-GSLG

HYSECURITY
SLIDESMART HD-15F
SLIDESMART HD25
SLIDESMART HD30

KKK

LLL

PPP

OOO

LEGEND
OPERATOR

KEYPAD
REFLECTOR
PHOTOEYE

KEYPAD WIRE
LOOP WIRE

PHOTOEYE WIRE
HIGH VOLTAGE WIRE

FENCELINE
GATE PATH

SHADOW LOOP

INTERRUPT LOOP

EXIT LOOP

GATE

O

O

O

O O OO

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

L L

L L

L L

K

K

K

K

K

K

INSIDE

OUTSIDE

SINGLE SWING GATE
ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENT DRAWING

LIFTMASTER, LINEAR AND HYSECURITY
.

GATE HINGES ON THE LEFT
FROM OUTSIDE LOOKING IN.

N

1

2 Motorized Gate

1 Fencing

3 Trash Enclosure

3 Trash Enclosure

SUBJECT SPACE

NOTE:

NO ABRUPT CHANGES IN ELEVATIONS
ALONG THE PATH OF TRAVEL SHOWN.
THE SLOPE AND CROSS-SLOPE ALONG
THE PATH OF TRAVEL SHALL NOT
EXCEED 5% AND 2% RESPECTIVELY.
INSPECTOR TO VERIFY

1' = 30'-0"

Page 296

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-102
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Expanded Site

6 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

NO
PARKING

NO
PARKING

Wheel Stop Wheel Stop

Wheel Stop Wheel Stop Wheel Stop Wheel Stop

NO
PARKING

6

A-108

3

A-110

4

A-110

Gas
MeterSlope 12:1

Slope 12:1

S
lo

pe
 1

2:
1

S
lo

pe
 1

2:
1

A-108
8

A-108
8

A-101
1

A-101
2

A-101
3

PEDESTRIAN ROUTEPEDESTRIAN ROUTE

PEDESTRIAN ROUTEPEDESTRIAN ROUTE

PU
B

LI
C

 S
ID

EW
A

LK

PEDESTRIAN ROUTE

PU
B

LI
C

 S
ID

EW
A

LK

60'-11 3/4"

89'-5 1/2"

14
'-4

 3
/4

"

94'-1 1/2"

10
'-7

 3
/4

"

25'-0"

24
'-0

"

10'-0"

21
'-3

 3
/4

"

(N) GATE

(N) TRASH ENCLOSURE

(E) GATE TO BE REPAIRED

49972 CESAR
CHAVEZ

ALADINNO'S
CLOTHING STORE

M OCCUPANCY

VICTORY
SPORTING

GOODS
M OCCUPANCY

VMP EVENT
CENTER

A-2 OCCUPANCY

DOLLAR TREE
M OCCUPANCY

RAMP

RAMP

R
A

M
P

R
A

M
P

(N
) P

LA
N

TE
R

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

(E) FENCE

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

APPROX. 28 PEOPLE
IN QUEUE

05/10/24

N

1

1" = 10'-0"

NOTE:

NO ABRUPT CHANGES IN ELEVATIONS
ALONG THE PATH OF TRAVEL SHOWN.
THE SLOPE AND CROSS-SLOPE ALONG
THE PATH OF TRAVEL SHALL NOT
EXCEED 5% AND 2% RESPECTIVELY.
INSPECTOR TO VERIFY

NEW TENANT
SPACE

ACCESSIBLE
PATH OF TRAVEL

NOTE:

 (A Occupancies) Group A occupancies with an occupant
load greater than 100 and less than 300 shall have at least
one exit that discharges on a street or an unoccupied
space of not less than 20 feet in width that adjoins a street
or public way. (CBC Section 1030.3.1).
CBC: (A Occupancies) Group A occupancies with an
occupant load of 100 to 300 not less than one of the
required means of egress shall exit through one of the
following: (CBC Section 1030.3.1)
1. Directly to an exit.
2. Egress through a lobby that is not used to access the
other required exits.
3. To a one-hour rated corridor to an exit.
4. Continuous through a one-hour rated lobby to an exit.

Page 297

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-102A
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Line Queue Plan

7 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

NO
PARKING

NO
PARKING

Wheel Stop Wheel Stop

Wheel Stop Wheel Stop Wheel Stop Wheel Stop

NO
PARKING

6

A-108

3

A-110

4

A-110

Gas
MeterSlope 12:1

Slope 12:1

S
lo

pe
 1

2:
1

S
lo

pe
 1

2:
1

A-108
8

A-108
8

A-101
1

A-101
2

A-101
3

PU
B

LI
C

 S
ID

EW
A

LK

PEDESTRIAN ROUTE

PU
B

LI
C

 S
ID

EW
A

LK

60'-11 3/4"

10
'-7

 3
/4

"

25'-0"

24
'-0

"

10'-0"

21
'-3

 3
/4

"

(N) GATE

(N) TRASH ENCLOSURE

ROPE BARRIER

SECURITY SCANNING

TICKET SALES

LINE QUEUE

(E) GATE TO BE REPAIRED

49972 CESAR
CHAVEZ

ALADINNO'S
CLOTHING STORE

M OCCUPANCY

VICTORY
SPORTING

GOODS
M OCCUPANCY

VMP EVENT
CENTER

A-2 OCCUPANCY

DOLLAR TREE
M OCCUPANCY

RAMP

RAMP

R
A

M
P

R
A

M
P

(N
) P

LA
N

TE
R

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

(E) FENCE

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

(N) DRIVE ISLE
ASPHALT OR
CONCRETE

APPROX. 28 PEOPLE
IN QUEUE

Page 298

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-103A
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Floor Plan A

8 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

39
3.

39
 s

q 
ft

28
8.

00
 s

q 
ft

15
0.

27
 s

q 
ft

1,064.97 sq ft

D

B

B

A

A

A

C

A

A

60
"

60
" 60

"

56
3.

81
 s

q 
ft

3'
-8

"

3'-8"

33'-4"

16
'-1

 1
/4

"

8'-2 1/4"

8'
-9

 1
/2

"

33'-9 1/4"

10
'-2

 1
/2

"

3'-8"

3'
-8

"

3'
-8

"

3'-8"

3'
-8

"

“This door to remain unlocked
when building is occupied.”

“T
hi

s 
do

or
 to

 re
m

ai
n 

un
lo

ck
ed

w
he

n 
bu

ild
in

g 
is

 o
cc

up
ie

d.
”

MAX CAPACITY
359 OCCUPANTS SIGN

114'-0"

O
FF

IC
E

M
EN

S
R

O
O

M
W

O
M

A
N

S
R

O
O

M

JA
N

IT
O

R
S

C
LO

SE
T

BAR
COUNTER

EL
EC

. R
O

O
M

PO
R

TA
B

LE
 S

TA
G

E

WATER
FOUNTAIN

R
O

O
F

A
C

C
ES

S

D
A

N
C

E 
FL

O
O

R

LI
Q

. S
TO

R
A

G
E

W
ai

tin
g 

A
re

a

B
A

R

BAR
COUNTER

B
A

R
C

O
U

N
TE

R

28
8 

sq
. f

t.

TABLES &
CHAIRS

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

W A L L    L E G E N D

EXISTG WALLS

NEW DEMISING
WALLS

EXISTG
CMU WALLS

EXISTG
COLUMN

EXISTG
COLUMN

05/10/24

DOOR SCHEDULE

MARK
A
A
D
B
A
C

SIZE
W

4'-0"
5'-0"
6'-0"
3'-0"
3'-0"
2'-6"

HT
6'-8"
6'-8"
6'-8"
7'-0"
7'-0"
7'-0"

New Or Existing
Existing
Existing

New
New
New
New

Glazing Operation Type Opening Force

5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max

Hardware

Panic hardware
Panic Hardware

Lever Hardware / Closer
Lever Hardware
Lever Hardware

U FACTOR SHGC FIRE RATING

N/A

NOTES

O C C U P A N C Y    L E G E N D

BAR OCCUPANCY      / 150 PER SQ. FT.

WAITING AREA       / 5  PER SQ. FT.

EXIT PATH OF TRAVEL
IDENTIFIED BY CONTRASTING
FLOORING

TABLES & CHAIRS  /  15  PER SQ. FT.

DANCE  FLOOR  / 5  PER SQ. FT.

STAGE  / 15  PER SQ. FT.

1

1

1/4" = 1'-0"

NOTE:
 (Accessory Occupancies) Accessory occupancies are
those occupancies that are ancillary to the main
occupancy of the building or portion thereof. No separation
is required between accessory occupancies and the main
occupancy. (CBC Section 508.2, 508.2.4).
2022 CBC: (Fixed Seats) For areas having fixed seats, the
occupant load shall be determined by the number of fixed
seats. (CBC 1004.6)
(Door Opening Force) The opening force required for hinged
interior and exterior doors other than fire doors shall be 5
pounds maximum. (CBC 11B-404.2.9) 
(Door Lever Type) Provide lever type hardware for all doors
that are equipped with a latch or locking device, and in a path
of travel. (other than panic type). The hardware type should
be identified within the drawing plans. (CBC 11B-309.4,
11B-404.2.7) 
(Door Hardware) Door handles, pulls, latches, locks and other
operating devices on doors required to be accessible by
Chapter 11B shall not require tight grasping, tight pinching or
twisting of the wrist to operate. Where sliding doors are in the
fully open position, operating hardware shall be exposed and
usable from both sides. (CBC Section 1010.1.9.1,
11B-404.2.7) 
(Panic Hardware – A Occupancy) Provide panic hardware on
exit doors serving A- Occupancies where the occupant load
served exceeds 50. Identify all panic hardware within the door
schedule. (CBC 1010.1.10)

OCCUPANT LOAD FACTORS (SQ FT/OCC) PER SECTION 1004

ASSEMBLY W/O FIXED SEATS (TABLES AND CHAIRS) 15 NET
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS (W/O TWO DIVIDING ARMS)) 1 OCC / 18”
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS (BOOTHS): 1 OCC / 24”
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS: 1 OCC / SEAT
ASSEMBLY W/O FIXED SEATS (STANDING SPACE) 5 NET

AREAS

TABLES AND CHAIRS = 1065 SQ. FT.
BAR SEATS = 10
BOOTHS = 1584”
WAITING = 564
STAGE / DANCE FLOOR = 681 SQ. FT.

OCCUPANT LOADS

TABLES AND CHAIRS = 1065 / 15        71 OCC
BAR SEATS =                                         10 OCC
BOOTHS = 1584” / 24                            66 OCC
WAITING = 564 / 5                                 113 OCC
STAGE  = 288 / 15                                    20 OCC
DANCE FLOOR  394 / 5                           79 OCC
TOTAL                                                    359 OCC

Page 299

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-103B
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Floor Plan B

9 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

W A L L    L E G E N D

EXISTG WALLS

NEW DEMISING
WALLS

EXISTG
CMU WALLS

EXISTG
COLUMN

EXISTG
COLUMN

DOOR SCHEDULE

MARK
A
A
D
B
A
C

SIZE
W

4'-0"
5'-0"
6'-0"
3'-0"
3'-0"
2'-6"

HT
6'-8"
6'-8"
6'-8"
7'-0"
7'-0"
7'-0"

New Or Existing
Existing
Existing

New
New
New
New

Glazing Operation Type Opening Force

5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max

Hardware

Panic hardware
Panic Hardware

Lever Hardware / Closer
Lever Hardware
Lever Hardware

U FACTOR SHGC FIRE RATING

N/A

NOTES

O C C U P A N C Y    L E G E N D

BAR OCCUPANCY      / 150 PER SQ. FT.

WAITING AREA       / 5  PER SQ. FT.

EXIT PATH OF TRAVEL
IDENTIFIED BY CONTRASTING
FLOORING

TABLES & CHAIRS  /  15  PER SQ. FT.

DANCE  FLOOR  / 5  PER SQ. FT.

STAGE  / 15  PER SQ. FT.

39
3.

39
 s

q 
ft

28
8.

00
 s

q 
ft

15
0.

27
 s

q 
ft

1,199.56 sq ft

D

B

B

A

A

A

C

A

A

60
"

60
" 60

"

1'
-8

"

1'
-6

"

1'-0"

1'
-8

"

2'-6"
1'

-0
"

1'
-6

"

1'
-6

"

1'
-0

"

3'
-8

"

3'-8"

3'-8"

3'-8"

3'
-8

"

6'
-0

 1
/4

"

39'-2"
7'

-1
0"

30'-1 1/4"

70
7.

39
 s

q 
ft

30
'-5

 3
/4

"

40'-5 1/2"

27'-5 3/4"

12
'-5

 1
/2

"

MAX CAPACITY
381 OCCUPANTS SIGN

“This door to remain unlocked
when building is occupied.”

“T
hi

s 
do

or
 to

 re
m

ai
n 

un
lo

ck
ed

w
he

n 
bu

ild
in

g 
is

 o
cc

up
ie

d.
”

114'-0"

O
FF

IC
E

M
EN

S
R

O
O

M
W

O
M

A
N

S
R

O
O

M

JA
N

IT
O

R
S

C
LO

SE
T

BAR
COUNTER

EL
EC

. R
O

O
M

PO
R

TA
B

LE
 S

TA
G

E

WATER
FOUNTAIN

R
O

O
F

A
C

C
ES

S

D
A

N
C

E 
FL

O
O

R

LI
Q

. S
TO

R
A

G
E

W
ai

tin
g 

A
re

a

B
A

R

BAR
COUNTER

B
A

R
C

O
U

N
TE

R

28
8 

sq
. f

t.

TABLES &
CHAIRS

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

1

NOTE:
 (Accessory Occupancies) Accessory occupancies are
those occupancies that are ancillary to the main
occupancy of the building or portion thereof. No separation
is required between accessory occupancies and the main
occupancy. (CBC Section 508.2, 508.2.4).
2022 CBC: (Fixed Seats) For areas having fixed seats, the
occupant load shall be determined by the number of fixed
seats. (CBC 1004.6)
(Door Opening Force) The opening force required for hinged
interior and exterior doors other than fire doors shall be 5
pounds maximum. (CBC 11B-404.2.9) 
(Door Lever Type) Provide lever type hardware for all doors
that are equipped with a latch or locking device, and in a path
of travel. (other than panic type). The hardware type should
be identified within the drawing plans. (CBC 11B-309.4,
11B-404.2.7) 
(Door Hardware) Door handles, pulls, latches, locks and other
operating devices on doors required to be accessible by
Chapter 11B shall not require tight grasping, tight pinching or
twisting of the wrist to operate. Where sliding doors are in the
fully open position, operating hardware shall be exposed and
usable from both sides. (CBC Section 1010.1.9.1,
11B-404.2.7) 
(Panic Hardware – A Occupancy) Provide panic hardware on
exit doors serving A- Occupancies where the occupant load
served exceeds 50. Identify all panic hardware within the door
schedule. (CBC 1010.1.10)

OCCUPANT LOAD FACTORS (SQ FT/OCC) PER SECTION 1004

ASSEMBLY W/O FIXED SEATS (TABLES AND CHAIRS) 15 NET
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS (W/O TWO DIVIDING ARMS)) 1 OCC / 18”
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS (BOOTHS): 1 OCC / 24”
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS: 1 OCC / SEAT
ASSEMBLY W/O FIXED SEATS (STANDING SPACE) 5 NET

AREAS

TABLES AND CHAIRS = 1200 SQ. FT.
BAR SEATS = 10
BOOTHS = 1188”
WAITING = 708
STAGE / DANCE FLOOR = 681 SQ. FT.

OCCUPANT LOADS

TABLES AND CHAIRS = 1200 / 15        80 OCC
BAR SEATS =                                         10 OCC
BOOTHS = 1188” / 24                            50 OCC
WAITING = 708 / 5                                 142 OCC
STAGE  = 288 / 15                                    20 OCC
DANCE FLOOR  394 / 5                           79 OCC
TOTAL                                                    381 OCC

Page 300

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-103C
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Floor Plan C

10 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

W A L L    L E G E N D

EXISTG WALLS

NEW DEMISING
WALLS

EXISTG
CMU WALLS

EXISTG
COLUMN

EXISTG
COLUMN

DOOR SCHEDULE

MARK
A
A
D
B
A
C

SIZE
W

4'-0"
5'-0"
6'-0"
3'-0"
3'-0"
2'-6"

HT
6'-8"
6'-8"
6'-8"
7'-0"
7'-0"
7'-0"

New Or Existing
Existing
Existing

New
New
New
New

Glazing Operation Type Opening Force

5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max
5 Lbs Max

Hardware

Panic hardware
Panic Hardware

Lever Hardware / Closer
Lever Hardware
Lever Hardware

U FACTOR SHGC FIRE RATING

N/A

NOTES

O C C U P A N C Y    L E G E N D

BAR OCCUPANCY      / 150 PER SQ. FT.

WAITING AREA       / 5  PER SQ. FT.

EXIT PATH OF TRAVEL
IDENTIFIED BY CONTRASTING
FLOORING

TABLES & CHAIRS  /  15  PER SQ. FT.

DANCE  FLOOR  / 5  PER SQ. FT.

STAGE  / 15  PER SQ. FT.

39
3.

39
 s

q 
ft

28
8.

00
 s

q 
ft

15
0.

27
 s

q 
ft

932.68 sq ft

18
9.

87
 s

q 
ft

16
2.

89
 s

q 
ft

D

B

B

A

A

A

C

A

A

60
"

60
" 60

"

1,
03

7.
32

 s
q 

ft

51'-3 3/4"

23
'-8

 3
/4

"

27'-7 3/4"

10
'-1

1 
3/

4"

28'-4"

13
'-4

 1
/4

"

3'
-8

"

3'-8"

3'
-8

" 3'-8"

3'
-8

 1
/4

"

3'-8"

“This door to remain unlocked
when building is occupied.”

“T
hi

s 
do

or
 to

 re
m

ai
n 

un
lo

ck
ed

w
he

n 
bu

ild
in

g 
is

 o
cc

up
ie

d.
”

MAX CAPACITY
403 OCCUPANTS SIGN

114'-0"

O
FF

IC
E

M
EN

S
R

O
O

M
W

O
M

A
N

S
R

O
O

M

JA
N

IT
O

R
S

C
LO

SE
T

BAR
COUNTER

EL
EC

. R
O

O
M

PO
R

TA
B

LE
 S

TA
G

E

WATER
FOUNTAIN

R
O

O
F

A
C

C
ES

S

D
A

N
C

E 
FL

O
O

R

LI
Q

. S
TO

R
A

G
E

W
ai

tin
g 

A
re

a

B
A

R

BAR
COUNTER

B
A

R
C

O
U

N
TE

R

28
8 

sq
. f

t.

TABLES &
CHAIRS

TA
B

LE
S 

&
C

H
A

IR
S

TA
B

LE
S 

&
C

H
A

IR
S

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"NOT A STANDING AREA"

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

"N
O

T 
A 

ST
A

N
D

IN
G

 A
R

EA
"

1

NOTE:
 (Accessory Occupancies) Accessory occupancies are
those occupancies that are ancillary to the main
occupancy of the building or portion thereof. No separation
is required between accessory occupancies and the main
occupancy. (CBC Section 508.2, 508.2.4).
2022 CBC: (Fixed Seats) For areas having fixed seats, the
occupant load shall be determined by the number of fixed
seats. (CBC 1004.6)
(Door Opening Force) The opening force required for hinged
interior and exterior doors other than fire doors shall be 5
pounds maximum. (CBC 11B-404.2.9) 
(Door Lever Type) Provide lever type hardware for all doors
that are equipped with a latch or locking device, and in a path
of travel. (other than panic type). The hardware type should
be identified within the drawing plans. (CBC 11B-309.4,
11B-404.2.7) 
(Door Hardware) Door handles, pulls, latches, locks and other
operating devices on doors required to be accessible by
Chapter 11B shall not require tight grasping, tight pinching or
twisting of the wrist to operate. Where sliding doors are in the
fully open position, operating hardware shall be exposed and
usable from both sides. (CBC Section 1010.1.9.1,
11B-404.2.7) 
(Panic Hardware – A Occupancy) Provide panic hardware on
exit doors serving A- Occupancies where the occupant load
served exceeds 50. Identify all panic hardware within the door
schedule. (CBC 1010.1.10)

OCCUPANT LOAD FACTORS (SQ FT/OCC) PER SECTION 1004

ASSEMBLY W/O FIXED SEATS (TABLES AND CHAIRS) 15 NET
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS (W/O TWO DIVIDING ARMS)) 1 OCC / 18”
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS (BOOTHS): 1 OCC / 24”
ASSEMBLY W/ FIXED SEATS: 1 OCC / SEAT
ASSEMBLY W/O FIXED SEATS (STANDING SPACE) 5 NET

AREAS

TABLES AND CHAIRS = 1286 SQ. FT.
BAR SEATS = 10
BOOTHS = 0"
WAITING = 1038
STAGE / DANCE FLOOR = 681 SQ. FT.

OCCUPANT LOADS

TABLES AND CHAIRS = 1286 / 15         86 OCC
BAR SEATS =                                         10 OCC
BOOTHS = 0” / 24                                    0 OCC
WAITING = 1038 / 5                               208 OCC
STAGE  = 288 / 15                                    20 OCC
DANCE FLOOR  394 / 5                           79 OCC
TOTAL                                                    403 OCC

Page 301

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-105
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Floor Dim

11 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

12'-0"50'-9"5'-0"18'-4"7'-0"6'-0"

12
'-7

 3
/4

"
45

'-0
"

6'
-7

"
8'

-1
"

14
'-7

 3
/4

"
4'

-1
1 

1/
4"

17
'-5

"
5'

-6
"

13
'-4

 1
/4

"
24

'-0
"

14
'-3

 3
/4

"
5'

-6
"

14
'-8

"

16'-4"14'-6"

62'-9"5'-0"6'-3 3/4"3'-0"9'-6 1/4"12'-0"

84'-11" 6'-0"15'-8"3'-6"

5'
-6

"

4'
-6

"

1'
-6

"

05/10/241

1/4" = 1'-0"

Page 302

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-106
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Reflected Ceiling Plan

12 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

H
A

R
D

 L
ID

8'
-0

" A
.F

.F
.

F.
S

.K
.

12
'-0

" A
.F

.F
.

F.
S

.K
.

12
'-0

" A
.F

.F
.

H
A

R
D

 L
ID

8'
-0

" A
.F

.F
.

H
A

R
D

 L
ID

8'
-0

" A
.F

.F
.

H
A

R
D

 L
ID

8'
-0

" A
.F

.F
.

F.
S

.K
.

12
'-0

" A
.F

.F
.

F.
S

.K
.

12
'-0

" A
.F

.F
.

F.
S

.K
.

12
'-0

" A
.F

.F
.

T-
B

A
R

8'
-0

" A
.F

.F
.

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(E
) 6

" x
 2

9"
G

.L
.B

.

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(E
) 6

" x
 2

9"
G

.L
.B

.

(E
) 6

" x
 2

9"
G

.L
.B

.

(E
) 6

" x
 2

9"
G

.L
.B

.

CELING MOUNTED LIGHT

NEW HVAC supplies and returns

NEW HVAC supplies

(N) (N)

(N)

NEW 2'X4' FLUORESCENT LIGHT(N)

NEW FAN - FLUSH MOUNTED IN
CEILING

NEW EXIT SIGN

NEW EMERGENCY EXIT LIGHTING
W/ BATTERY BACKUP

(N)

(N)

LEGEND

05/10/241

LOCAL VENTILATION RATE SUMMARY
BATHROOM FAN FLOW (EF-1) = 80 CFM

NUMBER OF NEW BATHROOMS = 2
DUCT SIZE = 4 INCHES

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE
DUCT LENGHT = 70 FT

Page 303

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-107
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Roof Plan

13 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

WP
GFI

WP
GFI

WP
GFI

WP
GFI

WP
GFI

WP
GFI

20
'-9

"

21'-10"22'-11"22'-0"22'-0"

B
at

hr
oo

m
 E

xh
au

st
 V

en
ts

B
at

hr
oo

m
 E

xh
au

st
 V

en
ts

(N
) C

O
N

D
E

N
S

AT
E

 L
IN

E
3/

4"
 T

Y
P

E
 P

V
C

  S
C

H
 4

0

S
E

C
O

N
D

A
R

Y 
D

R
A

IN
O

V
E

R
 D

O
O

R
 (N

)

S
E

C
O

N
D

A
R

Y 
D

R
A

IN
O

V
E

R
 D

O
O

R
 (N

)

S
E

C
O

N
D

A
R

Y 
D

R
A

IN
O

V
E

R
 D

O
O

R
 (N

)
S

E
C

O
N

D
A

R
Y 

D
R

A
IN

O
V

E
R

 D
O

O
R

 (N
)

S
E

C
O

N
D

A
R

Y 
D

R
A

IN
O

V
E

R
 D

O
O

R
 (N

)

S
E

C
O

N
D

A
R

Y 
D

R
A

IN
O

V
E

R
 D

O
O

R
 (N

)

(N
) C

O
N

D
E

N
S

AT
E

 L
IN

E
3/

4"
 T

Y
P

E
 P

V
C

  S
C

H
 4

0

(N
) C

O
N

D
E

N
S

AT
E

 L
IN

E
3/

4"
 T

Y
P

E
 P

V
C

  S
C

H
 4

0

(N
) C

O
N

D
E

N
S

AT
E

 L
IN

E
3/

4"
 T

Y
P

E
 P

V
C

  S
C

H
 4

0

(N
) C

O
N

D
E

N
S

AT
E

 L
IN

E
3/

4"
 T

Y
P

E
 P

V
C

  S
C

H
 4

0

ROOF ACCESS
HATCH

E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T 

S
C

R
E

E
N

E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T 

S
C

R
E

E
N

E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T 

S
C

R
E

E
N

E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T 

S
C

R
E

E
N

E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T 

S
C

R
E

E
N

E
Q

U
IP

. S
C

R
E

E
N

 G
AT

E

(N
). 

H
VA

C
(N

). 
C

U
R

B

(N
) 5

 T
O

N
 #

5

(N
). 

H
VA

C
(N

). 
C

U
R

B

(N
) 5

 T
O

N
 #

2

(N
). 

H
VA

C
(N

). 
C

U
R

B

(N
) 5

 T
O

N
 #

3

(N
). 

H
VA

C
(N

). 
C

U
R

B

(N
) 5

 T
O

N
 #

5

(N
). 

H
VA

C
(N

). 
C

U
R

B

(N
) 5

 T
O

N
 #

4

1/
4"

 P
E

R
 F

T.

S
LO

P
E

1/
4"

 P
E

R
 F

T.

S
LO

P
E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 4
'' 

D
IA

. R
O

O
F 

D
R

A
IN

 W
/

4'
' D

IA
. O

V
E

R
FL

O
W

 D
R

A
IN

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 4
'' 

D
IA

. R
O

O
F 

D
R

A
IN

 W
/

4'
' D

IA
. O

V
E

R
FL

O
W

 D
R

A
IN

(N
). 

H
VA

C
(N

). 
C

U
R

B

(N
) 3

 T
O

N
 #

6

(E
) 6

" x
 2

9"
G

.L
.B

.

(E
) 6

" x
 2

9"
G

.L
.B

.

(E
) 6

" x
 2

9"
G

.L
.B

.

(E
) 6

" x
 2

9"
G

.L
.B

.

2x
12

 @
 2

4"
 O

.C
.

 D
.F

. S
S

2x
12

 @
 2

4"
 O

.C
.

 D
.F

. S
S

2x
12

 @
 2

4"
 O

.C
.

 D
.F

. S
S

2x
12

 @
 2

4"
 O

.C
.

 D
.F

. S
S

2x
12

 @
 2

4"
 O

.C
.

 D
.F

. S
S

05/10/24

15

U
N

IT
 D

IM
EN

S
IO

N
A

L D
R

A
W

IN
G

 - U
N

IT
 S

IZES
 0

4
-0

6
 C

O
R

N
ER

 W
EIG

H
T
S
 A

N
D

 C
LEA

R
A

N
C

ES

14

U
N

IT
 D

IM
EN

S
IO

N
A

L D
R

A
W

IN
G

 - U
N

IT
 S

IZES
 0

4
-0

6
 B

A
C

K
 V

IEW
 A

N
D

 C
O

N
D

EN
S

A
T

E D
R

A
IN

 LO
C

A
T

IO
N

B
ase unit dim

ensions (cont)

AMERICAN WOOD COUNCIL

P
R

ES
C

R
IP

TIV
E D

ES
IG

N

3

303WOOD FRAME CONSTRUCTION MANUAL

Table 3.26A Rafter Spans for Common Lumber Species
 (Ceiling Not Attached to Rafters) Live Load = 20 psf, L/'LL�= 180 

LL = 20 psf  
L/∆LL = 180

2x4 2x6 2x8 2x10 2x12 2x4 2x6 2x8 2x10 2x12

Joist Spacing 
(in.)

Species Grade (ft-in.) (ft-in.) (ft-in.) (ft-in.) (ft-in.) (ft-in.) (ft-in.) (ft-in.) (ft-in.) (ft-in.)

Douglas Fir-Larch SS 11 - 6 18 - 0 23 - 9 26-0† 26-0† 11 - 6 18 - 0 23 - 9 26-0† 26-0†
Douglas Fir-Larch No.1 11 - 1 17 - 4 22 - 5 26-0† 26-0† 10 - 6 15 - 4 19 - 5 23 - 9 26-0†
Douglas Fir-Larch No.2 10 - 10 16 - 10 21 - 4 26-0† 26-0† 10 - 0 14 - 7 18 - 5 22 - 6 26-0†
Douglas Fir-Larch No.3 8 - 9 12 - 10 16 - 3 19 - 10 23 - 0 7 - 7 11 - 1 14 - 1 17 - 2 19 - 11
Hem-Fir SS 10 - 10 17 - 0 22 - 5 26-0† 26-0† 10 - 10 17 - 0 22 - 5 26-0† 26-0†
Hem-Fir No.1 10 - 7 16 - 8 22 - 0 26-0† 26-0† 10 - 4 15 - 2 19 - 2 23 - 5 26-0†
Hem-Fir No.2 10 - 1 15 - 11 20 - 8 25 - 3 26-0† 9 - 8 14 - 2 17 - 11 21 - 11 25 - 5
Hem-Fir No.3 8 - 7 12 - 6 15 - 10 19 - 5 22 - 6 7 - 5 10 - 10 13 - 9 16 - 9 19 - 6
Southern Pine SS 11 - 3 17 - 8 23 - 4 26-0† 26-0† 11 - 3 17 - 8 23 - 4 26-0† 26-0†
Southern Pine No.1 10 - 10 17 - 0 22 - 5 26-0† 26-0† 10 - 6 15 - 8 19 - 10 23 - 2 26-0†
Southern Pine No.2 10 - 4 15 - 7 19 - 8 23 - 5 26-0† 9 - 0 13 - 6 17 - 1 20 - 3 23 - 10
Southern Pine No.3 8 - 0 11 - 9 14 - 10 18 - 0 21 - 4 6 - 11 10 - 2 12 - 10 15 - 7 18 - 6
Spruce-Pine Fir SS 10 - 7 16 - 8 22 - 0 26-0† 26-0† 10 - 7 16 - 8 21 - 9 26-0† 26-0†
Spruce-Pine Fir No.1 10 - 4 16 - 3 21 - 0 25 - 8 26-0† 9 - 10 14 - 4 18 - 2 22 - 3 25 - 9
Spruce-Pine Fir No.2 10 - 4 16 - 3 21 - 0 25 - 8 26-0† 9 - 10 14 - 4 18 - 2 22 - 3 25 - 9
Spruce-Pine Fir No.3 8 - 7 12 - 6 15 - 10 19 - 5 22 - 6 7 - 5 10 - 10 13 - 9 16 - 9 19 - 6
Douglas Fir-Larch SS 10 - 5 16 - 4 21 - 7 26-0† 26-0† 10 - 5 16 - 3 20 - 7 25 - 2 26-0†
Douglas Fir-Larch No.1 10 - 0 15 - 4 19 - 5 23 - 9 26-0† 9 - 1 13 - 3 16 - 10 20 - 7 23 - 10
Douglas Fir-Larch No.2 9 - 10 14 - 7 18 - 5 22 - 6 26-0† 8 - 7 12 - 7 16 - 0 19 - 6 22 - 7
Douglas Fir-Larch No.3 7 - 7 11 - 1 14 - 1 17 - 2 19 - 11 6 - 7 9 - 8 12 - 2 14 - 11 17 - 3
Hem-Fir SS 9 - 10 15 - 6 20 - 5 26-0† 26-0† 9 - 10 15 - 6 19 - 11 24 - 4 26-0†
Hem-Fir No.1 9 - 8 15 - 2 19 - 2 23 - 5 26-0† 9 - 0 13 - 1 16 - 7 20 - 4 23 - 7
Hem-Fir No.2 9 - 2 14 - 2 17 - 11 21 - 11 25 - 5 8 - 5 12 - 3 15 - 6 19 - 0 22 - 0
Hem-Fir No.3 7 - 5 10 - 10 13 - 9 16 - 9 19 - 6 6 - 5 9 - 5 11 - 11 14 - 6 16 - 10
Southern Pine SS 10 - 3 16 - 1 21 - 2 26-0† 26-0† 10 - 3 16 - 1 21 - 2 25 - 7 26-0†
Southern Pine No.1 9 - 10 15 - 6 19 - 10 23 - 2 26-0† 9 - 1 13 - 7 17 - 2 20 - 1 23 - 10
Southern Pine No.2 9 - 0 13 - 6 17 - 1 20 - 3 23 - 10 7 - 9 11 - 8 14 - 9 17 - 6 20 - 8
Southern Pine No.3 6 - 11 10 - 2 12 - 10 15 - 7 18 - 6 6 - 0 8 - 10 11 - 2 13 - 6 16 - 0
Spruce-Pine Fir SS 9 - 8 15 - 2 19 - 11 25 - 5 26-0† 9 - 8 14 - 10 18 - 10 23 - 0 26-0†
Spruce-Pine Fir No.1 9 - 5 14 - 4 18 - 2 22 - 3 25 - 9 8 - 6 12 - 5 15 - 9 19 - 3 22 - 4
Spruce-Pine Fir No.2 9 - 5 14 - 4 18 - 2 22 - 3 25 - 9 8 - 6 12 - 5 15 - 9 19 - 3 22 - 4
Spruce-Pine Fir No.3 7 - 5 10 - 10 13 - 9 16 - 9 19 - 6 6 - 5 9 - 5 11 - 11 14 - 6 16 - 10
Douglas Fir-Larch SS 9 - 10 15 - 5 20 - 4 25 - 11 26-0† 9 - 10 14 - 10 18 - 10 23 - 0 26-0†
Douglas Fir-Larch No.1 9 - 5 14 - 0 17 - 9 21 - 8 25 - 2 8 - 4 12 - 2 15 - 4 18 - 9 21 - 9
Douglas Fir-Larch No.2 9 - 1 13 - 3 16 - 10 20 - 7 23 - 10 7 - 10 11 - 6 14 - 7 17 - 10 20 - 8
Douglas Fir-Larch No.3 6 - 11 10 - 2 12 - 10 15 - 8 18 - 3 6 - 0 8 - 9 11 - 2 13 - 7 15 - 9
Hem-Fir SS 9 - 3 14 - 7 19 - 2 24 - 6 26-0† 9 - 3 14 - 4 18 - 2 22 - 3 25 - 9
Hem-Fir No.1 9 - 1 13 - 10 17 - 6 21 - 5 24 - 10 8 - 2 12 - 0 15 - 2 18 - 6 21 - 6
Hem-Fir No.2 8 - 8 12 - 11 16 - 4 20 - 0 23 - 2 7 - 8 11 - 2 14 - 2 17 - 4 20 - 1
Hem-Fir No.3 6 - 9 9 - 11 12 - 7 15 - 4 17 - 9 5 - 10 8 - 7 10 - 10 13 - 3 15 - 5
Southern Pine SS 9 - 8 15 - 2 19 - 11 25 - 5 26-0† 9 - 8 15 - 2 19 - 7 23 - 4 26-0†
Southern Pine No.1 9 - 3 14 - 3 18 - 1 21 - 2 25 - 2 8 - 4 12 - 4 15 - 8 18 - 4 21 - 9
Southern Pine No.2 8 - 2 12 - 3 15 - 7 18 - 6 21 - 9 7 - 1 10 - 8 13 - 6 16 - 0 18 - 10
Southern Pine No.3 6 - 4 9 - 4 11 - 9 14 - 3 16 - 10 5 - 6 8 - 1 10 - 2 12 - 4 14 - 7
Spruce-Pine Fir SS 9 - 1 14 - 3 18 - 9 24 - 0 26-0† 9 - 1 13 - 7 17 - 2 21 - 0 24 - 4
Spruce-Pine Fir No.1 8 - 10 13 - 1 16 - 7 20 - 3 23 - 6 7 - 9 11 - 4 14 - 4 17 - 7 20 - 4
Spruce-Pine Fir No.2 8 - 10 13 - 1 16 - 7 20 - 3 23 - 6 7 - 9 11 - 4 14 - 4 17 - 7 20 - 4
Spruce-Pine Fir No.3 6 - 9 9 - 11 12 - 7 15 - 4 17 - 9 5 - 10 8 - 7 10 - 10 13 - 3 15 - 5
Douglas Fir-Larch SS 9 - 1 14 - 4 18 - 10 23 - 9 26-0† 9 - 1 13 - 3 16 - 10 20 - 7 23 - 10
Douglas Fir-Larch No.1 8 - 7 12 - 6 15 - 10 19 - 5 22 - 6 7 - 5 10 - 10 13 - 9 16 - 9 19 - 6
Douglas Fir-Larch No.2 8 - 2 11 - 11 15 - 1 18 - 5 21 - 4 7 - 0 10 - 4 13 - 0 15 - 11 18 - 6
Douglas Fir-Larch No.3 6 - 2 9 - 1 11 - 6 14 - 1 16 - 3 5 - 4 7 - 10 10 - 0 12 - 2 14 - 1
Hem-Fir SS 8 - 7 13 - 6 17 - 10 22 - 9 26-0† 8 - 7 12 - 10 16 - 3 19 - 10 23 - 0
Hem-Fir No.1 8 - 5 12 - 4 15 - 8 19 - 2 22 - 2 7 - 4 10 - 9 13 - 7 16 - 7 19 - 3
Hem-Fir No.2 7 - 11 11 - 7 14 - 8 17 - 10 20 - 9 6 - 10 10 - 0 12 - 8 15 - 6 17 - 11
Hem-Fir No.3 6 - 1 8 - 10 11 - 3 13 - 8 15 - 11 5 - 3 7 - 8 9 - 9 11 - 10 13 - 9
Southern Pine SS 8 - 11 14 - 1 18 - 6 23 - 8 26-0† 8 - 11 13 - 10 17 - 6 20 - 10 24 - 8
Southern Pine No.1 8 - 7 12 - 9 16 - 2 18 - 11 22 - 6 7 - 5 11 - 1 14 - 0 16 - 5 19 - 6
Southern Pine No.2 7 - 4 11 - 0 13 - 11 16 - 6 19 - 6 6 - 4 9 - 6 12 - 1 14 - 4 16 - 10
Southern Pine No.3 5 - 8 8 - 4 10 - 6 12 - 9 15 - 1 4 - 11 7 - 3 9 - 1 11 - 0 13 - 1
Spruce-Pine Fir SS 8 - 5 13 - 3 17 - 5 21 - 8 25 - 2 8 - 4 12 - 2 15 - 4 18 - 9 21 - 9
Spruce-Pine Fir No.1 8 - 0 11 - 9 14 - 10 18 - 2 21 - 0 6 - 11 10 - 2 12 - 10 15 - 8 18 - 3
Spruce-Pine Fir No.2 8 - 0 11 - 9 14 - 10 18 - 2 21 - 0 6 - 11 10 - 2 12 - 10 15 - 8 18 - 3
Spruce-Pine Fir No.3 6 - 1 8 - 10 11 - 3 13 - 8 15 - 11 5 - 3 7 - 8 9 - 9 11 - 10 13 - 9

†

12

16

19.2

See footnotes 1-3.

Dead Load = 20 psfDead Load = 10 psf

Spans are limited to 26 feet in length.

24

Maximum Rafter Spans1,2,3

Copyright © American Wood Council. Downloaded/printed pursuant to License Agreement. No reproduction or transfer authorized.

HANDRAIL/GUARD RAIL-ONE & TWO FAMILY

1"1" 1 1/2"

BB

C
C

1"1" 1 1/2"

10
"

MI
N.

EQ.TYP.

STRINGER
PER DET
6/SD3

4x4 MIN.(D.F.#2)
NEWEL POST

PLYWOOD
TREADS

1/4"ø x5"
LAG SCREWS

BB

C
CNEWEL POST AT STRINGER

1/4"ø x5"
LAG SCREWS

PLAN VIEW B-B

INFILL BLK'G BETWEEN
NEWEL POSTS

3 1/4"
MIN.2 1

/2"
MI

N.
1 1

/2"
MI

N.

EQ
.

TY
P.

6" MI
N.

(3)10d
NAILS

(2)2x4
FLAT
BLOCKING

1/4"ø x5"
LAG SCREWS

SECTION C-C

(2) H2.5A
PERIMETER

4x4 MIN.(D.F.#2)
NEWEL POST

INFILL BLK'G
BETWEEN
NEWEL POSTS

4x4 MIN.(D.F.#2)
NEWEL POST

PERIMETER BEAM/RIM
JOIST PER PLAN

FLR. JOIST
w/ B.N. ALONG
JOIST LENGTH

4x4 w/(9)16d NAILS
@ T&B OF FLOOR JOIST

(2)2x STUDS
/4x4 POST @
4'-0"o.c. MAX.

1"  M
IN

.
1"  M
IN

.

4x4 BLK'G
@ 4'-0"o.c.
MAX.w/(6)
16d NAILSAT
EA END

ø7/16" x4"
LONG LAG
SCREW WITH
WASHER @
48"o.c. MAX.

HANDRAIL
BRACKET
PER
MANUF.

BALUSTER PER ARCH'L'S
DETAIL CONN. BY OTHERS

42
" M

AX
.

AA

CS18 WRAP & 4x4 ADD-ON
w/(2) ROWS OF 10d NAILS
@ 2 1/16"o.c. MIN. 16" END
LENGTH

4x4 w/(9)
16d NAILS
@ T&B
OF FLOOR
JOIST

FLR. JOIST w/
B.N. ALONG
JOIST LENGTH

3/4
"

  T
YP

.

11/16"
 MIN.

11/16"
 MIN.

26" MIN.

16"

PERIMETER BEAM
/RIM JOIST PER PLAN

INFILL
BLK'G
BETWEEN
NEWEL
POSTS

A35 BOTH FACES
OF NEWEL POST
TO PERIMETER BM.

(2)H2.5A
T&B
NEWEL
POST
TO BM.

ALTERATIVE
CONDITION

(2)2x PL
w/(2) ROWS
OF 10d
NAILS @
12"o.c.STAGG.

(2)16d T.N.
EA. SIDE OF
(2) STUDS T&B

(2)2x TUDS/
4x4 POST
@ 4'-0"o.c.
MAX.

(2)16d T.N.
EA. SIDE
OF (2)
STUDS T&B
(2)16d S.N.
EA. SIDE
OF (2) STUDS
(4) TOTAL

(2)ST18 BOTH
EDGES OF
STUDS/4x4
(4) TOTAL.
NAILS ALL
HOLES w/
16d NAILS

2x ADD-ON
w/(2) ROWS
OF 10d F.N.
@ 8"o.c. TO
FLOOR JOIST
ADJ. TO
(2)2x4 STUDS

4x NOMINAL
(MIN.) FULL
DEPTH LP.M.
ALT. (2) RIM
JOISTS
w/ PLYWOOD
SHIM
IN BETWEEN

SECTION A-A

SHEAR TRANSFER DETAIL

ROOF SHEATHING
PER PLAN

CANTILEVER
TRUSS PER PLAN

SHEAR PANEL
TYPE 1 (U.N.O.).

2x BLOCKING
W/E.N.

E.N.

PARAPET
BY TRUSS

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

DBL TOP PLATES

2x PLATE W/ 16d's @ 6" O.C.
WHERE HDR OCCURS

SEE PLAN
(MIN.TYPE 1)

E.N.

HDR PER PLAN
(WHERE OCCURS)

SHEAR BLOCKS BY TRUSS
ENGINEER (MATCH CAPACITY OF
SHEAR PANEL BELOW) (MIN 260 PLF)

SIMPSON
A35 PER
SHEAR WALL
SCHEDULE
(MAX 24" O/C)

SIMPSON H1 (U.N.O.)

E.N.

2x FLAT BLK'G

E.N.

TYPE 1
(U.N.O.)

E.N.

2x FLAT BLOCKING

16d'S @
6" O/C

PARAPET
(SEE DETAIL 13/SD2)

TYPE 1
(U.N.O.)

E.N.

DBL TOP PLATES

2x STUD WALL

16d'S @
6" O/C

ROOF SCREEN CONNECTION DETAIL

9x5x1/4" THK
BASE PLATE

ROOF TRUSS

(2) 3/4" Ø BOLT
W/ WASHERS &
NUTS AS SHOWN

CONT. ROOF
SHEATHING

SIMPSON A35 EACH SIDE
OF BLOCK (TYP.)

4X8 FLAT BLOCKING W/E.N.
INLINE W/ ROOF SCREEN SUPPORTS
[MIN. 8FT]{SHOULD EXTEND
ONE BAY PAST SUPPORT}

SIMSPON CS14 STRAP OVER
ENTIRE LENGTH OF BLOCKING

ROOF TRUSS
(2) 3/4" Ø BOLT
W/ WASHERS &
NUTS AS SHOWN
[TYPICAL]

CONT. ROOF
SHEATHING

SIMPSON A35 EACH SIDE
OF BLOCK (TYP.)

4x8 FLAT BLOCKING UNDER
VERTICAL SUPPORT & DIAGONAL
BRACE SUPPORT[48" O/C TYPICAL]
{TO RECEIVE (4) 16d's @ EA END FROM TRUSS]

PARALLEL CONDITION

PERPENDICULAR CONDITION

(2) 3/4" Ø BOLT
W/ WASHERS &
NUTS AS SHOWN
[TYPICAL]

3/16

3/16" END CAP

3/16

HSS 2x2x3/16" ROOF SCREEN
DIAGONAL BRACE @ 96" O/C

9x5x1/4" THK
BASE PLATE

9x5x1/4" THK
BASE PLATE

CONT. HSS 2x2x3/16" ROOF SCREEN
HORIZONTAL ELEMENT{TOP & BOTTOM}

3/16

3/16

3/16

3/16

HSS 2x2x3/16" ROOF SCREEN
VERTICAL ELEMENT @ 48" O/C

ROOF SCREEN (BY OTHERS)
[CONNECTION TO FRAME BY
OTHERS]

45°

45°

6"

6"

36"

MIN. 12"

MAX 24"

3/16" END CAP

3/16

HSS 2x2x3/16" ROOF SCREEN
DIAGONAL BRACE @ 96" O/C

CONT. HSS 2x2x3/16" ROOF SCREEN
HORIZONTAL ELEMENT{TOP & BOTTOM}3/16

3/16

3/16

HSS 2x2x3/16" ROOF SCREEN
VERTICAL ELEMENT @ 48" O/C

ROOF SCREEN (BY OTHERS)
[CONNECTION TO FRAME BY
OTHERS] 9x5x1/4" THK

BASE PLATE

(4) 16d's @ EACH
END OF BLOCK
[TYPICAL]

NOTE:
-TRUSS DESIGNER TO CONSIDER 1200 LBS AXIAL WIND LOAD (UP & DOWN) AT BRACE SUPPORT CONNECTION
-TRUSS DESIGNER TO CONSIDER 75 PLF DEAD LOAD FOR VERTICAL SUPPORT CONNECTION

SHEAR TRANSFER

DBL TOP PLATES
OR BM PER PLAN

ROOF/ FLOOR TRUSS
PER PLAN

ROOF/FLOOR
SHEATHING

E.N. E.N.

2x6 PLATE W/ 16d's
PER SHEAR WALL
SCHEDULE
(MAX @ 4" O/C)

2x WALL PER PLAN

SEE PLAN [MIN TYPE 1]

E.N.

SEE PLAN

SHEAR TRUSS
PER PLAN
(MIN. 200 PLF)[U.N.O.]

SIMPSON A35 PER
SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE
(MAX 24" O/C)

ADD LATERAL BRACING
PER DETAIL 2/SD2

2x WALL PER PLAN

SHEAR TRANSFER

FLOOR TRUSS
PER PLAN

CONT. FLOOR
SHEATHING

CL'G BM PER PLAN

MAX 48"

SIMPSON A35
PER TABLE

2x MEMBER,IF TALLER THAN 12"
THEN CAN USE SHEAR TRUSS MIN.200 PLF

E.N.

SHEAR BLOCKING
W/ E.N. @ 48" O.C.

SHEAR WALL PER PLAN
(WHERE OCCURS)

A35 @ 24" O.C.
B
A

C
A35 @ 12" O.C.

HGA10KT @ 8" O.C.

2x SILL PLATE W/ 16d'S PER SHEAR
WALL SCHEDULE (MAX. 6" O/C)

STAIR DETAILS

STRINGERS

MAX.
SPAN

14'-0"

12'-0"

10'-0"
8'-0" 2x14 @ 12" O/C

2x16 @ 12" O/C

1 3/4" x 16" MICROLAM
PE

R
AR

CH
'LPER

ARCH'L
2x4 P.T. PLATE (SEE
SN-1) ANCHORED WITH
SIMP. PHNW-72 SHOT
PINS 0.145ø w/ 3/4" MIN.
EMBED INTO CONC
@ 24"o.c. MAX. SECURE
STRINGER TO 2x4 PLATE
w/(3)16d TOE NAILS

PRESSURE TREATED
PLYWOOD SHIM w/ MIN.
(2)SIMP. PHNW-72 SHOT
PINS 0.145ø w/ 3/4" MIN.
EMBED INTO CONCRETE.
22GA SHEET METAL OR
WATER PROOF MEMBRANT
CAN  BE USED AS AN ALTERNATE

PLYWOOD TREADS &
RISERS (MIN. 3/4")

PLYWOOD
SUBFLOOR

DBL. JOIST
OR BLOCKING

CONT. 2x PLATE
w/ 16d @ 8"o.c.

SEE TABLE. SPANS
ARE HORIZONTAL
PROJECTION LENGTH.
(ALT. LSL STRINGERS
OF THE SAME SIZES w/
Fb=1700psi (MIN.),
Fv=400psi (MIN.), &
E=1.3x10 psi (MIN.)
CAN BE USED

PLYWOOD TREADS
& RISERS (MIN. 3/4")

SIMPSON THA213, ALT.
(1)A35 EA. SIDE UP TO
MAX. 12'-0" SPAN*. USE
THA218/THA218-2
FOR 2x16/(2)2x16

2x6 LEDGER w/
(4)16d PER STUD
@ WALL CONDITION

APPROVED METAL
HANGERS OR
(1)A35 EACH SIDE

SEE TABLE. SPANS ARE HORIZONTAL
PROJECTION LENGTH. (ALT. LSL
STRINGERS OF THE SAME SIZES w/
Fb=1700psi (MIN.),Fv=400psi (MIN.),&
E=1.3x10  psi (MIN.) CAN BE USED

DOUBLE JOIST
OR HEADER

5 1/4" MIN. FOR 2x12,
7 1/4" MIN. FOR 2x14
& 9 1/4" FOR 2x16 @
NOTCH NO OVERCUT

@ 16" O/C

1 3/4" x 16" MICROLAM
@ 12" O/C

SHEAR PANEL
PER PLAN

4x6 POST
MIN. AS SHOWN

ALT. LOCATION
OF SHEAR PANEL

PLAN VIEW
"D""B"

"A" "C"

2x4 STUD

SHEAR PANEL
PER PLAN

16d @ 3"o.c.
STAGGERRED
1/4"ø x4"
SDS @ 4"o.c.
FOR TYPE 5

B.N.

B.N.

CONNECTION DETAILS

EN
D

LE
NG

TH
.

EN
D

LE
NG

TH
.

EN
D

LE
NG

TH
.

MIN. 11 1/4" DEEP BM.
OR  HEADER. SEE PLAN.

MIN. 11 1/4" DEEP BM. OR  HEADER. SEE
PLAN.

STUD, POST OR TRIMMER PER TABLE BELOW. DBL.
STUDS &  STRAPS @ CONDITION "B"&"C" PROVIDE
EDGE NAILING OF  SHEAR PANEL ALONG ALL STUDS.

REFER TO PLANS & TABLE  BELOW FOR
STRAP, # OF NAILS & END LENGTH AT
EA. END. (2) ROWS OF NAILS EA. STRAP.

DOUBLE TOP PLATE.

PROVIDE MIN. END DISTANCE
OF 1 5/8" FOR 16d NAILS.

SOLID RIM OR BLKG. SAME WIDTH AS POST
ABV. & BLW. @ LOCATION OF STRAP. WHEN
W/FLOOR. TRUSS,   PROVIDE WEB FILLERS AS
NEEDED TO RECEIVE NAILING  FROM STRAP.

SEE PLAN FOR
SHEAR WALL.

FLOOR SHTG. SEE PLAN.

STUD, POST OR TRIMMER PER TABLE
BELOW. DBL. STUDS & STRAPS @
CONDITION "B"&"C" PROVIDE EDGE NAILING
OF SHEAR PANEL ALONG ALL STUDS.

REFER TO PLANS & TABLE  BELOW FOR
STRAP, # OF NAILS & END LENGTH AT
EA. END. (2) ROWS OF NAILS EA. STRAP.

LINE OF BLKG. UNDER SHEAR WALL.

EN
D 

LE
NG

TH
.

CL
EA

R
SP

AN

2X SILL PLATE.

SOLID BLKG. UNDER POST OR STUDS
ABOVE.

DOUBLE TOP PLATE.

CRIPPLE WALL ABOVE HDR.
WHERE OCCURS.

STUD, POST OR TRIMMER PER TABLE
BELOW.
DBL. STUDS &  STRAPS @ CONDITION
"B"&"C"
PROVIDE EDGE NAILING OF  SHEAR PANEL
ALONG ALL STUDS.
REFER TO PLANS & TABLE  BELOW FOR
STRAP, # OF NAILS & END LENGTH AT  EA.
END. (2) ROWS OF NAILS EA. STRAP.

LINE OF BLKG. UNDER
SHEAR WALL.

FLOOR SHTG. SEE PLAN.

2X SILL PLATE.

STUD, POST OR TRIMMER PER TABLE BELOW. DBL.
STUDS &  STRAPS @ CONDITION "B"&"C" PROVIDE
EDGE NAILING OF  SHEAR PANEL ALONG ALL STUDS.

EN
D

LE
NG

TH
.

NOTES:
  1. ALL STRAPS ARE SIMPSON  STRONG TIES.
  2. TOTAL LENGTH OF STRAP TO BE DETERMINED @ THE SITE BASED ON END LENGTH REQUIRED & CLEAR SPAN.
  3. ALL NAILS ARE SINKER  OR BOX NAILS.
  4. SLIT CUT FLOOR SHEATHING  TO RUN STRAP THROUGH @  INTERIOR CONDITION NO  OVERCUT.
  5. LOCATE STRAP OVER PLWD. SHEAR PANEL & PROVIDE  SHIM AN NECESSARY TO  AVOID BENDING OF THE STRAP
  6. STRAP BENT LENGTH UNDERNEATH BEAM DOES NOT COUNT TOWARDS END LENGTH

HOLDOWN CONNECTION DETAIL

* CMST14 & CMST12 ARE ONLY APPLICABLE AT POST TO POST CONNECTION.
** AS AN ALT. TO B & C, USE D FOR  POST TO POST CONDITION ONLY.

STRAP

(1)CS16
(2)CS16 **
(2)CS14 **
(3)CS14
CMST14
CMST12
(2)CMST14
(2)CMST12

A
B
C
C*
D
E
F
G

STUD/ POST

2X4
(2)2X4
(2)2X4

4X6
4X4
4X6
4X8
6X8

# OF NAILS @  EA. END LENGTH

(11)16d
(11)16d P/STRAP
(15)16d P/STRAP

(40)16d
(15)16d P/STRAP

(52)16d
(40)16d P/STRAP
(52)16d P/STRAP

CAPACITY

1700#
3400#
4980#
7470#
6490#
9200#
12980#
18400#

END LENGTH

13"
13"
18"
18"
38"
48"
38"
48"

(4)CS16 (2 EA.SIDE OF POST)H
J

6X6
6X6

(11)16d P/STRAP
(15)16d P/STRAP

6800# 13"
9960# 18"(4)CS14 (2 EA.SIDE OF POST)

EN
D

LE
NG

TH
.

WRAP STRAP
AS REQUIRED

EN
D 

LE
NG

TH
.

EN
D

LE
NG

TH
.

SHEAR TRANSFER DETAIL

ROOF SHEATHING
PER PLAN

CANTILEVER
TRUSS PER PLAN

SHEAR PANEL
TYPE 1 (U.N.O.).

2x BLOCKING W/E.N.

E.N.

PARAPET BY TRUSS

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

DBL TOP PLATES

2x PLATE W/ 16d's @ 6" O.C.
WHERE HDR OCCURS

SEE PLAN (MIN.TYPE 1)

E.N.

HDR PER PLAN (WHERE
OCCURS)

SHEAR BLOCKS BY TRUSS
ENGINEER (MATCH CAPACITY OF
SHEAR PANEL BELOW) (MIN 260 PLF)

SIMPSON A35 PER
SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE
(MAX 24" O/C)

SIMPSON H1 (U.N.O.)

E.N.

2x FLAT BLK'G

E.N.

TYPE 1
(U.N.O.)

E.N.

2x FLAT BLOCKING

16d'S @
6" O/C

PARAPET
(SEE DETAIL 13/SD2)

SHEAR TRANSFER DETAIL

CONT. FLOOR
SHEATHING
PER PLAN

CANTILEVER
TRUSS PER PLAN

2x FLAT BLOCKING

E.N.

E.N.

DBL TOP PLATES

2x PLATE W/ 16d's @ 6" O.C.
WHERE HDR OCCURS

SEE PLAN

E.N.

HDR PER PLAN (WHERE
OCCURS)

SHEAR BLOCKS BY TRUSS
ENGINEER (MATCH CAPACITY OF
SHEAR PANEL BELOW) (MIN 260 PLF)

SIMPSON A35 PER
SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE
(MAX 24" O/C)

SIMPSON H1 (U.N.O.)

E.N.

2x FLAT BLK'G

2x WALL

E.N.

16d'S @
6" O/C

PER PLAN

2x SILL PLATE W/ 16d'S PER SHEAR
WALL SCHEDULE (MAX. 6" O/C)

TYPE 1

ALT. CONDITION

CONT. FLOOR
SHEATHING
PER PLAN

2x FLAT BLOCKING

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

SHEAR BLOCKS BY TRUSS
ENGINEER (MATCH CAPACITY OF
SHEAR PANEL BELOW) (MIN 260 PLF)

E.N.

2x FLAT BLK'G

2x
WALL

E.N.

16d'S @
6" O/C

PER PLAN
2x SILL PLATE W/ 16d'S PER SHEAR
WALL SCHEDULE (MAX. 6" O/C)

TYPE 1

E.N.

TYPE 1
(U.N.O.)

2x STUDS

CANTILEVER
TRUSS PER PLAN

DBL TOP PLATES

2x PLATE W/ 16d's @ 6" O.C.
WHERE HDR OCCURS

SEE PLAN
(MIN.TYPE 1)

HDR PER PLAN
(WHERE OCCURS)

SIMPSON H1 (U.N.O.)

E.N.

16d'S @ 6" O/C

DBL TOP PLATES

TYPE 1

2x STUDS

SHEAR TRANSFER DETAIL

PER PLAN

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

DBL TOP PLATES

2x STUD WALL

CONT. ROOF
SHEATHING

SIMPSON A35 PER
SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE
(MAX. 24" O/C)

2x DIAGONAL BRACE
(SEE DETAIL 2/SD2)

2x FLAT STRONG BACK
(SEE DETAIL 2/SD2)

ROOF TRUSS

TYPE 1

PARAPET
SEE DETAIL
13/SD2

TYPE 1

END TRUSS SHEAR TRUSS PER PLAN
W/ E.N. (MAX. 200 PLF)

SIMPSON CS16 STRAP
OVER ENTIRE LENGTH
OF BLOCKING

3 BAYS, 2x BLOCKING
W/ E.N.

NOTE: SEE DETAIL 2/SD2 FOR MORE INFORMATION.

ALT

PER PLAN

DBL TOP PLATES

2x STUD WALL

CONT. ROOF
SHEATHING

SIMPSON A35 PER
SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE
(MAX 24" O/C)

2x FLAT STRONG BACK
(SEE DETAIL 2/1D2)

ROOF TRUSS
SHEAR TRUSS
PER PLAN W/ E.N.
(MAX. 200 PLF)

SIMPSON CS16
STRAP OVER ENTIRE
LENGTH OF BUILDING

3 BAYS, 2x BLOCKING
W/ E.N.

DBL TOP PLATES

TYPE 1

2x STUD WALL

2x DIAGONAL BRACE
(SEE DETAIL 2/1D2)

E.N.

E.N. E.N.

TYPE 1

PARAPET
SEE DETAIL
13/SD2

TYPE 1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

P
R

O
JE

C
T

 N
A

M
E
:

DESCRIPTIONDATENO.

REVISIONS

RA

1
3
5
0
0
 L

IT
T

L
E
 M

O
R

O
N

G
O

,
D

E
SE

R
T

 H
O

T
 S

P
R

IN
G

S,
 C

A

DESIGNED:                            REZA ASGHARPOUR

 DRAWING:                                                     D.B.

DATE:                                                     06/19/2023

PROJECT #:                                                    23019

SCALE:                                                            

DESIGNER:                         AMIR CIVIL ENGINEERS

DRAWING TITLE:

SEAL:

SHEET:

A.B.     ANCHOR BOLT

ABV.    ABOVE

BAR.    REINF. BAR

BK'G.           BLOCKING

BLW.    BELOW

BM.     BEAM

B.N.              BOUNDARY NAIL

B.O.B            BOTTOM OF BEAM

B.O.T            BOTTOM OF TRUSS

B.W.              BOTH WAYS

CF.       CONTINUOUS FOOTING

CJ.       CEILING JOIST

COL.    COLUMN

CONC.   CONCRETE

CONT.   CONTINUOUS

D.      DEPTH

DBL.    DOUBLE

D.F.     DOUGLAS FIR

DIA.     DIAMETER

(E)     EXISTING

E.W.   EACH WAY

E.J.   EXPANSION JOINT

E.N.   EDGE NAIL

F.G.              FINISH GRADE

F.H.              FULL HEIGHT

F.J.    FLOOR JOIST

FL.    FLUSH

FMG.   FRAMING

F.N.   FIELD NAIL

F.O.C.   FACE OF CONCRETE

F.O.S.   FACE OF STUDS

FTG.   FOOTING

GALV.   GALVANIZED

GLB.  GLUE-LAMINATED BEAM

GR.BM. GRADE BEAM

H.  HIGH

HDR.    HEADER

HFX              HARDY FRAME

HGT.    HEIGHT

HORIZ.  HORIZONTAL

K.P.              KING POST

L.                  LOW

LG.     LENGTH

LT.WT.  LIGHT WEIGHT

L.V.L.  LAMINATED VENEER LUMBER

MAS.    MASONRY

M.B.     MACHINE BOLT

MLB.   MICRO=LAM BEAM

(N)     NEW

N.G.   NATURAL GRADE

O/C   ON CENTER

PLWD.   PLYWOOD

P.T.    PRESSURE TREATED

REINF.  REINFORCING

REQ'D   REQUIRED

RF.    ROOF

RR.   ROOF RAFTER

T.O.B.           TOP OF BEAM

V.I.F.             VERIFY IN FIELD

FRAMING DETAILS

SD-3

NTS

SHEAR TRANSFER

DBL TOP PLATESTRUSS
PER PLAN

FLOOR/ROOF
SHEATHING

2x BLOCKING
W/ E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

E.N.

2x PLATE
W/ 16d's PER SHEAR WALL
SCHEDULE (MAX. 6" O/C)

2x  @ 16" O/C

SEE PLAN

E.N.

SEE PLAN

SHEAR PANEL
PER PLAN
(MIN. TYPE 1, (U.N.O))SIMPSON H1

(U.N.O.)

2x BLOCKING
W/ 16d's PER SHEAR WALL
SCHEDULE (MAX. 6" O/C)

PLATFORM SHALL BE LEVEL.
TO COMPENSATE FOR ROOF SLOPE.

NOTE: INSTALL SHIMS UNDER EQUIPMENT PLATFORM

AC UNIT(PER ARCHITECT/MECHANICAL)

SPRING MOUNT
VIBRATION ISOLATORS

BUILT-UP
ROOFING

20 GA. GALVANIZED SM.
CAP BY SM. CONTRACTOR

(SOLDER CORNER)

3/4" EXT. GR.
PLYWOOD

4x6 PLATFORM
BY OTHERS

LENGTH

CONNECTION  BY OTHERS

ROOF TRUSS
BY MANUFACTURE

3/8" x 9" LONG, LAG SCREW
@ 24" O.C. (MIN. 2)

ROOF MOUNTED HVAC DETAIL

(2) 1/4" DIAM.
x8" SDS
SCREWS @
EACH
CONNECTION
[TYPICAL]

ROOF
SHEATHING

4x4 MEMBER
OVER TRUSSES
[MIN. OF 4]

HU HANGER
[TYPICAL]

4x4 BLOCKING
[TYPICAL]

15

SHEAR TRANSFER DETAIL

E.N.

FLOOR TRUSS

SHEAR TRUSS PER PLAN
(MIN. 200 PLF)FLOOR TRUSS 4x6 UNDER

WALL ABOVE

E.N.

16d'S PER SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE
(MATCH SPACING OF S.W. TYPE
ABOVE) [MAX. 4" O/C]

CONT. FLOOR
SHEATHING

PER PLAN

2x SILL W/ 16d'S PER SHEAR
WALL SCHEDULE (MAX. 4" O/C)

2x STUD WALL

SHEAR TRANSFER DETAIL

E.N.

FLOOR TRUSS

SHEAR TRUSS PER PLAN
(MIN. 200 PLF)FLOOR TRUSS

4x6 UNDER WALL ABOVE

E.N.

16d'S PER SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE
(MATCH SPACING OF S.W. TYPE
ABOVE) [MAX. 4" O/C]

CONT. FLOOR
SHEATHING

PER PLAN

2x SILL W/ 16d'S PER SHEAR
WALL SCHEDULE (MAX. 4" O/C)

2x STUD WALL

E.N.

DBL TOP PLATES

2x STUD WALL

PER PLAN

SIMPSON A35 PER SHEAR WALL SCHEDULE
(MATCH SPACING OF S.W. TYPE BELOW)
[MAX. 16" O/C]

2x DIAGONAL BRACE
(SEE DETAIL 2/SD2)

*THIS IS ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE

1

1

1

1 Roof Screen
A-106

1

A-106
1

1/4" = 1'-0"

A = 7'-0"
B = 5'-6"

38.5 SQ. FT. AT
HVAC FOOTPRINT

770# ALLOWABLE
DEAD LOAD AT HVAC
AREA

HVAC CURB

Page 304

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-108
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Accessibility Details

14 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

33
"-

36
"

17
"-

19
"

19
" M

IN
.

7"-9"

42" MIN
12"

40
" M

A
X

36" MIN.

12" 24"

54" MIN.

ALL DISPENSERS
40" MAX TO HIGHEST

OPERABLE PART

REAR GRAB BAR ALLOWED
36" A.F.F. AT TANK-TYPE TOILET

MAX

GRAB BAR

MIN. MIN.
CL

CL

REAR WALL ELEVATION

SIDE WALL ELEVATION

33
"-

36
"

CL

12
"

1/4"

58"-60"

The color of the triangle
symbol shall contrast with
the color of the circle
symbol, either light on a
dark background or dark
on a light background.
The color of the circle
symbol shall contrast with
the color of the door or
surface on which the
combined circle and
triangle symbol is
mounted, either light on a
dark background or dark
on a light background

Geometric symbols at
entrances to toilet and
bathing rooms shall be
mounted at 58 inches
(1473 mm) minimum
and 60 inches (1524
mm) maximum above
the finish floor or ground
surface measured from
the centerline of the
symbol. Where a door is
provided the symbol
shall be mounted within
1 inch (25 mm) of the
vertical centerline of the
door.

34
" M

A
X

9"
 M

IN
.

27
" M

IN
.

29
" M

IN
.

40
" M

A
X

17"

6" MAX
8" MIN.

18
"

17" MIN.

30
" M

IN
.

48" MIN.

19" MAX

KNEE CLEARANCE

TOE CLEARANCE

BOTTOM OF MIRROR

MIN.

CL

CLEAR
FLOOR
SPACE

PIPE PROTECTION
COVER

7/27/21, 11:40 AM11B-306.2 Toe Clearance

Page 1 of 1https://up.codes/viewer_export/juris_key/california/pub/int_building_code_2018/ref/new_11B-306.2

11B-306.2 Toe Clearance

FIGURE 11B-306.2
TOE CLEARANCE

11B-306.2.1 General
Space under an element between the finish floor or ground and 9 inches (229 mm) above the finish floor or ground
shall be considered toe clearance and shall comply with Section 11B-306.2.

11B-306.2.2 Maximum Depth
Toe clearance shall extend 25 inches (635 mm) maximum under an element.

Exception: Toe clearance shall extend 19 inches (483 mm) maximum under lavatories required to be
accessible by Section 11B-213.3.4.

11B-306.2.3 Minimum Required Depth
Where toe clearance is required at an element as part of a clear floor space, the toe clearance shall extend 17 inches
(432 mm) minimum under the element.

Exceptions:

1. The toe clearance shall extend 19 inches (483 mm) minimum under sinks required to be
accessible by Section 11B-212.3.

2. The toe clearance shall extend 19 inches (483 mm) minimum under built-in dining and work
surfaces required to be accessible.

11B-306.2.4 Additional Clearance
Space extending greater than 6 inches (152 mm) beyond the available knee clearance at 9 inches (229 mm) above
the finish floor or ground shall not be considered toe clearance.

11B-306.2.5 Width
Toe clearance shall be 30 inches (762 mm) wide minimum.

SIGNS 
 

_____________________________________________________________ 
    308            The CalDAG™ - California Disabled Accessibility Guidebook                  ©2019 Michael P. Gibbens 

INTERNATIONAL SYMBOL OF ACCESSIBILITY 
 

 J. The International Symbol of Accessibility consists of a white figure on a blue background.  The 
blue shall be equal to Color No. 15090 in Federal Standard 595C.     11B-216.8, 11B-703.7.2.1    
216.8, 703.7.2.1    

 
EXCEPTION  The appropriate enforcement agency may approve other colors to 
compliment decor or unique design.  The symbol contrast shall be light on dark or dark 
on light. 11B-703.7.2.1    

 

DESIGNATIONS   
Interior and exterior signs identifying permanent rooms and spaces shall comply with the Section 30 
requirements for SIGNS, RAISED CHARACTERS, BRAILLE and VISUAL CHARACTERS. Where 
pictograms are provided as designations of permanent rooms and spaces, the pictograms shall comply 
and shall have text descriptions with compliant RAISED AND VISUAL CHARACTERS.  11B-216.2    
216.2        Fig. CD-30GA 

 

EXCEPTION   Exterior signs that are not located at the door to the space they serve 
shall not be required to have compliant Raised Characters. 

 

5/8 MIN

UPPERCASE
CHARACTERS

1st FLOOR

    1/32 

CORRESPONDING
GRADE II BRAILLE

MEN

58 - 60 

ACCESSIBLE
RESTROOMS

WALL-SIGNAGE (TYP.)

DOOR MOUNTED SIGNAGE (TYP.)
NOTE: PICTOGRAMS AND/OR LETTERING ARE NOT
REQUIRED ON DOOR-MOUNTED SIGNAGE.

12 12 

MEN WOMEN RESTROOMSUNISEX

DOOR-MOUNTED
SIGNAGE

2 MAX

RAISED
LETTERING

 
Fig, CD-30GA  

Toilet and Bathing Facility Signs 

Copyright © 2019 Michael P. Gibbens.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. Accessed by Bob Sipovac (Bob@sipovac.com), (-) Order Number #101333550 on Jul 26, 2022 10:52 AM (PDT) pursuant to License Agreement with
Michael P. Gibbens.  No further reproduction, no

101333550

A

17
"-

18
"

18
"

24"

60
" M

IN 48" MIN.

18
"

32
" M

IN
.

12"

54" MIN.

M
IN

.
M

IN
.

M
IN

.

C
LE

A
R

C L
C L

60" M
IN.

DIA. CLEAR

MAX

1'-0"

05/10/241

1 1/2"

WALL

1 1/4" TO 1 1/2"
NOMINAL

DIAMETER

32" CLEAR

32" CLEAR

36" MIN.

32" MIN.

36" MIN.

90°

90°

STOPSINGLE DOOR

DOUBLE DOOR

PASSAGE CLEARANCE

CLEAR OPENINGS MUST BE BETWEEN
THE DOOR IN ITS 90° OPENING
AND THE FACE OF THE STOP

CLEAR OPENINGS FOR TWO LEAF
DOORS MUST BE BETWEEN EITHER
DOOR IN ITS 90° OPEN POSITION
AND THE OTHER DOOR

AN ADULT SIZE WHEELCHAIR AVERAGES 27" IN WIDTH.
THE REQUIRED 32" OPENING ALLOWS 2 1/2" ON EACH SIDE

48" MIN.

48
"

15
" M

IN
.

48"

30
" M

IN
.

X

Y

Z

48" MIN.

48"

30
" M

IN
.

54
" M

A
X

9"
 M

IN
.

10"
30"

24" 30"

2'
-1

0"

46
" M

A
X

10"
30"

48
"

NOTE:
X SHALL BE ≤ 25" : Z SHALL BE ≥ X
WHEN X < 20" THEN  Y SHALL BE 48" MAX
WHEN 20" ≤ X ≤ 25" THEN Y SHALL BE 44" MAX

MAX

MAX

HIGH FORWARD REACH LIMIT

MAXIMUM FORWARD REACH OVER AN OBSTRUCTION

HIGH & LOW SIDE
REACH LIMITS

MAXIMUM SIDE REACH
OVER OBSTRUCTION

MAX

CLEAR FLOOR SPACE
PARALLEL APPROACH

60
" M

IN
.

18"

24"

12"

48
" M

IN
.

54" MIN.

36" MIN. 60
: M

IN
.

44
" M

IN
.

44
" M

IN
.

60
" M

IN
.

24"

PROVIDE THIS ADDITIONAL
SPACE IF DOOR IS EQUIPPED
WITH BOTH A LATCH AND A CLOSER

MIN.

MIN.

PULL SIDE

CLEAR AT EXTERIOR DOORS

CLEAR AT INTERIOR DOORS

PUSH SIDE

MIN.

*
NOTE: 48" MIN. IF DOOR HAS
BOTH A LATCH AND A CLOSER*

PULL SIDE

PUSH SIDE

*
MIN.

PUSH SIDE

PULL SIDE

NOTE: 48" MIN. IF DOOR HAS
BOTH A LATCH AND A CLOSER*

FRONT APPROACH

HINGE APPROACH

LATCH APPROACH

1/
2"

 M
A

X
3/

8"
 M

IN
 T

O
1/

2"
 M

A
X

3/
8"

 M
IN

 T
O

Grab Bar Section 1"       =    1'-0"3

Door Width 3/8"   =    1'-0"8Forward & Side Reach Details 3/8"   =    1'-0"12Maneuvering Clearances At Doors 3/8"   =    1'-0"16

DOOR STRIKE PLATE 1/4"   =    1'-0"9 Tactile Exit Sign 1/4"   =    1'-0"5

Single Accomodations Toilet Elevations 1/4"   =    1'-0"2Unisex Restroom Signage Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"6

Lavatory Clearances Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"4

Toe Clearance Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"13

Unisex Restroom Signage Detail 1:1.2510

Single Accomodations Toilet 3/8"   =    1'-0"1

Page 305

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-109
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Accessibility Details

15 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

1'-0"

7"
2'

-0
"

VA
R

IE
S

5

4

3

2

1

1.  SIGN.

2.  1-1/2" SQ. X 1/8"
    TUBE STEEL POST.

3.  FINISHED GRADE.
4.  CONCRETE FOOTING.
5.  BOLT.

"Unauthorized vehicles parked in
designated accessible spaces not
displaying distinguishing placards
or special license plates issued
for persons with disabilities may
be towed away at owner's
expense. Towed vehicles may be
reclaimed at City RM or by
telephoning 619-200-9459

 ≥17" x 22" with lettering
not ≤1" in height

05/10/24

0.9"

0.45"

2.35"

0.
2"

 H
E

IG
H

T

0.9"

0.45"

A A

TAPERED EDGES
WHERE EXPOSED

BASE DIAMETER

TOP
 DIAMETER

BASE DIAMETER

TOP
 DIAMETER

NOMINAL

TRUNCATED DOME
SPACING

TRUNCATED DOME
SECTION A-A

A-107 A-107

4'
-0

"

5'-0"

5'
-0

"

5'-0"

8'
-6

"

6'-0"

BOTTOM
LANDING

RAMP RUN
TOP

LANDING

MIN
MIN

M
IN

CHANGE IN
DIRECTION

RAMP RUN

MIN

16
A-108

(E
) 1

8'
-0

"

(E) 144" (E) 108"

(E) 70 SQ. INCH
ACCESSIBILITY SIGN
PER SECTION 11B-502.6

(E) WHEEL STOP

(E) LOADING AND UNLOADING
ACCESS AISLE BORDER
PAINTED BLUE

(E) STRIPES AT 36" MAXIMUM
ON CENTER PAINTED
A COLOR CONTRASTING
WITH THE PARKING
SURFACE, PREFERABLY
BLUE OR WHITE

(E) TYPICAL PAVEMENT
SYMBOL PER
SECTION 11B-502.6

(E) WITHIN THE LOADING
& UNLOADING ACCESS
AISLE PAINT THE WORDS
"NO PARKING" IN 12" HIGH
MINIMUM WHITE LETTERS

(E) 5'-0" MINIMUM AT TYPICAL
ACCESSIBLE PARKING STALL
8'-0" MINIMUM AT VAN
ACCESSIBLE PARKING STALL

(E) DIMENSION TO
CENTERLINE
OF STRIPE

NO
PARKING

PEDESTRIAN ROUTE

(E) ACCESSIBLE PARKING

(E) VAN ACCESSIBLE
PARKING

(E)1:10 SLOPE (E)1:10 SLOPE

(E) 4'-0"

(E
) 3

'-0
"

(E
) 3

'-0
"

(E
) 4

'-0
"

(E
)1

:1
2 

S
LO

P
E

(E
)1:12 S

LO
P

E

(E) STANDARD
ACCESSIBLE

PARKING

1

1

6"
15

"
3"

80
" M

IN
.

1'-0" Ø

3

2

1

VERIFY WITH LOCAL CONDITIONS.
AT VAN ACCESSIBLE SPACES.
ADDITIONAL SIGN ONLY REQUIRED

DEPARTMENT
ETC. WITH TRAFFIC ENGINEERING
VERIFY SIZE, COLOR, WORDING,

2.

1.

3.

CO
MP

LY
 W

ITH
 LO

CA
L C

OD
ES

VAN
ACCESSIBLE

MINIMUM
 FINE $ 250.00

1

34
" M

A
X

.

34
" M

A
X

.

Accessible Parking Sign 1/16" =    1'-0"10

Accessible Counter & Tableware Detail 3/8"   =    1'-0"11

Unathorized Vehicals 1/16" =    1'-0"14

Truncated Domes 1'       =    1'-0"16 Accessible Ramp 3/8"   =    1'-0"8

Accessile Parking 3/16" =    1'-0"6

Page 306

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-110
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Typ. Metal Stud Detail

16 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

EXISTING ROOF RAFTERS

40 DEG TO 50 DEG

A
.F

.F
.

10
'-0

" M
A

X
H

FASTEN BRACE TO

2 SIMPSON CFS10 #10
SELF TAPPING SCREWS
20 GAUGE METAL STUD @ 16" O.C.
ESR # 2457 MEMBER-362S200-33

TOP TRACK W/

BRACE 4'-0" O.C.
ALTERNATE DIRECTION BRACE

FASTEN BRACE TO

2 SIMPSON CFS10 #10
SELF TAPPING SCREWS

BOTTOM RAFTERS W/

PROVIDE  20 GAUGE MTL. STUD
MEMBER 362S137-33 @ 48" O.C. STAGGERED
USE CLARK WESTERN METAL STUDS ESR# 2457

5/8" DRYWALL

05/10/241

2"
 M

IN
. F

R
O

M
ED

G
E 

O
F 

SL
AB

3"
 M

IN
.S

PC
AI

N
G

CONCRETE SLAB
(existing)

(1) #10 SIMPSON CFS10 SELF
TAPPING SCREW @ EACH FLANGE.

RUNNER TRACK

ATTACH TRACK TO SLAB
USING: 0.145" HILTI X-DNI @ 24" O.C.
LOCATED AS SHOWN ABOVE.
(FASTENER SIZE & QUANTITY AS
REQ'D PER DESIGN.)
ESR-1663

3 MIN.

FROM EDGE

4" M
IN.

SPACING

TOP VIEW

6"

TRACK

JOIST

JOIST

LOAD BEARING
STUD

NO. 8 SCREW
AT EACH FLANGE

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS
THROUGH BOTH WEBS
(WEB STIFFENER IS REQUIRED
ONLY WHEN LOAD BEARING
WALL IS LOCATED ABOVE)

(2) NO. 8 SCREWS
THROUGH FLANGE
(EACH SIDE)

MIN

6" M
IN.

SILL SEALER AS REQUIRED

FOUNDATION OR SLAB ON GRADE

ANCHOR BOLT OR OTHER CONNECTION
AS REQUIRED

STUD BLOCKING INSIDE WALL TRACK
(MINIMUM THICKNESS OF STUD)

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS THROUGH EACH FLANGE

NO. 8 SCREWS THROUGH EACH FLANGE

TRACK

STUD

6" MIN.

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS
ON EA. SIDE OF SPLICE

STUD SECTION
INSIDE TRACK

STUD

NO. 8 SCREWS
SPACED @ 1" O.C.
TYP.

SOLID STEEL PLATE,
C-SHAPE OR TRACK,
MIN. THICKNESS AS STUD

STRUCTURAL SHEATHING

NO. 8 SCREWS THROUGH
SHEATHING TO EACH
JACK AND KING STUD
AT 12" ON CENTER

JACK STUD(S)

KING STUD(S)

TRACK OR C-SHAPE
ATTACH WITH NO. 8 SCREWS
(MINIMUM DEPTH = HEADER
DEPTH MINUS 1/2 INCH)

TRACK

TRACK

CRIPPLE STUD

TRACK

C-SHAPES

(2) NO. 8 SCREWS AT 24"
ON CENTER, ONE PER FLANGE

(2) NO. 8 SCREWS AT 24"
ON CENTER, ONE PER FLANGE

STRUCTURAL SHEATHING

NO. 8 SCREWS THROUGH
SHEATHING TO EACH
JACK AND KING STUD
AT 12" ON CENTER

TRACK

KING STUDS(AS REQUIRED)

JACK STUDS(AS REQUIRED)

TRACK

2 X 2 CLIP ANGLE ATTACHED
WITH NO. 8 SCREWS,
MINIMUM LENGTH = WEB DEPTH
MINUS 1/2 INCH

(2) NO. 8 SCREWS AT 24"
ON CENTER (2 SCREWS
THROUGH TOP FLANGES
AND 2 SCREWS THROUGH
BOTTOM FLANGES)

BACK TO BACK
C-SHAPES

(2) NO. 8 SCREWS
AT 24" ON CENTER

CRIPPLE STUD

HEADER SPAN
(FEET)

BASIC WIND SPEED (MPH), EXPOSURE

85 B OR SEISMIC DESIGN
CATEGORIES A, B, C, D0, D1 AND D2

85 C OR LESS THAN 110B LESS THAN 110C

TABLE R603.7(2)
HEADER TO KING STUD CONNECTION REQUIREMENTS A,B,C,D

< 4'

> 4' TO 8'

> 8' TO 12'

> 12' TO 16'

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS

(4) NO. 8 SCREWS

(6) NO. 8 SCREWS

(8) NO. 8 SCREWS

(6) NO. 8 SCREWS

(8) NO. 8 SCREWS

(10) NO. 8 SCREWS

(12) NO. 8 SCREWS

FOR SI: 1 INCH = 25.4 mm , 1 FOOT = 304.8 mm , 1 MILE PER HOUR = 0.447 m/s, 1 POUND = 4.448 N.
A) ALL SCREW SIZES SHOWN ARE MINIMUM
B) FOR HEADERS LOCATED ON THE FIRST FLOOR OF A TWO STORY BUILDING OR THE FIRST OR SECOND
     FLOOR OF A THREE STORY BUILDING, THE TOTAL NUMBER OF SCREWS IS PERMITTED TO BE
     REDUCED BY 2 SCREWS, BUT THE TOTAL NUMBER OF SCREWS SHALL BE NO LESS THAN 4.
C) FOR ROOF SLOPES OF 6:12 OR GREATER, THE REQUIRED NUMBER OF SCREWS MAY BE REDUCED BY
     HALF, BUT THE TOTAL NUMBER OF SCREWS SHALL NOT BE LESS THAN FOUR.
D) SCREWS CAN BE REPLACED BY AN UPLIFT CONNECTOR WHICH HAS A CAPACITY OF THE NUMBER OF
     SCREWS MULTIPLIED BY 164 POUNDS(E.G., 12-NO. 8 SCREWS CAN BE REPLACED BY AN UPLIFT
     CONNECTOR WHOSE CAPACITY EXCEEDS 12 X 164 POUNDS = 1,968 POUNDS).

SIZE OF OPENING
(FEET-INCHES)

24" O.C. STUD SPACING

NO. OF JACK STUDS

TABLE R603.7(1)
TOTAL NUMBER OF JACK AND KING STUDS REQUIRED AT EACH END OF OPENING

< 3'-6"

> 3'-6" TO 5'-0"

1

16" O.C. STUD SPACING

NO. OF KING STUDS NO. OF JACK STUDS NO. OF KING STUDS

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

> 5'-0" TO 5'-6"

> 5'-6" TO 8'-0"

> 8'-0" TO 10'-6"

> 10'-6" TO 12'-0"

> 12'-0" TO 13'-0"

> 13'-0" TO 14'-0"

> 14'-0" TO 16'-0"

> 16'-0" TO 18'-0"

2

3

1

2

2

2

2

2

3

3

3

3

1

1

2

2

2

3

3

3

3

4

1

2

2

2

3

3

3

4

4

4

3/4" (19mm)

STUD

TRACK

BEARING STIFFENER

HORIZONTAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

STUD

TRACK

BEARING STIFFENER

HORIZONTAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

CL STUD CL BEARING
STIFFENER

MAX

CL
VERTICAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

CL
HORIZONTAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

MAX

CL
VERTICAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

CL
HORIZONTAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

3/4" (19mm)

1/8" (3mm) MAX
FROM WEB OF
HORIZONTAL
FRAMING
MEMBER TO
EDGE OF
VERTICAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

CL
HORIZONTAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

CL
VERTICAL
FRAMING
MEMBER

MAX
3/4" (19mm)

CENTERLINE OF WEB

BEARING CONDITION

2 1/2 IN. MAX

4 1/2 IN.
MAX

4 1/2 IN.
MAX

10 IN.
MIN

24 IN.
MIN

CL CL

CLIP TRACK FLANGE

AT LAP JOINT

20 GAUGE TRACK

#6 DRYWALL SCREWS
ESR#2196

WALL STUD
3 5/8 20 GAUGE @ 24" O.C.
ESR #2457 MEMBER-600S137-43

WALL BOARD FINISH
5/8" TYPE X

INTERIOR GYPSUM

(4)  SIMPSON CFS10 #10 SELF TAPPING SCREWS AT LAPPED TRACK

CONNECTING CORNER STUDS
(2) SIMPSON CFS10 #10 SELF TAPPING SCREWS @ 24" O.C.

3 5/8 DIAGONAL STUD TOP OF WALL 5' LONG MIN.
W/ 4 SIMPSON CFS10 #10 SELF TAPPING SCREWS
ATTACHED TO WALL TRACK

NOTE: METAL STUD FRAMING - CLARK WESTERN ESR#2457

20 GAUGE TRACK

1 1/2 "
MAX

4 1/2 " MAX

10" MIN

24" MIN

PENETRATION
(HOLE, PUNCHOUT)

CL STUD & PUNCHOUT

HEAD/SILL TRACK

JAMB STUD

CUT TRACK FLANGE
AND BEND TO ALLOW
CONNECTION

JAMB STUD
HEAD/SILL TRACK

BEND PORTION
OF WEB DOWN
AND FASTEN TO
JAMB STUD

CUT TRACK AND BEND
TO ALLOW EXTENSION
OF FLANGES FOR
CONNECTION

HEAD/SILL TRACK

JAMB STUD

C-SHAPE FASTENED
TO JAMB STUD WITH
SCREWS AS REQUIRED

FRAMING MEMBER

MINIMUM 3 THREADS
SHOULD PROTRUDE
THROUGH STEEL

MINIMUM 3 EXPOSED THREADS
SHALL PROTRUDE THROUGH STEEL

HEX HEAD LOW PROFILE HEAD

SHEATHING
THICKNESS

WIRING

PLASTIC GROMMET

PIPING

PIPE INSULATION OR
PLASTIC GROMMET

JOIST WITH LARGE
WEB HOLES

TOP TRACK

BOTTOM TRACK

KING STUD

ONE SCREW PER
FLANGE OR TWO
SCREWS PER WEB

DOOR ROUGH OPENING

D
O

O
R

 R
O

U
G

H
 O

P
E

N
IN

G

TOP TRACK

BOTTOM TRACK

KING STUD

ONE SCREW PER
FLANGE OR TWO
SCREWS PER WEB

WINDOW

ROUGH OPENING

W
IN

D
O

W
R

O
U

G
H

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

Track Attachment Detail 1"       =    1'-0"10

Lapped Joist Supported on Interior Load Bearing Wall Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"1

Wall to Foundation Connection Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"4

Track Splice & Hole Patch 3/16" =    1'-0"5

Header Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"16

In Line Framing Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"15

Floor Joist Web Holes Details 1/4"   =    1'-0"9

Corner Framing Detail 3/4"   =    1'-0"2

Stud Web Holes Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"7 TYP. Head & Sill Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"3

Screw Attachment Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"6

Wiring & Piping Installation Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"8

TYP. Door Framing Detail 3/8"   =    1'-0"13

TYP. Window Framing Detail 3/8"   =    1'-0"14

WALL BRACING DETAIL 3/4"   =    1'-0"11

20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES

20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES

20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES

20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES 20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES
Page 307

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-111
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

Typ. Metal Stud Detail

17 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

0"

1"
17'-3" VIF

5/8" GYP. BD.

20 GAUGE METAL STUD @ 16" O.C.
ESR # 2457 MEMBER-600S200-33

EXISTING SLAB

.145" HILTI X-DNI @ 24" O.C.
W/ 1 1/2" EMBEDMENT
ESR #1663

20 GAUGE SLOTED SLIP DEFLECTION TRACK
USE CLARK WESTERN MEMBER 600SLT250-20
UL 2079

EXISTING ROOF SHEATHINGEXISTING ROOF JOIST

#8 WOOD SCREWS

10'-0" VIF

0"

1"

ROOF SHEATHINGROOF JOIST

5/8" GYP. BD.

20 GAUGE METAL STUD @ 16" O.C.
ESR # 2457 MEMBER-600S200-33

EXISTING SLAB

.145" HILTI X-DNI @ 24" O.C.
W/ 1 1/2" EMBEDMENT
ESR #1663

20 GAUGE SLOTED SLIP DEFLECTION TRACK
USE CLARK WESTERN MEMBER 600SLT250-20
UL 2079

#8 WOOD SCREWS

05/10/24

A Tradition of Innovation

Westbrook Concrete Block Co., Inc. 439  Spencer Plains Road  Westbrook, CT 06498  t .860.399.6201  info@westbrookblock.com

 page 1 of 1

Bearing Wall Rating - 2 HR.
Nonbearing Wall Rating - 2 HR.

 

1. Concrete Blocks*  -  Nominal 6 by 8 by 16 in.,  hollow or solid. 
    Classificaon D-2 (2 hr). 
         Anchor Concrete Products, Inc. 
         Florida Rock Industries, Inc. 
         Pike Industries Inc., d/ b /a Tilcon Whitcomb. 
         Westbrook Concrete Block Co., Inc. 
 
2. Mortar  -  Blocks laid in full bed of mor tar, nom. 3 /8 in. thick, of not less than 2-1/4 and not more than 
3-1/2 par ts of clean sharp sand to 1 par t Por tland cement (propor tioned by volume) and not more 
than 50 percent hydrated lime ( by cement volume). Ver tical joints staggered. 
 
3. Portland Cement Stucco or Gypsum Plaster  -  If used, add 1/2 hr. to Classification. Attached to 
concrete blocks (Item 1) 
 
4. Foamed Plastic*  -  (Optional - not shown) 1-1/2 in thick max, 4 ft wide sheathing attached to 
concrete blocks (Item 1). 
 
         Celotex Corp. - Type Thermax

*Bearing the UL Classification Marking

UL FIRE RATED

Design No. U906

1

FULL HEIGHT WALL DETAIL 3/8"   =    1'-0"1

Full Height Wall Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"2

WCB-FireRated-U906 1:1.333

GA-FILE-NO-WP-3430 1'       =    1'-0"4

20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES

20 GA. MTL STD DRYWALL BOTH SIDES

Page 308

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

A-112
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

W
E

N
D

E
LL

 W
. V

E
IT

H
, A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
#C

52
97

80
-3

00
 U

LL
S

W
AT

E
R

 D
R

., 
IN

D
IO

, C
A

.  
92

20
3

TE
L.

 1
-7

60
-9

53
-4

55
6 

 E
-M

A
IL

 - 
w

ve
ith

36
@

ya
ho

o.
co

m

L
I C

ENS ED A RCH IT
EC

T

S
T

A
T

E
O F C A L I F O

R
N

I A

W
E N D E L L W . V E I T H

NO. C5297
REN. 11-30-25

T-Bar Ceiling Details

18 25

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

DESIGN ARCHITECT:

Wendell W. Veith
80-300 Ullswater Dr.
Indio ca. 92203
760-953-4556

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

1

4

3

2

1 FIRE SPRINKLER HEAD PIPING

2 CEILING TILE

3 2" OVERSIZE RING, SLEEVE, OR ADAPTER
THROUGH CLG. TO ALLOW 1" MIN. MOVEMENT
IN ALL HORIZONTAL DIRECTIONS

4 ALTERNATE OPTION: PROVIDE RIGID BRACING AT EACH
SPRINKLER HEAD TO LIMIT LATERAL DEFLECTION

05/10/241

1.  Luminaires) in Suspended Ceiling Systems (AC184). The
lighting fixtures may also be attached to the framing
members with power-driven nails having a minimum shear
strength of 314 lbf (1395 N) and minimum tension strength
of 137 lbf (609.6 N) for a No. 20/20 gage metal-to-metal
connection.

NOTE

T-BAR CEILING GRID

ACOUSTICAL TILE

CEILING HANGER WIRE

12 GA. (SLACK) SUPPORT WIRES AT

OF 4' x 4' LIGHT FIXTURES, IF ANY.)
FIXTURE. (PROVIDE AT ALL 4 CORNERS

 DIAGONALLY OPPOSITE CORNERS OF

LIGHTING FIXTURE TO
BE INSTALLED PER

1614A.1.12 CBC
ASCE 7-05-13.5.6.22

1 1/2" OF EYE, TYP.

MIN. WITHDRAWAL TENSION CAPACITY

CONCRETE, STEEL OR

3 TIGHT TURNS MIN. WITHIN

WOOD SUBSTRATE

BRACE ANCHOR WITH MIN.
COMBINED WITHDRAWAL
TENSION AND SHEAR CAPACITY
OF 325 LBS. SHORT DURATION
ADJUSTMENT MAYBE USED IF
 PERMITTED BY PRODUCT'S
EVALUATION REPORT LISTING

VERTICAL WIRE HANGER ANCHOR WITH

OF 100 LBS. OR HIGHER, TYP.

4 TIGHT TURNS MIN. WITHIN
1 1/2" OF EYE, TYP.

8"

6' MAX 4' O.C. (5' O.C.) 4' O.C. (5' O.C.)
12' O.C. EACH WAY

90°

MAIN RUNNER AT 4" O.C.
SUPPORT WITH #12 HANGER WIRE AT 4' O.C.

OR #10 HANGER WIRE AT 5' O.C.

COUNTERSLOPE HANGERS
IF MORE THAN 1.6 OUT OF PLUMB

CROSS TEES
FIT BETWEEN

MAIN RUNNERS

COMPRESSION STRUT AT 12' O.C. EACH WAY BUILDING STRUCTURE

ADDITIONAL HANGERS
ALL MEMBERS WITHIN
8" OF PERIMETER

STABILIZER BAR BETWEEN ALL
MEMBERS AT ATTACHED SIDE

LA
TERAL

BRACIN
G

SEPARATE SUPPORT PIPES, CONDUITS, ETC.
SECURE ALL HANGERS TO BUILDING STRUCTURE,

TRAPEZE AROUND DUCTWORK AND OTHER LARGE CONSTRUCTIONS

MAX

LATERAL

BRACING

STABILIZER BAR

#6 WOOD SCREW

7/8"
WALL

ANGLE

7/8"

8" MAX

#6 WOOD SCREW

7/8"
WALL

ANGLE

APPROVED
FASTENER

7/8"

8" MAX

STABILIZER BAR

#6 WOOD SCREW

7/8"
WALL

ANGLE

STABILIZER BAR
REQUIRED ONLY AT UNATTACHED END

TYPICAL 4' CROSS TEES 2' O.C.
HANGER WIRE WITHIN 8" OF WALL

HANGER WIRE WITHIN 8" OF WALL

7/8"

8" MAX

STABILIZER
BAR

#6 WOOD SCREW

7/8"
WALL

ANGLE

#6 WOOD SCREW

7/8"
WALL

ANGLE

APPROVED
FASTENER

ATTACHED

AT
TA

C
H

E
D

U
N

AT
TA

C
H

E
D

UNATTACHED

8" MAX

7/8"

8" MAX

7/8"

7/8"
ACM7 WALL

ATTACHMENT CLIP

 9 USG Drywall Suspension System

9

A

cross tee

main-tee splice

main tee

fire expansion
notch

12 ga. hanger wire

SHEETROCK 
gypsum panel

Cross tee/main tee intersection Cross-channel detail

Perimeter detail—channel molding      Perimeter detail—angle molding

cross tee or 
cross channel

screw into 
molding at
perimeter

angle
molding

SHEETROCK 
gypsum panel

B alt

9

fire expansion
notch

12 ga. hanger wire

SHEETROCK 
gypsum panel

main-tee splice

main tee

cross 
channel

9
A alt

main tee

SHEETROCK 
gypsum panel

channel
molding

screw into 
molding at
perimeter

B

9

 9 USG Drywall Suspension System

9

A

cross tee

main-tee splice

main tee

fire expansion
notch

12 ga. hanger wire

SHEETROCK 
gypsum panel

Cross tee/main tee intersection Cross-channel detail

Perimeter detail—channel molding      Perimeter detail—angle molding

cross tee or 
cross channel

screw into 
molding at
perimeter

angle
molding

SHEETROCK 
gypsum panel

B alt

9

fire expansion
notch

12 ga. hanger wire

SHEETROCK 
gypsum panel

main-tee splice

main tee

cross 
channel

9
A alt

main tee

SHEETROCK 
gypsum panel

channel
molding

screw into 
molding at
perimeter

B

9

& OTHER OBSTRUCTIONS, TYP.
CHANNELS, BACK-TO-BACK @ DUCTWORK
PROVIDE TRAPEZE OF 2 - 1 1/4" COLD-ROLLED
SECURE ALL HANGERS TO BLDG. STRUCTURE OR

(E) PLUMBING
OUT OF PLUMB
WHERE HANGER IS MORE THAN 1:6
PROVIDE COUNTER SLOPE HANGERS

MECH. DUCT

BTW. MAIN RUNNER
CROSS TEES FIT

MAIN RUNNERS

VERTICAL STRUT

7/8" PERIMETER WALL ANGLE

BRACING WIRE
SEE

WIRE HANGER

TILE AT MIN. 3/4" FROM WALL

@ PERIMETER

(E) BLDG. STRUCTURE

CEILING GRID TO BE
HEAVY DUTY &
INSTALLED PER

ACM7 SEISMIC CLIP

T-Bar Brace 3"       =    1'-0"3

END OF DIAGONAL WIRE, TYP.
4 TIGHT TURNS MIN. WITHIN 1 1/2" AT EACH

PIPING OR DUCTWORK

25 GA. MIN. WIRE BRACING, TYP. IN 4 DIRECTIONS,
KEEP 6" CLEAR OF ANY UNBRACED HORIZONTAL

2" MAX. MAX.
45 DEG.

MAX.
45 DEG.

90 DEG.

90 DEG.

MAIN RUNNER

CROSS RUNNER

12 GA VERTICAL WIRE HANGER

GRID SYSTEM TO BE INSTALLED PER Installed to ASTM C636 and ASTM E580

PROVIDE 1/2" CONDUIT EMT
FOR COMPRESSION STRUT.
SHALL BE FASTENED TO THE
MAIN RUNNER AND EXTEND
AND FASTEN TO THE STRUCTURE.

Susp. Ceiling Detail 1:12.008

Light Bracing 1"       =    1'-0"1

hanger Brace 3"       =    1'-0"2

Typ. Suspended Ceiling Installation Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"5

Unattached End of Grid Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"6

Susp. Ceiling Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"11

Perimeter Wires and Stabilizer Bar Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"9

TYP. Ceiling Grid Layout Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"10

ACM7 Wall Attachment Detail 3/16" =    1'-0"15

T-BAR PENETRATION DETAIL 3/8"   =    1'-0"12

Ceiling Detail 3/8"   =    1'-0"14

Ceiling Detail 1/2"   =    1'-0"13

HEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEM

HEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEMHEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEM

HEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEM HEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEM HEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEM HEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEM

HEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEMHEAVY DUTY T-BAR SYSTEM

2022

Installed to ASTM C636 and ASTM E580

Page 309

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

E-1
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

Elec. General Notes

19 25

72-651 TH
EO

D
O

R
A

 LN
. PA

LM
 D

ESERT C
A

. 92260

LIC
. # 581636   O

FFIC
E: 760-567-2347       FA

X
: 760-779-9525

. . . . . . .

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

ENGINEERING:

#Structural Engineering

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

J

J

B B

W W

60

2/30

2

S

S

1000
1600

300
400

7
MCP

300
400

60
40

1600
1000

HOME RUN (ARROWHEADS INDICATE # OF
CIRCUITS)

CIRCUIT
 NEUTRAL
 SWITCHED
 LINE
 EGC

CONDUIT CAP

BUSWAY

WIREWAY

EXISTING

REMOVE

NEW WORK

HIDDEN OR BURIED

KEYED NOTE

ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT DESIGNATION
(SEE SCHEDULE)

FEEDER SIZE DESIGNATION
(SEE LEGEND)

NAMEPLATE DESIGNATION
(SEE SCHEDULE)

* *

5

3

5

3

GENERAL
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

RACEWAY & CONDUCTORS
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

CIRCUIT BREAKER (TRIP / FRAME)

DRAWOUT CIRCUIT BREAKER (TRIP / FRAME)

BUS PLUG CIRCUIT BREAKER (TRIP / FRAME)

MOTOR CIRCUIT PROTECTOR

DISCONNECT SWITCH (NUMBER INDICATES
AMPERAGE RATING)

FUSE (NUMBER INDICATES AMPERAGE RATING)

MEDIUM VOLTAGE DRAWOUT CIRCUIT BREAKER
(TRIP / FRAME)

TRANSFORMER (DELTA-WYE WO/BONDING
JUMPER)

SINGLE-LINE DIAGRAM
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

DEVICES
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

X

X

X

X

X

X

P

T

STRIKE TERMINATION DEVICE

GROUND ROD

LIGHTNING PROTECTION
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

T

PP-A

LP-1

AMPS
ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR
ABOVE FINISHED GRADE
AMERICAN WIRE GAUGE

CONDUIT

EQUIPMENT GROUNDING CONDUCTOR
ELECTRICAL METALLIC TUBING
EMERGENCY POWER OFF

FULL LOAD AMPS

GROUNDING ELECTRODE CONDUCTOR
GROUND FAULT CIRCUIT INTERRUPTER

HORSEPOWER

INTERMEDIATE METAL CONDUIT

KILOVOLT AMPS
KILOWATT

MAIN CIRCUIT BREAKER
MAIN LUGS ONLY

NATIONAL ELECTRICAL  MANUFACTURERS
ASSOCIATION
NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE

POLE
PHASE
POLYVINYL CHLORIDE

RIGID METAL CONDUIT

SUPPLY SIDE BONDING JUMPER
SWITCHBOARD

TYPICAL

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED

VOLTAGE
VARIABLE AIR VOLUME

WIRE
WITH
WEATHERPROOF

ABBREVIATIONS
ABBREV. DEFINITION

A
AFF
AFG
AWG

C

EGC
EMT
EPO

FLA

GEC
GFCI

HP

IMC

KVA
KW

MCB
MLO

NEMA

NEC

P
ɸ OR PH
PVC

RMC

SSBJ
SWBD

TYP

UON

V
VAV

W
W/
WP

ELECTRICAL SYMBOLS LEGEND

VFD

2

3000/5
3

3

A

V

AS

VS

KW

L

N A

K 1

SPD

CR 1

LP-1

400A
300A

LP-1

MLO
225A

KVA
500

120/
208V

TR-1480V

G

TRANSFORMER (DELTA-WYE W/BONDING
JUMPER)

SHIELDED TRANSFORMER

VARIABLE FREQUENCY DRIVE

MOTOR (NUMBER INDICATES HORSEPOWER)

PANELBOARD WITH MAIN CIRCUIT BREAKER

PANELBOARD WITH MAIN LUGS ONLY

HEATER

GROUND

GENERATOR

POTENTIAL TRANSFORMER (NUMBER INDICATES
QUANTITY)

CURRENT TRANSFORMER (NUMBERS INDICATE
RATIO AND QUANTITY)

AMMETER SWITCH

VOLTMETER SWITCH

AMMETER

VOLTMETER

KILOWATT METER

TRANSFER SWITCH

KEY INTERLOCK (NUMBER INDICATES KEY ID)

BATTERY

SURGE ARRESTOR

SURGE PROTECTIVE DEVICE

CONTROL RELAY (NUMBER INDICATES RELAY ID)

SINGLE-LINE DIAGRAM
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

A
1,b

A
1,b

A
1,b

1,b
A

A
1,b

A
1,b

SWITCH, SINGLE POLE  USE "X" TO
DESIGNATE DEVICE. TYPICAL OF MOST
SWITCHES 2  = DOUBLE POLE 3 = THREE WAY 4
= FOUR WAY K = KEY OPERATED OS =
OCCUPANCY SENSING a = LOWERCASE
SUBSCRIPT  DESIGNATES CONTROL OF   
PARTICULAR LOADS

LUMINAIRE, TROFFER (2'X4') A = FIXTURE
TYPE 1 = CIRCUIT NUMBER b =
SWITCH CONTROLLING    
FIXTURE

LUMINAIRE WITH BATTERY

LUMINAIRE, TROFFER (2'x2')

LUMINAIRE, STRIP (1'x4')
  
LUMINAIRE, WALL MOUNTED

LUMINAIRE, CEILING MOUNTED

LIGHT POLE WITH LUMINAIRE

UNIT EQUIPMENT FOR EGRESS LIGHTING

EXIT LUMINAIRE, CEILING MOUNTED - SHADED
SIDE INDICATES FACE SIDE. PROVIDE
DIRECTIONAL ARROWS AS INDICATED ON PLANS

EXIT LUMINAIRE, WALL MOUNTED

SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

X

GENERAL NOTES
1. PERFORM INSTALLATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 2022 CEC , NATIONAL

ELECTRICAL CODE (NEC), AND THE OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT
(OSHA).

2. EQUIPMENT SHALL BE LISTED BY A NATIONALLY RECOGNIZED TESTING
LABORATORY (NRTL) WHEN REQUIRED BY THE NEC OR IF IT CONTAINS A
VOLTAGE THAT IS GREATER THAN 50VAC OR 100VDC.

3. FOR ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT THAT CONTROLS OR SWITCHES 480 VOLT POWER
CIRCUITS, THE CONTACTS THAT CONTROL OR SWITCH THE POWER MUST BE
RATED AT 600 VOLTS. THIS INCLUDES, BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO, CIRCUIT
BREAKERS, MOTOR STARTERS, DISCONNECTS, TRANSFER SWITCHES.

4. ROUTE RACEWAYS TO SUIT EQUIPMENT AND BUILDING STRUCTURE. LIMIT THE
USE OF EMT TO AREAS WHERE IT WILL NOT BE SUBJECT TO PHYSICAL DAMAGE
OR CORROSION. USE IMC, PVC, OR RMC FOR WORK EMBEDDED IN CONCRETE.
USE IMC OR RMC FOR WORK EXPOSED TO PHYSICAL DAMAGE. USE MINIMUM
3/4 INCH CONDUIT EXCEPT AS FOLLOWS: 1/2" CONDUIT MAY BE USED FOR
CONTROL CIRCUITS; 3/8" FLEXIBLE METAL CONDUIT MAY BE USED TO CONNECT
LIGHT FIXTURES IN SUSPENDED CEILINGS. USE LIQUID-TIGHT FLEXIBLE METAL
CONDUIT FOR FLEXIBLE CONNECTIONS TO EQUIPMENT IN MECHANICAL ROOMS
OR OUTDOORS.

5. NEW BRANCH CIRCUITS SHALL BE LABELED AT THE ORIGINATING PANELBOARD,
ON THE PANELBOARD LEGEND. THEY SHALL BE ALSO LABELED AT THE LOAD
END ON THE RECEPTACLE, LIGHT SWITCH, OR THE PIECE OF EQUIPMENT (E.G.
MOTOR STARTER, SAFETY SWITCH).

6. RACEWAY PENETRATIONS THROUGH WALLS AND/OR FLOORS SHALL BE SEALED
APPROPRIATELY WITH AN APPROVED SEALANT. IF THE PENETRATION IS
THROUGH A FIRE-RATED ASSEMBLY, IT MUST HAVE A NRTL LISTED FIRE SEAL
WITH A STATEMENT OF SPECIAL INSPECTION.

7. INTERNAL RACEWAY SEALS FOR WATER, TEMPERATURE, AND/OR
RADIOLOGICAL SHALL BE IDENTIFIED FOR USE WITH THE CONDUCTOR OR
CABLE INSULATION.

8. ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS ARE CONSIDERED DIAGRAMMATIC AND INDICATE
GENERAL ARRANGEMENT OF WORK AND SYSTEMS. COORDINATE ROUGH-IN
REQUIREMENTS AND INSTALLATION REQUIREMENTS WITH OTHER TRADES.

9. ALL BRANCH CIRCUIT WIRING, RACEWAY, AND FEEDERS SHALL BE INSTALLED
CONCEALED BEHIND BUILDING FINISHES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

10. PROVIDE ALL NECESSARY ANGLES, CHANNELS, SLOTTED CHANNEL, AND
SUPPORTS, AS REQUIRED TO ADEQUATELY SUPPORT ELECTRICAL RACEWAYS
AND ASSOCIATED EQUIPMENT IN A MANNER THAT DOES NOT OVERLOAD THE
BUILDING STRUCTURAL SYSTEM.

11. THE NEC SIZE REQUIREMENTS FOR PULL BOXES, JUNCTION BOXES, AND
CONDUIT BODIES ARE AS FOLLOWS:
13.1. USE 314.16 FOR CONDUCTORS 6 AWG AND SMALLER.
13.2. USE 314.28 FOR CONDUCTORS 4 AWG AND LARGER.

LIGHTING

12,700A

KVA

TR-1
500

120/
208V

480V

300A

300A

DUPLEX RECEPTACLE   USE "X" TO
DESIGNATE DEVICE. TYPICAL OF MOST
RECEPTACLES GFCI = GFCI RATED GFCI-
P = GFCI PROTECTED  WP =
WEATHERPROOF (IN-USE        
COVER WG = WEATHERPROOF & GFCI 
+84 = NON-STANDARD MOUNTING   
    HEIGHT. NUMBER INDICATES    
INCHES AFF 

SINGLE RECEPTACLE

DOUBLE DUPLEX RECEPTACLES

DUPLEX RECEPTACLE, SPLIT WIRED

SPECIAL PURPOSE RECEPTACLE.
USE SUBSCRIPT TO IDENTIFY TYPE ON PLANS

FLOOR MOUNTED RECEPTACLE

MULTI OUTLET ASSEMBLY

JUNCTION BOX

JUNCTION BOX, WALL MOUNTED

PHOTOCELL

SPEAKER, CEILING MOUNTED

SPEAKER, WALL MOUNTED

THERMOSTAT

FUSIBLE SAFETY SWITCH (NUMBERS
INDICATE FUSE/SWITCH SIZES)

NON-FUSIBLE SAFETY SWITCH (NUMBER
INDICATES SWITCH SIZE)

ELECTRICAL STARTER COMBINATION WITH
DISCONNECT   2 = NEMA STARTER SIZE 30
= CIRCUIT BREAKER OR DISCONNECT
SWITCH SIZE

ELECTRICAL STARTER OR MOTOR
CONTROLLER  2 = NEMA STARTER SIZE 

TRANSFORMER

SWITCHBOARD, POWER PANELBOARD

LIGHTING PANELBOARD

MAXIMUM AVAILABLE FAULT CURRENT

05/10/241

Page 310

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

E-2
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

Electrical Plan

20 25

72-651 TH
EO

D
O

R
A

 LN
. PA

LM
 D

ESERT C
A

. 92260

LIC
. # 581636   O

FFIC
E: 760-567-2347       FA

X
: 760-779-9525

. . . . . . .

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

ENGINEERING:

#Structural Engineering

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

NEW ILUMINATED EXIT SIGN

NEW TELEPHONE/DATA OUTLET WITH
 UBS PORT

200AMP ELECTRICAL PANEL

NEW OCCUPANCY SENSOR

NEW PHOTOCELL

NEW CONTROLLED RECEPTACLES

NEW RECEPTACLE - WITH GROUND FAULT;
INTERRUPTER @ +12" - U.N.O. 120 VOLT

NEW EXHAUST FAN

NEW LED HIGH BAY

EXISTING RECEPTACLE - @ +12" - U.N.O.
120 VOLT TAMPER - RSISATANT

ELECTRICAL LEGEND

NEW 2'x4' FLUORESCENT T5
ELEC 50W, 25W

NEW OCCUPANCY SENSOR
CR

PC

OC

GFI

    44" AFF

OC

WP
GFI

DP

 LED
A       B

AS

SWITCH - SINGLE POLE @ +42" - (U.N.O.)

THERMOSTAT - @ +60"

LIGHT - WALL MOUNTED 27W

RECEPTACLE - WATER PROOF W/ GROUND
FAULT INTERRUPTER @ +12" - U.N.O.

DIMMER SWITCH - SINGLE POLE @ +42" -(U.N.O.)
RMJS8DTVB Lutron Wireless Dimmer

DOUBLE POLE SWITCH
- THREE WAY @ +42" - U.N.O.

LIGHT - FLUSH MOUNTED IN
CEILING (ROUND FIXTURE)

ASTRONOMICAL CLOCK

EMERGENCY LIGHTS

Edge-Lit Exits

LRP EL N
LED LAMPS EMERGENCY

LRP 120/277

Family Housing color Number of faces Letters/background Directional indicators1 Input voltage

LRP LED (blank) Brushed aluminum
W White
B Black
BZ Bronze
BS Polished brass
U Unfinished

1 Single face 
2 Double face

RW Red on white
RC Red on clear (single face only)
RMR Red on mirror (simulates clear background 

for double-face exits)
GW Green on white
GC Green on clear (single face only)
GMR Green on mirror (simulates clear background 

for double-face exits)

(blank) None
LA Left2

RA Right2

LRA Left and right
DA Double face3

120/277 Dual voltage

 

ORDERING  INFORMATION For shortest lead times, configure products using bolded options. Example: LRP 1 RMR LA 120/277 EL N

EMERGENCY LRP EL N

Accessories4,6: Order as separate items.

ELA R LRIS 120/277 EL N Single-face, red LED emergency rough-in section
ELA G LRIS 120/277 EL N Single-face, green LED emergency rough-in section
ELA R 2LRIS 120/277 EL N Double-face, red LED emergency rough-in section
ELA G 2LRIS 120/277 EL N Double-face, green LED emergency rough-in section

FEATURES & SPECIFICATIONS
INTENDED USE — Suitable for architectural applications where aesthetics and superior performance 
are required. 

CONSTRUCTION — High-polish, injection-molded virgin acrylic panel, ultrasonically welded to eliminate 
visible hardware. Graduated depth of molded letters provides uniform light distribution on graphics. 
Standard housing finish is brushed aluminum.

Precision-molded, textured letters – 6” high with 3/4” stroke, with 100 ft viewing distance rating, based 
upon UL924 standard. Chevron indicator direction must be specified.

Recessed rough-in section constructed of 20-gauge, die-formed galvanized steel. Extruded aluminum 
housing trim mounts flush onto wall or ceiling.

ELECTRICAL — Sealed, maintenance-free nickel cadmium battery delivers 90 minutes capacity to lamp. 
Constant-current series charger, 24-hour recharge after 90-minute discharge.

Polarized battery connector simplifies installation and maintenance; prevents charger damage due to 
improper connection.

OPTICS — LEDs mounted on printed circuit board. The typical life of the exit LED lamp is 10 years.

Low energy consumption – only 2.3W for 120V single-face red sign; 1.7W for 120V single-face green sign.

INSTALLATION — Recessed mount – rough-in section for back, ceiling or end mounting. Fits into minimum 
wall or ceiling opening 13-5/8” L x 4-1/2” W x 3-1/8” D.

Adjustable T-bar hangers adapt mounting tray for mounting in suspended ceilings or variable-size framed 
openings. Trim ring has 3/4” variable depth adjustment to ensure flush fit against surface of wall or ceiling.

Plug-in wire connections and self-captive mounting screws for mounting panel/trim to rough-in section.

LISTINGS — UL listed. Non-IC recessed mounting. Meets UL 924, NFPA 101 (current Life Safety Code), 
NEC and OSHA illumination standards, and State of Minnesota requirements for less than 20W energy 
consumption. NEMA Premium certified.

WARRANTY — 5-year limited warranty, including lamps. Complete warranty terms located at 
www.acuitybrands.com/CustomerResources/Terms_and_conditions.aspx

NOTE: Actual performance may differ as a result of end-user environment and application. 
All values are design or typical values, measured under laboratory conditions at 25°C. 
Specifications subject to change without notice.

Notes 
1 See chart on back for more information.
2 Only available with single face.
3 Only available with double face.
4 When ordering rough-in separately, all options must be included with 

rough-in nomenclature. Example: ELA R LRIS 120/277 EL N FA.
5 Choice of F or FI. Not available with both.
6 Rough-in supplied standard with exit unless PNL suffix is specified. Order 

separately only if needed for early installation.

Catalog  
Number

Notes

Type

EL N

Emergency operation Mounting Item type Options4

EL N Nickel cadmium battery (blank) Ceiling or back mount
EM Recessed end mount

(blank) Complete exit panel and rough-in section
PNL Panel assembly only

FI Fire alarm interface5

F Flashing emergency operation (one flash/second)5

FA Flashing emergency operation and intermittent audible alarm

CONTRACTOR SELECT / EMERGENCY LED-UNITS

Catalog  
Number

Notes

Type

ORDERING INFORMATION

All dimensions are inches (centimeters) unless otherwise indicated.

FEATURES & SPECIFICATIONS
INTENDED USE

Suitable for emergency lighting applications such as stairways and hallways.

CONSTRUCTION

Injection-molded, flame-retardant, high-impact, thermoplastic housing with snap-fit design components 
with LED lamps for easy installation. Universal J-box pattern. Track and swivel arrangement permits full 
range of lamp adjustment. 

OPTICS

The typical life of the LED is 10 years. Two 1.8W LED lamps for emergency light.

ELECTRICAL

Dual-voltage input 120V or 277V AC. Emergency unit provided with test switch, status indicator and 
rechargeable battery. Maintenance-free nickel-cadmium battery provides 90 minutes of emergency power.

LISTINGS

UL Listed. Meets UL 924, NFPA 101, NFPA 70-NEC and OSHA illumination standards. Damp location 32°F to 
122°F (0°C to 50°C) listed standard.

WARRANTY 

Fixtures are covered by Lithonia Lighting 24-month warranty against mechanical defects in manufacture.

Complete warranty terms located at  
www.acuitybrands.com/CustomerResources/Terms_and_conditions.aspx

All life safety equipment, including emergency lighting for path of egress must be maintained, serviced, 
and tested in accordance with all National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) and local codes. Failure to 
perform the required maintenance, service, or testing could jeopardize the safety of occupants and will 
void all warranties.

Actual performance may differ as a result of end-user environment and application.

Note: Specifications subject to change without notice. 

      Standard 
 Catalog   Supply Input Pallet Carton 
 Number UPC Description Voltage Wattage1 Qty. Qty.

 EU2 LED M12 784231874493 Emergency lighting unit 120/277 1.8 324 12

Notes:
1 Per lamp head.

2 See spec sheet ELA-WG.

Contractor Select 

LED UNITS
LED Lamps

Accessories: Order as separate items.

ELA WG1 Wireguard (back mount only)2

Weight: 4 lbs. (1.82 kgs.).

10-1/8

3-3/4
(9.5)

5-3/8 (13.7)

14-5/8

3-3/4
(9.5)

2
(5.1)

All configurations of this product are considered "standard" and have short lead times.

NOTE:

120/208 3 PHASE 4W 65KAIC

METER STACK

GROUNDING ELECTRODE CONDUCTOR TO A 5/8" X 10' DRIVEN ROD.
MAIN, BUILDING STEEL, AND THE FOUNDATION STEEL.  PROVIDE A #6
PROVIDE A #3/0 GROUNDING ELECTRODE CONDUCTOR TO THE WATER

THHN CU

2"EMT

100/3P

4 #3/0
1 #6 G

100/3P

EXSTG

2"EMT 1-1/4" C

100/3P

120/240 3 PHASE 4W

THHN CU

4 #3/0
1 #6 G

THHN CU

3 #1/0
1 #6 G

House P.

THHN CUTHHN CU

3/4"C
1 # 3/0 G

3/4"C
1 # 3/0 G

800/3P

75 KVA XFMR
480-120/208
3/0         4W

200/3P

2"EMT

THHN
CU

4 #3/0
1 #6 G

PNL 1

THHN CU

2"EMT

400/3P

4 #3/0
1 #6 G

"NEW"

PNL 2 PNL 3

EXSTG

EXSTG

M

GFP-R
400A HS

.1S Delay

#4 Bndg Jumpr

#4 Bndg Jumpr

UG
PS

INCOMING SERVICE

N

G

COLD WATER
PIPE & UFER 100AF/

100 AS

1/2" C
1 # 2 G

N

G

1/2" C
1 # 2 G

COLD WATER
PIPE & UFER

D

B

B

A

A

A

C

A

A

O
C

60
"

60
" 60

"

A  
    

 B
A  

    
 B

A  
    

 B
A  

    
 B

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D

 L
E

D
 L

E
D

DP

DP

O
C

O
C

O
C

G
FI

 4
4"

G
FI

 4
4"

G
FI

 4
4"

G
FI

 4
4"

G
FI

 4
4"

G
FI

 4
4"

 L
E

D
P

N
L-

A

(E
) S

W
IT

C
H

G
E

A
R

Item QTY EQUIPMENT NEW/ 
EXIST/
DEMO 

MFG MODEL DIMENSIONS             
w x d x h

GAS BTU ELECTRIC WATTAGE HOT 
WATER

COLD 
WATER

DIRECT 
WASTE

INDIRE
CT 

WASTE
1 17 LED HIGH BAY LIGHTS N PLT SOLUTIONS PT-11906 100W 14” x 14” x 8.5” 120v/60/1 100
2 14 RECESSED LED CAN N HALO HALO H750ICAT 

6IN LED
6.8” x 6.8” x 2.8” 120v/60/1 12

3 8 EMERGENCY LIGHTS N LITHONIA EU2 LED M12 14” x 3.5” x 3.5” 120v/60/1 1.8
4 1 ELEC. W/H N AO SMITH DEL-50 6” x 9.5” x 2.8” 120v/60/1 4500
5 2 EXIT LIGHTS N LITHONIA LRP EL N 13” x 4” x 3” 120v/60/1 2.3
6 4 4X4 TROFFER LIGHTS N LITHONIA TWP LED ALO 50K 16” X 15” X 8” 120v/60/1 11

1

05/10/24

1 EXIT LIGHTING

2 EMERGENCY LIGHTING
4 SERVICE GROUND

3 SINGLE LINE

1

1

NOTE:
EXIT SIGNS / EMERGENCY LIGHTING UL 924
EXIT SIGNS / EMERGENCY LIGHTING TO PROVIDE 5 FOOT CANDLES (54
LUX) ILLUMINATION PER 1011.5.2 CBC
EXIT SIGNS / EMERGENCY LIGHTING SECONDARY POWER SOURCE FROM
STORED BATTERIES TO PROVIDE MINIMUM OF 90 MINUTES ILLUMINATION
PER 1006.3 CBC

NOTE :
Egress (emergency back-up) lighting is
required for exterior landings of
required exit doors/exterior stairways
located at other than the level of exit
discharge.

3/16" = 1'-0"

Equipment & lighting schedule

Page 311

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

E-3
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

Title 24

21 25

72-651 TH
EO

D
O

R
A

 LN
. PA

LM
 D

ESERT C
A

. 92260

LIC
. # 581636   O

FFIC
E: 760-567-2347       FA

X
: 760-779-9525

. . . . . . .

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

ENGINEERING:

#Structural Engineering

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

Generated Date/Time: Documentation Software: Energy Code Ace

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2022 Nonresidential Compliance Report Version: 2022.0.000
Schema Version: rev 20220101

Compliance ID: 203615-0624-0002
Report Generated: 2024-06-04 10:29:59

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Electrical Power Distribution CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 NRCC-ELC-E
This document is used to demonstrate compliance with mandatory requirements in 130.5, for electrical systems in newly constructed nonresidential and hotel/motel occupancies and
160.6 and 160.9 for electrical systems in newly constructed multifamily occupancies. Additions and alterations to electrical service systems in nonresidential and hotel/motel
occupancies will also use this document to demonstrate compliance per 141.0(a) or 141.0(b)2P for alterations. For multifamily addition or alterations compliance will be documented
per 180.1(a) or 180.2 (b)4Bvii
Project Name:      VMP Event Center Report Page:                                                                                                                                      (Page 1 of 4)
Project Address:                                                                                                                                                        Date Prepared:                                                                                                       2024-06-04T13:29:57-04:00

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

01 Project Location (city) Coachella
02 Climate Zone 15
03 Occupancy Types Within Project: All Other Occupancies

B. PROJECT SCOPE
This table includes electrical systems that are within the scope of the permit application.

01 02 03 04 05 06 07

Electrical Service
Designation/
Description

Scope of Work1 Rating2 (kVA)

Utility Provided
Metering System
Exception to
130.5(a)/
160.6(a)3

System
subject to CA
Elec Code
Article 517
Exception to
130.5(a)and

(b)

Demand Response Controls

Provides power to dwelling
units/common living areas

only in multifamily
occupancy

new 400 amp
service in new

space

Add/Alt to feeders
and branch
circuits only

---

Where required, demand response controls must be specified
which are capable of receiving and automatically responding to at
least one standards based messaging protocol which enables
demand response after receiving a demand response signal.
Sections 120.2/ 160.3, 130.1/ 160.5, and 130.3/ 160.5, and
mechanical, indoor lighting, and sign lighting Certificate of

Compliance documents will indicate when demand response
controls are required.

1FOOTNOTES: Adding only new feeders and branch circuits triggers Voltage Drop 130.5(c)/160.6(c), no other requirements from 130.5/160.6 are required.
2 If common use areas in a multifamily are submetered, rating is for submeter size serving common use areas.
3 Applicable if the utility company is providing a metering system that indicates instantaneous kW demand and kWh for a utility-defined period.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Electrical Power Distribution CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                            NRCC-ELC-E
Project Name:    VMP Event Center Report Page:                                                                                                      (Page 2 of 4)

Date Prepared:                                                                            2024-06-04T13:29:57-04:00

Generated Date/Time: Documentation Software: Energy Code Ace

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2022 Nonresidential Compliance Report Version: 2022.0.000
Schema Version: rev 20220101

Compliance ID: 203615-0624-0002
Report Generated: 2024-06-04 10:29:59

C. COMPLIANCE RESULTS
Results in this table are automatically calculated from data input and calculations in Tables F through J. Note: If any cell on this table says "COMPLIES with Exceptional Conditions" refer
to Table D. Exceptional Conditions for guidance or see applicable Table referenced below.

01

AND

02

AND

03

AND

04 05 06
Service Electrical
Metering 130.5(a)/

160.6(a)
(See Table F)

Separation for
Monitoring 130.5(b)/

160.6(b)
(See Table G)

Voltage Drop
130.5(c)/ 160.6(c)
(See Table H)

Controlled
Receptacles

130.5(d)/ 160.6(d)
(See Table I)

Electric Ready 160.9
(See Table J) Compliance Results

AND AND Yes AND COMPLIES

D. EXCEPTIONAL CONDITIONS
This table is auto-filled with uneditable comments because of selections made or data entered in tables throughout the form.

E. ADDITIONAL REMARKS
This table includes remarks made by the permit applicant to the Authority Having Jurisdiction.

H. VOLTAGE DROP
This table includes entirely new or complete replacement electrical power distribution systems, or alterations that add, modify or replace both feeders and branch circuits to
demonstrate compliance with 130.5(c)/ 160.6(c). For alterations, only the altered circuits must demonstrate compliance per 141.0(b)2Piii/ 180.2(b)4Bviic.

01 02 03 04 05

Electrical Service
Designation/Description

Combined Voltage Drop on Installed Feeder/Branch
Circuit Conductors Compliance Method

Location of Voltage Drop
Calculations1

Sheet Number for Voltage Drop
Calculations in Construction

Documents

Field Inspector

Pass Fail

new 400 amp service in new
space

Voltage drop less than
5%

Permitted by CA Elec
Code (Exception to

130.5(c))*
Contractor Responsible

* NOTES: If "Permitted by CA Elec Code *" is selected under Compliance Method above, please indicate where the exception applies in the space provided below.
1 FOOTNOTES: Voltage drop calculations may be attached to the permit application outside the construction documents if allowed by the Authority Having Jurisdiction. Select "attached"
if applicable. If calculations will be the responsibility of the installing contractor, select "Contractor Responsible".

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Electrical Power Distribution CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                            NRCC-ELC-E
Project Name:    VMP Event Center Report Page:                                                                                                      (Page 3 of 4)

Date Prepared:                                                                            2024-06-04T13:29:57-04:00

Generated Date/Time: Documentation Software: Energy Code Ace

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2022 Nonresidential Compliance Report Version: 2022.0.000
Schema Version: rev 20220101

Compliance ID: 203615-0624-0002
Report Generated: 2024-06-04 10:29:59

K. DECLARATION OF REQUIRED CERTIFICATES OF INSTALLATION
Selections have been made based on information provided in this document. If any selection have been changed by permit applicant, an explanation should be included in Table E.
Additional Remarks. These documents must be provided to the building inspector during construction and can be found online

Form/Title

NRCI-ELC-E - Must be submitted for all buildings

L. DECLARATION OF REQUIRED CERTIFICATES OF ACCEPTANCE
There are no forms required for this project.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Electrical Power Distribution CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                            NRCC-ELC-E
Project Name:    VMP Event Center Report Page:                                                                                                      (Page 4 of 4)
Project Address:                                                                                                                       Date Prepared:                                                                            2024-06-04T13:29:57-04:00

Generated Date/Time: Documentation Software: Energy Code Ace

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2022 Nonresidential Compliance Report Version: 2022.0.000
Schema Version: rev 20220101

Compliance ID: 203615-0624-0002
Report Generated: 2024-06-04 10:29:59

DOCUMENTATION AUTHOR'S DECLARATION STATEMENT
I certify that this Certificate of Compliance documentation is accurate and complete.
Documentation Author Name:
Bob Sipovac

Documentation Author Signature:

Company:
Sipovac construction inc

Signature Date:

Address: CEA/ HERS Certification Identification (if applicable):
City/State/Zip: Phone:

RESPONSIBLE PERSON'S DECLARATION STATEMENT
I certify the following under penalty of perjury, under the laws of the State of California:

1. The information provided on this Certificate of Compliance is true and correct.
2. I am eligible under Division 3 of the Business and Professions Code to accept responsibility for the building design or system design identified on this Certificate of Compliance (responsible designer)
3. The energy features and performance specifications, materials, components, and manufactured devices for the building design or system design identified on this Certificate of Compliance conform to the requirements

of Title 24, Part 1 and Part 6 of the California Code of Regulations.
4. The building design features or system design features identified on this Certificate of Compliance are consistent with the information provided on other applicable compliance documents, worksheets, calculations,

plans and specifications submitted to the enforcement agency for approval with this building permit application.
5. I will ensure that a completed signed copy of this Certificate of Compliance shall be made available with the building permit(s) issued for the building, and made available to the enforcement agency for all applicable

inspections. I understand that a completed signed copy of this Certificate of Compliance is required to be included with the documentation the builder provides to the building owner at occupancy.
Responsible Designer Name: Responsible Designer Signature:
Company: Date Signed:
Address: License:
City/State/Zip: Phone:

Electrical Power Distribution Mandatory Measures:
110.12(a) DEMAND RESPONSIVE (DR) CONTROLS
ALL DEMAND RESPONSIVE CONTROLS SHALL:
1. BE EITHER A. CERTIFIED OPENADR 2.0a OR OPENADR 2.0b VIRTUAL END NODE (VEN); OR B. CERTIFIED BY THE MANUFACTURER AS BEING CAPABLE OF
RESPONDING TO A DR SIGNAL FROM A CERTIFIED OPENADR 2.0b VEN AUTOMATICALLY IMPLEMENTING THE CONTROL FUNCTIONS REQUESTED BY THE VEN FOR
THE EQUIPMENT IT CONTROLS.

2. BE CAPABLE OF COMMUNICATING USING ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING: WI-FI, ZIGBEE, BACNET, ETHERNET, OR HARD-WIRING.
3. CONTINUE TO PERFORM ALL OTHER CONTROL FUNCTIONS PROVIDED BY THE CONTROL WHEN COMMUNICATIONS ARE DISABLED OR UNAVAILABLE.
4. DR CONTROL THERMOSTATS SHALL COMPLY WITH REFERENCE JOINT APPENDIX 5 (JA5), TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS FOR OCCUPANT CONTROLLED SMART
THERMOSTATS.

110.12(d) DEMAND RESPONSIVE ELECTRONIC MESSAGE CENTER CONTROL
CONTROLS FOR ELECTRONIC MESSAGE CENTERS GREATER THAN 15KW SHALL BE CAPABLE OF REDUCING THE LIGHTING POWER BY A MINIMUM OF 30%WHEN
RECEIVING A DR SIGNAL.
130.5(c) VOLTAGE DROP
THE MAXIMUM COMBINED VOLTAGE DROP ON BOTH INSTALLED FEEDER AND BRANCH CIRCUIT CONDUCTORS TO THE FARTHEST CONNECTED LOAD OR OUTLET SHALL
NOT EXCEED 5%.

Page 312

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

M-1
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

Mech Plan

22 25

72-651 TH
EO

D
O

R
A

 LN
. PA

LM
 D

ESERT C
A

. 92260

LIC
. # 581636   O

FFIC
E: 760-567-2347       FA

X
: 760-779-9525

. . . . . . .

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

ENGINEERING:

#Structural Engineering

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

S

S
SS

SS

S
E

F-
1

14
"(

TY
P

)

12
"(

TY
P

)

20
"(

TY
P

)

18
"(

TY
P

)

E
F-

1
E

F-
1

E
F-

1

10
"(

TY
P

)

10
"(

TY
P

)

10
"(

TY
P

)

10
"(

TY
P

)

10
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

20
"(

TY
P

)

20
"(

TY
P

)
20

"(
TY

P
)

20
"(

TY
P

)
20

"(
TY

P
)

18
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

18
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

18
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

18
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

18
"(

TY
P

)

16
"(

TY
P

)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

(N
)

OA VENTILATION

HVAC 1(New)

THERMOSTAT

MODEL #

H x W x D

FUSE

WEIGHT

MCA 208V/230V/3PH/60HZ

MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT

SETBACK PROGRAMMABLE

YES

FILTER MERV 13

QTY 1

E.E.R

MANUFACTURER CARRIER

N.C.C

SEER

11

59" x 89"x 50"

400 lbs.

50.0

50

13.4

3.0 Tons

50HCQA04

CFM 900

HVAC 2(New)

YES

11

59" x 89"x 50"

610 lbs.

60.0

13.4

5.0 Tons

1500

5

60

CARRIER

50HCQA06

POWER EXHAUST ECONOMISER and c02 SENSR

Design
CFM 4" CFM 6" CFM 8" CFM 10" CFM 12"
60 6x4 60 4x6 90 4x8 120 4x10 150 4x12
90 8x4 110 6x6 160 6x8 215 6x10 270 6x12

120 10x4 160 8x6 230 8x8 310 8x10 400 8x12
150 12x4 215 10x6 310 10x8 430 10x10 550 10x12
180 14x4 270 12x6 400 12x8 550 12x10 680 12x12
210 16x4 320 14x6 490 14x8 670 14x10 800 14x12
240 18x4 375 16x6 580 16x8 800 16x10 950 16x12
270 20x4 430 18x6 670 18x8 930 18x10 1100 18x12
300 22x4 490 20x6 750 20x8 1060 20x10 1250 20x12
330 24x4 540 22x6 840 22x8 1200 22x10 1400 22x12

600 24x6 930 24x8 1320 24x10 1600 24x12
650 26x6 1020 26x8 1430 26x10 1750 26x12
710 28x6 1100 28x8 1550 28x10 1950 28x12
775 30x6 1200 30x8 1670 30x10 2150 30x12

40 21/2 x10 1300 32x8 1800 32x10 2300 32x12
70 21/2 x14 1400 34x8 1930 34x10 2450 34x12

150 21/2 x30 1500 36x8 2060 36x10 2600 36x12
100 31/2 x14 2200 38x10 2750 38x12
220 31/2 x30 2350 40x10 2900 40x12

3050 42x12

  © 2005 NCI, Inc.

 Flex duct  = .05" on most metal duct calculator         Round metal pipe = .06" on most metal duct calculators

FIELD DUCT SIZING CHART

Rectangular sheet metal duct  = .07" on most metal duct calculators

Step One - Identify the volume of air that will be passing through the duct
Step Two - Select the duct size from the table that can carry that volume of air
Step Three - If desired airflow exceeds the CFM rating , increase to the next duct size
Step Four - Listed CFM is based on typical field results and may vary, install dampers
Step Five - If duct run exceeds 25', or has excessive transitions, increase to the next size
Step Six - Design alone is inadequate, always prove design by test and balance.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE

Duct Size

Duct Height  - Net inside dimension in inches

ROUND DUCT SIZE ESTIMATE 

RECTANGULAR DUCT SIZE ESTIMATE

14"

5"
6"
7"
8"

16"
18"
20"

Design Airflow
50
75

110

9"
10"
12"

1300
1700

160
225
300
480
700

1000

Duct Size
5"
6"
7"
8"

18"
20"

9"
10"
12"

Flexible Duct Round Metal Pipe

750
1200

14"
16"

Design Airflow
50
85

125

1500
2000

180
240
325
525

ROUND DUCT HANGER STRAP SIZES:

Duct                        Strap                    Max.
Diameter              Hangers               Spacing
up to 26"           one 1"x22 Ga.             12Ft.
  27"-36"           one 1"x18 Ga.             12Ft.
  37"-50"           one 1"x16 Ga.             12Ft.
  51"-60"           two 1"x18 Ga.             12Ft.

EXHAUST VENT CONNECTION

7
6

5

43

2

1

EXHAUST FAN OUTLET.
ON INSIDE OF METAL SURFACES.
ASSEMBLY WITH "EISENHEISS" COATING
GALVANIZED FLEXIBLE CONNECTION

GROUNDING WIRE.

TRANSITION AS REQUIRED.
SEAL JOINT WITH SILICONE.
MAXIMUM (MINIMUM 3 FASTENERS).

ACID RESISTANT FLEXIBLE CONNECTION.

SCREWS OR BLIND RIVETS AT 15"
STAINLESS STEEL SHEET METAL

4.
3.

1.
2.

7.

5.
6.

05/10/24

MECHANICAL LEGEND

RECTANGULAR SUPPLY REGISTER
SEE PLAN FOR SIZE

RECTANGULAR RETURN REGISTER
SEE PLAN FOR SIZE

ROUND HARD DUCY
SEE PLAN FOR SIZE

ROUND RETURN REGISTER
SEE PLAN FOR SIZE

 SUPPLY REGISTER  SUPPLY REGISTER MF

EXHAUST FAN WITH LIGHT 27W

PRIMARY AND SECONDARY
CONDENSATE DRAIN LINES

WP
GFI

S

SURFACE CONNECTION BOX

RECEPTACLE - WATER PROOF W/ GROUND
FAULT INTERRUPTER @ +12" - U.N.O.

SMOKE DETECTOR

1

1

NOTES
1. All duct openings and other air distribution component openings shall be
protected during storage on the construction site until final start-up with tape,
sheet metal, or other acceptable methods to reduce the amount of dust and
debris, which may collect in the systems CGBC 5.504.3
2. HVAC, refrigeration equipment shall not contain CFC'S per CGBC 5.508
3. All ducts will have R-8 duct insulation

LOCAL VENTILATION RATE SUMMARY
BATHROOM FAN FLOW (EF-1) = 80 CFM

NUMBER OF NEW BATHROOMS = 2
DUCT SIZE = 4 INCHES

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE
DUCT LENGHT = 70 FT

1/4" = 1'-0"

Table 120.1.A.-Minimum Ventalation Rates, Occupancy
Category, Disco/Dance Floor. 20 Cubic Feet per minute
(CFM) per person, with an outdoor air rate of 0.06 cfm
per square foot

Occupancy 274 x 20cfm = 5480 cfm ventalation rate
8400 cfm provided

Page 313

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

P-1
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

General Notes

23 25

72-651 TH
EO

D
O

R
A

 LN
. PA

LM
 D

ESERT C
A

. 92260

LIC
. # 581636   O

FFIC
E: 760-567-2347       FA

X
: 760-779-9525

. . . . . . .

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

ENGINEERING:

#Structural Engineering

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

E.

D.

C.

B.

A.

D.

C.

B.
A.

D.

C.

B.

A.

A.

A.

C.
B.
A.

B.

A.

I.

H.
G.
F.
E.
D.

C.

B.
A.

F.

E.

D.
C.

B.

A.

E.

D.

C.

B.

A.

D.
C.
B.

A.

STATE GAS CODE.

WHERE NECESSARY.

PLUMBING EQUIPMENT:

SPECIFIED FOR WASTE PIPING.

PIPING SHALL NOT EXCEED 50'-0".

CLEANOUTS:

BRONZE SEAT, COMPOSITION DISC.

SMALLER.

VALVES:

ROOF DRAIN PIPING WHERE SHOWN ON DRAWINGS, SHALL BE SAME AS

FOR RODDING (IN UNFURNISHED AREAS WHEREVER POSSIBLE) WHERE
ALL CLEANOUTS SHALL BE  INSTALLED IN LOCATIONS EASILY ACCESSIBLE

WASTE OR SOIL STACK, AND AT THE END OF EACH HORIZONTAL RUN OF
FULL SIZE CLEANOUTS SHALL BE INSTALLED AT THE BASE OF EACH

CHECK VALVES, SWING TYPE, SCREWED, BRONZE BODY, COMPOSITION DISC.
GLOBE VALVES SHALL BE SCREWED BRONZE.
GATE VALVES SHALL HAVE SOLID TAPERED WEDGE.
VALVE ENDS FOR COPPER WATER TUBE TYPE "L";  SOLDER-JOINT TYPE.

VALVE ENDS FOR THREADED PIPE:  SCREWED FOR SIZE 2-1/2" AND
BODY BRONZE MOUNTED FOR 2-1/2" AND LARGER.
VALVE MATERIAL:  BRONZE MATERIAL FOR SIZE 2" AND SMALLER, IRON
VALVES SHALL HAVE TEST RATING OF NOT LESS THAT 125 PSI.

PIPE.   THE DISTANCE BETWEEN CLEANOUTS IN HORIZONTAL RUNS OF

CHECK VALVES, SWING TYPE FLANGED, IRON BODY BRASS MOUNTED,

ALL VALVES TO BE BALL VALVES WHERE POSSIBLE.

FIXTURES:

IN THE FIXTURE LIST.

TRAPS DRAIN STRAINERS, ETC.

WHO CAUSED THE DAMAGE.

AND SHOWERS 3.0 GPM.

WATER SUPPLY SYSTEMS:

SANITARY SYSTEM:

ROOF FLASHING:

ABOVE PIPING OUTSIDE BUILDINGS.

CONNECTIONS.

BE VALVED AND DRIP COCKS PROVIDED SO THAT THE ENTIRE SYSTEM
WATER SUPPLY.  ALL BRANCH MAINS AND CONNECTIONS TO RISERS SHALL
FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT OUTLETS REQUIRING A COLD AND/OR HOT
PLANS INCLUDING SHUT-OFF AND DRAIN VALVE ON SERVICE TO ALL
BUILDING PIPING:  PROVIDE A COMPLETE PIPING SYSTEM AS SHOWN ON

WORK.  LAY PIPING TRUE TO LINE AND GRADE UNIFORMLY UNLESS
CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ELEVATIONS OF SEWER MAINS BEFORE STARTING

FLASH WITH LONG BOOT LEAD FLASHING AROUND PIPE.
VENTS THROUGH ROOF TERMINATE 12" ABOVE THE ROOF OR FIREWALL.

INSTALLED FLUSH WITH FLOOR AND PROVIDED WITH FLANGED CLEANOUT

MAY BE DRAINED.  FIXTURE STOPS SHALL BE INSTALLED ON ALL FIXTURE

OTHERWISE INDICATED OR DIRECTED,  MAINTAIN 36" MINIMUM COVER

COVER.   PROVIDE ACCESS PANELS AS REQUIRED.

THE BASE OF THE FLASHING SHALL BE MINIMUM 12" X 12" ON THE ROOF.

STACKS OR OTHER PIPING ARE CONCEALED, CLEANOUTS SHALL BE

1.6 GPF, URINALS 1.5 GPF, LAVATORIES 2.75 GPM, SINKS 2.75 GPM,
PROVIDE LOW-FLOW PLUMBING FIXTURE DEVICES FOR:  WATERCLOSETS

SPECIFIED.  THIS INCLUDES FIXTURE CONNECTIONS, FIXTURE STOPS,
BE CHROMIUM PLATED UNLESS A DIFFERENT PLATING OR FINISH IS
ALL EXPOSED METAL PARTS REQUIRED FOR FIXTURE INSTALLATION SHALL

SHALL BE IMMEDIATELY REPLACED BY THIS CONTRACTOR REGARDLESS OF
FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF THE BUILDING BY OWNER.  ANY DAMAGED FIXTURE
THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROTECTION OF FIXTURES UNTIL

FURNISH AND INSTALL PLUMBING FIXTURES, TYPE "A" QUALITY SPECIFIED

HOSE MAY BE ATTACHED AND WHERE INDICATED IN THE PLANS.
BRANCH LINES TO ALL OUTLETS WITH THREADED OUTLETS WHERE A GARDEN
VACUUM BREAKERS:  PROVIDE LINE SIZE VACUUM BREAKER ON ALL
SHUTTING DOWN ENTIRE WATER SYSTEM WHEN REPLACING FAUCET WASHERS.
ROUGH-INS, ETC. TO BE SUPPLIED WITH STOP VALVES TO PREVENT
STOP VALVES:  ALL FIXTURES, SILLCOCKS, YARD HYDRANTS, HOSE BIBBS,

INDEXED FOUR ARM HANDLE, BRASS, AMERICAN STANDARD OR EQUAL,
HOSE BIBBS:  THREADED END, 3/4" SIZE, ADJUSTABLE FLANGE,
SILLCOCK:  NIBCO FIG. NO. 62-6S, WITH ANTI-SIPHON PROTECTION.

THE ENTIRE PLUMBING SYSTEM IN SATISFACTORY OPERATING CONDITION.
CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE ALL ADJUSTMENTS AS REQUIRED AND PLACE
BEFORE FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF THE SYSTEM AS A WHOLE, THIS

GAS PIPING, IF ANY, SHALL BE TESTED AS REQUIRED BY LOCAL OR
FREEZE-PROOF AS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE.
ALL WASTE AND VENT PIPING SHALL BE TESTED WITH WATER OR AIR
ANY PIPING IS COVERED OR CONCEALED IN ANY PART OF THE BUILDING.
TESTED WITH 125 LBS. HYDROSTATIC TEST AND PROVEN TIGHT BEFORE
ALL HOT AND COLD WATER LINES SHALL BE CAPPED OR PLUGGED AND

TESTS FOR PLUMBING AND DRAINAGE SYSTEMS:

UNIONS:

PIPE AND FITTINGS:

GROUND JOINT, BRASS TO IRON SEAT.

ALLOW REPAIRS OR REPLACEMENT.

CLEAN PIPING WHEN INSTALLED, KEEP CLEAN.

AND DISTORTIONS, END REAMED OUT SMOOTH.

PIPE, PIPING INSTALLATION:

ARE JOINED.

COPPER TYPE.

INSTALLED.

AND LARGER AT 1% PER FOOT.

SOFT COPPER UNDER THE SLAB.

GOVERNING CODES AND ORDINANCES.

APPENDIX "D".

(LATEST EDITION).

PLUMBING SPECIFICATIONS:

"UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE" AND APPLICABLE STATE AND LOCAL CODES
MATERIALS, METHODS AND DETAILS OF PLUMBING WORK SHALL CONFORM TO
HOT WATER SYSTEM, PLUMBING FIXTURES, AND WATER SERVICE,
DRAINAGE, SEWER WASTE, VENT SYSTEMS, COLD WATER SYSTEM,
INDICATED ON PLANS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE FOLLOWING:
FURNISH LABOR, MATERIALS TO COMPLETE WORK SPECIFIED OR

SLOPE ALL SEWER PIPING 3" AND SMALLER AT 2% PER FOOT AND 4"

TO ALL VERTICAL RUNS OF PIPE.  INSTALL IN ACCORDANCE WITH UPC
MAY BE USED FOR CONNECTIONS TO BRANCH LINES, TO FIXTURES, AND
CHANGES IN DIRECTION OCCUR.  SANITARY LONG SWEEP BENDS OR TEES
COMBINATION WYE AND 1/8" BEND FITTINGS SHALL BE USED WHERE
REDUCED FITTINGS.  WYE FITTINGS WITH 1/8" OR 1/16" BEND OR
ALL CHANGES IN PIPE SIZES IN SOIL PIPE SHALL BE MADE WITH

AND FITTINGS SHALL BE BRAZED.  NO JOINTS WILL BE PERMITTED IN
BE TYPE "L" HARD COPPER IS INSTALLED, JOINTS BETWEEN PIPE
ALL DOMESTIC HOT, COLD WATER LINES ABOVE THE BUILDING SLAB TO

OR GALVANIZED SCHEDULE 40 STEEL PIPE WITH MALLEABLE IRON
SHALL BE SERVICE WEIGHT CAST IRON FOR SIZED LARGER THAN 1-1/2",
IN LOCATIONS WHERE PVC IS NOT APPROVED FOR USE, PIPING

FOR DRAIN, WASTE AND VENT PIPING WHERE APPROVED BY THE LOCAL
SCHEDULE 40, PVC PIPE SHALL BE ACCEPTABLE IN LIEU OF CAST IRON

INSTALL DIELECTRIC UNIONS WHERE PIPING OF DISSIMILAR MATERIALS

UNIONS FOR COPPER PIPING 2" AND SMALLER SHALL BE COPPER TO

UNIONS FOR STEEL PIPING 2" AND SMALLER, 150 PSI MALLEABLE IRON

PROVIDE UNION SAME AS THE PIPING IN WHICH THEY ARE BEING

PROVIDE AT ALL VALVES AND EQUIPMENT WHEREVER NECESSARY TO

FOOT EXCEPT WHERE SHOWN OTHERWISE.  2.  HOT AND COLD WATER;
PITCH AND GRADE:  1.  SOIL, WASTE DRAINAGE, UNIFORM 1/4" PER

PROVIDE PROPER ALLOWANCES FOR EXPANSION AND CONTRACTION.

METAL PIPE SHALL BE STRAIGHT, FREE FROM DENTS, SCARS, BURNS,

FITTING TO BE SUITABLE FOR TYPE OF PIPE USED.
SCREWED VENT FITTINGS FOR SIZES 1-1/2" AND SMALLER.

LEVEL OR SLIGHTLY PITCHED TOWARD DRAIN POINTS.

COFFEE MAKERS, ETC.)

BACKFLOW PREVENTER:  PROVIDE WATTS SERIES 7 OR #9BD.
DOUBLE CHECK VALVE TYPE (VERIFY WITH LOCAL CODES) AT ALL
CONNECTIONS TO EQUIPMENT (ICE MAKERS, VENDING MACHINES,

05/10/241

Page 314

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

P-2
Thursday, August 22, 2024

03282024

#Contact Full Name
Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

Plumbing Plan

24 25

72-651 TH
EO

D
O

R
A

 LN
. PA

LM
 D

ESERT C
A

. 92260

LIC
. # 581636   O

FFIC
E: 760-567-2347       FA

X
: 760-779-9525

. . . . . . .

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

ENGINEERING:

#Structural Engineering

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

Parra Construction

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
Daniel Glubaich
175 E Main St.
Morgan Hill, 95037
760-567-2347
APN # 603-310-005
LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

PLUMBING  LEGEND

HOT WATER LINE ( STUBOUT )

COLD WATER LINE ( STUBOUT )

SEWER LINE

COLD WATER LINE

HOT WATER LINE

WATER HAMMER ARRESTOR

7. Water reduction.  Show on the plans the following maximum fixture flow rates 
from the table below.  Revise general notes, plumbing plans, etc. to match.  CGC 
5.303.   

MAXIMUM FIXTURE FLOW RATES 

FIXTURE TYPE MAXIMUM FLOW RATE  
Water closets 1.28 gallons/flush 

Urinals (wall mounted) 0.125 gallons/flush 
Urinals (floor mounted) 0.5 gallons/flush 

Showerheads 1.8 gpm @ 80 psi 
Lavatory faucets-

nonresidential 
0.5 gpm @60 psi 

Kitchen faucets 1.8 gpm @ 60 psi 
Metering faucets 0.2 gallons/cycle 

 

PLUMBING, MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, and ENERGY COMMENTS 

PLAN REVIEWER: Eric Jensen 

PLUMBING (2016 CALIFORNIA PLUMBING CODE) 

1. Clarify, on the plumbing plans what is existing and what is new.  If I compare the 
architectural and plumbing plans the architectural looks like a urinal is the only 
plumbing addition, the plumbing has a whole new restroom shown.  Please clarify. 

2. Correct the DWV drawings to show compliance with CPC, Section 707.4: “A 
cleanout shall be installed above the fixture connection fitting, serving each urinal, 
regardless of the location of the urinal in the building.” 

3. Provide complete water line sizing calculations:  Include the water pressure, 
pressure loss calculations, water demands, and the developed pipe lengths. CPC 
610.0 or Appendix ‘A’. (Addition of at least one flush valve fixture) 

4. Describe the method of compliance for temperature limitations for the public use 
lavatories (limited to 110 degrees). Note:  The water heater thermostat may not be 
used for compliance with this Code section. CPC 407.3. Energy Standards 110(C)3. 

5. All water supply systems that have quick closing valves installed therein (washing 
machines, flush valve fixtures, etc.) shall have devices installed as close to the 
fixtures as possible to control the effects of water hammer.  Please detail.  CPC 
609.10  

 

 

 

FUEL GAS 1308.5.1 Materials 
Pipe, fittings, valves, or other materials shall not be used again unless they are 
free of foreign materials and have been ascertained to be approved for the 
service intended. [NFPA 54:5.6.1.2]


FUEL GAS 1308.5.1.1 Other Materials 
Material not covered by the standards specifications listed herein shall be 
investigated and tested to determine that it is safe and approved for the 
proposed service and, in addition, shall be recommended for that service by the 
manufacturer and shall be acceptable to the Authority Having Jurisdiction. 
[NFPA 54:5.6.1.3]


308.5.2 Metallic Pipe 
Cast-iron pipe shall not be used. [NFPA 54:5.6.2.1]


1308.5.2.1 Steel and Wrought-Iron 
Steel and wrought-iron pipe shall be not less than standard weight (Schedule 40) 
and shall comply with one of the following standards:

1. ASME B36.10

2. ASTM A53

3. ASTM A106 [NFPA 54:5.6.2.2]


1308.5.2.2 Copper and Copper Alloy 
Copper and copper alloy pipe shall not be used where the gas contains more 
than an average of 0.3 grains of hydrogen sulfide per 100 standard cubic feet 
(scf) of gas (0.7 mg/100 L).


    Threaded copper, copper alloy, or aluminum alloy pipe shall not be used with 
gases corrosive to such material.


1308.5.2.3 Aluminum Alloy 
Aluminum alloy pipe shall comply with ASTM B241 (except that the use of alloy 
5456 is prohibited) and shall be marked at each end of each length indicating 
compliance. Aluminum alloy pipe shall be coated to protect against external 
corrosion where it is in contact with masonry, plaster, insulation, or is subject to 
repeated wettings by such liquids as water, detergents, or sewage. [NFPA 
54:5.6.2.5]


    Aluminum alloy pipe shall not be used in exterior locations or underground. 
[NFPA 54:5.6.2.6]


1308.5.3 Metallic Tubing 
Seamless copper, aluminum alloy, or steel tubing shall not be used with gases 
corrosive to such material. [NFPA 54:5.6.3]


1308.5.3.1 Steel 
Steel tubing shall comply with ASTM A254. [NFPA 54:5.6.3.1]


1308.5.3.2 Copper and Copper Alloy 
Copper and copper alloy tubing shall not be used where the gas contains more 
than an average of 0.3 grains of hydrogen sulfide per 100 scf of gas (0.7 mg/100 
L). Copper tubing shall comply with standard Type K or L of ASTM B88 or ASTM 
B280.


1308.5.3.3 Aluminum Alloy 
Aluminum alloy tubing shall comply with ASTM B210 or ASTM B241. Aluminum 
alloy tubing shall be coated to protect against external corrosion where it is in 
contact with masonry, plaster, insulation, or is subject to repeated wettings by 
such liquids as water, detergent, or sewage. Aluminum alloy tubing shall not be 
used in exterior locations or underground. [NFPA 54:5.6.3.3]


1308.5.3.4 Corrugated Stainless Steel 
Corrugated stainless steel tubing shall be listed in accordance with CSA LC-1. 
[NFPA 54:5.6.3.4]


1308.5.4 Plastic Pipe, Tubing, and Fittings 
Polyethylene plastic pipe, tubing, and fittings used to supply fuel gas shall be in 
accordance with ASTM D2513. Pipe to be used shall be marked "gas" and 
"ASTM D2513." [NFPA 54:5.6.4.1.1]


1308.5.4.1 Regulator Vent Piping 
Plastic pipe and fittings used to connect regulator vents to remote vent 
terminations shall be PVC in accordance with UL 651. PVC vent piping shall not 
be installed indoors. [NFPA 54:5.6.4.2]

D

B

B

A

A

A

C

A

A

60
"

60
" 60

"

fs

4"
C

/O

4"
M

A
IN

3"

2"
S

E
W

E
R

 C
O

N
N

3" 3" 3"

2"

2"

4"
M

A
IN

4"
M

A
IN

2"

2"

05/10/241

Notes
1. To maintain slope of horizontal drainage piping, double combination fitting is not permitted
to install in horizontal position. As an alternative, two combination wye & 1/8 bend fittings may
be used.
3. Water closet bowls for public use shall be of the elongated type.
5. New or repaired potable water systems shall be disinfected prior to use according to the
method set in Section 609.9 of the Plumbing Code
6. All plumbing fixtures and fixture fittings shall meet the standards referenced in Table 5.503.6
7. Any water system provided with a check valve or a back flow prevention device shall be
provided with an approved, listed, adequately sized pressure expansion tank or other device for
intermittent operation for thermal expansion control.
8. All public restrooms hot water supply is provided with water tempering device that conforms
to ASSE 1070 to limit water temperature to 110 F.
9. Any fixtures installed on a floor level located below level of next upstream sewer manhole
cover elevation shall be protected by a backwater valve per CPC Section 710.1
11. Each vent pipe or stack shall terminate vertically not less than 6 inches above the roof nor
less than 1 foot from any vertical surface.(CPC906.1)
12. Each vent shall terminate not less than 10 feet from, or not less than 3 feet above, any
openable window/skylight, door, opening, air intake, or not less than 3 feet in every direction
from any lot line. (CPC906.2)
13. Hot water piping is required to be insulated as follow: 1" pipe size or less: 1" thick
insulation, larger pipe size require 1 1/2" thick insulation. Table 120.3-A. ES120.3
14. Maximum flush volumes and flow rates: Water closet - 1.28 gallons per flush (blowout type
exempt) ; Faucets - 0.5 gallons per minute (sink and lavs)  CPC section 403.0

PLUMBING SCOPE OF WORK
1. 2 RESTROOMS,
1. MOP SINK
1. WATER FOUNTAIN
1. FLOOR SINK

 all domestic (i.e. potable) hot water
piping will have a minimum insulation for
the following pipe sizes: 1⁄2” pipe (1⁄2”
insulation); 3⁄4” pipe (1” insulation); 1”- 1
1⁄2” pipes (1 1⁄2” insulation); 2” pipes are
larger (2” insulation). CPC 609.11 & ES
150.0(j)

3/16" = 1'-0"

OCCUPANT LOAD ANALYSIS FOR PLUMBING FIXTURES TABLE 422.1 CPC 2022
4,735 SQ. FT. / 15 = 316

 158 MALE, 158 FEMALE
MALE: 3 TOILETS, 3 LAVATORY 2

URINALS 2
FEMALE: 4 TOILETS, 2 LAVATORY

Page 315

Item 19.



SHEET OF

SHEET  TITLE

DESCRIPTION

PROJECT NO:
MODEL FILE:
DRAWN BY:
CHK'D BY:
COPYRIGHT

MARK DATE

P-3
Thursday, August 22, 2024

 03282024

 #Contact Full Name
 Bob Sipovac

 Sipovac Construction Inc.

VMP Event Center. 04.11.24 V27.pln

SCALE:

Pumbing Details & ISO

25 25

72-651 TH
EO

D
O

R
A

 LN
. PA

LM
 D

ESERT C
A

. 92260

LIC
. # 581636   O

FFIC
E: 760-567-2347       FA

X
: 760-779-9525

. . . . . . .

CONSULTANTS .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
.

ENGINEERING:

#Structural Engineering

MECHANICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

ELECTRICAL:

Sipovac Construction Inc.
72-651 Theodora Lane
Palm Desert, CA 92260
760-567-2347
CSLB # 581636

CIVIL:

GENERAL CONTRACTOR .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

              Parra Construction
              760-567-2347

OWNER .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .
             #Client Company
             72-651 Theodora Lane,
             Palm Deseret
             949-584-7145
             APN # 603-310-005
             LEGAL ADDRESS :
POR SEC 32 T5S R8E

FLEXIBLE ALUMINUM
FLASHING

SEALANT

SEAL EDGE OF FLASHING
WITH LAP EDGE SEALANT

5' - 0" MAX.

WALL

COLD WATER SUPPLY
TO FIXTURES

VENT IN WALL

1/2" TRAP PRIMER

DRAIN TO SEWER

TRAP PRIMER
CONNECTION

P TRAP

FLOOR DRAIN

POINT OF
CONNECTION
TO SEWER

MIN. 1/4" PER FOOT
SLOPE

3" VTR

4"MAIN3"MAIN

3"MAIN
3"MAIN

2" VTR

2" VTR

3" VTR

2" VTR

2" VTR

3"MAIN

4"MAIN

3"MAIN

3"MAIN
2"MAIN

3" VTR

3" VTR

3" VTR

1-1/2" VTR

2" VTR
2" VTR

1-1/2" VTR

2"MAIN

1-1/2" VTR

2"MAIN

W/C(N)

W/C(N)

W/C(N)

W/C(N)

4"C/O

URINAL (N)
FD(N)

SINK(N)

SINK(N)

W/C(N)

W/C(N) URINAL (N)

URINAL (N)
SINK(N)

SINK(N)

MS(N)

WF(N) 4"C/O

FS(N)

SINK(N)

POINT OF CONNECTION

TRAP PRIMER

W/C(N)

UR (N)

FD

SINK(N)

1/2"

1/2"

3/4"

3/4"
WH

3/4"

1/2"

1/2"
1/2"

1/2"

WF(N)

SINK(N)

W/C(N)
W/C(N)

W/C(N)

W/C(N)
UR (N)

SINK(N)
SINK(N)

UR (N)
MS(N)

SINK(N)

05/10/241

1

Vent Stack Detail 1/4"   =    1'-0"1

Trap Primer Connection 1/8"   =    1'-0"2

Water heater Detail 1:1.434

Waste  Iso (2) 3/16" =    1'-0"10

Water Iso Detail (1) 1/4"   =    1'-0"12 Page 316

Item 19.



SECURITY SAFETY PLAN 

 

MINIMUM REQUIRED SECURITY SCHEDULE  

Events that exceed 50 guests are required to meet the minimum total required security officers required 

per the Security Plan Schedule. Any events that exceed 250 guests, are required to provide 1 additional 

security guard per every additional 50 guests. When occupant load reaches 250 or more, a minimum of 

1 security guard shall be provided or more to ensure the egress path of travel is clear. 

 

Daytime Special Event Rental Security Plan Schedule 

                                    2pm      3pm        4pm         5pm       6pm         7pm         8pm         9pm       10pm     

Parking Lot  1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 

Main Entrance 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Interior 2-4 2-4 2-4 2-4 2-3 2-3 2-3 2-4 2-4 

Minimum Total 
Security 
Required 

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 

 

Night-time Nightclub/Special Event/Live Event Security Plan Schedule 

                                    8pm      9pm         10 pm      11pm           12am           1am           2am               3am     

Parking Lot  1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 

Main Entrance 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Interior 2-4 2-4 2-4 2-4 2-4 2-4 2-4 2-4 

Minimum Total 
Security 
Required 

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 

 

 

 

SECURITY PLAN NARRATIVE 

PARKING LOT AND ACCESS CONTROL: 

There will be visible Security Officers that will be on site monitoring the parking lot area 1 hour prior to 

guest arriving. Once guests park, the patrol officer will make sure guests do not litter or linger around 

the parking lots for a long period of time, as we want to prevent any incidents in the parking lot area (all 

guests will be directed to the main entrance). Upon guests’ arrival to the main entrance, they will be 

greeted by a minimum of 2 more Security officers who will proceed to thoroughly search each guests 

before entering the premises.  

Page 317

Item 19.



ACCESS TO THE EVENT: 

Security Officers will be at the main entrance of the building greeting each guest. As the guest begin to 

arrive to the main entrance, the Officers will make a uniform line, keeping the guest away from the 

vehicle traffic. Each guest will be thoroughly searched by hand, and with a metal detector, including 

purses/bags on guest. All guests age will be verified by government issue ID or DL before granting access 

to the building. Officers will also have a counter to control the building capacity of guest. 

 

INTERIOR SECURITY: 

Once the guests arrive inside of the building. They will encounter more Security Officers roaming the 

building floor, monitoring the emergency exits, and back entrance to control guest access and prevent 

any unwanted and/or unmonitored access to the building. Once the peak hours of the event hit and the 

outside traffic has slowed down, one of the officers of the main entrance will go in the building to assist 

in crowd control and prevention of any incident inside the event (monitoring all guest activity in the 

building floor as well as the restrooms). This will leave a Patrol Officer monitoring the parking lots with 

emergency amber lights and one main entrance Officer to control access and monitor guest leaving the 

building, this will prevent any alcoholic beverages outside the building. There will be a total of 4 Officers 

roaming the interior of the event.  

 

IN CASE OF AN EMERGENCY: 

In case of any non-life-threatening emergency, our Security Officers are trained to do their best at 

deescalating any situation the fastest way possible. Our security Officers will always be aware of each 

other’s locations in case of back up needed. In case of a life-threatening or significant emergency one of 

our Officers has the duty of contacting 911 and relaying all the information as it is happening to the 

correct authorities and until law enforcement, fire and/or EMS arrives. During this time the rest of the 

Officers will be trying to deescalate any situation and assisting with crowd control. Once Law 

Enforcement, Cal Fire and/or EMS arrives, the Security Officers will assist them in whatever they need. 

 

FURTHERMORE, PREVENTION OF INCIDENTS: 

Security Officers will do their best to have every single guest out of the building 5 minutes before closing 

time (2:00am). At the closing time at (2:00am), officers will ensure guests leave the building and security 

will monitor until (3:00am) on special event nights Thursday through Sunday. At this time 2 Officers will 

be in the patrol vehicle driving around with amber emergency lights monitoring the parking lot. They will 

be urging the guest to leave the property as soon as possible to prevent them from loitering in the 

parking lot and to prevent any further incident at the location. The rest of the officers will be in the front 

of the building monitoring guest activity and urging guest to leave as soon as possible and to assist 

patrol officers in case of any incident. Our main objective is to keep our guest and staff safe and our 

location free of any negative incidents. We want to have all guest away from the building and out of the 

parking lot as fast as possible to prevent any incidents. Also, in the event any of our guest and/or staff 

Page 318

Item 19.



creates any negative issues (as small as they might be) while inside or outside our establishment, they 

will be denied access after that. 

VMP Nightclub & Event Center will work with Police Department to ensure the safety of all guest  

VMP Nightclub & Event Center will work with Police Department for any incidences of concern by the 

police. This may include contracting with the Police Department for any excessive patrols which may 

require conditions of approval to be reconsidered by the City Council. 

 

 

Security Safety Plan Presented By:  Security Safety Plan Agreed By: 

 

VMP Events Center_______  ___________________________ 

Page 319

Item 19.



 

Page 320

Item 19.

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:5 Shrubs or Flowers 

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:7 Shrubs or Flowers1 Shade Tree

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:8 Shrubs or Flowers1 Shade Tree(7) missing plants

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:8 Shrubs or Flowers1 Shade Tree(1) missing Shade Tree

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:8 Shrubs or Flowers1 Shade Tree(1) missing Plant

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:8 Shrubs or Flowers1 Shade Tree(5) missing plants

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:8 Shrubs or Flowers1 Shade Tree(5) missing plants

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:5 Shrubs or Flowers1 Shade Tree

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:17 Shrubs or Flowers3 Shade Tree(8) missing plants

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:22 Shrubs or Flowers2 Shade Tree(7) missing plants

amoreno
Text Box
Planter Total Req's:10 Shrubs or Flowers10 Trees(10) missing plants

amoreno
Cloud

amoreno
Text Box
Landscape Req's:3/4" California Gold decorative gravel required for landscape common areas adjacent to Cesar Chavez Street.3/4" California Gold decorative gravel, or in combination with D.G. is required for landscape medians within the Parking Lot.See Attached Plant Legend.



 Page 321

Item 19.

amoreno
Rectangle

amoreno
Text Box
New Landscape Required:Minimum 10 foot wide landscape planter up to new ADA ramp. Irrigation RequiredMinimum of (6-8) shrubs or flowers.Minimum of (1) Shade Tree



Landscape Legend 

Drought Tolerant Desert Landscaping is required within on and off-site landscaping for the  area as 
described in the attached Landscape Exhibit. Below are a list of landscape materials permitted within on 
and off-site landscape areas: 

- Bougainvilla shrubs 
- Red Yucca 
- Agave 
- Fruitless Olive Tree 
- Other high quality desert landscape materials to be approved by Development Service 

Director of Public Works Director.  

 

 

 

Page 322

Item 19.



 

 

Vicinity Map 

 

 

Page 323

Item 19.



 

 

 

 

Front Elevation 

Page 324

Item 19.



Parking Lot Condition 

 

 

 

Page 325

Item 19.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 326

Item 19.



Rear Entrance at Cesar Chavez Street 

 

 

Page 327

Item 19.



 

 

 

Page 328

Item 19.



Landscape Condition 

 

Parking Lot Landscaping 

 

 

Cesar Chavez Street Landscape Areas 

Page 329

Item 19.



Page 330

Item 19.



 

 

Table 1 – On-Sale Alcohol Licenses 

On-Sale Alcohol License within Census Tract 9404 

                     Business Name Address License Type 
1 FRATERNAL ORDER OF 

EAGLES AERIE NO 2594 
46425 TYLER ST 51 (Club) 

2 FRATERNAL ORDER OF 
EAGLES AERIE NO 2594 

46425 TYLER ST 58 (Special On-Sale General) 

3 SPOTLIGHT 29 CASINO 46200 HARRISON ST 47 (On-Sale General – Eating Place) 

4 SPOTLIGHT 29 CASINO 46200 HARRISON ST 68 (Portable Bar License) 

5 SPOTLIGHT 29 CASINO 46200 HARRISON ST 77 (Event Permit) 

6 SPOTLIGHT 29 CASINO 46200 HARRISON ST 58 (Caterer’s Permit) 

7 TAQUERIA ALLENDE 49715 HARRISON ST 41 (On-Sale Beer and Wine – Eating Place) 

8 SANTA FE RESTAURANT 46425 TYLER ST 47 (On-Sale General – Eating Place) 

9 ASADERO LOS CORRALES 46425 TYLER ST 41 (On-Sale Beer and Wine – Eating Place) 

10 EASTERN BUFFET 49939 HARRISON ST 41 (On-Sale Beer and Wine – Eating Place) 

11 PIZZA HUT 46200 HARRISON ST 41 (On-Sale Beer and Wine – Eating Place) 

12 CARNITAS LA PIEDAD 
RESTAURANT INC 

49625 US HIGHWAY 
86 

41 (On-Sale Beer and Wine – Eating Place) 

13 CARNITAS LA PIEDAD 
RESTAURANT INC 

49625 US HIGHWAY 
86 

58 (Caterer’s Permit) 

14 MARISCOS GUAMUCHIL INC 49405 GRAPEFRUIT 
BLVD 

47 (On-Sale General – Eating Place) 

15 TACO SHOP 760 CORP 48975 GRAPEFRUIT 
BLVD, STE 3 

58 (Caterer’s Permit) 

16 TACO SHOP 760 CORP 48975 GRAPEFRUIT 
BLVD, STE 3 

47 (On-Sale General – Eating Place) 

17 LA NORIA FONDA CENADURIA 
AND CAFÉ INC 

49613 CESAR 
CHAVEZ ST 

41 (On-Sale Beer and Wine – Eating Place) 

18 MARISCOS EL PATRON 84400 INDIO BLVD 47 (On-Sale General – Eating Place) 
(SUSPENDED)  

19 MI LINDO SINALOA 49291 GRAPEFRUIT 
BLVD, STE 2 

58 (Caterer’s Permit) 
(SURRENDERED) 

20 MI LINDO SINALOA 49291 GRAPEFRUIT 
BLVD, STE 2 

47 (On-Sale General – Eating Place) 
(SURRENDERED) 

*Surrendered licenses are counted by ABC towards the concentration of ABC licenses. 

 

Page 331

Item 19.



 

STAFF REPORT 

9/25/2024 

TO: Planning Commission Chair and Commissioners 

FROM: Gabriel Perez, Development Services Director  

SUBJECT: Adopt Ordinance No. 1213 (Zoning Ordinance Amendment No. 22-09) 1st 

Reading to amend Coachella Municipal Code Title 17 regarding zoning district 

permitted uses and development standards for the R-E, Residential Estate 

District, Chapter 17.12 of the Coachella Municipal Code. City-Initiated.  
 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Staff recommends that the City Council introduce Ordinance No. 1213 for first reading, by title 

only, to adopt Ordinance No. 1213 to amend Coachella Municipal Code (C.M.C.) Chapter 17.12 

to modify zoning district permitted uses and development standards for the Residential Estate 

District.  

BACKGROUND: 

 

On December 14, 2022 Planning Division staff identified to the Coachella City Council a work 

program to update the Coachella Municipal Code Title 17, Zoning, to streamline the development 

review process, create more flexibility in development standards, and modify Zoning Ordinance 

to address new changes required by State Law. Staff has identified Code Amendments as follows:  

 

 Sidewalk Vending: Adopt amendments to address SB 946 allowing cities, by ordinance or 

resolution, to adopt requirements for the public safety regulating any type of vending and 

the time, place, and manner of vending from a vehicle upon a street if requirements are 

directly related to objective health, safety, or welfare concern. 

 Housing Law Updates: Revise residential zoning standards to address new State housing 

law related to flexibility for construction of accessory dwelling units (ADUs) and SB 9 

(Atkins) that requires cities to apply a ministerial review process for eligible development 

of up to two principal dwelling units on a parcel in a single-family residential zone. 

 Residential Front Yard Structures: Revise requirements for residential front yards that 

would permit certain structures to encroach into the front yard setback such as covered 

vehicle canopies over residential driveways. 

 Parking Standards: Revise commercial parking requirement to be commensurate with 

parking standards in surrounding Coachella Valley cities and allow for applicant initiated 

parking studies as a method to identify projected parking demand for proposed uses and 

reduce parking below minimum parking requirements if warranted.  Staff will further 

Page 332

Item 20.



evaluate the merits of eliminating minimum parking requirements. 

 Sign Ordinance: Revise sign ordinance to only permit freestanding signs in association 

with multi-tenant commercial centers. The existing sign ordinance permits a 25-foot high 

freestanding sign for any business.   

 Special Events: Establish a new permitting mechanism for a range of allowable special 

events in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 Residential Block Walls: Revise residential development standards to allow for front yard 

obscuring block walls in the front yard that would accommodate courtyards and front yard 

pools subject to aesthetic performance standards. 

 Commercial Landscape Maintenance: Revise requirements for commercial landscape 

maintenance responsibilities to ensure landscape areas subject to approved landscape plans 

are maintained in a first class condition. 

 Architectural Review Permit Findings:  Currently no findings are identified in the Zoning 

Ordinance for the approval of Architectural Review permits.  

 Minor Variances: Modify minor variance provisions that allow for administrative variances 

to allow for more flexibility from a numeric development standard by as much as 20% 

without strict variance findings. 

 ADU Ordinance: Relocate ADU regulations as its own separate chapter in the municipal 

code and update the ordinance to comply with State ADU requirements. Revise ADU 

regulations to clarify approval, parking, and architectural requirements. 

 

Staff proposed amendments to Coachella Municipal Code chapters 17.11, 17.12, 17.13, 17.14, 

17.15, 17.16, 17.24, 17.26, 17.28, 17.30, 17.38, 17.60, 17.70, 17.72, 17.76 and Adding Chapter 

17.21 to modernize the Coachella Municipal Code, allow greater flexibility in development 

standards, improve aesthetics of residential neighborhoods and commercial centers, streamline the 

development review process, and establish performance standards for energy efficiency and heat 

island reduction.  The Planning Commission recommended approval to the City Council of 

amendments to Chapter 17.12 only as Ordinance No. 1213 and requested that the amendments to 

the other Chapters be studied further in a Planning Commission study session. 

 

DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS: 

Planning staff prepared the following code amendments to the Coachella Municipal Code Chapter 

17.12 to update the Residential Estate District to ensure agricultural uses are not considered a 

nonconforming use and allow for lodging uses that are consistent with the agricultural character 

of many properties that would be zoned Residential Estate.  Lodging uses would require that 

agricultural production is maintained on-site consistent with the standards of the new Riverside 

County Rancho Ordinance including the preservation of date palms that are iconic representations 

of the City of Coachella and celebrate the City’s unique agricultural heritage.  The modifications 

to the R-E zone are outlined below. 

R-E Residential Estate Chapter 17.12 

 Agricultural Uses. Add existing commercial agricultural activity as a permitted use. 

 Lodging.  Permit bed and breakfast, hotel and resort in an agricultural setting subject to a CUP 

Page 333

Item 20.



approval where forty percent (40%) of the property utilized for agricultural crops with twenty 

percent (20%) planted with date palms.  Associated tourist-related uses such as conference 

facilities, gift shops, wellness spas, and recreational facilities may be approved with the CUP. 

(R-E zone only) 

 Perimeter Landscape Setback. Established a 10-foot minimum perimeter landscape setback for 

residential developments and an average 20-foot perimeter landscape setback.  This is a 

common setback for Coachella Valley cities. A shade standard of 30 percent of landscape area 

is required.  (R-R Chapter 17.11, R-E Chapter 17.12, S-N, G-N zones only) 

ALTERNATIVES: 

 

1) Introduce Ordinance No. 1213 for first reading, by title only, to amend Coachella 

Municipal Code chapter 17.12 to amend zoning district permitted uses and development 

standards. 

2) Introduce Ordinance No. 1213 for first reading, by title only, to amend Coachella 

Municipal Code chapter 17.12 to amend zoning district permitted uses and development 

standards with amendments. 

3) Deny the ordinance. 

4) Continue this item and provide staff with direction.  

 

RECOMMENDED ALTERNATIVE(S): 

Staff recommends Alternative #1. 

Attachments:   

1. Ordinance No. 1213 ZOA No. 22-09 Phase 1 Streamline Code Amendments 

Exhibit A – Amendments to Code Chapter 17.12 

 

 
 

Page 334

Item 20.



ORDINANCE NO. 1213 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF COACHELLA, CALIFORNIA, AMENDING 

COACHELLA MUNICIPAL CODE TITLE 17, ZONING,  

AMENDING CHAPTER 17.12 RESIDENTIAL ESTATE 

ZONING DISTRICT PERMITTED USES, DEVELOPMENT 

STANDARDS AND DEVELOPMENT REVIEW PROCESS.  

ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT NO. 22-09. CITY-

INITIATED (First Reading) 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority granted to the City of Coachella (“City”) by Article 

XI, Section 7 of the California Constitution, the City has the police power to regulate the use of 

land and property within the City in a manner designed to promote public convenience and general 

prosperity, as well as public health, welfare, and safety; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed Ordinance would amend Title 17 (Zoning) to streamline the 

development review process, create more flexibility in development standards, and implement the 

General Plan. 

WHEREAS, based on that analysis, the City Council finds that the Objective Design 

Standards are exempt from further review of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 

because it is an administrative activity which will not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable 

indirect physical change to the environment and is not a "project" as defined by section 15378 

pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines 15060(c)(2 and 3) and 15061(b)(3). The Ordinance will not 

result in any increase in the intensity or density of any land use above what is currently allowed in 

the Coachella General Plan 2035 and the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

WHEREAS, on September 4, 2024 the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public 

hearing to review the project at which time during the hearing members of the public were given 

an opportunity to testify regarding the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, after said public hearing, the Planning Commission recommended that the 

City Council approve this Ordinance. 

WHEREAS, on September 25, 2024 the City Council held a duly noticed public hearing 

to review the project at which time during the hearing members of the public were given an 

opportunity to testify regarding the Project; and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COACHELLA, 

CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1.  Incorporation of Recitals. The City Council of the City of Coachella, 

California, hereby finds that the foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein 

as substantive findings of this Ordinance. 

Page 335

Item 20.



SECTION 2. Amendment to Municipal Code Title 17, Zoning, is hereby amended as 

identified in Phase 1 Streamline Code Amendments Exhibit A. 

SECTION 3. CEQA Analysis. The Planning Division prepared an environmental 

assessment for the proposed zoning ordinance amendment and based on that analysis the City 

Council finds that the Phase 1 Streamline Code Amendments are exempt from further review of 

the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) because it is an administrative activity which 

will not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change to the environment 

and is not a "project" as defined by section 15378 pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines 15060(c)(2 

and 3) and 15061(b)(3). The Ordinance will not result in any increase in the intensity or density of 

any land use above what is currently allowed in the Coachella General Plan 2035 and the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 4. Severability. If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, 

clause or phrase of this Ordinance, or any part thereof, is for any reason held to be invalid or 

unconstitutional by a decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect 

the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance, or any part thereof. The City Council 

hereby declares that it would have passed each section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, 

sentence, clause or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more section, subsection, 

subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase would be subsequently declared invalid or 

unconstitutional. 

SECTION 5. Publication and Effective Date. The City Clerk shall certify to the passage 

and adoption of this Ordinance and shall cause this Ordinance to published or posted as required 

by law, which shall take full force and effect thirty (30) days from its adoption. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 336

Item 20.



PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this 9th of October, 2024 by the following vote: 

 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSENT: 

 ABSTAIN: 

 

 

             

       Steven Hernandez, Mayor 

       City of Coachella 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Angela M. Zepeda, City Clerk 

City of Coachella 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________  

Carlos Campos, Best Best & Krieger LLP 

City Attorney 

Page 337

Item 20.



Title 17 ‐ ZONING 
Chapter 17.12 R‐E RESIDENTIAL ESTATE ZONE 

 

 

 

Coachella, California, Code of Ordinances     Created: 2024‐06‐26 08:27:36 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 1 of 4 

Chapter 17.12 R‐E RESIDENTIAL ESTATE ZONE1 

17.12.010 Intent and purpose. 

This zone is intended to provide for the establishment of residential areas which are to be developed at low 
density and with reasonable and adequate limitations, safeguards, and controls for the keeping and maintenance 
of horses in those areas of the city where noncommercial equestrian activities may be an integral part of the 
neighborhood amenities. This zone implements the Estate Rancho land use designation in the General Plan.  

(Prior code § 025.01) 

(Ord. No. 1204, § 3(Exh. A.1), 7‐26‐23) 

17.12.020 Permitted uses. 

The following uses are permitted in the R‐E (Residential Estate) zone subject to all provisions of this chapter.  

A.  Primary Uses.  

1.  Dwellings, single‐family detached. No more than one such dwelling shall be permitted on one lot 
regardless of the size of the lot.  

2.  Public and private parks.  

3.  Public Utility Facilities (City‐initiated).  

4.  Existing commercial agricultural activity consistent with California Civil Code “Right to Farm Act.” 

B.  Accessory Uses. The following buildings, structures, and uses are permitted when clearly incidental and 
accessory to the primary permitted use.  

1.  Accessory dwelling units and Junior accessory dwelling units, per Section 17.60.010.H. (Accessory 
Dwelling Units).  

2.  Accessory structures, non‐habitable, including private garages or carports, garden greenhouses, 
recreation rooms, pool bathhouses, or private stables and swimming pools.  

3.  Keeping of horses with the following specifications:  

a.  Minimum Lot Area. Twenty thousand (20,000) square feet.  

b.  Minimum Lot Area Per Horse. Five thousand (5,000) square feet.  

c.  No stable, shelter or corral shall be located within thirty‐five (35) feet of any dwelling or 
other building used for human habitation.  

                                                                  

1Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 1204, § 3(Exh. A.1), adopted July 26, 2023, repealed Ch. 17.12, §§ 17.12.010—
17.12.030 and renumbered Ch. 17.14, §§ 17.14.010—17.14.030 as Ch. 17.12, §§ 17.12.010—17.12.030 as set 
out herein. The historical notation has been retained with the amended provisions for reference purposes. 
Former Ch. 17.12, pertained to the A‐T Agricultural Transition Zone and derived from Prior code §§ 020.01—
020.03; Ord. No. 1171, § 6, adopted Aug. 25, 2021.  

Page 338

Item 20.

gperez
Text Box
Ordinance No. 1213 Exhibit A



 

 

 
     Created: 2024‐06‐26 08:27:36 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 2 of 4 

d.  Horses are kept or maintained for the private use of the family residing on the premises, 
except that a maximum of two horses owned by residents in the neighborhood may be 
boarded.  

4.  Parking facilities, such as cars, trucks, and vehicles owned by persons residing on the premises.  

5.  Home occupations, subject to the provisions of Section 17.58.010.  

6.  Pens and other shelter for domestic, noncommercial animals and pets. Such shelter shall not be 
nearer than thirty‐five (35) feet from any building used for human habitation.  

7.  Permitted Signs. Only the following signs shall be permitted:  

a.  One unlighted identification sign not to exceed eight square feet in area.  

b.  One unlighted sign pertaining to the rental, sale or lease of the premises, not to exceed 
twelve (12) square feet in area. Such sign shall be located not less than ten (10) feet from 
any property line.  

8.  The growing of field crops, trees, vegetables, fruits, berries and nursery stock, including 
wholesaling of crops produced upon the premises.  

9.  Restaurant as an accessory use associated with growing of field crops, trees, vegetables, fruits, 
berries and farm stands.  

C.  Conditional Uses. The following uses may be permitted in the RE zone, subject to obtaining a 
conditional use permit as specified in Section 17.74.010.  

1.  Clubs and lodges, private, nonprofit when site fronting on an arterial street.  

2.  Public and private golf courses.  

3.  School, private, nonprofit.  

4.  Farm stands.  

5.  Bed and Breakfast 

6.  Hotel and Resort in accordance with a master plan where forty percent (40%) of the property 
utilized for agricultural crops with twenty percent (20%) planted with date palms.   

D.  Tourist‐Related Uses.  The following uses are permitted only where integrated with and clearly 
incidental to a resort use approved through a conditional use permit. 

1.  Those uses which can be shown to make up a resort experience, which may include, but are not 
necessarily limited to conference and convention facilities, recreational facilities, restaurants, bar 
and cocktail lounge, wellness spa, gift shops, country clubs and golf courses and community 
event facilities including, but not limited to primarily outdoor events including anniversary, 
celebrations, ceremony, wedding ceremony and/or receptions, birthday, quincenera, sweet‐
sixteen event, baby shower, holiday party, graduation, fundraiser for a charitable non‐profit 
organization or farm‐to‐table event. 

  

(Prior code § 025.02; Ord. No. 1171, § 7, 8‐25‐21) 

(Ord. No. 1204, § 3(Exh. A.1), 7‐26‐23) 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.31", Hanging:  0.34"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69", Hanging:  0.31"

Page 339

Item 20.



 

 

 
     Created: 2024‐06‐26 08:27:36 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 3 of 4 

17.12.030 Property development standards. 

The following standards of development shall apply in the R‐E (Residential Estate) Zone:  

A.  Residential Density.  

1.  Minimum Density. One dwelling unit/acre.  

2.  Maximum Density. 2.2 dwelling unit/acre.  

B.  Lot Requirements.  

1.  Minimum Lot Area. Twenty thousand (20,000) square feet.  

2.  Minimum Lot Width. One hundred (100) feet.  

3.  Minimum Lot Depth. One hundred (100) feet.  

C.  Yard Requirements.  

1.  Building Setback. A building setback of not less than sixty (60) feet from the center line of any 
street, public or private, or not less than twenty (20) feet from the established street line of any 
street shall be maintained.  

2.  Side Yard. Each lot shall have side yards of at least twenty (20) feet in width.  

3.  Rear Yard. Each lot shall have a rear yard of at least twenty‐five (25) feet.  

D.  Height Limits.  

1.  The maximum height of the primary structure shall be two‐and‐one‐half stories or thirty‐five (35) 
feet, whichever is less.  

2.  The maximum height of accessory buildings or structures shall be seventeen (17) feet except that 
the maximum height of accessory buildings or structures incidental to agricultural pursuits as 
permitted in Section 17.10.020 shall be equal to one‐half the distance of such building or 
structure from any property line.  

3.  The maximum height of accessory dwelling units shall be per Section 17.60.010.H. (Accessory 
Dwelling Units).  

E.  Off‐Street Parking. Off‐street parking shall be provided for, subject to the requirement of Section 
17.54.010 of this title.  

F.  Landscape setback. The minimum perimeter landscape setback for projects without building frontages 
along perimeter streets shall equal at minimum 10 feet at any point and have an average perimeter 
landscape setback of 20 foot for the entire frontage. Shade tree plantings shall be installed to provide 
shade of 30 percent of landscape area within 10 years. Shade structures with cool roofing materials 
may be permitted in whole or in part in lieu of shade tree plantings. 

 

GF.  Architectural Review. All development in the R‐E (Residential Estate) Zone, is subject to architectural 
review as set forth in Section 17.72.010 of this title.  

1.  Mobilehomes are subject to the architectural review process as set forth in Section 17.72.010 of 
this title.  

2.  All mobilehomes subject to this review process shall be certified under the National Mobilehome 
Construction and Safety Act of 1974; and permanent foundations shall be approved by the 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.33", Hanging:  0.35"

Page 340

Item 20.



 

 

 
     Created: 2024‐06‐26 08:27:36 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 26) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

building official; and roof material, roof overhang and exterior finish materials shall be the same 
as typically used on conventional single‐family structures.  

3.  All mobilehomes shall be compatible with surrounding development.  

4.  All mobilehomes subject to the same development standards that apply to a conventional single‐
family dwelling.  

(Prior code § 025.03) 

(Ord. No. 1204, § 3(Exh. A.1), 7‐26‐23) 

 

Page 341

Item 20.


	Top
	Item 5.	National Latino Physician Day Proclamation
	Proclamation National Latino Physician Day

	Item 6.	HR Green Broadband Study Presentation
	HR Green Presentation 0925024

	Item 8.	Regular Meeting Minutes of September 11, 2024, of the City of Coachella, Coachella Sanitary District, Coachella Fire Protection District, Coachella Financing Authority, Coachella Educational and Governmental Access Cable Corporation, Coachella Water Authority, Successor Agency to the Coachella Redevelopment Agency and Coachella Parks and Recreation
	2024-09-11 City Council Closed Session and Regular Meeting Minutes

	Item 9.	Voucher Listing- EFT's/Utility Billing Refunds/FY 2023-24 and FY 2024-25 Expenditures as of September 25, 2024, $2,977,279.68.
	240925 Warrant Register

	Item 10.	Community Facilities District (CFD No. 2005-01) Annexation 36 – (Sevilla II-Pyramid Ranch) Ordinance No. 1215 on Behalf of CFD No. 2005-01 Authorizing the Levy of a Special Tax within Annexation Area No. 36 Annexed to Said District (2nd Reading)
	(1) CC Staff Rpt 9-25-24 Annex 36
	(2) Attach 1 - Ordinance 1215 Annex 36 Authorization of Levy First Reading
	(3) Attach 2 - Exhibit A - RATE AND METHOD
	(4) Attach 3 - Exhibit B - 189548-CFD-001 MAP

	Item 11.	Authorize a Community-Based Grant to American Outreach Foundation in the Amount of $1,000 to Help Cover Costs for Providing and Maintaining Power Wheelchairs
	Staff Report - American Outreach Foundation
	AOF CBG Packet

	Item 12.	Authorize a Community-Based Grant to Green Room Theatre Company Coachella Valley in the Amount of $1,000 to Help Fund Their Ballet Folklorico Program
	Staff Report - Green Room Theater Company
	Green Room Theatre CBG Packet

	Item 13.	Authorize a Community-Based Grant to Pueblo Unido CDC in the Amount of $1,000 to Help Fund its Reynas Del Valle Coachella Program
	Staff Report - Reynas del Valle
	Reynas del Valle CBG Packet

	Item 14.	Second Reading of Ordinance No. 1214 authorizing the levy of a Special Tax in Community Facilities District No. 2024-1 (Public Services).
	Agenda - CFD 2024-1 Second Reading Ordinance 092524
	Ord 1214 CFD - 092524 (second reading final)

	Item 15.	Award Multiple Professional Services Agreements for On-Call Architectural Design Services for the Commercial Corridor Façade Improvement Program to: DMHA Architecture and Interior Design, BFK Architecture and Planning, and Mour Group Engineering and Design and Authorize the City Manager to Enter into Professional Services Agreements with the Selected Firms in Not-to-Exceed Amounts of $75,000 Per Firm
	Staff Report - Commercial Corridor Facade Improvement Program - Award RFP
	City of Coachella - Professional Services Agreement - DMHA
	City of Coachella - Professional Services Agreement - Mour Group
	City of Coachella - Professional Services Agreement - BFK

	Item 16.	Authorize the City Manager to Execute Professional Services Agreements with Strategic Energy Experts Consulting for Assistance in Providing Greenfield Electric Utility and Electric Service for the City Municipal Utility
	CC Staff Rpt 9-25-24 Energy Experts
	Attach 1 - Professional Services Agreement On-Call SEE
	Proposal to Establish a Greenfield Electric Utility (002)

	Item 17.	Appointment of ten Commissioners to the Coachella Youth Advisory Commission
	Agenda - Youth Commission Appointment 092524
	2024 Youth Commission- Allison Lopez
	2024 Youth Commission- Sehwa Meza
	2024 Youth Commission- Libni H. Valle
	2024 Youth Commission- Dennis Castillo Diaz Alejandro
	2024 Youth Commission- Christian Fausto
	2024 Youth Commission- Briana Lara-Saldivar
	2024 Youth Commission- Alejandro Cobos
	2023 Youth Commission - Jade Arguelles
	2023 Youth Commission - Izabella Nunez
	2024 Youth Commission-Ivan Mendez Perez

	Item 18.	Approve the Cooperative Agreement with the County of Riverside to Provide Fire Protection, Fire Prevention, Rescue, Fire Marshal and Medical Emergency Services and the Approve Cooperative Agreement between the Cities of Coachella, Indio, La Quinta and County of Riverside to Share the Cost of a Ladder Truck Company
	Staff Report - Fire Department Cooperative Agreementdocx
	Exhibit A - COACHELLA Cooperative Agreement FINAL
	Exhibit A - Cooperative Agreement Coachella Estimate FY25-25
	Exhibit B - Cooperative Agreement Coachella updated
	Exhibit B - LADDER TRUCK Cooperative Agreement COACHELLA INDIO AND LA QUINTA
	Exhibit A – Ladder Truck Agreement
	Exhibit C - Updates memo 04-2024
	Exhibit D - Memo Fire Chief Wieser

	Item 19.	VMP Night Club & Event Center – Entertainment Permit No. 24-01 and Conditional Use Permit No. 380
	(1) Staff Report 7-3-24, EP 24-01, CUP 380
	(2) Attach 1 - Res No. 2024-54, CUP 380
	(3) Attach 1 - Exhibit A - Conditions of Approval, CUP 380
	(4) Attach 2 - Res No. 2024-55, EP 24-01
	(5) Attach 2 - Exhibit A - Conditions of Approval, EP 24-01
	(6) Attach 2 - Exhibit B - Development Plan Set
	(7) Security Safety Plan
	(8) Landscape Exhibit
	(9) Vicinity Map
	(10) Site Photos
	(11) Property Owner Map
	(12) Existing On-Sale License - Census Tract 9404

	Item 20.	Adopt Ordinance No. 1213 (Zoning Ordinance Amendment No. 22-09) 1st Reading to amend Coachella Municipal Code Title 17 regarding zoning district permitted uses and development standards for the R-E, Residential Estate District, Chapter 17.12 of the Coachella Municipal Code. City-Initiated.
	(1) CC Staff Rpt 9-25-24 ZOA 22-09
	(2) Attach 1 - Ordinance 1213-c1
	(3) Attache 1 - Chapter_17.12___R_E_RESIDENTIAL_ESTATE_ZONE

	Bottom



